
 

 

MEETING 
 

CHILDREN, EDUCATION & SAFEGUARDING COMMITTEE 

DATE AND TIME 
 

TUESDAY 7TH JUNE, 2022 
 

AT 7.00 PM 

VENUE 
 

HENDON TOWN HALL, THE BURROUGHS, LONDON NW4 4BQ 

 
TO: MEMBERS OF CHILDREN, EDUCATION & SAFEGUARDING COMMITTEE 
(Quorum 3) 
 

Chair: Councillor Pauline Coakley Webb 
Vice Chair: Councillor Tony Vourou 
 
 

David Longstaff 
Zahra Beg 
Giulia Monasterio 
 

Liron Velleman 
Linda Lusingu 
Joshua Conway 
 

Matthew Perlberg 
Mark Shooter 
Lucy Wakeley 
 

 
Substitute Members 
 

Richard Barnes Anne Clarke Jennifer Grocock 
Laithe Jajeh Kath McGuirk Alex Prager 
 
In line with the Constitution’s Public Participation and Engagement Rules, requests to submit 
public questions or comments must be submitted by 10AM on the third working day before 
the date of the committee meeting. Therefore, the deadline for this meeting is Tuesday, 31st 
May at 10AM. Requests must be submitted to Pakeezah Rahman   
Pakeezah.Rahman@Barnet.gov.uk 
 
You are requested to attend the above meeting for which an agenda is attached. 

 

Andrew Charlwood – Head of Governance 

 
Governance Service contact: Pakeezah Rahman   Pakeezah.Rahman@Barnet.gov.uk 

 
Media Relations Contact: Tristan Garrick 020 8359 2454 Tristan.Garrick@Barnet.gov.uk 
 

ASSURANCE GROUP 
 

Please consider the environment before printing. 
 
 

mailto:Tristan.Garrick@Barnet.gov.uk


 

 

ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 

Item No Title of Report Pages 

1.   Minutes of the last Meeting  
 

5 - 10 

2.   Absence of Members  
 

 

3.   Declarations of Members Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and 
Other Interests  
 

 

4.   Report of the Monitoring Officer (if Any)  
 

 

5.   Public Questions and Comments (if Any)  
 

 

6.   Members' Items (if Any)  
 

 

7.   Update on Barnet's Asylum Seeker Contingency Hotels  
 

11 - 22 

8.   CES Priorities of the New Administration  
 

23 - 28 

9.   SEND Inspection, Schools White Paper and SEND Green Paper  
 

29 - 50 

 Appendix A - Post SEND Inspection Action Plan  
 

 

 

 Appendix B -  Barnet post inspection congratulatory Letter  
 

 

 

10.   Family Services Quarterly Update  
 

55 - 262 

11.   Committee Work Programme  
 

263 - 270 

12.   Any other Item(s) that the Chairman decides are Urgent (if Any)  
 

 

 
 

FACILITIES FOR PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES 

Hendon Town Hall has access for wheelchair users including lifts and toilets.  If you wish to let 
us know in advance that you will be attending the meeting, please telephone Pakeezah 
Rahman   Pakeezah.Rahman@Barnet.gov.uk.  People with hearing difficulties who have a 
text phone, may telephone our minicom number on 020 8203 8942.  All of our Committee 
Rooms also have induction loops. 

 



 
 
     

 

FIRE/EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the 
building by the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the nearest exit by uniformed 
custodians.  It is vital you follow their instructions. 
 
You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts. 
 
Do not stop to collect personal belongings 
 
Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but move some 
distance away and await further instructions. 
 
Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
Decisions of the Children, Education & Safeguarding Committee 

 
19 January 2022 

 
Members Present:- 

 
Councillor David Longstaff (Chairman) 

  

 
Councillor 
Pauline Coakley Webb 
Councillor Linda Freedman 
Councillor Rohit Grover 
Councillor Anne Hutton 
 

Councillor Nagus Narenthira 
Councillor Danny Rich 
Councillor Julian Teare 
Councillor Reuben Thompstone 
 

 
Apologies for Absence 

 
Councillor Felix Byers 
 

 Councillor Val Duschinsky 
 

  
 

1.    MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Children, Education & Safeguarding Committee 
held on 18 November 2021 be approved as a correct record. 
 
 

2.    ABSENCE OF MEMBERS  
 
Apologies for absence was received from:  

 Councillor Felix Byers  

 Councillor Val Duschinsky who was substituted for by Councillor Saira Don 

 
3.    DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND 

OTHER INTERESTS  
 
None 
 

4.    REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER (IF ANY)  
 
None. 
 

5.    PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS (IF ANY)  
 
None. 
 

6.    MEMBERS' ITEMS  
 
Councillor Pauline Coakley Webb was invited by the Chairman to introduce the item. 
Councillor Coakley Webb gave a summary of the issues and requested that the 
Committee give support to this item. 

5

AGENDA ITEM 1



 

2 

 
The Chairman agreed that it was a reasonable request in relation to children specifically 
and that further information be requested from responsible organisations. 
 
RESOLVED that the Home Office and/or Springboard be invited to a future meeting 
in order to provide the information requested. 
 

7.    ANNUAL REPORT ON SCHOOL FUNDING IN BARNET FOR 2022-23  
 
The Director of Education and Learning, Ian Harrison, presented the report and 
summarised the implementation of the authority’s funding formula as well as expenditure 
of balances carried forward. 
 
An underspend of £4.959m was forecasted by the end of the financial year, resulting 
from an underspend in growth funding. A portion of that money would be spent on 
secondary schools, high needs provision, early years and migrant support.  
 
The need for additional resources in nursery schools leading to long term financial issues 
would be alleviated by the lump sum of £100,000.   
 
Schools receiving Hong Kong migrant children would be paid pro-rata for the time the 
child was in school. This year, no funding had been provided to schools that incurred 
additional costs for asylum seeking children. Therefore, some of the underspend funding 
go towards those schools next year. 
 
Members queried the coping mechanisms for Moss Hall that reported a deficit of over 
£150,000.  It was noted that the payout based on the funding formula would mitigate long 
term financial risks and any additional funding would need to be raised from the school’s 
recovery plan.  
 
Approximately 200 Hong Kong and asylum seeking children were in need of education in 
the last three months alone.  
 
RESOLVED that the Children, Education & Safeguarding Committee: 
-Notes the annual report on school funding in Barnet. 

 
-Approves the formula funding to be used in the Authority Proforma Tool (which 
specifies the authority’s funding formula for schools) on the basis of paragraphs 
1.26 to 1.35, which includes a Minimum Funding Guarantee of +2.0%, which means 
that every primary and secondary school will receive an increase in funding per 
pupil of at least this percentage in 2022/23, (through the pupil-led element of the 
schools funding formula), while any schools gaining from the introduction of the 
National Funding Formula will not have their gains capped.  
 
-Authorises the Executive Director, Children’s Services to approve the final 
Authority Proforma Tool for submission to the DfE.  
 
-Notes that the overall Schools Budget will be considered by the Policy and 
Resources Committee at its next meeting on 9th February 2022 for onward 
submission to full council as part of the budget setting process. 
 
-Recommends to Council that any changes to the Schools Budget reasonably 
required as a result of the final 2022/23 Dedicated Schools Grant and Post-16 

6



 

3 

settlement are delegated for decision to the Executive Director, Children’s 
Services in consultation with the Director of Finance.  
 
-Approves in principle the proposal to pay a lump sum of £100,000 to each of 
Barnet’s maintained nursery schools using carried forward underspend from the 
Dedicated Schools Grant to fund this and authorise the Executive Director, 
Children’s Services to consult early years settings and the Schools Forum on this 
proposal and then to decide on whether the proposal should be  implemented in 
the light of consultation responses and in consultation with the Chairman of the 
Children, Education and Safeguarding Committee.  
 
-Approves the proposal set out in paragraphs 1.50 to 1.60 in principle to 
 provide up to £1.0 million of funding, from carried forward Dedicated Schools 
Grant underspend, to support schools with additional costs arising from the 
enrolment of children of newly-arrived Hong Kong families and children of asylum 
seeker families living in designated asylum seeker hotels after the October census 
date during the school year 2021-22 and authorise the Executive Director, 
Children’s Services to consult with the Schools Forum and to make final decisions 
on the methodology for allocating the funding and allocation of the carried forward 
funding to eligible schools for one year only. 
 
 

8.    EDUCATIONAL STANDARDS UPDATE  
 
Ian Harrison presented the report on the school improvement three-year strategy based 
on recommended priorities outlined in the report. 
 
A whole range of partnership initiatives across the Council were taking place in areas 
involving recovery, mental health, early years and mentoring.  
 
It was noted that the overall ranking of Key Stages 4 and 5 placed Barnet in the top 5% 
of the country. 
 
Low attainment results for Post 16 pupils in vocational subjects due to focus placed by 
schools on academic subjects, were being addressed by the Post 16 strategy.  
 
Members observed lower attainment levels amongst Black, Chinese and Looked After 
Children and queried options for them. It was noted that Black pupils in Barnet are in the 
top 10% of achieving black pupils across the country. Cultural and background issues as 
well as moving families were addressed through best practice in terms of engagement, 
mentoring and execution.  
 
Members highlighted the excellent results achieved by Key Stage 4 pupils and requested 
that a letter be sent to Headteachers and staff commending them for their hard work on 
behalf of the Committee. 
 
Members pointed out that three Barnet schools moved from outstanding to good and 
raised concerns parents might have in relation to the quality of the schools.  
 
It was noted that 97% of schools in Barnet are rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’. The 
framework for schools had changed, making it very difficult to reach ‘outstanding’. The 
School Improvement Partnership Board advised that the move from outstanding to good 

7



 

4 

did not impact on the quality of those schools. The School Improvement team met 
regularly to discuss all schools especially those that were causing concerns. 
 
Members suggested that such communication sent to schools be shared with the 
Committee. 
 
In relation to Post 16 transition, the Director explained that during the pandemic, places 
were offered to every school leaver. In addition, Post 16 advisors worked on building on 
the young person’s profile and mapped out vocational education options with Heads of 
schools to develop vocational qualifications across the Borough. Sixth form centres were 
also being developed with other colleges to establish suitable provisions for particular 
specialisms. 
 
Members found the transition of Post 16 pupils very promising. 
 
RESOLVED that the Children, Education & Safeguarding Committee: 

- Notes the report, including the Education Recovery update in Appendix 1 and the 
report on Educational Standards in 2021 in Appendix 2. 

- Approves the proposed priorities for the School and Standards    Improvement 
Strategy in 2022, as set out in section 1.7. 

 
9.    SEND STRATEGY (2021 - 2024) UPDATE  

 
The Executive Director of Children and Families, Chris Munday, introduced the report. It 
was noted that on completion of the latest Ofsted inspection, members would be 
provided with a copy of the report.   
 
In Barnet, children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) had access 
to an outstanding range of provision.  
 
Ian Harrison highlighted the updated priorities which were added to the current SEND 
Strategy. The range of provision had been further developed during the pandemic and 
post pandemic and additional resources were invested in therapies. The children most 
affected by the pandemic were disabled children. Therefore, priorities within the strategy 
aimed to address all issues affecting the children including their social, emotional and 
mental health functions. 
 
Members queried whether parents of SEND children had opted for home education and 
what challenges were faced from being educated at home. It was noted that many 
children were being home educated. The increase in children with Educational, Health 
and Care Plans (EHCPs) required different means to be supported but that provision was 
being monitored continuously and welcomed by parents.  
 
RESOLVED that the Committee notes the report. 
 
The Chairman informed the Committee that it was Ian Harrison’s last meeting before his 
retirement. The Chairman thanked Ian Harrison for all his hard work and contributions on 
behalf of the Council.   
 

10.    BARNET SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP UPDATE  
 

8



 

5 

Chris Munday presented the report containing two parts; the annual report and 
partnership arrangements as well as the independent scrutiny report by Red Quadrant 
which provided recommendations to the partnership. 
 
It was noted that the last year was most challenging in terms of professional working and 
managing the pandemic.  The Director commended Social Workers and other 
professionals who despite barriers, continued to work throughout the pandemic even 
when other services were closed. 
 
It was noted that the lack of information with regards to the safety of children who were 
being home educated was still an area of concern. However, checks and balances were 
in place and 99.9% of parents did a very good job of educating their children at home. 
 
Members requested for more detail on key recommendations and how they would be 
implemented. Members also requested that the contact for the new LADO be circulated 
to all Members of the Council. 
 
Regarding the sustainability budget, it was noted that the Police had not made financial 
contributions to London’s safeguarding arrangements the way other partners have been. 
A new approach for Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews (LSPRs) was also being 
looked into for a cheaper but more effective process. Regular attendance at the 
Leadership Forum enabled further insight as part of ongoing works. 
 
RESOLVED that the Committee notes and considers the reports and appendices 
and provides any comments on the annual report prior to final approval by the 
Barnet Safeguarding Children Partnership. 
 

11.    FAMILY SERVICES QUARTERLY UPDATE  
 
Chris Munday provided an update to the Committee.  
 
Members pointed out the dental checks and adoption figures were considerably low. It 
was noted that the low adoption figures was raised with Adopt North London at the last 
Corporate Parenting Advisory Panel. An updated report on the figures was due to be 
expected. 
 
The Children’s Services Analysis Tool (ChAT) developed by Ofsted, pulled data from all 
local authorities and therefore not reflective of actual figures.  
 
It has been a challenge getting older children to visit the dentist. The service continues to 
work with providers to get children to see a dentist. 
 
Members questioned the high numbers of absences and missing children. The Director 
said that the data for England was outdated and absence figures related to children who 
were late for curfew. The same young person could be reported missing many times for 
a wide variety of reasons which also added to the data.  
 
Other key issues included the timeliness of assessments. However, re-referrals were 
lower which suggested better quality of assessments. The number of re-entries into Care 
were higher, possibly due to higher numbers of adolescents.  
 
The Committee noted the annual self-evaluation which sets out the quality of social work 
practice and priorities. 

9



 

6 

 
RESOLVED that the Children, Education & Safeguarding Committee: 
-Notes and provides comments on the CHAT performance report summarised in 
the report and provided in Appendix 1.  
 
-Notes and provides comments on the LIIA performance information summarised 
in the report and provided in Appendix 2. 
 
-Notes and scrutinises progress of performance against our Ofsted Self Evaluation 
provided in Appendix 3. 
 
-Notes the report from the Annual Engagement meeting held with Ofsted as part of 
their inspection framework. 
 

12.    COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The Committee noted the work programme. 
 

13.    ANY OTHER ITEM(S) THAT THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT (IF ANY)  
 
None. 
 
 

The meeting finished at 8.32pm. 
 
 
 
 

10



 

 

 

Children, Education and Safeguarding 
Committee  

 
07 June 2022 

Title  
Update on Barnet’s Asylum Seeker 

Contingency Hotels  

Report of Chair of the Committee 

Wards All  

Status Public 

Urgent No 

Key No  

Enclosures                          None 

Officer Contact Details  
Will Cooper william.cooper@barnet.gov.uk  

Anisa Darr, Executive Director of Resources 

 

Summary 
At the meeting of 19 January 2022, a Member’s Item was raised by Cllr Coakley-Webb 
proposing that a report be brought to the next available meeting of CES on the health and 
wellbeing of children housed in contingency hotels for asylum seekers in Barnet. It was also 
proposed that representatives from both the Home Office and its contracted accommodation 
provider Clearsprings Ready Homes should be invited to attend the meeting.  
A letter from the then Chair of this committee was subsequently sent to the Home Office to 
make this request. A response was received and we are expecting representatives from both 
agencies to be present at the meeting of 7 June.  
Barnet has been home to four asylum seeker contingency hotels since 2020, and the 
currently population (as of 13 May 2022) stands at 888 people. Of these, 104 are aged under 
18, with one hotel accommodating 32 children under five years old.  
The enclosed report provides some information about the asylum seeker population in the 
hotels and the support that Barnet Council and its partners has been providing to them. The 
placing of so many asylum seekers in our borough by the Home Office creates pressure on 
council resources for which no additional funding has been provided. This and other issues 
have been highlighted as a series of questions in the report to be put to Home Office and 
Clearspings representatives. Committee members will also have the opportunity to ask 
questions of the invited guests.  
 

 
  

11

AGENDA ITEM 7

mailto:william.cooper@barnet.gov.uk


 

Page 2 of 11 

 

Officers Recommendations  

1. That members note the report  

2. That members take the opportunity to question guest representatives from the Home 
Office and Clearsprings Ready Homes 

1. Why this report is needed 

 

1.1 Background to contingency hotels in Barnet 
 
The UK has a statutory responsibility to provide people who have entered the country seeking 
asylum with temporary accommodation and subsistence expenses while their claim is being 
considered. This is in accordance with the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. The responsibility 
to provide this support lies with the Home Office.  
 
When asylum seekers arrive in the country, a number of commissioned accommodation 
providers working under contract from the Home Office disperse them into temporary housing 
(known as dispersal accommodation or DA). The Covid-19 pandemic caused a bottleneck in 
this process. In order to maintain social distancing and avoid making people homeless during 
the pandemic, all decisions on asylum claims were paused for most of 2020. This greatly 
increased the demand for dispersal accommodation, with huge numbers of people being held in 
the system while awaiting the outcome of their claims.   
 
As a stop-gap solution, asylum seekers began being accommodated in hotels, which were 
otherwise unused due to lockdown restrictions. These are known as contingency hotels. Around 
half of the contingency hotels being used are located in London.  
 
Despite Covid restrictions lifting, and asylum claims once again being considered, the hotel 
population remains high.  As of 13 May 2022, there were 12,625 people accommodated in 
contingency hotels across 23 London boroughs. Barnet’s contingency hotel population currently 
stands at 888 people, accommodated in four hotels.  
 

  

12



 

Page 3 of 11 

 The hotel population in Barnet  
 
The chart below tracks the total population of asylum seekers in Barnet’s contingency hotels 
over the last 14 months. Apart from a small dip about a year ago, numbers have held steady at 
just under 900 for most of this time. 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
The chart above shows the numbers accommodated in Barnet’s four contingency hotels since 
November 2021.  

884

807

679
743

848 853
890

934
901 883 892 901 913 916 888

Barnet's contingency hotel population 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

TO
TA

L 
N

U
M

B
ER

 O
F 

A
SY

LU
M

 S
EE

K
ER

S

March 2021 - May 2022

Numbers accommodated in each hotel

Colindale

Hendon

Brent Cross

Golders Green

13



 

Page 4 of 11 

 
The Colindale site is self-catering, which means people accommodated here receive the 
standard financial support for dispersed asylum seekers: £39.63 a week. Those staying in the 
other three sites are receiving full board accommodation with food provided to the hotels by a 
catering contractor. Consequently, the Home Office provides less financial support to these 
asylum seekers. They each receive £8.00 a week, which is intended to cover any incidental 
costs such as medicines, clothing and travel. VCS outreach workers often fund Oyster cards for 
asylum seekers from the funding the council provides to them.  
 
 
The table below shows the gender split in the hotel population, with men outnumbering women 
by 2.5 to 1.  The second table shows the population of under-18s across the hotels, showing 
that the self-catering Colindale site accommodates the largest number of families with young 
children.  
 
 
Proportion of men and women in Barnet contingency hotels  

Hotel location Men Women 

Colindale 325 149 

Hendon  102 45 

Brent Cross 151 52 

Golders Green  58 6 

Total  636 252 

 
Children and young people by age group 

Hotel location Under 5 5-10 11-17 Total 
children in 

hotel  

Colindale 32 14 15 61 

Hendon  6 14 18 38 

Brent Cross 11 23 19 53 

Golders Green  1 1 0 2 

Total  50 52 52 104 

 
 

Issues faced by children living in hotels  

 

The VCS outreach workers report several issues affecting children and families that are a direct 
consequence of living in a hotel.  

Being confined to one or two hotel rooms with beds positioned in the centre provides very little 
room to play. As a result, the children gather in the hotel corridors and hallways. Older children 
often have nowhere to do their homework. Family tensions are also exacerbated by the 
cramped conditions. With limited privacy children are often forced to witness parental 
arguments.   

14



 

Page 5 of 11 

Most asylum seekers are reliant on charitable donations for most essential items. Provisions for 
families with new-born babies are a constant issue. For example, not all the hotels provide 
nappies. 

A lot of rooms do not have opening windows, which can lead to overheating and poor 

ventilation.  

Full board accommodation provides food that is often unsuitable for children on a repetitive and 
uninspiring menu. One outreach provider stated that “90% of residents complain about the food 
provided in full board hotels”. 

On average families tend to be accommodated in the hotels for three to six month, though VCS 
partners report that at least two families who have been in a hotel since 2020. 

 

 
 

How Barnet Council supports the hotels  
 
The Strategy and Engagement team in Resources provides central coordination of the various 
agencies working in Barnet to support asylum seekers and refugees. For the contingency hotels 
this is managed through an operating model comprising several multiagency groups that meet 
to discuss and tackle issues affecting the hotel population.  
 
A Barnet Council internal group meets monthly to discuss council services being accessed by 
asylum seekers, including children’s social care, education and public health.   
 
A multiagency strategy group also meets monthly and this is attended by representatives from: 

 North Central London Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Mental Health services 

 Clearsprings Ready Homes, the accommodation provider for London’s contingency 

hotels working under contract from the Home Office 

 Migrant Help, a charity working under contract for the Home Office to provide advice and 

guidance to asylum seekers 

 VCS groups commissioned by Barnet to provide an outreach support service in the 

hotels  

 
Meetings of this group enable issues being faced on the ground in the hotels to be escalated - 
both to statutory services as well as the accommodation providers. Over the last two years, this 
group has been instrumental in ensuring asylum seekers in the hotels are able to access GP 
registrations, vaccinations and a range of vital support through the VCS outreach commissions. 
 
Thirdly, there is a monthly network meeting for VCS organisations working with asylum seekers 
and refugees which meets every month. This is convened and chaired by Barnet Together, the 
council’s VCS infrastructure partner and focuses on wider wellbeing support, such as donations 
of clothes and access to positive activities in the community.  
 
In March 2022, the Strategy and Engagement team recruited an Asylum and Refugee 
Coordinator post to help administrate these meetings and manage the VCS commission.  
 

15



 

Page 6 of 11 

 

VCS outreach support 
 
In late 2002, the council began to feel that the volume of people accommodated in hotels was 
becoming a concern. Particularly as the needs of the hotel population and the challenges they 
were facing were largely invisible to our service providers until the point when they reached 
crisis. We felt that there should be specialist outreach workers with the skills and experience 
required to work with asylum seekers located in the hotels. There were two highly qualified 
organisations in the borough who could provide this service: New Citizens Gateway (formerly 
Barnet Refugee Service) and Persian Advice Bureau. Since early 2021 the council has used 
emergency Covid funding to commission these organisations to each support two of the four 
contingency hotels in the borough.  Establishing this offer has not been easy, and there was 
significant resistance at first from Clearsprings and the Home Office to allowing outreach 
workers into the hotels.  
 
The outreach support is now well established and the support provided has developed into a 
holistic range of services. The organisations deliver these in their specific hotels but also share 
access across the contingency estate. This helps to ensures asylum seekers don’t miss out on 
opportunities simply because of the hotel where they are accommodated. Services on offer 
includes a one-to-one counselling service funded by CCG, ESOL classes and a range of leisure 
activities including football, access to youth provision and an allotment. The local 0-19 Early 
Help Hub also provides a weekly stay and play session in the Colindale site.  
 
The council and its partners feel that this service is vital to ensuring the wellbeing of asylum 
seekers accommodated in our hotels, yet there is no established budget to continue funding it. 
The Covid funding we have been using to finance this is no longer available. Recent 
correspondence from the Home Office has stated that funding for local authorities to assist with 
contingency hotels will be assessed under New Burdens Doctrine. While this is positive news, 
funding is unlikely to come through quickly enough to address the immediate pressures.   
 
While the outreach service provides a range of support and signposting, both VCS groups have 
flagged the need for services not currently covered in the outreach commission. Most 
significantly, translation. All of the outreach workers are fluent in at least one additional 
language, however there are dozens of languages spoken in the hotels. Live interpreting and 
translation are a significant ongoing need and the council has offered to make provision 
available through its current translation provider. Again, the council will need to meet this cost.  
 
Also urgently needed are legal aid solicitors that are able to support residents with their asylum 
applications. The scale of the hotel population is such that there just isn’t enough lawyers locally 
who are available and willing to take on their cases.  
 
  

16



 

Page 7 of 11 

Questions for Home Office representatives: 

 Is there a confirmed timescale for when New Burdens funding will be made available to 

local authorities to support asylum contingency hotels?  

 If a proportion of the cohort have been at the hotel since they were commissioned in 

2020, some of them may have what is considered to be (although not a legal entitlement) 

a local connection (schools, family/network, health). What support will be available to 

meet their needs and to minimise disruption to services if displacement is planned? 

 
 

The impact of contingency hotels on Barnet’s Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children 
(UASC) population  

 

Young people aged under 18 who enter the country seeking asylum are classified as 

unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC). They must be looked after by the children’s 

social care services in the local authority area where they are accommodated.  

 

The volume of asylum seekers being accommodated in Barnet has a consequent impact on the 

numbers of young people entering Barnet’s care system as UASC.  As of 7 April 2022, there 

were 69 UASC in our care and 133 former UASC who are now accessing leaving care services. 

As most UASC do not have recourse to public funds at 18, the local authority remains fully 

responsible for the cost of their subsistence and accommodation until their asylum application is 

finalised or until they are 25. This means that the financial burden of this increased UASC 

cohort will be felt by the council for several years to come.  

 

The Home Office funds local authorities to accommodate UASC in care at a standard rate of 

£114.00 per person per night. Where the number of UASC exceeds 0.07% of a local authority’s 

overall child population this funding increases to £143.00 pppn. Local authorities who reach this 

level of UASC also do not need to comply with the National Transfer Scheme (NTS), which 

mandates councils to accept UASC into their care from other areas. 

 

Barnet’s child population is currently 98,900 which puts the council consistently at or above the 

0.07% threshold . After repeated correspondence with the Home Office the council is now 

funded at the higher rate, however the exemption from the National Transfer Scheme remains 

unresolved. 

 

Question for Home Office representatives: 

 Can you confirm that as we are over our threshold as at 31 March 2022, Barnet’s UASC 

care will continue to be funded at the higher rate and that we are exempted from the 

National Transfer Scheme?  

 Can you confirm that the time taken to process the asylum claims will improve as it is 

currently on average 2 ½ to 3 years which places a heavy burden on the council and 

impact significant on the young person’s wellbeing?  

  

 

17



 

Page 8 of 11 

 

Age assessments  
 

Of the current cohort of UASC, 30 have been referred from a contingency hotel where they had 

initially been accommodated as an adult. Of these, 26 were identified as requiring an 

assessment of age. Following the age assessment only eight were confirmed as adults and 

referred back to the Home Office. Therefore, the large majority of the UASC accommodated in 

Barnet have been incorrectly assessed as adults by the Home Office on arrival in the country.  

 

The local authority age assessment process is costly and time consuming. It has to be 

conducted along guidelines set by the Merton Judgement1 by specially trained social workers. 

Barnet has already had to recruit two new social workers to accommodate this additional 

workload. Further costs can be incurred if an asylum seeker mounts a legal challenge to the 

age assessment.  

 

Questions for Home Office and Clearsprings representatives: 

 What is the current process of age assessment at the UK Border, and what is being done 

to improve its accuracy? 

 Currently, Clearsprings are referring asylum seekers of disputed age to the local 

authority. Would it be possible to refer these cases straight back to the Home Office on 

arrival in the hotels?  

 Will the home office continue to provide funding for legal costs and where the challenge 
is about the HO decision should they not be included in the legal defence? 

 
 

 Impact on schools  
 
With 154 children and young people of statutory school age currently accommodated in the 
hotels, Barnet’s schools are also experiencing pressures. Students arriving mid-year are not 
counted on the Schools Census, which means the school does not receive funding for these 
children. The council is funding these places from Dedicated Schools Grant, but below basic 
entitlement rate. It is therefore insufficient to meet the needs of these children.  
 
Most of these children also require significant additional support both for their English language 
needs and often trauma experience. The schools are picking up the cost within the school 
budget, but often the children are moved to another location with little or no notice, only to be 
replaced by new children in the same situation.  
 
 
Questions for Home Office representatives: 

 Will the New Burdens assessment include schools funding?  

 Funding for school age children is available to Ukrainian refugees. Why can this not be 

extended to asylum seekers? 

 

                                            
1 In R (B) v Merton [2003] EWHC 1689 (Admin), the High Court set down broad guidelines as to how age ought to be assessed in respect of 
unaccompanied minors who arrive in the UK without documentary evidence to prove their age. The court confirmed that the local 
authority “cannot simply adopt a decision made by the Home Office” and outlined a number of criteria for a lawful assessment. 

18

http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2003/1689.html


 

Page 9 of 11 

2. Reasons for recommendations 

 This report and the presence of representatives from Home Office and Clearsprings was 
unanimously agreed by this committee on 19 January. 

3. Alternative options considered and not recommended 

 None  

 

4. Post decision implementation 

 It is hoped that guests from Home Office and their contract partners will take on board 
the questions raised in this paper and in the meeting and provide a response.  

 

5. Implications of decision  

 Corporate Priorities and Performance 

5.1.1 The council has a responsibility to ensure the welfare of all residents regardless of 
their status. We are committed to ensuring the best possible life chances for adults, 
children and young people in Barnet, especially those facing disadvantage.    

 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability) 

5.2.1 The impact of the contingency hotel population on council finances is significant and 
outside of established budgets.  

5.2.2 In September 2021 the Chief executive wrote to the Director General for Asylum and 
Protection at the Home Office stating that to date, the council had incurred costs of 
over £600,000. At least another £200,000 has been spent since that letter was written 
and there remains both an ongoing financial burden as well as continued future 
pressure.  

 Legal and Constitutional References 

5.3.1 The Council has duties and responsibilities in relation to asylum seeking families and 
children, although asylum seekers are specifically excluded from some of the Council’s 
prescribed duties, including housing, due to their immigration status.As this is a noting 
report, these duties have not been set out in detail. 

5.3.2 The Council’s Constitution, Article 7 notes that the Children, Education and 
Safeguarding Committee has ‘Responsibility for all matters relating to children, schools 
and education.’ 

5.3.3  

19



 

Page 10 of 11 

 Insight 

5.4.1 Data in this report is provided by Clearsprings Ready Homes and London Councils. 

 Social Value 

5.5.1 NA 

 Risk Management 

5.6.1 The contingency hotels pose a potential risk to community cohesion and are a 
potential target for far-right groups. The council is alert to his risk and monitors it 
carefully. We do not publicise the names or specific locations of the hotels and have 
on one occasion advised the Home Office not to stand up a further contingency hotel 
due to the likely tension it could generate in that neighbourhood.  

 Equalities and Diversity  

5.7.1 Asylum seekers are an extremely disadvantaged group by their very status. The 
population also comprises people with numerous intersecting protected 
characteristics.  

5.7.2 The Council has a duty contained in section 149 of the Equality Act to have due regard 
to the need to: 

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act; 

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it. 

The protected characteristics are: 

 age 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 sex; 

 sexual orientation. 

The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate considerations of equality into day to day 
business and to keep them under review in decision making, the design of policies and the 
delivery of services.  

 

 Corporate Parenting 

5.8.1 A significant part of this report concerns the increased pressure on the council’s 
Children’s Care service. Asylum seeking young people make up a disproportionately 
high number of our care cohort and care-leaver population. This mostly a direct result 

20



 

Page 11 of 11 

of the contingency hotels. 

 Consultation and Engagement 

5.9.1 Informal engagement with asylum seekers takes place on a regular basis through the 
outreach support services we commissions. 

5.9.2 More formal engagement is planned as part of a health needs assessment being 
delivered by the council’s Public Health team.  

 Environmental Impact 

5.10.1  None 

6. Background papers 

   Member's Item 19 January 2022 

 

21

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s69613/Members%20Items%20-%20Cllr%20Coakley%20Webb.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Children, Education & Safeguarding 
Committee  

 
Date 

Title  New Administration Ambitions 

Report of Chairman of the Committee, Councillor Pauline Coakley-Webb 

Wards All 

Status Public 

Urgent No 

Key No 

Enclosures                          None 

Officer Contact Details  Chris Munday, Executive Director for Children’s Services 

 

Summary 

After the May 5th, 2022, elections the Council has a new Labour administration This paper 
sets out the administration’s new aspirations, which relate to the Children, Education and 
Safeguarding Committee’s remit. These need to be developed into policy reviewed, and  
costed, and brought back to committee for  implementation. 

 

Officers Recommendations  

1. Committee requests that the Executive Director for Children and Families 

develops a programme of work which embeds the aspirations of the new 

Administration and bring back to the next CES committee for agreement. 

 

1. Why this report is needed 

 After the  May 5th, 2022 elections the Council now has aa new administration. This 
paper sets out the aspirations of the new administration which relate to the CES 
Committee’s remit. These commitments need to be developed into policy reviewed , 
costed, and brought back to committee prior to implementation..  

23

AGENDA ITEM 8



 

Page 2 of 6 

 The aspirations of the new administration that relate to the remit of this committee are 
as follows, and the Executive Director of Children and Families will develop service and 
deliver against these, reporting into this committee:   

1. We will work towards ‘Outstanding’ Children’s Services 

2. We will work to ensure a sustainable future for our maintained nurseries and 
all our schools. 

3. Following the pandemic, we will work to ensure all our children's education is 
supported and on track. 

4. We will work to provide more transitional housing for care leavers. 

5. We will work with parents and providers to increase access to affordable 
childcare and to provide more early help for children and families. 

6. We will develop a new vision for youth services  

2. Reasons for recommendations 

The new administration has been elected with aspirations which need to be developed into 
a coherent, costed policy. The paper sets out in brief the aspirations and the actions which 
will be undertaken to ensure that the Council’s approach is developed to deliver an 
effective response.  

3. Alternative options considered and not recommended 

 N/A 

4. Post decision implementation 

 The Executive Director will work with the Lead Member, other officers and partners to 
develop a coherent work programme for implementation of the administration’s 
aspirations. These will be reported back to committee. 

5. Implications of decision  

 Corporate Priorities and Performance 

5.1.1 Family Friendly is a key part of the Barnet Plan for 2021-2025 with the vision of 
“Creating a Family Friendly Barnet, enabling opportunities for our children and young 
people to achieve their best”. This is will be reviewed by the new Administration. 

 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability) 

5.2.1 There are no resource implications in developing the workplan. There will be 
implications in the implementation of the plan and the levels of investment will need to 

24



 

Page 3 of 6 

be considered in the light of the present budget envelope for the committee.  

 Legal and Constitutional References 

5.3.1 Local authorities have specific duties in respect of children under various legislation 
including the Children Act 1989 and Children Act 2004. They have a general duty to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children in need in their area and, if this is 
consistent with the child’s safety and welfare, to promote the upbringing of such 
children by their families by providing services appropriate to the child’s needs. They 
also have a duty to promote the upbringing of such children by their families, by 
providing services appropriate to the child’s needs, provided this is consistent with the 
child’s safety and welfare. They should do this in partnership with parents, in a way 
that is sensitive to the child’s race, religion, culture and language and that, where 
practicable, takes account of the child’s wishes and feelings. Under the Children and 
Families Act 2014, local authorities must consider how the child or young person can 
be supported to facilitate their development and to help them achieve the “best 
possible educational and other outcomes”. 

5.3.2 Local authorities have specific duties to care leavers under the Children Act 1989 as 
amended by the Children and Social Work Act 2017. The corporate parenting duties 
and powers under the 1989 Act include: 

 to act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health and 
well-being, of those children and young people;  

 to encourage those children and young people to express their views, wishes 
and feelings;  

 to take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and young 
people;  

 to help those children and young people gain access to, and make the best use 
of, services provided by the local authority and its relevant partners;  

 to promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for those 
children and young people;  

 for those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their home 
lives, relationships and education or work; and,  

 to prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent 
living 

5.3.3 The Council’s Constitution, Article 7 notes that the Children, Education and 
Safeguarding Committee has ‘Responsibility for all matters relating to children, schools 
and education.’ 

 Insight 

5.4.1 Family Services uses a comprehensive suite of performance information to support 
decision making, including local and regional datasets, audit and financial analysis. 
This information is scrutinised by Senior Leaders in a variety of forums including 
Placement Board, Performance Board, MTFS Board and in quarterly meetings with the 

25



 

Page 4 of 6 

Lead Member for Children and Families, and the Chief Executive. 

 Social Value 

5.5.1 All commissioning activity includes social value as a standard monitoring item. 

 Risk Management 

5.6.1 Specific risk management is being carried out for Children and Young People’s Plan. 
Any Family Services risks are recorded on the Family Services Risk Register and 
monitored each quarter by the Senior Leadership Team with escalations to CMT if 
necessary. 

 Equalities and Diversity  

5.7.1 The 2010 Equality Act outlines the provisions of the Public-Sector Equalities Duty 
which requires Public Bodies to have due regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010  

 advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups  

 foster good relations between people from different groups 

5.7.2 The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate considerations of equality into day 
business and keep them under review in decision making, the design of policies and 
the delivery of services 

5.7.3 Equalities and diversity considerations are a key element of social work practice. It is 
imperative that help and protection services for children and young are sensitive and 
responsive to age, disability, race and ethnicity, faith or belief, sex, gender 
reassignment, language, maternity / parental status and sexual orientation. We 
continue to closely monitor this, as report appendixes notes, in our performance data. 

 Corporate Parenting 

5.8.1 In July 2016, the Government published their Care Leavers’ strategy Keep on Caring 
which outlined that the ‘‘… [the government] will introduce a set of corporate parenting 
principles that will require all departments within a local authority to recognise their role 
as corporate parents, encouraging them to look at the services and support that they 
provide through the lens of what a reasonable parent would do to support their own 
children.’ 

5.8.2 The corporate parenting principles set out seven principles that local authorities must 
have regard to when exercising their functions in relation to looked after children and 
young people, as follows: 

 to act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health and 
well-being, of those children and young people;  

 to encourage those children and young people to express their views, wishes 
and feelings;  

26



 

Page 5 of 6 

 to take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and young 
people;  

 to help those children and young people gain access to, and make the best use 
of, services provided by the local authority and its relevant partners;  

 to promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for those 
children and young people;  

 for those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their home 
lives, relationships and education or work; and;  

 to prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent 
living. 

 Consultation and Engagement 

5.9.1 My Say Matters, the Family Services consultation and participation programme, has 
been launched and the first quarterly report will be published in July and available for 
the next CES committee. 

 Environmental Impact 

5.10.1 N/A 

6. Background papers 

 

  

27



 

Page 6 of 6 

 

28



 

 

 

Children, Education and Safeguarding 
Committee 

 
7th June 2022 

Title  

Special Education Needs and 
Disability (SEND) Local Area Ofsted 
Inspection and Action Plan plus: 

Policy updates from the Department 
for Education Schools White Paper 
(and subsequent Schools Bill) and 
SEND Green Paper. 

Report of Chair of the Committee, Councillor Coakley Webb 

Wards All 

Status Public 

Urgent No 

Key No 

Enclosures                          

Appendix A – Post SEND Area Inspection Action Plan 
 
Appendix B - Post Inspection Congratulatory Letter from Will 
Quince MP (Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for 
Children and Families) 

Officer Contact Details  

Chris Munday,   
Executive Director, Children’s Services  
Chris.Munday@Barnet.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0208 359 7099 

Neil Marlow, 
Chief Executive and Director of Education and Learning, 
Barnet Education and Learning Service 
neil.marlow@barnet.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0208 359 7725 

 

Summary 
Between 17 and 21 January 2022, Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission (CQC)  
conducted a joint inspection of the local area of Barnet to judge the effectiveness of the  

29

AGENDA ITEM 9



 

Page 2 of 21 

area in implementing the special educational needs and/or disabilities (SEND) reforms as  
set out in the Children and Families Act 2014 and wrote a report of their findings. 
 
In March 2022 the DfE published their White Paper entitled “Opportunity for all: Strong             
Schools with great teachers for your child” (followed up by a Schools Bill in May 2022) and  
also published its consultation Green Paper entitled “Right Support, Right Place, Right  
Time”.  
 
The purpose of this Report is to give members of the Committee an understanding of these 
documents and the implications for Barnet schools and for Barnet Local Authority. 

 

Officers Recommendations  

That the Children, Education and Safeguarding Committee: 

 
1. Note the outcome of the SEND Local Area inspection by Ofsted and the CQC 

2. Agree the Action Plan attached at Appendix A 

3. Note the Congratulatory Letter attached at Appendix B from Parliamentary 

Under-Secretary of State for Children and Families 

4. Note the contents of the Government’s White Paper “Opportunity for all: 

Strong Schools with great teachers for your child” and potential implications 

for schools, settings and the Local Authority.  

5. Delegate to the Executive Director, in consultation with the Committee Chair, 

the authority to develop a Barnet response to the White Paper in discussion 

with local schools and settings.  

6. Committee agree to delegate authority to the Executive Director to explore the 

development of a Local Authority Multi-Academy Trust with schools in Barnet 

and bring back proposals to a future CES committee. 

7. Note the contents of the DfE Green Paper “Right Support, Right Place, Right 

Time” and the potential implications for schools, settings and the Local 

Authority. 

 

1. Why this report is needed 

In November 2020 we reported to this Committee on the three year strategies related to 
education: 

 Barnet Education Strategy 2021-2024  

 Schools and Settings Improvement Strategy 2021-2024  

 SEND Strategy 2021-2024 

 Pupil Place Planning Strategy to 2022/23 

 
The three aspects of this report: the SEND Area Inspection; the DfE White Paper/Schools Bill 
and the DfE Green Paper are likely to feed into these strategies going forward. Therefore, it is 
important that this Committee are aware of the possible implications for Barnet. 
 

30



 

Page 3 of 21 

 
SEND Local Area Inspection 
 
1.1 It is important that the members of this Committee understand the outcome of the 

inspection and are clear about the proposed actions to achieve further improvement. 
 

1.2 The inspection was led by one of Her Majesty’s Inspectors (HMI) from Ofsted, with a team 
of inspectors, including an HMI and a children’s services inspector from the CQC. As part 
of the inspection: 

 Over 400 parent carers completed the Ofsted/CQC survey 

 There were visits to 3 primary schools, 2 secondary schools, a special school and Barnet 

and Southgate College 

 Plus, conversations with 2 Out of borough schools (Suffolk and Gloucestershire) 

 Meetings with staff and voluntary groups working in the Early Years 

 The Inspectors audited a sample of EHCPs which they selected  

 An Inspector met with BING (Barnet Inclusion Next Generation – a group of young 

people with SEND who regular meet to discuss issues and give feedback on SEND 

services) 

 We sent them the SEF (Self Evaluation Framework), our large Evidence store (or over 

200 documents) and some supplementary information 

 They met staff from BELS, Family Services and Health staff 

Having gathered all the evidence, the inspection team wrote a report outlining their findings. The 
full report can be found here: 
50179970 (ofsted.gov.uk) 

 

1.3 22 Strengths and 7 Areas for Improvement were identified in the Report from Ofsted and 
the CQC. Due to the positive outcome, we were not required to write a Statement of Action. 

 
Summary of Strengths identified by the inspection team 

 
1.4 The inspection confirmed that our self-evaluation was accurate and that we have a good 

understanding of our strengths and have prioritised the areas for improvement accurately 
It also confirmed that we manage services effectively across education, health and social 
care. 

 
1.5 They reported that children with SEND in Barnet enjoy their time in education and outside 

of school and that they like to live in Barnet and are well supported. Parents and carers 
are “typically positive about their children’s experiences in schools and colleges” and that 
the “education, health and care (EHC) plans make a positive difference in assessing and 
meeting their children’s needs.” Parents feel respected and valued as part of strategic and 
operational teams and our co-production work was highly praised. They saw that our 
Special Educational Needs and/or Disabilities Information and Advice Service (SENDIAS) 
was well established and effectively used and that parent/carers, children and young 
people and schools found the Local Offer website useful. 

 
1.6 They reported that school and college leaders were complimentary about the leadership 

of SEND in Barnet and that they received the support needed. Our support throughout the 
Covid-19 period was praised. The multi-agency training offer was also very well received. 
The report recognised the improved collaboration between colleges, post-16 settings and 

31

https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50179970


 

Page 4 of 21 

secondary schools to assess young people’s needs making the move from secondary 
schools to post-16 providers more effective. 

 
 
Summary of Areas for Improvement identified by the inspection and plans in place for 
improvement 
 
1.7 Six of the seven Areas for Improvement were related to health and not education or social 

care. An Action Plan has been formulated to address the areas for improvement which is 
shown in Appendix A 
 

1.8 The one education related area for improvement related to outcomes in some EHC plans 
which do not “typically focus on the steps needed to help children and young people realise 
their wider hopes and ambitions.” To improve the Outcomes written in EHCPs to better 
reflect the aspirations of the children and young people we have: 

 Amended the EHCP template to include the aspirations of the children and young 

people at the top of Section E (Outcomes) of the plan 

 Ensured there is a focus from professionals in their reports on transition to adulthood 

from Year 9 including outcomes related to helping children and young people 

achieve their ambitions                                                       

 Ensured that there is input at SENCo training on purposeful transition, driven from 

children and young people's aspirations 

 
1.9 One area for improvement related to antenatal contact with some expectant parents not 

being offered support. For all expectant parents to be offered an antenatal review so their 
health needs can be identified, the following actions will be put in place from September 
2022: 

 Parents to receive the full midwifery antenatal offer as part of the healthy child 

programme. Currently, the Health Visitors only offer a review to targeted parents 

identified as being vulnerable. A full antenatal review by a health visitor needs to 

take place. 

 

1.10 One area for improvement related to waiting times for essential home equipment for 
children with SEND. To address this: 

 The equipment pathway will be reviewed in order to expedite provision to patients 

 

1.11 One area for improvement related to the wait time for specialist child and adolescent 
mental health (CAMHS) services. To improve access to CAMHS services: 

 Mental health community services are carrying out a review to determine priorities 

for each Borough in North Central London (NCL) which will include a gap analysis 

 Development of a patient treatment list across NCL to ensure that patients waiting 

for treatment can be identified by borough and service line in order to better target 

resources 

 
1.12 The remaining four areas for improvement related to the reduction in therapeutic provision 

in Barnet and the increased wait time for therapies. This has been mainly due to 
recruitment challenges across health services. This was a challenge for the previous 
provider, North East London Foundation Trust (NELFT), and is continuing to be a challenge 

32



 

Page 5 of 21 

with the new provider, Whittington Health. However, the following actions are being put 
into place to improve recruitment: 

 New recruitment campaign underway Join our Children and Young People's 

Services (whittington.nhs.uk) including use of social media 

 Developing an apprenticeship programme within Whittington Health 

 Whittington Health have invested in two new additional senior clinical posts 

 Shadowing opportunities within Whittington Health to grow their own and provide 

development opportunities 

 Increased banding (salary scale) for hard to recruit posts  

 Working with Whittington Health boroughs (Barnet, Haringey, Islington, Camden) to 

link up vacant posts 

 Golden Hello’ to make posts more attractive 

 Attending job fairs at local universities 

 To work with schools and consistently communicate the offer available in order to 

improve the school working environment for therapists 

 

Since taking over the contract Whittington Health have been successful in filling seven 

vacant posts with a further eight appointed to and going through the normal appointment 

processes. This leaves seven posts currently vacant, some of which are being covered 

by agency staff. 

 

In addition there are also actions in place to improve the retention rate of staff including 

support for well-being, staff surveys, buddy system, exit interviews, training needs 

analysis etc 

 

 

1.13 Monitoring of Action Plan 
The Action Plan will be monitored, evaluated and updated (where necessary) at the termly 
SEND Development Board Meetings and the SEND Partnership Board Meetings 
 

DfE White Paper and Schools Bill 
 
1.14 The DfE White Paper is the first White Paper on schools for six years and outlines the 

government’s belief that excellent teaching with higher standards in curriculum, behaviour 
and attendance will help every child to reach their potential, especially as education is seen 
as the great leveller. The committee need to be aware of the implications of the White 
Paper and the subsequent proposed Schools Bill so that Barnet may respond in a way that 
will further strengthen to quality of our schools and maintain the positive relationship and 
effective partnership we have with all our schools. The link to the White Paper is below: 
Opportunity for all: Strong schools with great teachers for your child 

 
1.15 A Schools Bill was subsequently published on 12 May which “paves the way for all schools 

to join a strong multi-academy trust”. The Bill provides the framework for a new, legally 
enforceable set of standards for academy trusts, replacing disparate standards agreed with 
each trust at the point it was created - so that parents will know what they can expect for 
their children. It introduces a new legal tool for local authorities to request some or all of 

33

https://www.whittington.nhs.uk/default.asp?c=43244
https://www.whittington.nhs.uk/default.asp?c=43244
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1063602/Opportunity_for_all_strong_schools_with_great_teachers_for_your_child__print_version_.pdf


 

Page 6 of 21 

their schools join a strong academy trust, in addition to the existing powers that individual 
school governing boards hold. In addition the Bill: 

 encodes protections for grammar schools to retain their current status when joining 
multi-academy trusts, and for faith schools to similarly retain their existing freedoms 

 includes new powers for Ofsted to gather evidence and act against schools operating 
illegally and removes loopholes that allowed some settings not to register as a school 
despite having children attend during most or all of the school week. 

 gives a pledge to parents that if their child falls behind in English or maths they will 
receive tailored support to get back on track, and the ambition for 90% of children to 
leave primary school at the expected standard in reading, writing and maths by 2030.  

 outlines reforms to expand the remit of the Teaching Regulation Agency which will 
make sure unsuitable teachers are prohibited from the profession, regardless of 
whether they were currently teaching at the time of their misconduct. 

 outlines a new legal requirement for local authorities to maintain registers of children 
not in school, helping make sure no child gets lost from the education system, as well 
as new requirements for schools, trusts and councils to work together to drive the 
highest possible levels of attendance in every corner of the country.  

 makes a commitment to move to a direct National Funding Formula, increasing 
fairness by making sure every school receives funding on the same basis, wherever it 
is in the country.  

 confirms £5 billion has been invested in the Government’s education recovery 
programme, including in the National Tutoring Programme, offering catch-up tutoring 
for students who fell behind during the pandemic. 

1.16 We need to ensure that there is a co-ordinated response in Barnet to the White Paper and 
the Schools Bill (May 2022), particularly with regards to the proposals about 
academisation, in order to further strengthen the quality of our schools and maintain the 
positive relationship and effective partnership we have with all our schools. This response 
does not need to be rushed; a number of the recommendations and ambitions are not due 
to be achieved for eight years. Our approach needs to be carefully thought out and 
planned, in co-production with stakeholders, in order to maintain the excellent educational 
provision within Barnet. 

 
Summary of DfE White Paper 

 

1.17 The vision of the DfE White paper is that every single child should have access to an 
education that equips them with the knowledge, skills and experiences needed to fulfil their 
potential.   
 

1.18 The Government’s mission for education is that by 2030, 90% of children will leave primary 
school having achieved the expected standard in reading, writing and maths, up from 65% 
nationally in 2019.  The realisation of this aspiration would mean more pupils would be 
equipped to flourish in secondary school, where Government is also raising their 

34



 

Page 7 of 21 

expectations.  They have also set an ambition to increase the national GCSE average 
grade in both English language and in maths from 4.5 in 2019 to 5 by 2030 
 

1.19 These targets will be supported by the ambition that every school will have joined, or will 
be joining, a strong multi academy trust by 2030. 
 

1.20 The Schools White Paper needs to be read in conjunction with the Levelling Up White 
Paper and Skills for Jobs White Paper.    It also references the SEND Green Paper and 
the Care review which is underway. 
 

1.21 Not all of the policy announcements in the White Paper are new announcements. 
 

1.22 The White Paper sets out the intention to achieve these ambitions by ensuring: 
 

 Chapter 1 - An excellent teacher for every child, including delivering world-class 
training and professional development at every stage of their career.  

 Chapter 2 - High standards of curriculum, attendance and behaviour, creating 
the conditions in which great teaching flourishes.  

 Chapter 3 - A pledge to parents that children who are behind in maths or English 

will receive evidence-based targeted support, such as tutoring, to help them make 

progress and that every child that needs it will receive targeted support 

 Chapter 4 - A stronger and fairer school system that works for every child, 

encouraging the growth of the best school trusts as the collaborative structure best 

suited to supporting quality teaching. All organisations in the school system will have 

a clearly defined role, so parents know who to turn to in every situation.  

1.23 If achieved, the White Paper claims that the wider benefits of pupils in 2030 meeting the 
Key Stage 2 and GCSE ambitions are estimated to be worth at least £30 billion each for 
the economy.   
 

1.24 Other plans in the White Paper to deliver on the missions for children’s attainment 
at the end of primary and secondary include: 

 500,000 teacher training and development opportunities by 2024 

 £30,000 starting salaries to attract and retain the best teachers 

 Payments to recruit and keep talented physics, chemistry, computing and maths teachers 

working in disadvantaged schools 

 A register for children not in school to make sure no child is lost from the system 

 Every school to have access to funded training for a senior mental health lead to deliver a 

whole school approach to health and wellbeing 

 Oak National Academy becoming a government body with sole focus on supporting 

teachers to deliver the very best lesson content 

 Up to 6 million tutoring courses by 2024 and action to cement tuition as a permanent 

feature of the school system   

 The school system working as a whole to raise standards with trusts responsible for 

running schools while local authorities are empowered to champion the interests of 

children 

35



 

Page 8 of 21 

 
1.25 How will this be achieved? 
The school day 
Government plan to introduce a minimum expectation for the length of the school week of 32.5 
hours (the current average) for all mainstream state-funded schools (equivalent to equivalent to 
8.45am to 3.15pm, Monday to Friday).   They hope the move will help support all children from 
primary school onwards to have fair access to a high-quality education.  They will also encourage 
schools to explore going further than the minimum expectation, if possible, to support a broad 
curriculum and enable access to high-quality extra-curricular provision.  They state that currently 
14 per cent of primary and secondary schools across England have school weeks shorter than 
32 hours 
 
Improving behaviour 
For children to receive the best possible education, they must be taught in a calm, orderly, safe and 

supportive school.  Consequently, there is the aspiration to support teachers in all state-funded 

schools to develop their expertise in managing pupil behaviour and wellbeing which will be done 

through a fully funded National Professional Qualification in Behaviour and Culture.  They will also 

continue to help heads use the full range of powers available to them – like suspensions and 

exclusions – appropriately where they have to, so they are more confident to take action where 

necessary.   

 
Boosting attendance  

In light of the pandemic, they recognise that face-to-face education is of paramount importance 
for children’s academic, social and emotional wellbeing.  They have been carrying out a 
consultation –speaking to parents, teachers, and others – about how pupils can be helped to 
overcome whatever is stopping them from going to school regularly.  Subject to the results of this 
consultation, they plan to introduce legislation to create new statutory guidance on attendance, 
including a requirement for every school to publish a clear attendance policy to improve support.  
They hope that for parents this should result in greater consistency and improved, earlier support 
where required.  And at a local level they hope it will also make it easier for schools to understand 
individual attendance patterns and for trusts, local authorities and DfE to identify problems more 
quickly 
 
A new arms-length curriculum body 

The creation of a new body that works with teachers across the country to co-create free, optional, 
adaptable digital curriculum resources to deliver a rigorous, high-quality curriculum. 
 
English & maths - Getting the right support to get back on track  

The Government are pledging to parents that every child who falls behind in English or maths will get 
targeted, evidence-based support to get back on track. 

Two key parts of this:  

Specialist training to drive better literacy through a new National Professional Qualification for 
Leading Literacy; a new National Professional Qualification for Early Years Leadership; and up to 
£180m investment in the early years workforce, including training for early years practitioners to 
support literacy and numeracy teaching.  

Tutoring will also be a key way that schools will deliver targeted support, and they have invested £1 
billion to establish the National Tutoring Programme, financially incentivising schools, so that tutoring 

36



 

Page 9 of 21 

is embedded in every school.  They plan to deliver up to 6 million tutoring courses by 2024, which 
when combined with their programmes to deliver tutoring for young people aged 16-19, equates to 
around 100 million hours of tutoring.   

Separate but linked to this agenda is the Government announcement late last year of its new £560 
million Numeracy programme ‘Multiply’, to help transform the lives of hundreds of thousands of adults 
across the UK [planned for April 2022 and will be delivered through the UK Shared Prosperity Fund].  
All local areas in the United Kingdom will receive funding to deliver bespoke adult 
numeracy programmes in their area, supporting people to improve their numeracy skills, as they 
are more likely to get employment, have higher wages, and better wellbeing.   

 
Systems Approach - School system as a whole  

Central Government wants to spread what they see as the benefits of the best multi academy trusts, 
so that every child learns with the benefits of a strong, supportive family of schools. To ensure that is 
the case, they see the need to create a system with clear roles and accountability, where there is a 
collaborative system in which everyone involved in education plays their part.  This means:  

 A fully trust led system with a single regulatory approach, which will drive up standards 

through the growth of strong trusts and the establishment of new ones, including trusts 

established by local authorities  

 A clear role for every part of the school system, with local authorities empowered to 

champion the interests of children and a new collaborative standard requiring trusts to work 

constructively with all other partners 

 Education Investment Areas (Barnet is not eligible) to increase funding and support to areas 

in most need, plus extra funding in priority areas facing the most entrenched challenges 

 

Reforming the SEND and children’s social care systems 

Over 15% of children have an identified special educational need or disability (SEND), and vulnerable 
children and children with SEND have lower educational attainment than their peers on average. 

Consequently, they plan on reforming the SEND and Children’s Social Care Systems, so that no child 
misses out.  This will mean all children and young people with SEND are able to access the right 
support in the right place at the right time.  To make sure the right support is in the right places, they 
will invest £2.6bn in high needs capital investment, providing 34,000 additional specialist or 
alternative provision places. As part of that, they will deliver new special and alternative provision free 
schools.   

This is further set out in detail in the SEND Review (see below).  Alongside this they will also be 
considering the recommendations of the Independent Review of Children’s Social Care, due this 
Spring, as part of their commitment to make a real difference to the needs, experience and outcomes 
of those supported by children’s social care. 

 

Implications for Barnet 

Barnet is well placed to respond to the ambition of the Schools White Paper. There is already a strong 
sense that we do already undertake our role as the ‘Champion of Children’ and have a strong system 
of challenge and support to all schools. We work well in partnership with all schools. The corporate 
ambition of the Education Strategy sits firmly within the White Paper 

 
1.26 Length of school week 

37

https://educationhub.blog.gov.uk/2021/10/27/everything-you-need-to-know-about-the-new-multiply-programme/


 

Page 10 of 21 

Minimum 32.5hrs a week (by Sept 2023) – this is an expectation not a statutory duty (but 
will be checked by Ofsted). The expectation will not apply to special schools, pupil referral 
units, alternative provision, early years or post-16 education. From September this year, 
schools will be expected to publish their opening hours online. We are currently checking 
that all Barnet schools already meet this minimum requirement. 

 
1.27 Achievement at Key Stage 2 

The White Paper outlines the ambition that, by 2030, 90% of pupils will leave primary 
school with the expected standard in reading writing and maths. In 2019 the percentage in 
Barnet was 73% (ranked 9th in the country). We are anticipating this percentage will drop 
in 2022 due the impact of the pandemic. Therefore, we would aspire to roughly a 20 
percentage points increase in the next eight years.  
 

1.28 Achievement at Key Stage 4 
The White Paper outlines the ambition that, by 2030, there will be an increase to the 
national GCSE average grade in both English language and in maths to 5. In 2019, Barnet 
schools already achieve this.  The average grade in Barnet for English Language in 2019 
was 5.6 and for Maths was 5.7. Again, this may drop in 2022 due to the impact of the 
pandemic.  
 
The DfE have been clear that these ambitions for KS2 and KS4 are not “floor targets” for 
schools (or Local Authorities) but merely a way of the government evaluating the success 
of the White Paper. 

 
1.29 Attendance 

The White Paper lays out the aspiration that attendance will go “back to pre-pandemic 
levels and beyond”. In Barnet, throughout the pandemic, attendance in schools has been 
relatively strong compared to national and London averages. Recent attendance data has 
demonstrated that the attendance rates in schools has not returned to pre-pandemic levels 
yet but is increasing every term.  
 
Separate attendance guidance ‘Working Together to Improve School Attendance’ has 
been published with additional duties and responsibilities placed on schools and local 
authorities, including a free core offer of attendance support, provided by the local 
authority, to every school (regardless of their type) on a termly basis.  The White Paper 
suggests that these new duties and responsibilities will be included in legislation as soon 
as possible, but not before September 2023. The White Paper also suggests that the cost 
to local authorities for the delivery of their new duties/responsibilities will be cost neutral. 
This will be a particular challenge in Barnet given that all current local authority attendance 
staff are fully traded with schools. 
 

1.30 Legislation for register of children not in school including EHE 
The White Paper and the proposed Schools Bill included the plan to establish ‘children not 
in school’ registers, as well as creating a duty on local authorities to provide support to 
home educating families.  
 
Barnet currently holds a register of children known to be missing from education and this 
will form the basis of a ‘children not in school register’. The new register will be promoted 
using existing partnerships to increase information sharing across children’s services. The 
register will be monitored and acted upon by the existing Children Missing from Education 
Officers. The register will also provide accurate data to record children who are not 

38



 

Page 11 of 21 

receiving a suitable full-time education, and to enable support to be offered to interested 
parents of registered children. We await further guidance about what constitutes “suitable” 
full time education. 
 
Barnet has worked hard to establish supportive resources and relationships with electively 
home educating parents over the last 12 months through the Children’s Safeguarding 
Partnership and will continue to build on these arrangements to meet this new duty. The 
council has also invested in the appointment of a full time Elective Home Education 
Advisory Teacher in 2021 to lead the work with electively home educating parents. 

 
1.31 Increased Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) support to schools and 

students 
We already deliver comprehensive SEMH support to schools, through the Educational 
Psychology Service, BICS (Barnet Integrated Clinical Services), the Inclusion and Advisory 
Team and the Resilient Schools Programme. We continue to consult with schools to 
ensure the support meets their needs. We welcome the announcement from the 
government of a further £7 million for schools and colleges to train a senior mental health 
lead, bringing the total amount of funding for 2022/23 to £10 million. 
 

1.32 “A culture of flexible working in schools” for teachers 
We await further details of what is being asked here. This may mean the more effective 
use of technology between schools to be able to teach students remotely from one school 
to another, in subjects where there is a shortage of teachers. We are well placed to support 
schools in setting up these arrangements. 
 

1.33  “Backstop power” for Local Authorities  
This proposes giving power to Local Authorities to order academy trusts to admit pupils 
and take charge of in-year admissions, for which academies are, at present, responsible. 
The Council will await details of new burdens on funding in this regard. 
 
 
 

1.34 All schools in a Multi Academy Trust (MAT) by 2030 
The White Paper states that by 2030, all children will benefit from being taught in a family 
of schools, with their school in a strong multi academy trust or with plans to join or form 
one.”  Clearly this aspect of the White Paper will have the biggest implication for Barnet LA 
and Barnet schools. As well as current LA Maintained schools being expected to join a 
MAT, stand alone academies will also be expected to move into a MAT. The Schools Bill 
introduces a new legal tool for local authorities to request some or all of their schools join 
a strong academy trust, in addition to the existing powers that individual school governing 
boards hold. We do not intend to use this legal tool preferring to work in partnership with 
our schools in order to co-design a future model that will benefit the schools and children 
and young people in Barnet. 
 
Schools with two Ofsted judgements in a row less than Good will be expected to join a 
strong MAT before 2030. We have one such school in Barnet (a community school). 

 
The current school landscape in Barnet is as follows: 
 
Nursery – 4 schools 

 4 community schools 

39



 

Page 12 of 21 

 
Primary - 90 schools: 

 39 are community schools 

 2 are foundation schools 

 13 are Church of England Voluntary Aided schools 

 10 are Catholic Voluntary Aided schools 

 10 are Jewish Voluntary Aided schools 

 16 are academies (4 stand alone; 12 in a MAT) 
 
Secondary – 25 schools  

 1 is a community school 

 3 are Catholic Voluntary Aided schools 

 2 are Jewish Voluntary Aided schools 

 19 are academies (11 stand alone; 8 in a MAT) 
 

All-Through – 3 schools 

 1 is a Church of England Voluntary Aided school 

 2 are academies (both in a MAT) 
 
Special – 6 schools 

 3 community schools 

 3 are academies (all currently stand alone) 
 

Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) – 2 schools 

 2 community schools 
 

The White Paper outlines a potential role for Local Authorities in this completely 
academised school system “Local authorities will be able to establish new multi academy 
trusts where too few strong trusts exist, enabling high performing schools with a track 
record of local partnership to formalise their relationships and add expertise and capacity 
to the trust system.” Nadhim Zahawi, the education secretary commented: “Local 
government will, I hope, join us on this journey. “Because if they think they're good at 
supporting schools – set up a trust, and we will back you, but we will treat you equally with 
every other trust.” 
 
Further guidance about the setting up of MATs, including LA MATS, is expected to be 
published by the end of May. 

 
DfE Green Paper 
 
1.35 In March 2022 the DfE published its consultation green paper entitled “Right Support, Right 

Place, Right Time”. The consultation closes on 22 July 2022. This Green Paper sets out a 
vision for a single, national SEND and alternative provision system that will introduce new 
standards in the quality of support given to children across education, health and care.   
The green paper can be found at the below link: 
SEND Review - right support, right place, right time (publishing.service.gov.uk) 
 

1.36 The Green Paper identifies three key challenges facing the SEND system.  These are:  

 That outcomes for children and young people with SEND or in alternative 

provision are poor 

40

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1063620/SEND_review_right_support_right_place_right_time_accessible.pdf


 

Page 13 of 21 

 Navigating the SEND system and alternative provision is not a positive experience 

for children, young people and their families 

 And that despite unprecedented investment, the system is not delivering value for 

money for children, young people and families  

 
Overview of proposals in the SEND and alternative provision green paper 

 

1.37 Setting new national standards across education, health and care to build on the 
foundations created through the Children and Families Act 2014, for a higher performing 
SEND system 

1.38 A simplified Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) through digitising plans to make 
them more flexible, reducing bureaucracy and supporting parents to make informed 
choices via a list of appropriate placements tailored to their child’s needs, meaning less 
time spent researching the right school 

1.39 A new legal requirement for councils to introduce ‘local inclusion plans’ that bring 
together early years, schools and post-16 education with health and care services, giving 
system partners more certainty on who is responsible and when 

1.40 Improving oversight and transparency through the publication of new ‘local inclusion 
dashboards’ to make roles and responsibilities of all partners within the system clearer 
for parents and young people, helping to drive better outcomes 

1.41 A new national framework for councils for banding and tariffs of High Needs, to 
match the national standards and offer clarity on the level of support expected, and put the 
system on a financially sustainable footing in the future 

1.42 Changing the culture and practice in mainstream education to be more inclusive and 
better at identifying and supporting needs, including through earlier intervention and 
improved targeted support 

1.43 Improving workforce training through the introduction of a new SENCo NPQ for school 
SENCos and increasing the number of staff with an accredited level 3 qualification in early 
years settings; and 

1.44 A reformed and integrated role for alternative provision (AP), with a new delivery 
model in every local area focused on early intervention. AP will form an integral part of 
local SEND systems with improvements to settings and more funding stability. 

1.45 The proposals are backed by new funding to implement them, worth £70 million. This 
will build on the £9 billion government investment in local authority high needs 
budgets next year and £2.6 billion for new places for children with SEND over the next 
three years.   

1.46 The emphasis is on providing the right support to children in the right place and at the right 
time by: 

 Boosting confidence in the system and raising standards all over the country 

 Changing the culture of mainstream education, putting it on a par with specialist 
settings 

 Streamlining the system from the early years to post-16 so that every pupil 
receives a good foundation in support all the way through their education 

 Requiring the different services involved in providing support for children with 
SEND, from schools and councils to healthcare providers, to work more closely 
together increasing accountability and scrutiny 

 Ensuring the SEND system is financially sustainable by making sure funding is 
targeted where it makes the most difference. 

 

Implications for Barnet 

41



 

Page 14 of 21 

As the with Schools White Paper, we are already well placed to respond to the ambition of the SEN 
Green Paper. The corporate ambition of the Education and SEND Strategies sit firmly within the 
Green Paper. Our recent SEND Area Review carried out by Ofsted confirmed that outcomes were 
strong for children with SEND in Barnet and provision was generally highly effective. 

 

Mainstream Schools 

 
1.47 New National Standards 

Proposed new national standards will set out “when needs can and should be met 
effectively in mainstream provision” and what support should be available. The government 
will “steward and regulate” the system.  

 
1.48 Contextual Information 

School performance tables will also be updated to consider “contextual information” about 
a school alongside its results data. This will “make it easier to recognise schools” that are 
“doing well for children with SEND”.  

 
1.49 Alternative Provision 

Mainstream schools will have a “clear, tiered package of support” for Alternative Provision. 
3 tiers of support:  

 “targeted support” for children whose needs “lead to behaviour that disrupts theirs 
or others’ learning”  

 “time-limited” placements in AP for those who need more “intensive support” to 
address behaviour or anxiety and “re-engage in learning”. Pupils would be dual-
registered, and “supported to return to their original school as soon as is 
appropriate” 

 transitional placements for children who won’t go back to their old school, but will 
be supported to transition to a different school “when they are ready, or to a suitable 
post16 destination”  
 

We welcome the focus on Alternative Provision within the Green Paper and we propose to 
carry out a full evaluation of our alternative provision in Barnet to ensure that it meets the 
requirements of the Green Paper. 

 
Barnet LA 

 
1.50 National SEND standards 

Under the proposals, the government would introduce national SEND standards, 
standardised education, health and care plans (EHCPs) and national funding bands.  
 

1.51 Single National Formula 
Rather than councils setting “notional” special educational needs budgets for their schools, 
the Department for Education would instead use a “single, national formula”. The 

government will decide who pays for support and how councils set funding levels, but it 
plans to consult on whether some “local flexibility” is required. We understand the rationale 
for the single national formula but would seek some local flexibility regarding 
implementation. 

 
1.52 Mediation 

42



 

Page 15 of 21 

Families and councils must engage in mediation on disputes over EHCPs before 
registering an appeal in the first tier tribunal. We welcome these proposals if they reduce 
the number of tribunals. 

 
1.53 Tailored List of settings 

Parents will also be offered a “tailored list” of settings for their child. Councils will allocate 
the “first available place” in order of the parents’ preference, but the settings “may be 
outside” the council region. We await further details of this proposal and how the “tailored 
list” will be decided upon.  
 

1.54  DfE Regions Group  
The DfE’s new “regions group” – the rebranded regional schools commissioners – will be 
responsible for holding councils and trusts to account on delivering for children and young 
people with SEND.  
 

Barnet response to the specific challenges identified in the Green Paper 
 
1.55 Challenge 1: outcomes for children and young people with SEN or in alternative 

provision are poor  

 Children in Barnet with SEN do well comparative to nationally, however, detailed 
investigation of data for vulnerable groups (including those in alternative provision) 
would be advantageous to consider how we could do even better for all children and 
young people in Barnet with SEND i.e. Black African/Caribbean boys, children and 
young people known to REACH 

 Preparing for Adulthood – we need to ensure we have sufficient support for the 
transition from Post 16 into EET 

 
1.56 Challenge 2: navigating the SEND system and alternative provision is not a positive 

experience for children, young people and their families 

 We will continue to work with Barnet Parent Carer Forum (BPCF) and other parent 
groups in Barnet to ensure continued parental confidence in the SEND system in 
Barnet  

 The good percentage of parents who respond to the Education Health and Care 
Needs Assessment (EHCNA) survey provides us with useful feedback 

 We plan to introduce half-termly zoom drop-in sessions for parents whose children 

are having an EHC needs assessment in order for them to ask questions and share 

any concerns or worries 

 
 

1.57 Challenge 3: despite unprecedented investment, the system is not delivering value 
for money for children, young people and families  
As a result of concerns about SEN funding in mainstream schools, ten Barnet 
headteachers met with the Director of SEND and Inclusion earlier this year to form an SEN 
Funding Working Group to look at some options for additional funding for mainstream 
schools in certain circumstances. Comparison top-up rates from other local authorities 
were looked at by the group, with the conclusion that Barnet’s top up rates are roughly at 
a midpoint when compared with other local authorities.  
 
£526,774 were budgeted in the 2022/23 Budget to cover the costs of the recommendations.  
 

43



 

Page 16 of 21 

The recommendations from the group, which were accepted by Schools Forum, were as 
follows: 

 Fair Share and SEN Notional Funding. 

Where the funding for EHCPs in a mainstream school is 60% or more of the SEN 

notional funding and the school has a deficit budget, the school will be given 

additional funding. The amount of funding will be determined by the number of 

EHCPs and the banded funding rates for the EHCPs, taking account of the school’s 

SEN Notional funding and deficit budget. 

 Full funding of pupils in mainstream schools awaiting specialist placement  

The Schools Forum agreed the following criteria:  

Funding would be from the term after the specialist placements panel where it is 

agreed that a specialist placement is appropriate. This is for pupils who have an 

EHCP and who have Banded funding of ‘D’ or above. The maximum top-up funding 

a school could receive would be £18,000. 

 Exceptional Circumstances Funding for pupils in the process of receiving an 

EHCP  

The Schools Forum agreed the following criteria:  

This would only be applied to pupils where the school’s provision map shows a need 

for Banded funding of ‘D’ or above. Schools will need to request this and provide 

the evidence to support the request for early funding. EHCP top-up funding to start 

6 weeks early (i.e. at 14 weeks of the process), after the decision to issue has been 

made. 

 

 

 Wording of the EHCP  

The final recommendation does not include additional funding for mainstream 

schools, but it does enable schools to use their SEN funding more flexibly, whilst at 

the same time ensuring that EHCPs are compliant with the SEND Code of Practice, 

ensuring that provision is individualised to the needs of the child, specific and 

quantifiable. Currently, the wording in the EHCP is: “The funding will support X 

amount of hours a week based on Banding TA hours. To be provided to ensure that 

all needs are met and (child’s name) makes measurable progress”. The agreed 

change to the wording in the EHCP is: “The funding will support X amount of hours 

a week based on Banding TA hours. This could be delivered in a range of ways, 

according to the needs of the child, including small group work, paired work, or short 

bursts of targeted 5 intervention with an adult. The support provided will be designed 

to ensure that all needs are met and (child’s name) makes measurable progress. 

  
The Working Group will be reconvened if necessary to evaluate whether the system in 
Barnet delivers “value for money for children, young people and families”  

 
Further Implications and Challenges in the Green Paper 
 
 
1.58 Creation of Integrated Care Systems 

44



 

Page 17 of 21 

The current system of a Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) will move to an Integrated 
Care System (ICS). We note the proposal in the paper for there to be a SEND lead on 
every ICS Board.  
 

1.59 Multi Academy Trusts 
There is an expectation that Special Schools and PRUs will be within Multi Academy Trusts 
by 2030 (see report on White Paper and Schools Bill). As part of the work with schools on 
the possible formation of LA MATS we need to decide together whether these MATs will 
be specialist only or mixed. 

2. Reasons for Recommendations 

 The Report informs the committee of the main findings from the SEND Ofsted and CQC 
Inspection of the Local Area. As the regulatory bodies for our SEND provision, it is 
appropriate for the committee to note the strengths and areas for improvement and to 
reassure themselves that appropriate actions are planned to make the necessary 
improvements.  

 The Report informs the committee of the main aspects of the White Paper and Schools 
Bill and the Green Paper to begin to plan our response. 

 Barnet is already well placed to respond to the ambition of the Schools White and Green 
Papers. There is already a very strong sense that we do already undertake our role as 
the ‘Champion of Children’ and have a strong system of challenge and support to all 
schools. The corporate ambition of the Education Strategy and SEND Strategy sits 
firmly within the White and Green Papers. 

 Barnet is also well placed in the following ways: 

Strong teams in BELS and Children’s Services: 

 The reputation of the BELS and Children’s Services teams is high across all schools 
and settings in Barnet with good collaboration across services and schools.  These 
teams are well placed to respond to the implementation of the white paper and the 
proposed changed role for LAs within the paper including highly regarded 
safeguarding support, school improvement support, admissions, school place 
planning, teams to support vulnerable pupils, attendance and exclusion support and 
the social, emotional and mental health (SEMH) support from different teams. 
 

Strong partners within Barnet: 

 Good links with Teaching School Hub and Behaviour Hubs 

 Good links with Westminster Diocese, LDBS and PAJES 

 We work very well with the professional associations including the governor 
associations 

 We have strong partnership boards in existence to oversee the white paper 

 Our strategies are robust, regularly reviewed and co-produced 

3. Alternative options considered and not recommended 

 An option is to not respond to the aspects of both the White Paper and the Schools Bill 
and not to start discussing the potential ways forward with schools at this stage. The 

45



 

Page 18 of 21 

danger with this approach is that schools may start to look for their own solutions, away 
from the local authority which could lead to a fragmented system within Barnet and the 
loss of the “Barnet family of schools”. 

4. Post decision implementation 

 The White Paper and Schools Bill and Green Paper will be discussed with schools at 
upcoming meetings in the Summer Term, following agreement from this Committee. 

 The SEND Inspection Action Plan will be implemented in line with the timescale outlined 
within the document and will be monitored by the relevant Boards. 

5. Implications of decision  

 Corporate Priorities and Performance 

5.1.1 The quality of the education offer in Barnet is at the heart of Barnet’s continuing 
success as a place where people want to live, work and study. It plays a crucial part in 
making Barnet a popular and desirable place with many families attracted to the area 
by the good reputation of Barnet’s schools. 

5.1.2 Excellent educational outcomes and ensuring children and young people are equipped 
to meet the needs of employers are key to delivering the Council’s strategic objectives 
set out in its Corporate Plan, Barnet 2024, based on the core principles of fairness, 
responsibility and opportunity to make sure Barnet is a place: 

 of opportunity, where people can further their quality of life 

 where people are helped to help themselves, recognising that prevention is better 
than cure  

 where responsibility is shared fairly  

 where services are delivered efficiently to get value for money for the taxpayer 

5.1.3 The London Borough of Barnet’s Education Strategy 2021-2024 sets out that good 
leadership and governance is a key driver to the achievement of the improvement of 
schools and educational outcomes. 

 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability) 

5.2.1 At this stage the resources required to respond to all the elements of the White Paper 
and Schools Bill are unknown but will become clear once the future direction is 
determined. This includes any new burdens on funding to be able to meet the new 
demands on council services. 

5.2.2 At this stage the resources required to respond to all the elements of the Green Paper 
are unknown but will become clear once the consultation period is over and SEND 
delivery plan has been produced by the government. The work to maintain and 
improve services and implement the SEND Strategy (2021 – 2024) is delivered from 
within existing resources of the council and partner organisations. 

46



 

Page 19 of 21 

 Legal and Constitutional References 

5.3.1 Article 7: Committees, Forums, Working Groups and Partnerships of the council’s 
constitution states that the committee has responsibility for all matters relating to 
children, schools, education and safeguarding. 

5.3.2 Section 7 of the Education Act 1996 places a duty on parent/carers of children of 
compulsory school age to ensure that their children receive an efficient full-time 
education suitable to their age, aptitude and ability and any special educational needs 
they may have either by regular attendance at school or otherwise. 

5.3.3 The Council has duties under the Children and Families Act 2014 in relation to children 
with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). There is a statutory 
requirement for the Council to have a SEND Strategy and to keep it under review. 

 Insight 

5.4.1 N/A 

 Social Value 

5.5.1 Public Services (Social Value) Act 2013 requires people who commission public 
services to think about how they can also secure wider social, economic and 
environmental benefits. Before commencing a procurement process, commissioners 
should think about whether the services they are going to buy, or the way they are 
going to buy them, could secure these benefits for their area or stakeholders. 

 Risk Management 

5.6.1 We run the risk of losing the “family” nature of Barnet schools if individual schools join 
existing national MATs. 

5.6.2 The Risk Register for the education service includes a risk that poor forward planning 
means that adequate high quality provision is not in place for children and young 
people with Special Educational Needs resulting in a failure to meet their needs 
locally. To control against this risk, the SEND Strategy 2021-2024 includes priorities 
for planning provision and making improvements and future provision planning is 
regularly updated through the Barnet Special Educational Places Plan. 

 Equalities and Diversity  

The Council has a duty contained in section 149 of the Equality Act to have due regard to 
the need to: 

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it 

 
The protected characteristics are: 

 age 

47



 

Page 20 of 21 

 disability 

 gender reassignment 

 pregnancy and maternity 

 race 

 religion or belief 

 sex 

 sexual orientation 
 

In reviewing the arrangements for the education of pupils with special educational needs 
and for the use of pupil referral units and the education of children otherwise than at school, 
ensures that the particular needs of vulnerable children and young people are championed. 

 Corporate Parenting 

A disproportionate number of looked after children have special educational needs. 
Ensuring provision is strong in our schools and appropriate arrangements are in place for 
children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities will thus be of 
clear benefit to significant numbers of looked after children 

 Consultation and Engagement 

There is no need to consult on ways forward currently 

 Environmental Impact 

N/A 

6. Background papers 

 The DfE Schools White Paper – March 2022  Opportunity for all: Strong schools with 
great teachers for your child 

 Schools Bill – May 2022 Schools Bill: policy statements - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 Levelling Up White Paper - Levelling Up the United Kingdom - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 Skills for Jobs White Paper Skills for jobs: lifelong learning for opportunity and growth - 
GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 The DfE SEND Green Paper – March 2022  SEND review: right support, right place, 
right time - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 Ofsted and CQC Report on Barnet Local Area 50179970 (ofsted.gov.uk) 

 Post SEND Inspection Action Plan spreadsheet  Appendix A 

 Barnet Education Strategy 2021-2024 
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/01_barnet_education_strategy_2021-
2024.pdf  

48

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1063602/Opportunity_for_all_strong_schools_with_great_teachers_for_your_child__print_version_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1063602/Opportunity_for_all_strong_schools_with_great_teachers_for_your_child__print_version_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/levelling-up-the-united-kingdom
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-for-jobs-lifelong-learning-for-opportunity-and-growth
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-for-jobs-lifelong-learning-for-opportunity-and-growth
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/send-review-right-support-right-place-right-time
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/send-review-right-support-right-place-right-time
https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50179970
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/01_barnet_education_strategy_2021-2024.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/01_barnet_education_strategy_2021-2024.pdf


 

Page 21 of 21 

 Schools and Settings Improvement Strategy 2021-2024 
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/02_barnet_school_and_settings_improvem
ent_strategy_2021-2024.pdf 

 SEND Strategy 2021-2024 
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/send_strategy_2021-2024_.pdf 

 Pupil Place Planning Strategy 
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/04_barnet_school_place_planning_report_3
0.11.20.pdf 

 

 

49

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/02_barnet_school_and_settings_improvement_strategy_2021-2024.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/02_barnet_school_and_settings_improvement_strategy_2021-2024.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/send_strategy_2021-2024_.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/04_barnet_school_place_planning_report_30.11.20.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/04_barnet_school_place_planning_report_30.11.20.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Draft SEND inspection improvement plan.

Comment from SEND inspection Objective Action Lead organisation

Co-dependent 

organisations Start date End date Detail of work stream Monitoring There is a risk that… Which would result in…. Consequence Likely hood Overall score Mitigation

Revised 

consequence Revised Likelihood Overall score Notes

Gaps in therapy provision narrow the support available to meet the needs of children and young people. Some 

providers find it a challenge to meet the needs of those with speech and language difficulties due to the limited 

availability of speech and language therapists, for example.

To increase access to services by improving 

recruitment and retention of therapists and 

therapy assistant roles

WH recruiting to vacant posts WH On-going on-going Therapies recovery workstream to clear 

the backlog of CYP waiting for therapies 

(SALT, OT, PT) through med term 

recruitment drive and short term input to 

rapidly increase capacity.  

This is monitored every two weeks as 

part of the on-going review meetings

WH will not be able to recruit to the 

posts

No service improvement 5 4 20 WH currently using a mixed 

model of recruitment 

including locum/short term 

private posts in addition to 

permanent posts. 

Recruitment strategy agreed 

across trusts to avoid 

attrition across NCL.

5 3 15 This is being monitored as part of the 

on-going discussions between WH, NCL 

CCG and BELS

Gaps in therapy provision narrow the support available to meet the needs of children and young people. Some 

providers find it a challenge to meet the needs of those with speech and language difficulties due to the limited 

availability of occupational  and speech and language therapists for example.

To improve access to services by improving 

recruitment and retention of therapists and 

therapy assistant roles

To review the service in line with the 

community services review.

WH - and other acute 

trusts within NCL

CCG/London boroughs in 

NCL

Started 30/09/22 Provider led therapies transformation 

workstream to further interrogate gaps 

and develop detailed costed plans to meet 

core offer.  

This is being monitored as part of 

the community services review work 

stream

The review will take longer than 

planned, impacting on timescales

Longer waits for children to receive therapies 5 3 15 This work is a strategic 

priority and is being managed 

at a senior level across health 

organisations

5 1 5 This piece of work will determine next 

actions 

Gaps in therapy provision narrow the support available to meet the needs of children and young people. Some 

providers find it a challenge to meet the needs of those with speech and language difficulties due to the limited 

availability of all therapy provision for example.

To improve access to services by improving 

recruitment and retention of therapists and 

therapy assistant roles

To develop a plan once the outcome of 

the community services review is 

known

WH BELS/CCG/LBB This work will start in September TBC Post prioritisation, borough delivery plans 

will be developed by key stakeholders and 

transformation workstreams.

To be determined  lack of service improvement progress 0 0 Plans to be informed in co production  

with parent forum and stakeholders as 

well as service practitioners system-

wide
Gaps in therapy provision narrow the support available to meet the needs of children and young people. Some 

providers find it a challenge to meet the needs of those with speech and language difficulties due to the limited 

availability of all therapy provision, for example.

To improve access to services by improving 

recruitment and retention of therapists and 

therapy assistant roles

Short to medium term priorities to be 

agreed. 

CCG WH/BELS/LBB Started 30/06/22 LBB/BELS/CCG to agree the priorities as 

part of the meetings with WH

This is monitored every two weeks as 

part of the on-going review meetings

No agreement can be reached No change to current services 5 5 25 Meetings to take place every 

two weeks to agree outcomes

5 3 15 There is an outstanding issue in relation 

to tribunal cover & managing delivery 

of provision for 2750 EHCP that have a 

open duty of care with Barnet 

Children's Integrated Therapies. 

Alternative ways to manage tribunals 

are being discussed

Gaps in therapy provision narrow the support available to meet the needs of children and young people. Some 

providers find it a challenge to meet the needs of those with speech and language difficulties due to the limited 

availability of all therapy provision, for example.

To improve access to services by improving 

recruitment and retention of therapists and 

therapy assistant roles

To work with schools and consistently 

communicate the offer available and to 

improve school working environment 

for therapists

BELS WH/BELS/LBB Started on-going Schools to be offered ways to raise issues 

about the service with managers and not 

to blame individual therapists who visit the 

schools; i.e. working proactively

This will; be monitored every two 

weeks as part of the on-going review 

meetings

Some schools will continue to blame 

individual therapists over provision

More therapists leaving the service or 

refusing to work in certain schools

5 4 20 WH have given schools a 

number to call if they have 

issues with the service. BELS 

to speak to schools as and 

when incidents arise

5 2 10 This is already in place and the impact 

will need to be measured over time

Gaps in therapy provision narrow the support available to meet the needs of children and young people. Some 

providers find it a challenge to meet the needs of those with speech and language difficulties due to the limited 

availability of occupational and speech and language therapists.

Senior clinical leads are being recruited to 

each therapy profession : Occupational 

Therapy/ Speech and Language Therapy and 

Physiotherapy

WH currently recruiting to posts WH Started 31/07/22 Recruitment process has started This is monitored every two weeks as 

part of the on-going review meetings

The therapists cannot be recruited Lack of senior leadership 4 4 16 These are advertised as 

management positions 

offering career progression 

for individuals, so are likely to 

be filled

3 2 6 Progress is informed by Whittington 

Health every month

Gaps in therapy provision narrow the support available to meet the needs of children and young people. Some 

providers find it a challenge to meet the needs of those with speech and language difficulties due to the limited 

availability of occupational and speech and language therapists for example.

Inequalities bid approved to increase access 

to SLT services for vulnerable children

BID approved and budget confirmed CCG WH Nov-21 31/07/22 Bid developed with input from Barnet 

Parent/carer forum

The bid will not be developed in time Money not being available 5 3 15 Meetings in diary to ensure 

decisions can be reached

2 1 2 Bid has been approved and WH have 

the funding available

Gaps in therapy provision narrow the support available to meet the needs of children and young people. Some 

providers find it a challenge to meet the needs of those with speech and language difficulties due to the limited 

availability of occupational and speech and language therapists for example.

Inequalities project to be implemented. Staff to be recruited WH Started 30/06/22 Staff to be recruited to develop materials 

and resources

Monthly at meeting Staff cannot be found as the posts 

are part time

The project not being deliverable 4 4 16 Staff being recruited will have 

the opportunity to have full 

time work as part of the main 

therapies offer in addition to 

the project work, to make 

post more attractive

4 1 4 Staff in post to set up project. Posts 

being recruited to in order deliver full 

project

Waiting times for occupational therapy and physiotherapy have been too long. Some children and young people 

have not been able to access the support they have needed. Area leaders know this and have worked with 

partners, including parents and carers, to develop an integrated service which can better respond to these needs. 

This is starting to have an impact with some reduction in waiting times. However, leaders need to continue to 

monitor the situation carefully to ensure continued progress.

Clinical lead for occupational therapy and 

physiotherapy is being recruited to.

WH currently recruiting to posts WH Started 30/06/22 Recruitment process has started This is monitored every two weeks as 

part of the on-going review meetings

The therapists cannot be recruited Lack of senior leadership in OT 4 4 16 This is advertised as 

management positions 

offering career progression 

for individuals, so are likely to 

be filled

3 2 6

Waiting times for occupational therapy and physiotherapy have been too long. Some children and young people 

have not been able to access the support they have needed. Area leaders know this and have worked with 

partners, including parents and carers, to develop an integrated service which can better respond to these needs. 

This is starting to have an impact with some reduction in waiting times. However, leaders need to continue to 

monitor the situation carefully to ensure continued progress.

To improve access to services by improving 

coproduction and engaging with Parent 

Forum and obtaining the Young Person's 

Voice to understand co-design of responding 

well to waiting times. For example - what to 

do while you are waiting [blogs, you tube 

links]

WH to implement a plan to recruit 

therapists and support staff. WH 

designing tips to support families while 

they are waiting.

WH started ongoing Recruitment process has started This is monitored every two weeks as 

part of the on-going review meetings

Thea full complement of therapy 

provision cannot be recruited

No one available to do the work 5 4 20 Agency and Bank staff are 

being used until staff can be 

recruited

4 4 16

NCL-CCG is working with NHS England and contribute to a SEND Maturity Matrix Improving  special educational needs and 

disabilities is a key priority for North Central 

London’s NHS and Local Authorities. 

Formalising our SEND governance 

across NCL ICS with an aim to; Increase 

communication and visibility of 

challenges and successes at place and 

across our NCL CYP population. 

Support the system to develop services 

and approaches to ensure best 

outcomes. Create a culture of learning 

across the ICS footprint. Ensure 

resources are directed to meet need 

NCL CCG WH BEH RFL CLCH NCL 

Local Authorities NCL 

Parent Carer Forums NCL 

Stakeholders

Nov-21 ongoing Phase 1:  Understand local SEND 

governance arrangements, data held and 

what is most useful to communities; Phase 

2 :  In line with ICS development, formalise 

SEND ICS Governance, lines of 

communication and increase visibility and 

understanding of CYP with SEND and our 

services to support them in NCL

Quarterly reports to NCL ICS boards 

(CYP Maternity and Neonates Board 

and COG), and monthly reporting 

and oversight at ICB CYP Community 

Board.  Data flow with key indicators 

benchmarked across NCL to local 

SEND partnership board.

The relevant local stakeholders do 

not engage with this work

CYP and families missing opportunities for 

improved outcomes through Barnet not 

taking up opportunities to collaborate, share 

and learn from good practice and understand 

local performance in context of the wider 

population.

Barnet stakeholders involved 

in developing the new 

Governance and proposals 

for collaboration.  

Work in progress. Final submission from 

NCL : May 2022

Over time, the challenges with recruitment and the reduction and discontinuity of some therapeutic provision 

have had a negative impact on how well children and young people’s needs are identified. Children and young 

people in Barnet wait too long for a diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder (ASD). Children, young people and 

families are supported while they wait for assessment. Area leaders have committed to a credible plan to reduce 

these waits.

To decrease the waiting time for diagnosis NCL hub developed to manage backlog 

in ASD diagnosis

NCL CCG WH 01-Apr 31/03/23 A central hub to be developed to provide 

an additional diagnosis route for CYP 

across NCL

Monthly via NCL CYP Community 

Board & ICS CYPMN Board

Staff cannot be recruited to Service not viable 5 4 20 Different ways of using 

existing staff and new 

recruitment will staff the 

service

3 3 9 Recruitment underway

Over time, the challenges with recruitment and the reduction and discontinuity of some therapeutic provision 

have had a negative impact on how well children and young people’s needs are identified. Children and young 

people in Barnet wait too long for a diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder (ASD). Children, young people and 

families are supported while they wait for assessment. Area leaders have committed to a credible plan to reduce 

these waits.

To decrease the waiting time for diagnosis HELIOS commissioned to provide on-

line assessment to 11+ where 

appropriate

NCL CCG WH 01-Apr 31/03/23 Where deemed appropriate and parents 

and YP agree assessments can be made on-

line through a nationally recognised 

service

Monthly via NCL CYP Community 

Board & ICS CYPMN Board

families will not engage with the 

digital service

Service not viable 5 4 20 Clear communications to 

parents and carers about 

Helios and engagement with 

parent carer forum to ensure 

positive experiences from 

parents who have used Helios 

can be shared

3 4 12 Negotiations with Helios underway

Over time, the challenges with recruitment and the reduction and discontinuity of some therapeutic provision 

have had a negative impact on how well children and young people’s needs are identified. Children and young 

people in Barnet wait too long for a diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder (ASD). Children, young people and 

families are supported while they wait for assessment. Area leaders have committed to a credible plan to reduce 

these waits.

To ensure that CYP waiting for an 

assessment are given support

To monitor the support in place for 

children on RFH waiting list.

RFH NCL CCG/LBB/BELS 01/07/22 On-going quarterly reports and meetings to take 

place to ensure needs of children waiting 

for assessment are met

Quarterly report to be discussed at 

meeting

There is not enough capacity in the 

system

service not being delivered 4 3 12 Existing pathways to be built 

upon

3 2 6

Not all expectant parents are offered an antenatal contact in Barnet. This is one of the requirements of the 

‘healthy child programme’. This means that some early or emerging needs may not be identified and responded 

to.

For all expectant parents to be offered a 

antenatal review so their health needs can 

be identified. 

Parents receive the full midwifery 

antenatal offer as part of the healthy 

child programme. However, the Health 

Visitors currently only offer a review to 

targeted parents identified as being 

vulnerable. 

A full antenatal review by a health 

visitor needs to take place. 

Solutions4Health LBB PH / FS / RF Midwifery 

service

01/09/22 ongoing Solutions4Health started delivering the 

service on 1.4.2022 and are curently 

reviewing the offer and recruiting staff to 

ensure they have capacity to delivery the 

HCP in full. This is monitored via the 

Healthy Child Programme quarterly 

contract meetings.

Quarterly at contract meetings There are insuffient staff to 

commence this universal offer to 

parents

The antenatal review not being offered to all 

parents by a health visitor or someone in their 

team

4 3 12 Midwives see all parents 

regularly throughout the 

antenatal period and if any 

concerns will refer on 

including to the health visitor. 

Any foetal concerns are also 

escalated for referral. 

4 3 12 The concern from the SEND inspection 

referred to the health visitor antenatal 

review and did not take into account 

the Midwifery contrinution to this stage 

in a infants life cycle. 

Some children and young people wait too long for specialist child and adolescent mental health (CAMHS) 

services. This means that sometimes other professionals struggle to help these children and young people while 

they wait

To improve access to CAMHS services Mental health community services 

review to determine priorities for each 

Borough in NCL

BEH NCL CCG Aug-21 Dec-21 Review of services to develop a core offer 

for CYP MH and improve equity of service 

offer across NCL

NCL MH Programme Board

Some children and young people wait too long for specialist child and adolescent mental health (CAMHS) 

services. This means that sometimes other professionals struggle to help these children and young people while 

they wait

To improve access to CAMHS services Gap analysis undertaken and NCL 

review to determine the areas of focus 

in each borough

BEH NCL CCG Dec-21 Mar-22 Mapping of gaps against core offer in 

order to develop local plans for addressing 

gaps

NCL MH Programme Board 0 0

Some children and young people wait too long for specialist child and adolescent mental health (CAMHS) 

services. This means that sometimes other professionals struggle to help these children and young people while 

they wait

To improve access to CAMHS services Develop PTL (patient treatment list) in 

order to target resources where there 

are the longest waits.

BEH NCL CCG Apr-22 tbc Development of patient treatment list 

across NCL to ensure that patients waiting 

for treatment can be identified by borough 

and service line in order to better target 

resources

NCL Mental Health Oversight Group 

and NCL MH Programme Board

Progress will be hindered by 

capabilities of trust IT systems

Extended timescales and delayed action 4 4 16 Manual data pull whilst 

systems are configured

3 2 6

Some children and young people with complex medical and health needs have to wait for essential home 

equipment. For example, due to commissioning arrangements there are differences in the equipment that health 

and social care practitioners can prescribe. There is not a clear pathway for those under 18 who need pressure 

care equipment. This means that children and young people under 18 experience a delay in receiving essential 

equipment.

To review the equipment pathway to 

expedite provision to patients 

To establish  T&F group to review the 

pathway

TBC 0 0

Objectives in EHC plans do not typically focus on the steps needed to help children and young people realise their 

wider hopes and ambitions.

To improve the Outcomes written in EHCPs 

to reflect the Aspirations of the cyp 

1. EHCP Template has been amended 

to include the Aspirations of the cyp at 

the top of Section E (Outcomes) of the 

EHCP                                                            

2. Focus from professionals in their 

reports on Transition to Adulthood 

from Y9 and including Outcomes 

related to helping cyp achieve 

ambitions                                                       

3. Input at SENCo training on 

purposeful Transition driven from cyp's 

aspirations 

SEN/BELS Schools, Educational 

professionals (BELS) Social 

Workers, Health 

professionals 

1. Completed    2/3 Apr-22 No end date EHCP Quarterly Audit 0 0

51

A
genda A

nnex



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Will Quince MP 
Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Children and Families 

Sanctuary Buildings 20 Great Smith Street Westminster London SW1P 3BT 
tel: 0370 000 2288  www.education.gov.uk/help/contactus 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Chris Munday, Executive Director for Children and Family Services for the London Borough of 
Barnet 
Frances O’Callaghan, Accountable Officer, NHS North Central London Clinical  
Commissioning Group 
Daniel Thomas, Leader of the Council for the London Borough of Barnet 

 
24 May 2022 

Dear Chris, Frances, and Daniel 

Joint local area SEND inspection report 

I would like to take the opportunity to congratulate you on the recent findings in your Ofsted and 
CQC SEND inspection report, published on 24th March 2022.  

I know that the findings in the report come as a result of a great deal of commitment and hard 
work from many people across the local area, including the Parent Carer Forum and I would like 
to take the opportunity to praise you all for your efforts and successes. Despite the challenges 
that the local area has faced through the pandemic, leaders have sustained their commitment, 
remained true to their values and maintained the momentum of continuous improvement.  

I was particularly pleased to read that there are strong and trusting working relationships 
between partners which means that services are managed effectively across education, health, 
and social care; that Education, Health, and Care plans focus sharply on how to meet children 
and young people’s needs; and that parents and carers influence and help leaders design and 
deliver improvements across a wide range of SEND services in the area.  

Please continue to build on the good progress you have made and share your effective practice 
with others, as well as focusing on those areas where further development is still required.  

I have asked our professional SEND Adviser, Judith Mobbs, and your DfE Case Lead, Chelseay 
Markow, to continue to be your links to the Department. If you have any questions or need any 
further support, please contact them in the first instance. Sophia Njiri will be your link to NHS 
England.  

I am copying this letter to John Hooton (Chief Executive of Barnet Council), Theresa Villiers MP 
(Chipping Barnet), Mike Freer MP (Finchley and Golders Green), and Matthew Offord MP 
(Hendon).  

 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 

 
Will Quince MP 

Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Children and Families 

53

Agenda Annex



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Children, Education & Safeguarding 
Committee  

 
Date 

Title  Family Services Quarterly Update 

Report of Chairman of the Committee 

Wards All 

Status Public 

Urgent No 

Key No 

Enclosures                          

Appendix 1 – Children’s Services Analysis Tool (ChAT) 
Appendix 2 – Competition and Marketing Authority (CMA) 
Children’s Social Care Placements Report 
Appendix 3 – Ofsted Inspection Report for New Park House  
Appendix 4 – Special Guardianship Policy 
Appendix 5 – Connected Carers Policy 
Appendix 6 – National Referral Mechanism Report 

Officer Contact Details  Chris Munday, Executive Director for Children’s Services 

 

Summary 
This report gives an update on Family Services progress and asks Members to scrutinise 
performance data, that can be found in Appendix 1. A summary of recommendations from 
the Competition and Marketing Authority (CMA) Children’s Social Care Placements Report, 
which can be found in full in appendix 2, and an update on two of the children’s homes 
managed by Family Services,  

 

Officers Recommendations  

1. That the Children, Education and Safeguarding Committee is asked to note 
and provide comments on the ChAT performance report summarised in this 
report and provided in Appendix 1 

2. That the Children, Education and Safeguarding Committee is asked to note 
and provide comments on the Competition and Marketing Authority (CMA) 
report into the Children’s Social Care placements market summarised in this 
report and provided in Appendix 2, and to note and provide comments on our 
placements sufficiency programme an update on the Greenbank House 
provision, and the London Accommodation Pathfinder programme secure? 

55

AGENDA ITEM 10



 

Page 2 of 12 

3. That the Children, Education and Safeguarding Committee is asked to agree 
the revised Special Guardianship Policy, provided in Appendix 4 

4. That the Children, Education and Safeguarding Committee is asked to agree 
the revised Connected Carers Policy, provided in Appendix 5 

5. That the Children, Education and Safeguarding Committee is asked to note 
and provide comments on the Nationals Referral Mechanism report 
summarised in this report and included in Appendix 6 

1. Why this report is needed 

 The Children and Social Work Act 2017 says that when a child or young person comes 
into the care of the local authority, or is under 25 and was looked-after by the authority 
for at least 13 weeks after their 14th birthday, the authority becomes their corporate 
parent. As corporate parents, it’s every councillor’s responsibility to make sure that the 
council is meeting these duties towards children in care and care leavers. Children can 
be in care in a range of different settings, with the authority acting as corporate parent to 
all of them. This includes foster care, children’s homes, secure children’s homes and 
kinship care. Every councillor and officer within a council has a responsibility to act for 
those children and young people as a parent would for their own child. 

 Family Services performance update provides members with an overview of the key 
data items used by the service to measure performance and identify opportunities for 
strategic development as well as lines of enquiry to ensure standards and statutory 
obligations are met. A copy of the full performance report is available in appendix 1. 

 Ensuring the availability of good quality placements for our children remains a priority for 
Family services. This report provides a summary of The Competition and Marketing 
Authority (CMA) study in March 2022 into the supply of children’s social care 
placements which will inform the development of our revised sufficiency strategy. A 
copy of the full report is provided in appendix 2. In March, Ofsted inspected New Park 
House children’s home, and their report is summarised in this paper. We have also 
included an update on work in our newest children’s home, Green Bank House. 

 We have responded to updates in guidance, legislation or best practice and have 
revised our Special Guardianship Policy, Appendix 4, the Connected Carers Policy, 
Appendix 5  

 and have reviewed our engagement with the National Referral Mechanism, the 
framework through which potential victims of trafficking in the UK are identified, so that 
they can be supported and protected, detailed in Appendix 6, and include this work for 
scrutiny by the committee. 

2. Reasons for recommendations 

Family Services Performance Update 

 Services are continuing to work with children and families during as they recover from a 
significant disruption to their lives caused by the COVID19 pandemic.. We continue to 
monitor performance of services through our stocktake and case audit quality assurance 

56



 

Page 3 of 12 

approaches. We regularly review performance management information including the 
CHaT report (appendix 1). We also work with authorities across London to consider 
trends, including using comparative datasets. We are strengthening our approach to 
gather feedback from children, young people and their families. 

2.1.1 Capacity in the system remains stable, though contacts into the Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH), the first point of referral for the public and professionals 
about children and young people, are up slightly in the period from 10471 to 10756. 
This has been mirrored by an increase the number of Early Help Assessments 1819 to 
1984, and referrals rising from 1396 to 1417. The rate of referrals remains at 14%. We 
have seen an increase in new child protection plans from 116 to 123 following a 
previous reduction, however the overall number of children on plans remains stable. 
The number of children looked after has reduced in the period from 342 to 334, and 
the number of new children looked after decreased from 81 to 80. 29% of children 
coming into care were unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. 

2.1.2 The timeliness of completed assessments is an area of focus for performance 
identified in the ChAT, currently at 74% within timescales, and the recruitment of a 
new Assistant Head of Service will support the teams in increasing this percentage. 
Audits show that the quality of the assessments taking place is good, and the rate of 
re referrals into the service shows the assessments as right first time. We have seen a 
reduction in children experiencing 3 placement moves, and our placements sufficiency 
programme is seeking to further improve the figures on numbers of children with 
placement moves by ensuring provision of suitable accommodation locally which meet 
the needs of these young people. We have invested additional resources and are 
increasing the number of young people in education, employment or training. This is 
up from 69% to 73% for 17-18 year olds and 57% to 59% for 19-21 year olds. We 
continue to be ambitious in increasing these numbers, especially within the post covid 
context. More recent data shows a more significant increase and will be reported to a 
later committee 

Children’s Services Placements 

 The Commissioning and Marketing Authority (CMA) launched a study in March 2021 
into the supply of children’s social care placements. This was in response to concerns 
regarding the shortage of appropriate places for children in care and high prices paid by 
local authorities. These factors, combined with growing numbers of children requiring 
placements create significant strain on Local authority budgets. The CMA considered 
how social care placements operate as a market (supply and costs) whilst recognising 
that quite unlike other markets, market risks, mismatches of supply and demand or 
failures in social care placements have significant consequences for highly vulnerable 
children. 

2.2.1 The CMA reviewed both Local Authority placement provision for children and external 
provision. A total of 41 Local Authorities submitted responses to the CMA 
questionnaire and 4 boroughs, including Barnet, responded to additional questions on 
specific themes (such as staffing and running costs for our residential homes, home 
capacity and fostering costs and fees). Responses were received from 15 of the 
largest providers of independent children’s homes and fostering services, plus 27 
smaller providers. Contributions were also made via round table discussions and 
specific feedback from Association of Directors of Children’s Services, Nationwide 
Association of Fostering Providers and The Independent Children’s Homes 

57



 

Page 4 of 12 

Association, amongst others. 

2.2.2 Overall, the CMA report demonstrates the challenges of placements sufficiency, for 
both Local Authorities and providers.  Their recommendations show they understand 
the importance of quality, regulation, standards and matching for children’s 
experiences and outcomes. The report takes account of the wider complexities in the 
current placements landscape: 

“…the placement market as it operates today is not the result of 
deliberate policy choices by national governments on how children’s 
social care should be delivered, but rather a reaction by multiple local 
authorities, voluntary providers and provider providers to a range of 
factors- including regulatory developments, financial constraints and 
reputational risk- that have played out over time”. 

2.2.3 The final report includes a wide ranging series of recommendations across the 
placements landscape. Recommendations are provided separately for England, 
Scotland and Wales. Recommendations for England fall under three categories: 

1. Improve commissioning by commissioning at scale, better forecasting and market 
shaping, the recommendation that some functions are undertaken by collaborative 
bodies, national support and initiatives to support more inhouse foster care 
recruitment and retention.  

2. Reduce barriers to providers creating and maintaining provision, specifically a 

recommendation to review Ofsted regulatory requirements and planning 

constraints. 

3. Reduce the risk to children from the potential negative effects of market failure 

though market oversight, financial risk mitigations and contingency planning 

residential providers existing the market in a disorderly way. 

4. London Association of Directors of Children's Services are working on developing 

a range of new initiatives collectively to address some of these challenges. This 

work needs to be done in partnership with central government and Ofsted 

 Development of Secure Provision; As reported to Policy and Resources in December 
2021 officers in Family Services have been working with Department for Education 
(DfE) and across London Boroughs to deliver the ambition of providing better care, 
support, and opportunity for our most vulnerable adolescents. The proposal will 
establish sufficient beds required for secure welfare provision in the capital where 
children are at significant risk to themselves or others. The plan is for 24 welfare beds 
with 6 step-down beds. At present it is difficult to find placements and when they are 
available young people are placed an average of nearly 200 miles away, breaking 
important relationships with families and services. The proposal has been submitted 
with full support of all 33 boroughs and the major stakeholders for children and young 
people in London. Funding has now been approved by the DfE Barnet is the lead Local 
Authority. The work at present involves a detailed site search across London, 
development of a practice model, early design of a building and the development of a 
pan-London vehicle to oversee and govern the project going forward. A paper will be 
bought to committee in September to progress the governance of this work. 

58



 

Page 5 of 12 

2.4 The London Accommodation Pathfinder (LAP) is a bold and ambitious pan-London 
project, backed by Ministry of Justice / Youth Justice Board (MOJ/YJB) funding to 
commission alternative pathways to custody for 16 and 17 year olds vulnerable boys 
who are in the youth justice system. The children within the youth justice system have 
often fallen through the net of services and many are never assessed or have the 
required interventions, the LAP gives them that opportunity for their needs to be 
supported at the intensity that they require. Children in London are more likely to be in 
custody than in any other region in England. There are nearly twice as many in 
custody than would be expected given the size of the population. There is also 
significant racial disproportionality in the use of custody in London with 78% of children 
imprisoned coming from BAME backgrounds. Yet, despite the efforts of many 
professionals across the system, custody often fails these children as nationally over 
four in ten go on to re-offend.    

2.3.1 The LAP was presented at the Barnet Community Safety Partnership board and at the 
Barnet Youth Offending Service partnership board. There has been engagement with 
the Youth Justice Service, Vulnerable Adolescents and at Risk Service, Met Police, 
Safer Neighbourhood Team and Anti Social Behaviour Team to establish the risk 
management plan of the property and location risk assessment. We will seek 
engagement with local residents as part of the planning application and when LAP is 
operational, and we have engaged with Barnet housing and regeneration services. 
There is a letter of support from the Youth Justice Board and from London Association 
Directors of Children Services. 

2.3.2 Four properties are being identified across London, at which children will be given 
intensive support and monitoring over six months by an accommodation provider and 
partners who specialise in working with this cohort. It is a transformative, evidence-
based approach that is expected to grow in London and beyond. It is proposed that 
one of these properties will be 1 Alexandra Grove, NW12 8NU. It is anticipated that the 
first residents would start being accepted between November and December 2022 in 
the North Central London region.  

2.3.3 The property at 1 Alexandra Grove is currently registered as a hostel comprising 6 
self-contained bedsits and as such is not a managed property. This planning 
application would be for a change of use to ‘sui generis’ to be used for this specific 
purpose, which would be a managed home for up to five children. Some refurbishment 
work would be undertaken by Barnet Homes to make the property suitable for this 
usage. A lease would be put in place by Barnet Homes to the accommodation 
provider. A partnership risk assessment has been undertaken and there is a detailed 
risk management plan in place, which gives a full description about how the 
property/service would operate in order to mitigate any risks. 

 New Park House is based in New Southgate and is one of two children's homes run by 
Barnet. New Park House looks after up to five young people between the ages of 11 
and 18 and is a medium to long stay setting, and at the time of inspection there were 3 
young people living in the home. On the 2nd and 3rd March 2022, Ofsted inspectors 
visited the home to conduct a routine inspection under the social care common 
inspection framework and judged the overall experiences of children and young people 
living there to be Good.  

2.4.1 Inspectors found that young people living in the home have positive and trusting 
relationships with staff, who work to meet their needs and ensure they have good 

59



 

Page 6 of 12 

experiences. There were several examples included which illustrated how young 
people are supported to maintain their own identity by developing their own interests 
and cultural practices, including accessing college courses, vegan cooking, boxing 
and access to interpreters and opportunities to practice their faith. Children reported 
that they feel safe in the home, and staff promote positive behaviour. Some areas of 
improvement were identified by inspectors in terms of leadership and management of 
the home. We fully accept these findings, and a plan has been developed to address 
these. 

 Greenbank House is a 6 bed therapeutic children’s home. All admissions are planned, 
and children are assessed as to whether the home will meet their needs and if they will 
match well with other children in the home.  Children who are placed out of borough are 
being referred to this home as an opportunity to bring vulnerable children back into 
Barnet as well as children with complex emotional needs arising from trauma. 
Greenbank House opened in August 2021, and between then and October 2021 saw 
the admission of four young people aged between 13 – 15. Three young people came to 
Greenbank House after the breakdown of their long-term foster and residential 
placements. One young person was stepped down from a tier four mental health 
service, to be supported with emotion regulation skills and independence. 

2.5.1 The therapeutic needs of the young people included support with attachment 
difficulties, relational trauma and emotion regulation. The young person who stepped 
down from a tier four mental health service progressed to semi-independent living 
arrangement in April 2022 as a more appropriate provision to meet her developing 
needs as she neared adulthood. One young person remains in Greenbank House and 
a second child is progressing through the admissions process and will move in next 
week. We will be making 2 beds available to our North London Consortium Partners 
as the need for this type of provision is needed across London. 

 
Start date End Date 

Child 1 10.08.2021 12.04.2022 

Child 2 04.09.2021 08.02.2022 

Child 3 20.09.2021 27.01.2022 

Child 4 09.10.2021 To date 

Table 1: Timeframe of young people residing in Green Bank House 

2.5.2 Learning from the needs of the 4 young people who have progressed through 
Greenbank House has highlighted the significance of appropriate matching of need in 
parallel with factoring young people’s presentation, including emotional, behavioural 
and therapeutic need. The referral pathway has been reviewed to ensure robust 
analysis of young people’s presenting need in line with the therapeutic offer.  The past 
10 months have been a learning process of all staff, clinical practitioners and the 
management team.  The admission criteria for Greenbank House is based on the 
clinical and therapeutic need of the young people as the home is a therapeutic 
intervention provision and this is what distinguishes Greenbank House from the other 
internal provisions Meadow Close and New Park House. Progressing all appropriate 
referrals with a planned and thorough transition plan is essential to the successful 
outcome for a child. 

2.5.3 At Greenbank House, relationships are at the core of the work. Supporting young 
people to feel a sense of safety, security and trust within a relationship is incredibly 

60



 

Page 7 of 12 

important when working to heal relational trauma. This includes an emphasis on 
relational repair after a rupture, utilising principles of Dyadic Developmental Practice. 
The three pillars of trauma informed practice are also a central aspect of the work, with 
an emphasis on creating connections (relationship building), managing emotions, and 
creating safety. Embedding these therapeutic modes of practice has been done via 
clinician-led case consultations, bitesize workshops, an ongoing training programme 
throughout the year, and direct work with the young people. 

2.5.4 Systemic principles have been central in supporting staff with team dynamics and 
feedback loops and there is evidence of really progression in embedding these 
approaches throughout Green Bank House. All staff at The Green Bank House have 
had time over the last 10 months to co-create and embed the therapeutic model of 
working and reflect on the ways they could and could not meet the needs of past 
young people, and the changes they hope to make in the future. 

2.5.5 Our Ofsted registration application has been submitted, and the registration fee has 
been taken from Ofsted, which indicates they are processing the application. However, 
there appears to be a significant back log of applications, and therefore we are 
awaiting the initial Ofsted inspection visit. Following this first visit, we will then be 
formally inspected within 3 months. 

2.5.6 Overall, there has been a strong progression in relationship building between staff and 
young people that have been placed since August 2021. The young people have 
expressed valuing the regular in-house therapy sessions and key work sessions, and 
in time have shown openness and capacity to reflect on their own emotional and 
behavioural wellbeing, which is a significant step for them. Young people have also 
enjoyed the array of activities and the time spent with staff, building relationships and 
having fun. Young people’s progress is being measured by goal-based outcomes, 
therapeutic care plans, holistic support care plans, and three-monthly review meetings 
with young people, key workers, clinicians, and the house manager. For the 3 young 
people who have moved on from Green Bank House, they have been supported by 
key workers, clinicians, and the house manager of Green Bank House to transition 
smoothly into their new placements, whilst also maintaining the positive relationships 
that were built whilst at Green Bank House. 

Special Guardianship  

 Special Guardianship offers an option for children needing permanent care outside their 
birth family. It can offer greater security without absolute severance from the birth family 
as in adoption. It can meet the needs of a significant group of children, mainly older, 
who need a sense of stability and security but who do not wish to make the absolute 
legal break with their birth family that is associated with adoption. It also provides an 
alternative for achieving permanence in families where adoption, for cultural or religious 
reasons, is not an option. 

2.6.1 The Barnet Children’s Safeguarding Partnership completed a Rapid review in relation 
to the circumstances of two children who were recently taken into care and are subject 
to care proceedings as a result of significant neglect.  One of the children was subject 
to a Special Guardianship Order and the learning from this review has led to the 
review and updating of the Special Guardianship Policy.  Learning from this review 
centred on how support for Special Guardians could have been strengthened 
considering all the challenges that Covid19 presented for agencies, recognising that 

61



 

Page 8 of 12 

the service that is provided by the Carer Support Team is voluntary.   

2.6.2 A change in approach has been agreed whereby the support plans will incorporate 3 
monthly visits to all Special Guardianship families within the first year of the granting of 
an order, household checks with internal and external agencies will be undertaken, 
together with annual home visits to complete Special Guardianship reviews.  As this 
remains a non-statutory service, the proposals for home visits, household checks 
cannot be enforced upon families, but the expectations are now set out in the updated 
SGO policy and will be stipulated much earlier in the Special Guardianship 
assessment process and detailed clearly within support plans. The updated policy is 
included in Appendix 4 for agreement by Committee. 

Connected Carers 

 If a child or young person cannot live with their parent(s), Connected Carers can take on 
the responsibility of looking after them daily. The child formally remains a Child in Care 
to Barnet, but the Connected Carer becomes their approved Foster Carer. The child or 
young person benefits from the additional support from their social worker but is offered 
the opportunity to remain within a familiar setting with someone that they already know. 
Connected Care is aimed at grandparents, aunts, uncles, cousins, close family friends 
or even neighbours. Anyone who has a positive and pre-existing relationship with the 
child or young person can become a Connected Carer. 

2.7.1 Family services has revised and updated of existing Family and Friends policy, 
renaming it the Connected Carers Policy to ensure compliance with legislation 
changes and practice improvement, and this updated policy is included in Appendix 5 
for agreement by Committee. This policy sets out how Barnet Council will support 
connected carers and the children they are caring for, provides information on the 
assessment process and details of the support that connected carers can access. This 
policy is underpinned by the principles of the Children Act 1989; the key principle 
being that a child should be enabled to live within their families unless this is not 
consistent with their welfare. 

National Referral Mechanism 

 Arising from the Council of Europe Convention on Action Against Human Trafficking, the 
National Referral Mechanism (NRM) is a process launched by the government in 2008 
designed to identify victims of human trafficking and ensure they receive appropriate 
protection and support. The NRM further assists the Home Office to build a clearer 
picture about the scope and types of human trafficking in the UK. In 2015 the NRM was 
extended to include all victims of modern slavery in England and Wales following 
implementation of the Modern Slavery Act 2015. The extension of scope includes within 
the NRM scheme any child, irrespective of immigration status, thought to be a victim of 
trafficking and any person who is considered a victim of slavery, servitude and forced or 
compulsory labour. The report in Appendix 6 sets out Barnet Family Services 
engagement with the NRM.  

2.8.1 The Vulnerable Adolescents Strategy 2022 – 25 will build on the previous two-year 
strategy and set out the multi-agency response to tackling the increasing numbers of 
children and young people who are victims of modern-day slavery, county lines and 
criminal exploitation. The Strategy will be subject to a consultation exercise over the 
summer period.   

62



 

Page 9 of 12 

2.8.2 The missing coordinator will take on the role of Single Point of Contact to align missing 
and NRM activity for children. This will support the provision of data to the Home 
Office who are running a pilot with 10 authorities to assess the effectiveness of 
devolved decision making in assessing young people against conclusive grounds 
criteria. Barnet will be providing local data as a comparator site to the pilot authorities.  

3. Alternative options considered and not recommended 

 N/A 

4. Post decision implementation 

 N/A 

5. Implications of decision  

 Corporate Priorities and Performance 

5.1.1 Family Friendly is a key part of the Barnet Plan for 2021-2025 with the vision of 
“Creating a Family Friendly Barnet, enabling opportunities for our children and young 
people to achieve their best”. 

 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability) 

5.2.1 There are no resource implications. 

 Legal and Constitutional References 

5.3.1 Local authorities have specific duties in respect of children under various legislation 
including the Children Act 1989 and Children Act 2004. They have a general duty to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children in need in their area and, if this is 
consistent with the child’s safety and welfare, to promote the upbringing of such 
children by their families by providing services appropriate to the child’s needs. They 
also have a duty to promote the upbringing of such children by their families, by 
providing services appropriate to the child’s needs, provided this is consistent with the 
child’s safety and welfare. They should do this in partnership with parents, in a way 
that is sensitive to the child’s race, religion, culture and language and that, where 
practicable, takes account of the child’s wishes and feelings. Under the Children and 
Families Act 2014, local authorities must consider how the child or young person can 
be supported to facilitate their development and to help them achieve the “best 
possible educational and other outcomes”. 

5.3.2 Local authorities have specific duties to care leavers under the Children Act 1989 as 
amended by the Children and Social Work Act 2017. The corporate parenting duties 
and powers under the 1989 Act include: 

 to act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health and 
well-being, of those children and young people;  

63



 

Page 10 of 12 

 to encourage those children and young people to express their views, wishes 
and feelings;  

 to take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and young 
people;  

 to help those children and young people gain access to, and make the best use 
of, services provided by the local authority and its relevant partners;  

 to promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for those 
children and young people;  

 for those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their home 
lives, relationships and education or work; and,  

 to prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent 
living 

5.3.3 The Council’s Constitution, Article 7 notes that the Children, Education and 
Safeguarding Committee has ‘Responsibility for all matters relating to children, schools 
and education.’ 

 Insight 

5.4.1 Family Services uses a comprehensive suite of performance information to support 
decision making, including local and regional datasets, audit and financial analysis. 
This information is scrutinised by Senior Leaders in a variety of forums including 
Placement Board, Performance Board, MTFS Board and in quarterly meetings with the 
Lead Member for Children and Families, and the Chief Executive. 

 Social Value 

5.5.1 All commissioning activity includes social value as a standard monitoring item. 

 Risk Management 

5.6.1 Specific risk management is being carried out for Children and Young People’s Plan. 
Any Family Services risks are recorded on the Family Services Risk Register and 
monitored each quarter by the Senior Leadership Team with escalations to CMT if 
necessary. 

 Equalities and Diversity  

5.7.1 The 2010 Equality Act outlines the provisions of the Public-Sector Equalities Duty 
which requires Public Bodies to have due regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010  

 advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups  

 foster good relations between people from different groups 

64



 

Page 11 of 12 

5.7.2 The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate considerations of equality into day 
business and keep them under review in decision making, the design of policies and 
the delivery of services 

5.7.3 Equalities and diversity considerations are a key element of social work practice. It is 
imperative that help and protection services for children and young are sensitive and 
responsive to age, disability, race and ethnicity, faith or belief, sex, gender 
reassignment, language, maternity / parental status and sexual orientation. We 
continue to closely monitor this, as report appendixes notes, in our performance data. 

 Corporate Parenting 

5.8.1 In July 2016, the Government published their Care Leavers’ strategy Keep on Caring 
which outlined that the ‘‘… [the government] will introduce a set of corporate parenting 
principles that will require all departments within a local authority to recognise their role 
as corporate parents, encouraging them to look at the services and support that they 
provide through the lens of what a reasonable parent would do to support their own 
children.’ 

5.8.2 The corporate parenting principles set out seven principles that local authorities must 
have regard to when exercising their functions in relation to looked after children and 
young people, as follows: 

 to act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health and 
well-being, of those children and young people;  

 to encourage those children and young people to express their views, wishes 
and feelings;  

 to take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and young 
people;  

 to help those children and young people gain access to, and make the best use 
of, services provided by the local authority and its relevant partners;  

 to promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for those 
children and young people;  

 for those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their home 
lives, relationships and education or work; and;  

 to prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent 
living. 

 Consultation and Engagement 

5.9.1 My Say Matters, the Family Services consultation and participation programme, has 
been launched and the first quarterly report will be published in July and available for 
the next CES committee. 

 Environmental Impact 

5.10.1 N/A 

65



 

Page 12 of 12 

6. Background papers 

 Social Care Common Inspection Framework 

 Children Act 1989 Special Guardianship  

 Children Act 1989 Family and Friends Care 

 

 

66

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/social-care-common-inspection-framework-sccif
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/part/II/crossheading/special-guardianship
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/288483/family-and-friends-care.pdf


Official Sensitive#

Data to Insight is a national project commissioned by the ADCS, 

DfE and Ofsted to help local authorities make better use of data.

Children's Services Analysis Tool (ChAT) 
Based on Ofsted's ILACS Annex A dataset (2020) / Inspection Report

Barnet

07 April 2022

ContentsChildren's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

67



Official Sensitive#

Page 5

Page 23

Children adopted, waiting to be adopted, or had an adoption decision reversed in the last 12 months

Adoption benchmarking

Prospective adopters in the last 12 months

Child Protection Plans (CPP) started and ceased in the last 6 months

Child Protection Plans (CPP) currently open

Children Looked After (CLA) started and ceased in the last 6 months

Children Looked After (CLA) with an open episode of care

Children Looked After (CLA) placements

Children Looked After (CLA) health and missing/absent from placement

Early Help in the last 6 months

Page 21

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Page 17

Page 18

Page 12

Page 13

Page 14

Page 15

Page 16

Page 21

Page 22Demographics of children across all areas of children's social care

Comparisons of headline figures and performance data to published statistics

Page 3

Page 4

Page 4

Page 5

Page 6

Page 7

Page 8

Page 9

Page 10

Page 11

Page 12

Page 13

Page 14

Page 15

Page 17

Page 18

Page 19

Care leavers currently in receipt of leaving care services

Care leavers accommodation suitability and type

Care leavers activity (Education, Employment, or Training)

Page 16

Page 22

Page 23

Page 3

Page 4

Page 4

Page 6

Page 7

Page 8

Page 9

Page 10

Page 11

Referrals in the last 6 months

Assessments in the last 6 months

Section 47 enquiries in the last 6 months

Children in Need (CIN) - total, started, and ceased in the last 6 months

Children in Need (CIN) with an open episode of need

Page 20

Headline figures

Contacts in the last 6 months

Page 19

Page 20

68

#$CA$262
#$CA$1264
#$CA$1012
#$CA$1075
#$CA$697
#$CA$760
#$CA$823
#$CA$886
#$CA$949
#$CA$1327
#$CA$1390
#$CA$136
#$CA$199
#$CA$199
#$CA$325
#$CA$388
#$CA$451
#$CA$508
#$CA$571
#$CA$634
#$CA$1138
#$CA$1201


Official Sensitive#

ICPCs that started from an S47 in the last 6 months 111

Current children in need (snapshot)

Children in Need (CIN)

CIN ceased in the last 6 months

4

3Children with decision reversed in the last 12 months

Children waiting to be adopted (snapshot) 26

85

Current children subject of a child protection plan (snapshot)

123

Contacts in the last 6 months 10,756

222

1,483

1,417

1,388

Total CLA in the last 6 months 408

CLA started in the last 6 months 80

74

Current children looked after (snapshot)

Children adopted in the last 12 months

Care leavers currently in receipt of leaving care services

461

Total CIN in the last 6 months 2,695

Children adopted, waiting to be adopted, or had an adoption 

decision reversed in the last 12 months
46

Total assessments in the last 6 months

393

1,270

Referrals in the last 6 months

Headline figures

Referrals

Early Help / Common / Targeted Assessments

Contacts

Adoptions

Care leavers

Children Looked After (CLA)

Child Protection Plans (CPP)

Section 47 enquiries and Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPCS)

334

CLA ceased in the last 6 months

341

CIN started in the last 6 months

Total CPP in the last 6 months 307

CPP started in the last 6 months

1,474

Section 47 enquiries in the last 6 months

Social Care Assessments

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Assessments completed in the last 6 months 1,081

CPP ceased in the last 6 months

Early Help in the last 6 months 1,984

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 3

Prospective adopters in the last 12 months 0

Adopters

Ongoing assessments

69



Official Sensitive#

Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

13%

16%

Organisation completing assessmentSource of contacts compared to source of referrals

Referral source comparisonContact source

Age and genderAge and gender Early Help cases that also 

appear on the Referrals list

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 4

See page 22 for comparisons

Ethnic backgrounds

1%

8%
13%

Children with multiple contacts in period

to
08/10/2021

1%

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Black or black British
Asian or Asian British

Mixed

Black or black British
Asian or Asian British

12%Mixed
White

fromContacts in the last 6 months

Not stated
Other ethnic group

to

White

Children who also appear 

on the Referrals list

Ethnic backgrounds

10756 contacts

07/04/2022
from

See page 22 for comparisons
Not recorded

Children with multiple records in period

Not recorded

Early Help in the last 6 months

1984 Early Help / Common / Targeted Assessments

23%

14%
11%
12%
11%

39%33%

11%
22%

07/04/2022
08/10/2021

Not stated
Other ethnic group

1,205

442 363

2 contacts 3 contacts 4 or more

34%
18%

16%
12%

8%
5%

3%
2%
1%
0%
0%
0%

Police
Schools

Health services
LA services

Other legal agency
Individual

Other
Housing

Education services
Anonymous

Unknown
Not recorded

119

16
0

2 assessments 3 assessments 4 or more

Yes No Yes No

32%

28%

24%

5%

4%

3%

1%

1%

1%

0%

1%

West Locality

EAST Central Locality

South Locality

0-19 Service

EHM -Newstead CC

MASH

Resources for Autism

Barnet Carers

Coppetts Wood CC

Troubled Families

All other organisations

600 400 200 0 200 400 600

600 400 200 0 200 400 600

0

5

10

15

Aged 20+

5580 Males (52%) 315 Other (not shown) (3%)

4861 Females (45%) 0-17 population estimate

100 50 0 50 100

400 200 0 200 400

0

5

10

15

Aged 20+

1044 Males (53%) 30 Other (not shown) (2%)

910 Females (46%) 0-17 population estimate

29%
24%

18%
16%

3%
3%
4%

0%
2%

0%
0%
0%

Police
Schools

Health services
LA services

Other legal agency
Individual

Other
Housing

Education services
Anonymous

Unknown
Not recorded

70



Official Sensitive#

*Annualised rate for comparison purposes

Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or black British
Other ethnic group
Not stated
Not recorded

First referral
1 prev referral
2 prev referrals
3 prev referrals
4+ prev referrals
Not recorded

*"Last 6 months" calculation differs slightly from national statistics, due to data structure in Annex A

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 5

4
28

Rate of referrals per 10,000 children aged 0-17

Referrals with No Further Action (NFA)

16%

13%
0%

Referrals in the last 6 months

9%

160

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

192 children 

with previous 

referrals within 

12 months of 

latest referral

14%

Re-referrals: children with a previous referral within 12 months of their latest referral

1417 referrals

1,189

0
0

14%

to

Ethnic backgrounds

07/04/2022

Age and gender

Source of referral

08/10/2021

34%

14%

See page 22 for comparisons

from

3

24

2

18

0

16

29

3

4

0

0

0

0 20 40

Individual

Schools

Education services

Health services

Housing

LA services

Police

Other legal agency

Other

Anonymous

Unknown

Not recorded

% of referrals

Last 6 months LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20
382 392 368

423
371

300 303

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

Re-referral First referral Not recorded

80 60 40 20 0 20 40 60 80

80 60 40 20 0 20 40 60 80

0

5

10

15

Aged 20+

714 Males (50%) 41 Other (not shown) (3%)

662 Females (47%) 0-17 population estimate

7

0

5

0

3

6
7

0

5

10

15

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months

%
 o

f 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

SNs Eng LA

22
20

19
17

18
16

14

0

5

10

15

20

25

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months

%
 o

f 
ch

il
d

re
n

 r
e
fe

rr
e
d

SNs Eng LA

71



Official Sensitive#

*Annualised rate for comparison purposes

Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or black British
Other ethnic group
Not stated
Not recorded

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 6

1081 completed assessments

Assessments in the last 6 months

Rate of completed assessments per 10,000 children aged 0-17

74%

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

7%
0%

See page 22 for comparisons

Comparing timeliness

Assessments completed 

where child was seen

393 open assessments

Assessments completed in 45 working days

Durations for all completed and open assessments

1474 total assessments

35%

Ethnic background

16%
8%
17%

Age and gender of all assessments

Duration categories as above

Child assessed as requiring LA 

children’s social care support

95%

17%

08/10/2021
07/04/2022

Average duration of completed assessments was 29 working days

from

86 assessments (6%) 

for children with a 

disability

to

Child seen Not seen

Unknown

In time Not in time Date error

Last 6 months

LA 19-20

SNs 19-20

Eng 19-20

45 working days

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0 15 30 45 60 75 90 105 120+

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

a
ss

e
ss

m
e
n

ts

Working days for all completed and ongoing assessments

60 40 20 0 20 40 60

60 40 20 0 20 40 60

0

5

10

15

Aged 20+

742 Males (50%) 38 Other (not shown) (3%)

694 Females (47%) 0-17 population estimate

450 467 473 471
395

328

231

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

89
80

90

66

88 84
74

0

20

40

60

80

100

'14-

15

'15-

16

'16-

17

'17-

18

'18-

19

'19-

20

Last

6ms

%
 a

ss
e
ss

m
e
n

ts

SNs Eng LA

4

26

10

9

18

7

7

11

7

0

0 20 40

Same day

1-10 days

11-20 days

21-30 days

31-40 days

41-45 days

46-50 days

51-60 days

61+ days

Date error

% assessments

Last 6 months LA 19-20

SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

56%

43%

1%

Yes

No

Not recorded

72



Official Sensitive#

*Including where latest S47 did not result in ICPC

Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F *Annualised rate for comparison purposes

*Annualised rate for comparison purposes

White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or black British
Other ethnic group
Not stated
Not recorded

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

461 Section 47 enquiries

Age and gender

Rate of S47 enquiries per 10,000 children aged 0-17

20 S47s (4%) for children with a disability

See page 22 for comparisons

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 7

to 07/04/2022

Comparing ICPC durations

111 Initial Child Protection Conferences (from S47 in period)

ICPC not required may include S47s for open CPP where ICPC 

was not required, and may exclude children where an ICPC was 

required but has not yet occurred 
73%

of ICPCs resulted in a child 

protection plan

93%

Children with a repeat S47 

within 12 months of latest
Ethnic background

31%
16%
9%

99%

ICPCs occurred within 15 working days of the strategy discussion date

18%
20%
5%
0%

Trend of ICPC timeliness (within 15 days of S47 start)

08/10/2021

of completed S47s did not require an ICPC

Rate of ICPCs per 10,000 children aged 0-17 0 child(ren) with a repeat ICPC within 

12 months of latest Section 47*

Section 47 enquiries in the last 6 months from

353

51

4

8

No prev S47

1 prev S47

2+ prev S47

Not recorded

In time

Not in time

Date error

22

29

16

12

71

51

66

65

3

5

8

9

5

15

12

13

Last 6 months

LA 19-20

SNs 19-20

Eng 19-20

% of ICPCs

0-10 days 11-15 days 16-20 days

21+ days Date error

15 working days

0

10

20

30

40

50

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60+

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

IC
P

C
s

Working days

30 20 10 0 10 20 30

30 20 10 0 10 20 30

0

5

10

15

Aged 20+

218 Males (47%) 6 Other (not shown) (1%)

237 Females (51%) 0-17 population estimate

96 106 101 108
83 80

98

0

50

100

150

200

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

35 39 35 31 31 27 24

0

20

40

60

80

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

67
76 70 65

83 80
93

0

20

40

60

80

100

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months

%
 o

f 
IC

P
C

s

SNs Eng LA

73



Official Sensitive#

#

*Annualised rate for comparison purposes

*Annualised rate for comparison purposes

Rate of children who ended an episode of need per 10,000 children aged 0-17

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Rate of children who started an episode of need per 10,000 children aged 0-17

Comparing CIN ceased durations Comparing CIN ceased reasons

2695 total CIN in 6 months*

Cases included in Annex A / ChAT

Case status not recorded 115

1270 CIN ceased in 6 months

1388 CIN started in 6 months

PercentageNumber

*Note: the numbers of children in need reported in ChAT are not 

directly comparable to published CIN census statistics due to an 

undercount of referrals and care leavers.

222 8%

361 13%

393 15%

1,270 47%

Total (excluding case status unknown) 2,580 96%

Case status of children on CIN list

Child in need plan

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 8

to
from

07/04/2022
08/10/2021

Closed episode

Open assessment

Looked after child 334 12%

Children in Need (CIN) - total, started, and ceased in the last 6 months

4%

Child protection plan

254 297 250
340

268 218
296

0

200

400

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

262 249 268
307

267
212

271

0

100

200

300

400

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

75

6

8

7

5

0

0 20 40 60 80

0 > 3months

3 >= 6 months

6 months > 1 year

1 year > 2 years

2+ years

Date error

% ceased CIN

Last 6 months LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

0.0

1.0

0.2

0.0

0.2

6.0

0.2

93

0 50 100

Missing / unknown

Adopted

Died

Residence Order

SGO

Transfer to other LA

Transfer to ASC

Not in need after…

% ceased CIN

Last 6 months LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

74



Official Sensitive#

'Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or black British
Other ethnic group
Not stated
Not recorded
See page 22 for comparisons

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

4%

Children in Need (CIN) with an open episode of need

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

Snapshot 07/04/2022

1483 Children in Need with an open episode of need*

Age and gender

Time since the child's latest social worker visit

Rate of open CIN per 10,000 children aged 0-17*

*Note: Annex A figures in this section are not directly comparable to the published Children in need census statistics (see note on page 8)

Comparing primary need of open CIN

Comparing episode duration of open CIN

0%

9%

15%

Page 9

19%

157 children (11%) with a disability

CIN with an open episode of need with a disability

Ethnic background

37%
16%

40%

49%

9%

1%

2%

0%

0%

In the last 6 weeks

6 - 12 weeks ago

12 - 18 weeks ago

18 or more weeks ago

No visit (New CIN<1month)

No visit (CIN 1+month)

Date error

29

13
17 16

25

0
0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40

0 > 3

months

3 >= 6

months

6 months

> 1 year

1 year > 2

years

2+ years Error

%
 o

f 
o

p
e
n

 C
IN

Latest snapshot LA 19-20

SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

150 100 50 0 50 100 150

120 100 80 60 40 20 0 20 40 60 80 100 120

0

5

10

15

Age 20+

787 Males (53%) 25 Other (not shown) (2%)
671 Females (45%) 0-17 population estimate

17

13 14 15
12 11 11

0

10

20

'14-15 '15-16 '16-17 '17-18 '18-19 '19-20 Latest

(ChAT)

%
 o

f 
o

p
e
n

 C
IN

SNs Eng LA

205
238

206
230

207 198
158

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

'14-15 '15-16 '16-17 '17-18 '18-19 '19-20 Latest

(ChAT)

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

47

9

3

11

20

3

0

7

0

0

0 20 40 60

Abuse or neglect

Child's disability or illness

Parent's disability or illness

Family in acute stress

Family dysfunction

Socially unacceptable

behaviour

Low income

Absent parenting

Cases other than CiN

Not Stated / Code error

% open CIN

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

75



Official Sensitive#

*Annualised rate for comparison purposes *Annualised rate for comparison purposes

Page 10Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

Rate of children who ended a CP plan per 10,000 children

Re-registrations for children who started on a CP plan (ever) Comparing plan durations for CPP ended

19 of the 123 children who started 

a plan in the period have been the 

subject of a previous child 

protection plan

0 of 85 children ended a CP plan after 2 years or more

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Child Protection Plans (CPP) started and ceased in the last 6 months from 08/10/2021
to 07/04/2022

Comparing re-registrations for CPP started

Initial category of abuse for CPP started

15%

Rate of children who started a CP plan per 10,000 children

123 CPP started in 6 months 85 CPP ended in 6 months

Re-registration

No previous plan

31 35 29 27 27 22 26

0

20

40

60

80

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

28 31
37

29 26 23
18

0

20

40

60

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

15 17
11 10 9 12 15

0

10

20

30

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months%
 C

P
P

 s
ta

rt
e
d

SNs Eng LA

8

6

38

33

0

0

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Less than 3 months

3 to 6 months

6 months to 1 year

1 to 2 years

2 or more years

Date error

% CPP ceased

Last 6 months LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

44

12
0

44

0 0
0

20

40

60

Neglect Physical

Abuse

Sexual Abuse Emotional

Abuse

Multiple Not recorded

%
 C

P
P

 s
ta

rt
e
d

Last 6 months LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

76



Official Sensitive#

Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or black British
Other ethnic group
Not stated
Not recorded

Duration of current open CP plans (in months)

See page 20 for comparisons

Time since the child was last seen

Child Protection Plans (CPP) currently open Snapshot

12 children (5%) 

with a disability

15 open CP subject to 

Emergency Protection Order 

or Protected Under Police 

Powers in last 6 months

22%
0%
0%

Latest category of abuse for current CP plans

Open CPP seen 

alone at their last 

social work visit
(excludes Not recorded or N/A)

Ethnic background

29%
27%
5%

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Rate of CPP per 10,000 children aged 0-17 

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 11

Comparing duration of open CP plans

07/04/2022

222 children currently subject of a Child Protection Plan (CPP)

Age and gender

Time since the child's latest review

18%

63%

90%

9%

1%

0%

0%

0%

0%

In the last 4 weeks

4 - 8 weeks ago

8 - 12 weeks ago

12 or more weeks ago

No visit (New CPP<1month)

No visit (CPP 1+month)

Date error

Yes

No

2 years

0

10

20

30

40

50

0 6 12 18 24 30 36 42 48+

N
o

. 
o

p
e
n

 C
P

P

Months

15 10 5 0 5 10 15

15 10 5 0 5 10 15

0

5

10

15

Aged 20+

117 Males (53%) 3 Other (not shown) (1%)

102 Females (46%) 0-17 population estimate

27
30

22
18 18 17

24

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

'14-15 '15-16 '16-17 '17-18 '18-19 '19-20 Latest

(ChAT)

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

18

33

34

11

4

0

0 10 20 30 40

0 > 3months

3 >= 6 months

6 months > 1 year

1 year > 2 years

2+ years

Date error

% open CPP

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

48

12

0

41

0 0
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Neglect Physical

Abuse

Sexual

Abuse

Emotional

Abuse

Multiple Not

recorded

%
 o

p
e
n

 C
P

P

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

29%

38%

5%

0%

0%

24%

5%

0%

a) 0 > 3 months

3 > 6 months

6 > 9 months

9 > 12 months

1 year or more

No review (New CPP <3months)

No review (CPP 3+ month)

Date error

77



Official Sensitive#

*Annualised rate for comparison purposes Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F *Annualised rate for comparison purposes Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

LA

Rate of CLA ceased per 10,000 children 

23 of the 80 CLA starters 

were unaccompanied 

asylum seeking children 

(UASC)

7%

Reason episode of care ceased

Special Guardianship Order

Last 6 

months Eng
8%
SNs

7%

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

12%

7% 3% 19% -

from

Last 6 

months

2018-19 (published)
LA SNs Eng

7 of the 80 CLA 

starters have 

previously been 

looked after

to

Comparing the primary need of CLA starters

80 CLA started in the last 6 months 74 CLA ceased in the last 6 months

Rate of CLA started per 10,000 children Age and gender Age and gender

29%

2018-19 (published)

Adopted

3%

9%

Children Looked After (CLA) started and ceased in the last 6 months 08/10/2021
07/04/2022

3%

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 12

2

0

0

22

3

0

5

23

6

1

0

0

0

12

0

Adopted

Died

Care taken by another LA

Returned home to live with parents/ relatives

Live with parents/relatives (not PR)

Residence order granted

Special Guardianship Orders

Moved into independent living

Transferred to residential care funded by ASS

Sentenced to custody

Accommodation on remand ended

Age assessment determined child was 18+

Child moved abroad

Any other reason

Not recorded / Error

Number of CLA  ceased by reason in the period

20 10 0 10 20

Age 0

5

10

15

Age 20+

26 Males (33%) 33 Females (41%)

21 UASC M (26%) 0 UASC F (0%)

0 Other (not shown) (0%)

40 20 0 20 40

Age 0

5

10

15

Age 20+

22 Males (30%) 28 Females (38%)

23 UASC M (31%) 1 UASC F (1%)

0 Other (not shown) (0%)

20 20
23

19
17

20
17

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

'14-15 '15-16 '16-17 '17-18 '18-19 '19-20 Last

6ms*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

21
20 19 20 19 19

16

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

'14-15 '15-16 '16-17 '17-18 '18-19 '19-20 Last

6ms*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

38

1 0

13 15

1 0

28

3
0

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Abuse or

neglect

Child's

disability

Parents

illness or

disability

Family in

acute stress

Family

dysfunction

Socially

unacceptable

behaviour

Low income Absent

parenting

Not

recorded

Code error

%
 o

p
e
n

 C
L
A

Last 6 months LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

78



Official Sensitive#

White Return to family
Mixed Adoption
Asian or Asian British SGO/CAO
Black or black British Supported living
Other ethnic group L/T residential
Not stated L/T fostering
Not recorded Other

Not recorded

Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

0%

Snapshot

334 Children Looked After (CLA) with an open episode of care

0%

Age and gender

0
0
0

0%

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

0 0%

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 13

Comparing legal status of open CLA (snapshot)

All CLA

07/04/2022Children Looked After (CLA) with an open episode of care

UASC as a percentage of CLA (snapshot)

0%
0%

Time since latest review

0
0

28 children 

(8%) with a 

disability

See page 22 for comparisons

69 open unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC)

8%

Rate of CLA per 10,000 children (snapshot) Ethnic background

20% 26%

0%

Permanence plan

%

0%
0%
0%7% 4% 22%

16% 17%

19%

Not UASC UASC

37%

13%

45% 4%

0%

0

61%

0% 0%

Time since the child was last seen

0%

Number

0

0%

28%

45%

21%

6%

1%

0%

0%

0%

a) 0 > 3 months

b) 3 > 6 months

c) 6 > 9 months

d) 9 > 12 months

e) 1 year or more

No review (New CLA <1month)

No review (CLA 1+ month)

Date error

76%

20%

3%

1%

0%

In the last 6 weeks

6 - 12 weeks ago

12 - 18 weeks ago

18 or more weeks ago

No visit (New CLA<1month)

80 60 40 20 0 20 40 60 80

80 60 40 20 0 20 40 60 80

Age 0

5

10

15

Age 20+

127 Males (38%) 69 UASC Males (21%)

138 Females (41%) 0 UASC Females (0%)

0 Other (not shown) (0%) 0-17 population estimate

34 35 38 37 34 35 36

0

20

40

60

80

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest snapshot

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

3
6 9

20 21 20 21

0

10

20

30

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest snapshot

%
 o

f 
o

p
e
n

 C
L
A

SNs Eng LA

24

36

0

2

37

0

1

0

0 20 40 60 80

Interim care order

Full care order

Freed for adoption

Placement order granted

Accommodated under S20

Detained on CP grounds in

LA accommodation

Youth justice legal status

Not recorded / code error

% open CLA

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

79



Official Sensitive#

Placement type (open CLA)

Foster placement

Placed for adoption

Placed with parents

Independent living

Residential employment

Residential accommodation

Secure Children’s Homes

Children’s Homes

Residential Care Home

NHS/Health Trust

Family Centre

Young Offender Institution

Residential school

Other placements

Temporary placement

Total placements

Duration of placements

Total

Eng 2018-19

0 0 3 3

50%
SNs 2018-19 70%

0 0 0

CLA placements by type and provision

60%

26

2 2

0

0

2 0

0

0

0

1

60 0 64

1

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

191 27 334

CLA placements out of borough

0

0

2

9

Own LA Private Other

0

1 36

0

0

0 0

00 5

Comparing long term placement stability

116

5

Duration of latest placement for each current CLA aged under 16 who have been looked after for 2½ years or more
0

Comparing long term placement stability
0

Eng 2018-19

0 0 0

4

72%

200196103

0 1

0

7 8

13 13

0 0 0

0 0

0

Due to limited data in the Annex A dataset, ChAT does not present 

long-term stability alongside published statistics

41%SNs 2018-19

Foster placements Own provision

35%

Children Looked After (CLA) placements

Number of placements in the last 12 months

Comparing short term placement stability

Page 14Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

LA 2018-19 47%LA 2018-19 65%

Due to limited data in the Annex A dataset, ChAT does not present 

short-term stability alongside published statistics

Snapshot 07/04/2022

179

116

28

9

2

0

0

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7+

Not recorded

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

p
la

ce
m

e
n

ts

Foster

placements

Other

placements

Not recorded

Own

provision

Other

provision

Not recorded

7

4

8

9

49

0

0 > 3 months

3 >= 6 months

6 months > 1 year

1 year > 2 years

2+ years

Date error

59 61 62 63 62 63

50

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest snapshot

%
 o

f 
o

p
e
n

 C
L
A

SNs Eng LA

12 12 12
11

12

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

%
 o

f 
o

p
e
n

 C
L
A

SNs Eng LA

56

74
67 70 67

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

%
 o

f 
o

p
e
n

 C
L
A

 c
o

h
o

rt

SNs Eng LA

80



Official Sensitive#

Number of all CLA with a missing incident
Percentage of all CLA with a missing incident
Total number of missing incidents for all CLA
Average number of incidents per CLA who went missing

Missing children offered return interview
Missing children not offered return interview
Missing children return interview offer not recorded
Missing children where return interview was n/a

Missing children accepted return interview
Missing children not accepted return interview
Missing children return interview acceptance not recorded

Number of all CLA with an absent incident
Percentage of all CLA with an absent incident
Total number of absent incidents for all CLA
Average number of incidents per CLA who were absent

07/04/2022

4.7
240

-

18%

13%

37 of 49

0

Missing from placementHealth

6.5

Latest data

6.4

0%
7 of 77 9%

76%

81

3 of 49

Health assessments

Latest data LA 19-20
0 of 408

6%

Missing incidents - return home interviews

9 of 49

Absent from placement

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

64%

Latest data

Dental checks
49 of 77

Latest data

199 current open CLA looked after for at least 12 months

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

0%

77 of 408 looked after children had a missing incident in the last 12 months

Page 15

Number of missing episodes per CLA

Children Looked After (CLA) health and missing/absent from placement Snapshot

51

Current open CLA who have been 

looked after for at least 12 months 

with an up to date health 

assessment (in the last 6 months for 

CLA aged under 5, and in the last 

12 months for CLA aged 5-plus)

Eng 19-20

4.0

7%

LA 19-20

19%

6.7
542
16%

Current open CLA who have been 

looked after for at least 12 months 

who have had a dental check in the 

last 12 months.

48%

96%

0 of 77

0 of 408 looked after children had an absent incident in the last 12 months

10%

4.0

27%

3%

21 of 77

SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

SNs 19-20

6.0
464

11%
77 of 408

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50+

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
L
A

97 99 97 98 100
94 96

80
85
90
95

100

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest

snapshot

%
 o

f 
C

L
A

 c
o

h
o

rt

SNs Eng LA

89 91 81 86 78 79

48

0
20
40
60
80

100

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest

snapshot%
 o

f 
C

L
A

 c
o

h
o

rt

SNs Eng LA

64%
76%

Offered RHI  Accepted RHI

81



Official Sensitive#

White
Mixed ChAT
Asian or Asian British Numbers in cohort
Black or black British LA in touch with YP
Other ethnic group
Not stated
Not recorded

Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

Relevant
Former relevant
Qualifying
Other
Not recorded

ChAT
Numbers in cohort
LA in touch with YP

25%

1

100%

24%

80

100%

Remained in care until aged 18
YP who ceased to be looked after aged 16-plus who were 

looked after until their 18th birthday

Aged 19-20

Care leavers currently in receipt of leaving care services Snapshot 07/04/2022

Eligibility category

100%

100%

341 care leavers

98%

LA in touch with 17-18 year olds

-

Relevant = YP aged 16-17 no longer looked after 

and eligible for leaving care services.

Former relevant = YP aged 18-25 eligible for 

leaving care services.

Qualifying = YP aged 18-25 in receipt of support 

but not eligible for full leaving care services.

1

100%

Age and gender

Total

Page 16

1%
0%

203

33 (10%) care leavers with a 

disability

0

Aged 17 Aged 18 Total
84

100% 100%

Aged 19 Aged 20

10% 84

Remain with former foster carer

0

63

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Aged 18

339

See page 22 for comparisons

Ethnic background

28%
12%

60

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

0

Aged 21

LA in touch with 19-21 year olds

100 50 0 50 100

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

Age 25

235 Males (69%) 106 Females (31%)

0 Other (not shown) (0%)

68 67 69
81

87 86 85

0

20

40

60

80

100

'14-

15

'15-

16

'16-

17

'17-

18

'18-

19

'19-

20

Last

6ms

%
 o

f 
Y

P

SNs Eng LA

In touch

Not in touch

Not recorded

89 88

96

100

80

85

90

95

100

105

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 Latest

snapshot

%
 o

f 
Y

P
 1

7
-1

8

SNs Eng LA

In touch

Not in touch

Not recorded

85 85 84

89

100

70

75

80

85

90

95

100

105

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest

snapshot

%
 o

f 
Y
P

 1
9
-2

1

SNs Eng LA

0

44
63 72

56 53
65

4951 55 57 58

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

LA SNs Eng

17
29 26 27

9

23
33 3025 26 26 28

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

LA SNs Eng

82



Official Sensitive#

ChAT ChAT
Numbers in cohort Numbers in cohort
In suitable accommodation In suitable accommodation

Care leavers accommodation suitability and type

98%

98%- 98%
63

Page 17

Total Aged 19

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

203

Accommodation suitability of 19-21 year oldsAccommodation suitability of 17-18 year olds

Aged 20
60

Aged 21 Total

100%

07/04/2022

98%

Aged 17

98%
80

Snapshot

Accommodation types of 17-18 year olds Accommodation types of 19-21 year olds

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

98%

Aged 18

97%
84 840

Suitable accom

Not suitable

No information

85
88

93
95

98

75

80

85

90

95

100

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest

snapshot

%
 o

f 
Y

P
 1

7
-1

8
SNs Eng LA

7

2

15

1

0

0

0

0

0

2

55

1

0

1

14

0

0

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

With parents or relatives

Community home

Semi-independent transitional

Supported lodgings

Gone abroad

Deported

Ordinary lodgings

Residence not known

No fixed abode / homeless

Foyers

Independent living

Emergency accommodation

Bed and breakfast

In custody

With Former Foster Carer

Other accommodation

LA does not have information

% 17-18 year olds

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

Suitable accom

Not suitable

No information

84 81 82 86
98

0

50

100

150

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest

snapshot

%
 o

f 
Y

P
 1

9
-2

1

SNs Eng LA

2

2

8

4

0

0

0

0

0

1

73

1

0

1

6

0

0

0 20 40 60 80

With parents or relatives

Community home

Semi-independent transitional

Supported lodgings

Gone abroad

Deported

Ordinary lodgings

Residence not known

No fixed abode / homeless

Foyers

Independent living

Emergency accommodation

Bed and breakfast

In custody

 With Former Foster Carer

Other accommodation

LA does not have information

% 19-21 year olds

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

83



Official Sensitive#

ChAT ChAT
Numbers in cohort Numbers in cohort
In EET In EET-

Care leavers activity (Education, Employment, or Training)

53%

Activity types of 19-21 year olds

73%

Aged 17 Total

73%

Aged 19 Aged 20 Aged 21 Total
0

Aged 18
60 203

Page 18

80
59%73%

Snapshot

84 84

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Activity types of 17-18 year olds

67% 56%

59%

07/04/2022

Education, Employment, or Training (EET) of 17-18 year olds Education, Employment, or Training (EET) of 19-21 year olds

63

YP in EET NEET

No info

52
59 61

67
73

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest

snapshot

%
 o

f 
Y

P
 1

7
-1

8
SNs Eng LA

1

68

4

4

20

4

73

27

0

0 20 40 60 80

Higher education (EET)

Education other than higher (EET)

Training / employment (EET)

Illness / disability (NEET)

Other (NEET)

Pregnancy / parenting (NEET)

EET total

NEET total

LA does not have information

% 17-18 year olds

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

11

39

8

5

30

6

59

41

0

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

Higher education (EET)

Education other than higher (EET)

Training / employment (EET)

Illness / disability (NEET)

Other (NEET)

Pregnancy / parenting (NEET)

EET total

NEET total

LA does not have information

% 19-21 year olds

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

YP in EET NEET

No info

49
44

56

48

59

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest

snapshot

%
 o

f 
Y

P
 1

9
-2

1

SNs Eng LA

84



Official Sensitive#

Child/ren adopted last 12 months
Child/ren waiting to be adopted
Child/ren waiting with placement order)
Child/ren with decision reversed

White
Mixed LA last 6 months
Asian or Asian British LA 2013-16 (3 yr average)
Black or black British SNs 2013-16 (3 yr average)
Other ethnic group Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F Eng 2013-16 (3 yr average)
Not stated
Not recorded

0%

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

Timeliness of each stage of the adoption process

5.0%
5.0%

08/04/2021

Decision that child should be placed for 

adoption

Stage 3

0%

Stage 5

Stage 4

Placed for adoption

Range in days between shortest and longest cases at each stage

Stage 6 Adoption order granted

26

Children adopted, waiting to be adopted, or had an adoption decision reversed in the last 12 months

0%

0.0%

Placement order granted

Child entered care

from

1 children (2%) with a disability

to 07/04/2022

Children ceased who were adopted

2%

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

2.0%

See page 22 for comparisons

3 0 of the 64 children aged 5-plus who 

ceased to be looked after in the last 6 

months were adopted

Of the 74 children who ceased to be looked after in the last 6 months, 

2 was/were adopted (3%)

Page 19

Age and gender

0%

41%
2%

54%
Comparing 5-plus adoptions

Stage 1

(13

46 children

4

Matching child and prospective adopters

Average duration of each stage (number of days)

Children aged 5-plus who were adopted

Ethnic background

Stage 2

10 5 0 5

0

5

10

15

Age 20+

22 Males (48%) 24 Females (52%)

0 Other (not shown) (0%)

188
94

279

36

517
571

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Stage 1 to 2

(39 children)

Stage 2 to 3

(30 children)

Stage 3 to 4

(21 children)

Stage 4 to 5

(21 children)

Stage 5 to 6

(17 children)

Stage 1 to 5

(22 children)

a
v
e
ra

g
e
 d

a
y
s

Average days

0 0 0 0
118 175

403 311

716

146

804

1,115

Stage 1 to 2

(39 children)

Stage 2 to 3

(30 children)

Stage 3 to 4

(21 children)

Stage 4 to 5

(21 children)

Stage 5 to 6

(17 children)

Stage 1 to 5

(22 children)

Longest
case

Shortest 
case

9
6 5

7 7

12

3

0

5

10

15

20

'14-

15

'15-

16

'16-

17

'17-

18

'18-

19

'19-

20

Last

6ms

%
 C

L
A

 c
e
a
se

d

SNs Eng LA

85



Official Sensitive#

4 children

Last 12 months

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 20

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Last 12 months

to

3 year average

from

(A10) Time between entering care and placed with family for adopted children

Last 12 months

(A3) Time between entering care and placed for adoption

Last 12 months

(A2) Time between placement order and deciding on a match

The average number of days from the date of the placement order to the 

date the child was matched to prospective adopters3 children

3 year average

25% Children placed who waited less than the threshold between entering care 

and being placed for adoption (threshold: 14 months for 2013-16)

7% Children where there was a decision that the child should no longer be 

placed for adoption

(A5) Permanence decision changed away from adoption 

615 days

10/40 children

3 year average

3 year average

Adoption benchmarking 08/04/2021
07/04/2022

Average number of days between entering care and moving in with 

adoptive family for adopted children (adjusted for foster carer adoptions)

313 days

3/46 children

0

0

1

1

1

0 > 6 months

6 months > 1 year

1 year > 1½ years

1½ years > 2 years

2+ years

1

1

0

1

0

0 > 6 months

6 months > 1 year

1 year > 1½ years

1½ years > 2 years

2+ years

0

1

0

0

Child’s needs changed

Court did not make a PO

Prospective adopters

cannot be found

Any other reason

14 

months

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

0 12 24 36 48 60+

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

ch
il
d

re
n

Duration to be placed  in months

506

416 428 423

534

615

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

'11-14 '12-15 '13-16 '14-17 '15-18 Last 12

months

A
ve

ra
g

e
 d

a
y
s

SNs Eng LA

140 154
172 180

163

313

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

'11-14 '12-15 '13-16 '14-17 '15-18 Last 12

months

A
ve

ra
g

e
 d

a
y
s

SNs Eng LA

51
57

46
51

37

25

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

'11-14 '12-15 '13-16 '14-17 '15-18 Last 12

months

%
 c

h
il
d

re
n

SNs Eng LA

34
38

26

17

0

7

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

'11-14 '12-15 '13-16 '14-17 '15-18 Last 12

months

%
 c

h
il
d

re
n

SNs Eng LA

86



Official Sensitive#

Child adopted
Child placed
Child matched
Application
Enquiry
Withdrawn

White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or black British
Other ethnic group
Not stated
Not recorded

Ethnic breakdown

Adults % Children %
#DIV/0! 54%
#DIV/0! 41%
#DIV/0! 2%
#DIV/0! 2%
#DIV/0! 0%

Placed

#DIV/0! 0%
0%

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 21

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Decision of suitability to adopt

Adopter's wish to proceed

Adopted

Duration of each stage of the adoption process

Average duration of each stage (number of days)

Percentage of adoptive families matched to a child who waited more 

than three months between approval and matching

New two-stage adoption process

#DIV/0!

Agency Decision-Maker (ADM decision

Prospective adopter current status

Family matched with child(ren)

Child(ren) placed with family

Adoption order granted

Matched

0
0
0

0
0

Adoption Scorecard A12 - wait to be matched

Stage 1 start

Stage 1 end

Registration of interest

Range in days between shortest and longest cases at each stage

Adults Families

0
0

Number of new ADM decisions for children in the year

(ADM = Agency Decision-Maker)

08/04/2021
to 07/04/2022

Stage 2 start

Stage 2 end

Prospective adopters in the last 12 months

0
0
0

Adoption Scorecard A15 - new ADM decisions

0 0

0 prospective adopters (0 families)

from

0 0 0 0
0

0

0

1

1

1

Application

(0 families)

Decision to Match

(0 families)

Match to Placed

(0 families)

Placed to Adopted

(0 families)

a
ve

ra
g

e
 d

a
y
s

0 0 0 00 0 0 0

Application

(0 families)

Decision to Match

(0 families)

Match to Placed

(0 families)

Placed to Adopted

(0 families)

50

69 69
64

70

0

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

'13-14 '14-15 '15-16 '16-17 '17-18 Last 12

months
%

 f
a
m

il
ie

s

SNs Eng LA

35

10 10

15

0 0

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

'13-14 '14-15 '15-16 '16-17 '17-18 Last 12

months

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

fa
m

il
ie

s

DATA NOW HELD BY THE REGIONAL ADOPTION AGENCY

87



Official Sensitive#

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 22

lower -56%

10

higher 59%

04119 higher 769%

33

Eng 2020

31

Black

36

Under 1

CLA Pop

1 to 4 12 23 lower -49% lower -37%14

higher 104%higher 89%

higher 14%

16 and overOther
lower -6%

Pop

53

41

LA Latest snapshot LA 2020

10

CLA Pop % difference

% difference

59 51

23

higher 309%

lower -16%

11

16

37

33

Pop

11

Asian 7 lower -65%

lower -26%

lower -15%

15

18

59

higher 270% 24

22

CLA % difference

Female 41 49

higher 15%

20

lower -30%

11

7

Other higher 1254%

% difference

5

higher 1048%

39

30 lower -56% 13

44

30 lower -56%

49

13

51

Eng 2020

CLA Pop

Male

LA Latest snapshot LA 2020

Pop

56

CLA

lower -8%

10

5

CLA % difference

lower -3%

higher 21%

higher 139%

35 33 higher 7%

5 lower -4% 5 5

10 to 15

Pop

lower -10%49

74

13

CLA

Age

5 to 9    

CLA figures compared to published population statistics

White

6 lower -54%

16

Mixed

51 higher 9%

29 lower -39%

LA Latest snapshot LA 2020

5 to 9

Ethnicity

Snapshot

10

39 higher 18%

5

Gender

% difference

Age

16-plus 40

Eng 2020

ChAT* compared to mid-year population estimates (ONS-2019)

*percentage of Male / Female genders only, excludes Other

Female

Male

6

13

11

53

% difference

1

Pop

lower -43%

higher 49%

CLA

10

no dif 0%

6

4 12

74

Mixed 22

higher 36%

% difference% differencePopCLA

Ethnicity

Demographics of children across all areas of children's social care

Black

07/04/2022

ChAT* compared to pupils in the LA schools  (Jan-20)

*percentage of known ethnicity only

ChAT* compared to mid-year population estimates (ONS-2019)

*percentage of known age only

Gender

Comparing CLA demographics
Asian

1 to 4    

10 to 15  

White

Under 1

17.3%
13.4%

18.4% 18.5% 19.1% 20.8% 17.6% 16.5%
23.9%

2.2%
School pupils, 

11%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

C
a
re

 l
e
a
v
e
rs

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

13.9% 13.1% 15.7% 17.9% 21.4%
14.6%

22.1% 18.9%
25.4%

0.0% School pupils, 

1%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

C
a
re

 l
e
a
ve

rs

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

11.0%
12.8%

10.7% 9.0% 9.1% 9.4%

4.5%
7.5%

10.3%

2.2%

School pupils, 

13%

C
o

n
ta

c
ts

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

C
a
re

 l
e
a
v
e
rs

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

15.3% 15.8% 16.2% 17.4% 17.3% 16.7%
26.6%

20.4%
12.4%

41.3%

School pupils, 

11%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

C
a
re

 l
e
a
ve

rs

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

42.4% 44.9% 39.1% 37.2% 33.0% 38.5%
29.3%

36.8%
28.0%

54.3%
School pupils, 

53%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

C
a
re

 l
e
a
ve

rs

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

15.4% 16.6% 14.9% 17.6% 15.8% 16.0% 20.3% 11.7%

61.0%

Mid-year 

population, 23%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

5.4% 5.0%
7.1% 8.2% 7.2% 5.9%

9.9%

4.8%
2.4%

Mid-year 

population, 5%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

53% 53% 52% 52% 48% 54% 53% 59%
69%

48% Mid-year 

population, 51%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

C
a
re

le
a
v
e
rs

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

47% 47% 48% 48% 52% 46% 47% 41%
31%

52%
Mid-year 

population, 49%

C
o

n
ta

c
ts

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

C
a
re

le
a
v
e
rs

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

24.4% 26.0% 24.8% 25.4% 25.4% 21.5%
27.9%

13.2%

31.7%
Mid-year 

population, 30%

C
o

n
ta

c
ts

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

38.4% 39.7% 37.2% 35.2% 38.4% 34.8% 36.5%
30.5%

4.9%

Mid-year 

population, 33%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

16.3% 12.7% 16.1% 13.6% 13.2%
21.8%

5.4%

39.8%

0.0% Mid-year 

population, 10%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

88



Official Sensitive#

Decreasing, low is good  Lowest 25% quartile, low is good 

Increasing, high is good  Highest 25% quartile, high is good 

No change, not RAG rated Mid 50% range, not RAG-rated

Referrals received (annual rate per 10,000 of children)  

Referrals to social care that were within 12 months of a previous referral (%)  

Assessments completed (annual rate per 10,000 of children)  

Assessments completed within 45 working days (%) 

Children subject to section 47 enquiries (annual rate per 10,000 of children)  

Children subject of an initial child protection conference (annual rate per 10,000 of children)  

Initial Child Protection Conferences held within 15 working days of the start of the section 47 enquiry (%) 

Children in need (snapshot rate per 10,000 children)  

Children who are the subject of a child protection plan (snapshot rate per 10,000 children)  

Children who became the subject of a CP plan for a second or subsequent time (%)  

Children who ceased to be on a CP plan whose plan lasted 2 years or more (%) # # 

Children who are looked after (snapshot rate per 10,000 children)  

Children looked after who had a missing incident in the period (%)  

Children looked after who were away without authorisation in the period (%)  

Children looked after who had their teeth checked by a dentist in the last 12 months (%)  

Children looked after who had their annual health assessment (%) 

Children who ceased to be looked after in the period who were adopted (%) 

Children who ceased to be looked after in the period due to a Special Guardianship Order (%) # # 

Children leaving care over the age of 16 who remained looked after until their 18th birthday (%) 

Care leavers aged 19-21 in suitable accommodation (%) 

Care leavers aged 19-21 in education, employment, or training (%) 

A1 - Average time between entering care and moving in with family for children who were adopted (days)  

A2 - Average time between LA receiving placement order and LA deciding on a match with family (days) 

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 23

Indicator

The table below shows the Local Authority's latest data for 

each indicator as calculated in ChAT, and the direction of 

travel since the latest published statistics (where available).

Comparisons of headline figures and performance data to published statistics

15

Increase303

Increase 8098 157

14

531

Decrease

Decrease

2019-20

In range

4

2019-20

24

20

Lower

0

24

Lower

231

Increase

74

LA

2019-20

8484 2019-20



16 19 21 Lower

535

LA

Latest published statistics for all local authorities

In range 

554

SNs Eng

19

Lower

0

328 537

84

158

3

Higher

Lower

12

2019-20

Increase 16

2019-207

35 2019-20

2019-20

45 67 Lower

13 11

36

317 2019-20

93

Decrease 198

5

2019-20

2019-20

Increase

Higher 2019-20

2019-20Increase

Decrease

Lower

55 64 LowerDecrease 27

53

10

22

Increase

80 83

17 37 43

78

2019-20

324

167

2019-20

79

Lower

c

Decrease

Higher

2019-20

2019-20

2019-20

2015-18

- Higher 2019-20

615 Increase 576 577 486 Higher 2015-18

Decrease 86 90 79

Decrease

In range 2019-20

84

Increase

313 Increase

2019-20

5359 48

48

7 -

85 In range

93

85

- -

In range

96 90 In range

3

89 86

Increase

12 11 12

163 242 201 In range

98 Increase 86

Lower

In range

Decrease

94

Date

300

LA compared to mid-50% 

range of all LAs
Direction of travel

Latest data (ChAT)

-















89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Children’s social care 
market study 

Final report 

10 March 2022 

91



 

© Crown copyright 2022 

You may reuse this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or 
medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. 

To view this licence, visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-
licence/ or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London 
TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

The Competition and Markets Authority has excluded from this published version 
of the market study report information which it considers should be excluded 

having regard to the three considerations set out in section 244 of the Enterprise 
Act 2002 (specified information: considerations relevant to disclosure). The 

omissions are indicated by []. [Some numbers have been replaced by a range. 
These are shown in square brackets.] [Non-sensitive wording is also indicated in 

square brackets.] 

92

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk


 

3 

Contents 
Page 

Summary .................................................................................................................... 5 
Background: the placements market ..................................................................... 6 
Problems in the placements market ...................................................................... 8 
Commissioning ................................................................................................... 11 
Creating capacity in the market .......................................................................... 17 
Resilience of the market ..................................................................................... 20 
Next steps ........................................................................................................... 23 

1. Background ......................................................................................................... 24 
Purpose of the market study ............................................................................... 24 
Progress of the market study .............................................................................. 24 
Information gathered ........................................................................................... 25 
Structure of the final report ................................................................................. 26 

2. Overview of the sector ........................................................................................ 27 
Ensuring children live in safe, caring and supportive homes ......................... 27 
Looked-after children ..................................................................................... 29 
Local authorities ............................................................................................ 31 
Role of the market and nature of provision .................................................... 33 
Policy context ................................................................................................ 37 
Regulatory environment ................................................................................ 38 

3. Outcomes from the placements market .............................................................. 40 
Outcomes we would expect from a well-functioning placements market ............ 40 
Supply of appropriate places .............................................................................. 40 
Quality of provision ............................................................................................. 46 
Prices and profits ................................................................................................ 49 
Resilience ........................................................................................................... 54 

4. Commissioning ................................................................................................... 58 
Context for commissioning ............................................................................ 59 
The significance of public sector engagement ............................................... 59 
Forecasting concerns .................................................................................... 61 
Market shaping concerns .............................................................................. 66 
Procurement concerns .................................................................................. 70 
Data concerns ............................................................................................... 74 
Recommendations ......................................................................................... 75 
Recommendations we do not intend to take forward ..................................... 83 

5. Barriers to creating capacity ............................................................................... 87 
Regulation  .......................................................................................................... 87 

The registration process and capacity expansion .......................................... 88 
The regulatory system and the provision of complex care ............................. 92 
Recommendations ......................................................................................... 94 

Property and planning ......................................................................................... 96 
Finding suitable property ............................................................................... 97 
The impact of the planning process on children’s homes .............................. 97 
Problems in the planning process .................................................................. 98 
Recommendations ....................................................................................... 100 

Recruiting and retaining staff ............................................................................ 102 
Barriers to recruitment and retention of staff ............................................... 103 
Initiatives to improve recruitment and retention of staff ............................... 104 
Recommendations ....................................................................................... 105 

93



 

4 

Recruiting and retaining foster carers ............................................................... 106 
Barriers to recruitment of foster carers ........................................................ 108 
Barriers to retention of foster carers ............................................................ 109 
Initiatives to improve recruitment and retention of foster carers .................. 110 
Recommendations ....................................................................................... 111 

6. Resilience ......................................................................................................... 113 
Recommendations ............................................................................................ 116 

Market oversight .......................................................................................... 116 
Contingency planning .................................................................................. 118 

Resilience recommendations we do not propose to take forward ..................... 120 
Special administration regime...................................................................... 120 
Debt moderation .......................................................................................... 121 

7. Recommendations ............................................................................................ 122 
Summary of recommendations ......................................................................... 123 
Summary of recommendations - England ......................................................... 123 
Summary of recommendations - Scotland ........................................................ 127 
Summary of recommendations - Wales ............................................................ 130 
How our recommendations work together ........................................................ 133 
Implementation of our recommendations .......................................................... 134 

Appendices 

A:  Financial analysis 
B:  Aspects of the legal framework 

94



 

5 

Summary 

1. The CMA launched a market study into children’s social care in England, 
Scotland and Wales on 12 March 2021, in response to two major concerns 
that had been raised with us about how the placements market was operating. 
First, that local authorities were too often unable to access appropriate 
placements to meet the needs of children in their care. Second, that the prices 
paid by local authorities were high and this, combined with growing numbers 
of looked-after children, was placing significant strain on local authority 
budgets, limiting their scope to fund other important activities in children’s 
services and beyond. 

2. We considered that the case for a market study in this area was particularly 
strong due to the profound impact that any problems would have on the lives 
of children in care. While we have approached this study as a competition 
authority, assessing how the interactions of providers and local authority 
purchasers shape outcomes, we have been acutely aware of the unique 
characteristics of this market, and in particular the deep impact that outcomes 
in this market can have on the lives of children. 

3. Our market study is also timely. Each of the three nations in scope has 
significant policy processes underway which are aiming to fundamentally 
reform children’s social care. For one vital element of this – the operation of 
the placements market – our study provides a factual and analytical 
background, as well as recommendations for reform. We intend that these will 
prove useful for governments as they develop their wider policy programmes 
for children’s social care.  

4. Overall, our view is that there are significant problems in how the placements 
market is functioning, particularly in England and Wales. We found that: 

• a lack of placements of the right kind, in the right places, means that 
children are not consistently getting access to care and 
accommodation that meets their needs; 

• the largest private providers of placements are making materially 
higher profits, and charging materially higher prices, than we would 
expect if this market were functioning effectively; and 

• some of the largest private providers are carrying very high levels of 
debt, creating a risk that disorderly failure of highly leveraged firms 
could disrupt the placements of children in care. 

95



 

6 

5. It is clear to us that this market is not working well and that it will not improve 
without focused policy reform. Governments in all three nations have 
recognised the need to review the sector and have launched large-scale 
policy programmes. A key part of these programmes should be to improve the 
functioning of the placements market, via a robust, well-evidenced reform 
programme which will deliver better outcomes in the future. This will require 
careful policymaking and a determination to see this process through over 
several years. 

6. We are therefore making recommendations to all three national governments 
to address these problems. Our recommendations set out the broad types of 
reform that are necessary to make the market work effectively. The detail of 
how to implement these will be for individual governments to determine, 
taking into account their broader aspirations for the care system and building 
on positive approaches that are already in evidence.    

7. Our recommendations fall into three categories: 

• recommendations to improve commissioning, by having some 
functions performed via collaborative bodies, providing additional 
national support and supporting local authority initiatives to provide 
more in-house foster care; 

• recommendations to reduce barriers to providers creating and 
maintaining provision, by reviewing regulatory and planning 
requirements, and supporting the recruitment and retention of care staff 
and foster carers; and 

• recommendations to reduce the risk of children experiencing negative 
effects from children’s home providers exiting the market in a disorderly 
way, by creating an effective regime of market oversight and 
contingency planning. 

8. In recognition of the different contexts in each of England, Scotland and 
Wales, we differentiate between these in the text of this document where 
appropriate. We also draw together the main conclusions and 
recommendations for each nation in its own dedicated summary, which will be 
published on our case page. 

Background: the placements market 

9. At the date of publication, there are just over 100,000 looked-after children in 
England, Scotland and Wales. Most are in foster care, with a smaller 
proportion in residential care settings including children’s homes, secure 

96



 

7 

children’s homes, independent or semi-independent living facilities and 
residential schools. The current annual cost for children’s social care services 
is around £5.7 billion in England, £680 million in Scotland and £350 million in 
Wales. 

10. Children’s social care is a devolved policy responsibility, with key policy 
decisions being made by the Scottish, Welsh and UK governments. Each 
nation has its own regulator which is responsible for inspecting children’s 
social care provision to ensure it is of the appropriate standard: Ofsted in 
England, and the respective Care Inspectorates in Scotland and Wales. Both 
fostering services and children’s homes fall within the regulators’ remits.  

11. Local authorities in England, Scotland and Wales have statutory duties in 
relation to the children taken into their care. Local authorities are obliged to 
safeguard and promote children’s welfare, including through the provision of 
accommodation and care. In discharging their duties, local authorities provide 
some care and accommodation themselves, and they purchase the remainder 
from independent providers, some of which are profit-making. In general, local 
authorities rely more heavily on independent provision for residential 
placements than they do for fostering placements, and more in England and 
Wales than in Scotland. 

12. Historically, children’s social care was largely provided either directly by local 
authorities using their own in-house provision, or by third-sector organisations 
working in partnership with the local authority. Over the past few decades, 
many local authorities and charities have reduced, or even ended, the 
provision of their own children’s homes. This was not due to a deliberate act 
of central policy, but rather to the independent decisions of hundreds of local 
authority and third-sector providers. While the reasons for this shift remain 
debatable, local authorities and advocacy bodies have told us that concerns 
around reputational risk following a number of scandals, as well as financial 
concerns, may have played a role in many of the relevant decisions. 

13. In recent years, the number of looked-after children has increased steadily, 
both in absolute terms and as a proportion of the population. Between 2016 
and 2020 the number of looked-after children rose 14% in England, and 27% 
in Wales, though it fell by 7% in Scotland. Needs were also shifting, with 
placements needed for a greater number of older children and 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children, as well as those with more complex 
needs. These shifts have also increased demand for residential care and 
specialist fostering placements. We have seen an increasing gap between the 
number of children requiring placements and the number of local authority 
and third-sector placements available, particularly in England and Wales. 

97



 

8 

Local authorities have placed increasing numbers of children in placements 
offered by private providers. 

14. In children’s homes, over three-quarters of places in England and Wales now 
come from independent providers. In Scotland, this figure is lower but still 
substantial, with independent providers accounting for around one-third of 
placements. As well as shifting from local authority or voluntary sector to 
private provision, the average size of children’s homes has fallen. Most 
children’s homes now provide four or fewer places and there has been an 
increase in the number of single-bed homes.  

15. In fostering, local authorities maintain their own in-house fostering agencies, 
but also use independent provision in the form of Independent Fostering 
Agencies (‘IFAs’). In England and Wales around 36% and 27% of foster 
placements, respectively, come from IFAs. In Scotland, IFAs provide around 
31% of foster placements, but these are all not-for-profit providers, as for-
profit provision is unlawful. 

16. Finally, recent years have seen a significant increase in the use of 
“unregulated” placements in England and Wales, where children may be 
given accommodation and support, but not care, and which are not currently 
regulated by Ofsted or Care Inspectorate Wales. While local authorities 
sometimes use these placements by choice, to prepare older children to move 
towards independence, we understand that they have increasingly been used 
as a last resort to house children who the local authority wishes to place in a 
regulated placement but cannot find one.  

Problems in the placements market 

17. The placements market – the arrangements by which local authorities source 
and purchase placements for children – plays an important role in the 
provision of residential and fostering placements for children. As noted above, 
a significant proportion of placements are provided by private providers, 
particularly in children’s homes, and in England and Wales. Regulators 
assess most residential placements and fostering services as being of good 
quality, and there is no clear difference, on average, between their 
assessments of the quality of private provision, as compared with local 
authority provision.  

18. Our study found problems in the way the placements market is operating. 
Children are not consistently gaining access to placements that appropriately 
meet their needs and are in the appropriate locations. Local authorities are 
sometimes paying too much for placements.  

98



 

9 

19. First, and most importantly, it is clear that the placements market, particularly 
in England and Wales, is failing to provide sufficient supply of the right type so 
that looked-after children can consistently access placements that properly 
meet their needs, when and where they require them. This means that some 
children are being placed in settings that are not appropriate for their own 
circumstances, for instance where they are: 

• far from where they would call ‘home’ without a clear child protection 
reason for this, thereby separated from positive friend and family 
networks: 37% of children in England in residential placements are placed 
at least 20 miles from their home base; 

• separated from siblings, where their care plan calls for them to be placed 
together: 13% of all siblings in care in England were placed separately, 
contrary to their care plan; 

• unable to access care, therapies or facilities that they need: we were told 
consistently by local authorities in England, Scotland and Wales that it is 
especially difficult to find placements for children with more complex 
needs and for older children. We were also told that some children are 
placed in an unregulated setting due to the lack of an appropriate 
children’s home place, and so cannot legally be given the care they need. 
We also understand that in some cases children are being placed in 
unregistered settings, notwithstanding the fact that this is illegal. 

20. While the amount of provision has been increasing in England and Wales, 
primarily driven by private providers, this has not been effective in reducing 
difficulties local authorities face in finding appropriate placements, in the right 
locations, for children as they need them. That means, in tangible terms, 
children being placed far from their established communities, siblings being 
separated or placements failing to meet the needs of children, to a greater 
extent than should be the case. 

21. Given the vital importance of good placement matches for successful 
outcomes for children, and particularly the negative impact of repeated 
placement breakdown, these outcomes should not be accepted. It is a 
fundamental failure in the way the market is currently performing. 

22. Second, the prices and profits of the largest providers in the sector are 
materially higher than we would expect them to be if this market were working 
well. The evidence from our core data set, covering fifteen large providers, 
shows that these providers have been earning significant profits over a 
sustained period. For the children’s homes providers in our data set we have 
seen steady operating profit margins averaging 22.6% from 2016-20, with 

99



 

10 

average prices increasing from £2,977 to £3,830 per week over the period, an 
average annual increase of 3.5%, after accounting for inflation. In fostering, 
prices have been steady at an average of £820 per week, and indeed have 
therefore declined in real terms, but profit margins of the largest IFAs appear 
consistently high at an average of 19.4%.  

23. If this market were functioning well, we would expect to see existing profitable 
providers investing and expanding in the market and new providers entering. 
This would drive down prices as local authorities would have more choice of 
placements, meaning that less efficient providers would have to become more 
efficient or exit the market, and the profits of the largest providers would be 
reduced. Eventually, profits and prices should remain at a lower level as 
providers would know that if they raised their prices they would be unable to 
attract placements in the face of competition. The high profits of the largest 
providers therefore shows that competition is not working as well as it should 
be.   

24. Third, we have concerns around the resilience of the market. Our concerns 
are not about businesses failing per se, but about the impact that failure can 
have on the children in their care. Were a private provider to exit this market 
in a disorderly manner – for instance by getting into financial trouble and 
closing its facilities – children in that provider’s care could suffer harm from 
the disruption, especially if local authorities were unable to find alternative 
appropriate placements for them. Given these potential negative effects on 
children’s lives, the current level of risk needs to be actively managed. This is 
less of a concern in the case of fostering, as foster carers should be able to 
transfer to a new agency with minimal impact on children. It is a greater 
concern in the case of children’s homes, where placements may be lost 
altogether.  

25. We have seen very high levels of debt being carried by some of the largest 
private providers, with private equity-owned providers of children’s homes in 
our dataset having particularly high levels. This level of indebtedness, all else 
being equal, is likely to increase the risk of disorderly exit of firms from the 
market. 

26. In addition to the above concerns about the market, some respondents have 
argued that the presence of for-profit operators is inappropriate in itself. We 
regard the issue of the legitimacy of having private provision in the social care 
system as one which it is primarily for elected governments to take a view on. 
Nonetheless we are well placed to consider the outcomes that private 
providers produce, as compared to local authority provision. While there are 
instances of high and low quality provision from all types of providers, the 
evidence from regulatory inspections gives us no reason to believe that 

100



 

11 

private provision is of lower quality, on average, than local authority provision. 
Turning to price, our evidence suggests that the cost to local authorities of 
providing their own children’s home placements is no lower than the cost of 
procuring placements from private providers, despite their profit levels. By 
contrast, in fostering, there is indicative evidence that local authorities could 
provide some placements more cheaply than by purchasing them from IFAs. 
We have, therefore, made recommendations to governments to run pilots in 
certain local authorities to test the potential to make savings by bringing more 
fostering placements in-house. Finally, as noted above, we have seen that 
some private providers, particularly those owned by private equity investors, 
are carrying very high levels of debt. As local authorities need the capacity 
from private providers, but these providers can exit the market at any time, 
these debt levels raise concerns about the resilience of the market. We have, 
therefore, made recommendations to enable these risks to be actively 
monitored so that there is minimal disruption to children in care.  

27. Given the importance of the functioning of the placements market for looked-
after children, the problems we have found must be addressed. In the 
following three sections, we set out our findings on the main drivers of these 
problems, and the recommendations we are making to address them. 

Commissioning 

28. A key factor in determining how well any market functions is the ability of the 
behaviour of purchasers to drive the provision of sufficient supply at an 
acceptable price. The current shortfall in capacity in the placements‘ market 
therefore represents a fundamental failing in market functioning. In particular, 
we have found that there are severe limitations on the ability of the 206 local 
authorities in England, Scotland and Wales, who purchase placements, to 
engage effectively with the market to achieve the right outcomes.  

29. In order to engage effectively with the market, local authorities, directly or 
indirectly, need to be able to:  

• forecast their likely future needs effectively, gaining a fine-grained 
understanding of both the overall numbers of children that will be in their 
care, and the types of need those children will have; 

• shape the market by providing accurate and credible signals of the likely 
future needs of children to existing and potential providers, and 
incentivising providers to expand capacity to meet these needs; and 

101



 

12 

• procure placements efficiently, purchasing those places that most closely 
match the needs of children, in the most appropriate locations, at prices 
that most closely reflect the cost of care. 

30. However, we have found that local authorities, across all three nations, face 
serious challenges when trying to do each of the above. 

31. Individual local authorities face an inherently difficult task when trying to 
develop accurate forecasting. They each buy relatively few placements, and 
they experience significant variation in both the number of children requiring 
care and their specific needs. The absence of reliable forecasts means that 
there is greater uncertainty in the market than there needs to be. This acts as 
a barrier to investment in new capacity needed to meet future demand.  

32. Even where future needs can be anticipated, local authorities struggle to 
convert this understanding into signals that providers will act on. Local 
authorities must often take whatever placement is available, even when it is 
not fully appropriate for the needs of the child. This blunts the ability of local 
authority purchasing decisions to shape the market to provide for their true 
needs. In England, Scotland and Wales, most local authorities told us that 
they do not attempt to actively shape the market by encouraging providers to 
invest in new provision. Local authorities acting alone face particular 
challenges in attempting to shape the market. For example, often the demand 
of an individual local authority for certain types of specialist provision is too 
low to justify contracting a whole service to meet these needs.  

33. We have seen considerable evidence that working together can make local 
authorities more effective. Collaborative procurement strategies can 
strengthen the bargaining position of local authorities, and groups of local 
authorities can more effectively engage with private providers to support the 
case for investment in new capacity, which provides the right type of care in 
the right locations. 

34. While we have seen varying degrees of cooperative activity between different 
groups of local authorities across the three nations, this has not gone far 
enough or fast enough. Despite regional collaboration being widely seen as 
beneficial the extent to which it takes place is patchy. Local authorities can 
struggle to collaborate successfully due to risk aversion, budgetary 
constraints, differences in governance, and difficulties aligning priorities and 
sharing costs. It is not clear how local authorities can sufficiently overcome 
these barriers even if given further incentive to do so. As such, without action 
by national governments to ensure the appropriate level of collaboration, local 
authorities are unlikely to be able to collaborate sufficiently to deliver the 
outcomes that are needed. 

102



 

13 

Recommendation 1.1: Larger scale market engagement 

35. We recommend that governments in each nation require a more collective 
approach to engagement with the placements market. This should include:  

• setting out what minimum level of activity must be carried out collectively. 
This should specify an appropriate degree of activity in each of the key 
areas of forecasting, market shaping and procurement;  

• ensuring there is a set of bodies to carry out these collective market 
shaping and procurement activities, with each local authority required to 
participate in one of them. While in Scotland and Wales it is plausible that 
this may be at a national level (building on the work of Scotland Excel and 
the 4Cs), we expect sub-national bodies to be appropriate for England; 
and 

• providing an oversight structure to ensure that each body is carrying out its 
functions to the appropriate level. This should involve an assessment of 
the extent to which sufficiency of placements is being achieved within each 
area. 

36. Each government should determine how best to implement this 
recommendation taking into account key issues that lie beyond the scope of 
our study. In examining the relative advantages and disadvantages of 
different options, governments should consider: 

• the number of bodies: for any body or set of bodies created there will be a 
trade-off between gaining buyer power and efficiencies through larger size, 
versus difficulties of coordination and management that come with that. 
Governments should consider these factors in determining the appropriate 
approach; 

• what precise collective market shaping and procurement activities are 
assigned to the bodies: there is a range of options, from mandating only a 
small amount of supportive activity to be carried out collectively eg 
forecasting, market shaping and procurement only for children with 
particular types of complex needs, through to mandating all of this activity 
to be carried out by the collective bodies;  

• the relationship between the new bodies and local authorities: national or 
regional bodies will decide on how the mandated level of collective activity 
is carried out. This could be with local authorities collectively reaching 
agreement or the regional bodies could be given the power to decide; 

103



 

14 

• the governance of bodies: on the presumption that corporate parenting 
responsibilities (and therefore the ultimate decision of whether to place a 
particular child in a particular placement) will remain with local authorities, 
there may be a tension between the roles of the local authorities and the 
collective bodies that will need to be resolved via the governance 
structure; and  

• how to best take advantage of what is already in place. There are benefits 
of building on existing initiatives in terms of avoiding transition costs and 
benefiting from organic learning about what works well in different 
contexts. For example, consideration should be given to using existing 
agreements, organisations and staff as the basis for future mandated 
collective action. 

37. Wherever responsibility for ensuring there is sufficient provision for looked-
after children sits, it is essential that these bodies are appropriately held to 
account. As such, we are also recommending that local authority duties 
should be enhanced to allow more transparent understanding of the extent to 
which sufficiency of placements is being achieved within each area. In order 
to do this, better information is required to understand how often children are 
being placed in placements that do not fit their needs, due to a lack of 
appropriate placements in the right locations. This will also help ensure that 
moving to a wider geographical focus helps support the aim of placing more 
children closer to home, unless there is a good reason not to do so. 

Recommendation 1.2: National support for purchaser engagement with the 
market 

38. We recommend that national governments provide additional support to local 
authorities and collective bodies for forecasting, market shaping and 
procurement.  

39. With regards to forecasting, in each of England, Scotland and Wales, 
governments should establish functions at a national level supporting the 
forecasting of demand for, and supply of, children’s social care placements. 
These functions should include carrying out and publishing national and 
regional analysis and providing local authorities and collective bodies with 
guidance and support for more local forecasting, including the creation of 
template sufficiency reports.  

40. For market shaping and procurement, each national government should 
support the increase in wider-than-local activity by funding collective bodies to 
trial different market shaping and procurement techniques and improving 
understanding of what market shaping and procurement models work well.  

104



 

15 

41. In England, the Department for Education should support the reintroduction of 
national procurement contracts covering those terms and conditions that do 
not need to reflect local conditions.  

Recommendation 1.3: Support for increasing local authority foster care 
provision  

42. We recommend that governments support innovative projects by individual 
local authorities, or groups of local authorities, targeted at recruiting and 
retaining more foster carers to reduce their reliance on IFAs.  

43. While precise like-for-like comparisons are difficult to make, our analysis 
suggests that there are likely to be some cases where local authorities could 
provide foster placements more cost-effectively in-house rather than via IFAs, 
if they are able to recruit and retain the necessary carers. We have also heard 
from local authorities who have successfully expanded their in-house foster 
care offering and have seen positive results. 

44. Governments should offer targeted funding support for innovative projects by 
individual local authorities, or groups of local authorities, targeted at recruiting 
and retaining more foster carers to reduce their reliance on IFAs. Any such 
projects should then be evaluated carefully to provide an evidence base to 
help shape future policy. 

Recommendations we are not taking forward: banning for profit care; capping 
prices or profits  

45. Some respondents have argued that we should directly address the problem 
of high profits and prices in the placements market by recommending that 
local authorities stop using private provision altogether, or that caps should be 
imposed on their prices or profits. 

46. Turning first to children’s homes, as discussed above, we did not find 
evidence that providing local authority placements was any less costly to local 
authorities than purchasing placements from private providers. The central 
problem facing the market, especially in England and Wales, is the lack of 
sufficient capacity. At the moment, England and Wales relies on private 
providers for the majority of their placements. Similarly, most investment in 
new capacity is coming from private providers. Banning private provision, or 
taking measures that directly limit prices and profits, would further reduce the 
incentives of private providers to invest in creating new capacity (or even to 
maintain some current capacity) and therefore risk increasing the capacity 
shortfall. While this shortfall could be made up by increased local authority or 
not-for-profit provision, it would take significant political intervention to ensure 

105



 

16 

that this was achieved at the speed and scale necessary to replace private 
provision, requiring very significant capital investment.  

47. In the case of foster care, by contrast, we do see indicative evidence that 
using IFA carers may be more expensive for local authorities than using their 
own in-house carers in some cases. Compared to children’s homes, the 
capital expenditure required to in-source significant numbers of foster 
placements would also be lower. While we are recommending that 
governments support local authorities to explore this option, we do not 
recommend that governments take direct action to limit or ban profit-making in 
foster care. From the evidence we have seen is not clear that local authorities 
would be able to recruit the required number of foster carers themselves, nor 
that they would be able to provide the same quality of care at a similar price, 
across the full range of care needs and in every area. 

48. While we are not recommending that governments directly limit for-profit 
provision, we are conscious that the Scottish and Welsh governments have 
each committed to move away from the model of for-profit provision in 
children’s social care. These decisions are rightly for democratically elected 
governments to make, and will involve considerations that go beyond our 
scope as a competition authority. Where governments do take this course of 
action, however, we recommend that they carefully consider the points we 
have raised as part of the planning, funding and monitoring involved in the 
process of directly restricting for-profit provision, to ensure that this is 
achieved in a way that does not inadvertently result in negative outcomes for 
children. 

Overall recommended approach on commissioning 

49. In our view, the best way to address the high levels of profit in the sector 
together with the capacity shortfall is to address the common causes of both 
problems, in particular the weak position of local authority commissioners 
when purchasing placements and removing unnecessary barriers to the 
creation of new provision (as discussed in the next section). Moving to a less 
fragmented approach to purchasing will provide local authorities with greater 
purchasing power and put them in a better position to forecast future demand 
and manage capacity requirements accordingly. Removing barriers to 
investment in new provision will help providers respond more effectively to the 
needs of children.  

50. Over time, we believe that these measures would be successful in drawing 
more appropriate supply to the market and driving down prices for local 
authorities, without acting as a drag on required ongoing and new investment 
in provision. In doing so, they would move the market to a position where 

106



 

17 

providers are forced to be more responsive to the actual needs of children, by 
providing places which fully meet their needs, in locations which are in the 
best interests of those children. Such placements ought also to offer better 
value to commissioners who are purchasing them, by being priced more in 
line with the underlying cost of provision. 

51. We are aware that there have been calls in the past for greater aggregation in 
commissioning. In England, reviews for the Department for Education in 2016 
and 2018 recommended that local authorities be required to come together in 
large consortia to purchase children’s homes and fostering placements, and 
that larger local authorities or consortia attempt to become self-sufficient using 
in-house foster carers. Similar issues have been raised in Scotland, including 
around the potential for children’s social care to be included within a National 
Care Service, and in Wales.  

52. Each of the governments will rightly wish to consider our recommendations, 
and the appropriate way to implement them in the round, taking into account 
broader issues that are beyond our remit. Nonetheless, we are clear that 
excessive fragmentation in the processes of forecasting, market shaping and 
procurement are key drivers of poor outcomes in this market, and must 
therefore be addressed if we are to see significant improvement in the 
outcomes from this market. 

Creating capacity in the market 

53. We have also identified barriers that are reducing the ability of suppliers to 
bring new supply to the market to meet emerging needs. These barriers are in 
the areas of: 

• regulation; 

• property and planning; and, 

• recruitment and retention.  

By creating additional costs and time delays for providers, these factors may 
act as a deterrent to new investment, leading to provision being added more 
slowly, or even deterred completely. Unless addressed, over time, these will 
contribute to the ongoing undersupply of appropriate placements in the 
market.  

Recommendation 2.1: Review of regulation  

54. We recommend that the UK Government carries out or commissions a review 
of regulation impacting on the placements market in England. 

107



 

18 

55. Regulation is a vital tool to protect safety and high standards, and where it is 
well-designed to protect the interests, safety and wellbeing of children, it must 
not be eroded. We have seen evidence that in England there are areas where 
regulation is a poor fit for the reality of the placements market as we see it 
today. Despite the huge changes in the nature of the care system over the 
past twenty years, the regulatory system in England has remained broadly the 
same over this period. 

56. For example, in England it is a legal requirement for a children’s home to have 
a manager. It is also a legal requirement for a manager to be registered and 
failure to do so is an offence. On that basis, Ofsted policy is that an 
application to register a home will be accompanied by an application to 
register a manager. This means that the manager usually has to be in place 
for some time before children will be cared for. Similarly, in England a 
manager’s registration is not transferable, so each time a manager wishes to 
move home they must re-register with Ofsted. We have heard from providers 
that these processes are costly, time-consuming and hinder the rapid 
redeployment of staff to a location where they are needed. 

57. These are examples of the sort of areas where regulation as currently drafted 
may be preventing the market from working as well as it should, without 
providing meaningful protections for children. As a result, the net effect of 
these areas of regulation on children’s wellbeing may be negative. We have 
seen less evidence of these sort of problems in Wales and Scotland, where 
regulation appears to be more flexible, while still providing strong protections 
for children in care. 

58. The UK Government should carry out, or commission, a thorough review of 
regulation relating to the provision of placements, during which protecting the 
safety and wellbeing of children must be the overriding aim, but also 
considering whether specific regulations are unnecessarily restricting the 
effective provision of placements. In Scotland and Wales, the regulatory 
system has been amended more recently, but governments should be aware 
of these considerations as they move through their respective policy 
processes to reshape the children’s social care system. 

Recommendation 2.2: Review planning requirements 

59. We recommend that the UK and Welsh governments review the impact of the 
planning system on the ability of providers to open new children’s homes. 

60. Access to suitable property is another barrier to the creation of new children’s 
homes. While this is partly down to competition for scarce housing stock, one 
particular area of concern is in negotiating the planning system. We have 

108



 

19 

repeatedly heard concerns that in England and Wales, obtaining planning 
permission is a significant barrier to provision because of local opposition, 
much of which appears to be based on outmoded or inaccurate assumptions 
about children’s homes and looked-after children. Similarly, we have heard 
that the planning rules are applied inconsistently in relation to potential new 
children’s homes.   

61. The average new children’s home provides placements for only three 
children. As a result, the type of properties that are suitable to serve as 
children’s homes will also tend to be attractive to families in general. Where 
providers face delays imposed by the planning process, even where they are 
successful in getting planning permission, this can lead to them losing the 
property to a rival bidder for whom planning is not a consideration. It is 
therefore clear to us that market functioning would be improved by a more 
streamlined and consistent approach to planning issues. 

62. In England and Wales, governments should review the planning requirements 
in relation to children’s homes to assess whether they are content that the 
correct balance is currently being struck. In particular, in order to make the 
planning process more efficient for children’s homes, we recommend that 
governments consider whether any distinction, for the purposes of the 
planning regime, between small children’s homes and domestic dwelling 
houses should be removed. This could include, for example, steps to make 
clear that small children’s homes which can accommodate less than a 
specified number of residents at any one time are removed from the 
requirement to go through the planning system notwithstanding that the carers 
there work on a shift pattern. Doing this will increase the prospect of enough 
children’s homes being opened and operated in locations where they are 
needed to provide the level of care that children need.  

63. We also recommend that where children’s homes remain in the planning 
system (for example because they are larger) national guidance is introduced 
for local planning authorities and providers. The guidance should clarify the 
circumstances in which permission is likely to be granted or refused. 

 
Recommendation 2.3: Regular state of the sector review 

64. We recommend that each government commissions an annual state of the 
sector review, which would consider the extent and causes of any shortfalls in 
children’s home staff or foster carers.  

65. Recruiting and retaining staff for children’s homes is a significant barrier to the 
creation of new capacity. This is a fundamental problem across all the care 
sectors. Given the high levels of profit among the large providers it is perhaps 

109



 

20 

surprising that wages have not risen to ease recruitment pressure and that 
greater investment is not made in recruiting, training and supporting staff. We 
note, however, that there are many other factors aside from wages that 
impact on the attractiveness of roles within children’s social care, some of 
which are outside the control of providers. While there is no easy route to 
addressing this, more attention needs to be paid to this question at a national 
level. This should be an ongoing process building on existing work.  

66. In each nation there should be an annual assessment of the state of the 
sector, including workforce issues, to provide a clear overview of staffing 
pressures and concerns, and to recommend measures to address 
bottlenecks. This would be similar in scope to the CQC’s annual State of Care 
review in England. Governments should also give attention to whether 
national measures, such as recruitment campaigns, measures to support 
professionalisation (such as investment in training and qualifications) and 
clearer career pathways are required.  

67. Recruitment and retention of foster carers is a barrier to creating more foster 
places. While many local authorities and IFAs are adopting positive 
approaches to addressing this, again more can be done at the national level. 
In each nation there should be an assessment of the likely future need for 
foster carers and national governments should take the lead in implementing 
an effective strategy to improve recruitment and retention of foster carers.  

Resilience of the market 

68. We have found that some providers in the market, particularly those owned by 
private equity firms, are carrying very high levels of debt. These high debt 
levels increase the risk of disorderly firm failure, with children’s homes 
shutting their doors abruptly. Were this to occur, this would harm children who 
may have to leave their current homes. Local authorities may then have 
problems finding appropriate alternative provision to transfer them into.  

69. In principle, a successful children’s home should be expected to be attractive 
to a new proprietor. There is, however, no guarantee that it will be sold as a 
going concern in every case. In particular, the expected move away from the 
ultra-low interest rate environment of recent times would place new pressure 
on highly-leveraged companies to meet their debt servicing obligations, 
increasing the risk of disorderly failure. Our assessment is that the current 
level of risk of disruption to children’s accommodation and care as a result of 
a provider’s financial failure is unacceptable, and measures must be taken to 
mitigate this.  

110



 

21 

70. In considering our recommendations in this area, we have taken into account 
the ongoing need for investment in the creation of appropriate placements, 
and the current level of reliance on private providers to make this investment, 
in particular in England and Wales. We have sought to balance the need to 
take urgent steps to reduce the level of risk to children against the need to 
avoid a sudden worsening of the investment environment faced by providers, 
which may exacerbate the problem of lack of appropriate supply in this 
market. 

71. We are therefore recommending that governments take steps to actively 
increase the level of resilience in this market, in order to reduce the risk of 
negative outcomes for children. In particular, we recommend that they: 

• introduce a market oversight function so that the risk of failure among the 
most difficult to replace providers is actively monitored; and 

• require all providers to have measures in place that will ensure that 
children in their care will not have their care disrupted in the event of 
business failure. 

Recommendation 3.1: Monitor and warn of risks of provider failure 

72. We recommend that governments create an appropriate oversight regime that 
is capable of assessing the financial health of the most difficult to replace 
providers of children’s homes and of warning placing authorities if a failure is 
likely.  

73. This regime could operate along similar lines to the Care Quality 
Commission’s (CQC) current market oversight role in relation to adult social 
care providers in England – a system that already exists for a similar purpose. 
Adopting this recommendation would provide policymakers and placing 
authorities with early warning of a potential provider failure. 

74. Creating this function on a statutory basis would provide benefits such as 
giving the oversight body formal information-gathering powers, and a firmer 
footing on which to share information with local authorities. We recommend 
that in England, where the CQC already operates a statutory regime for adult 
social care, the statutory approach should be adopted. Due consideration 
should also be given to adopting a statutory approach in Scotland and Wales. 
Given the cross-border nature of many of the most significant providers, 
oversight bodies in the three nations need to be able to share relevant 
information in a timely and effective way. 

Recommendation 3.2: Contingency planning 

111



 

22 

75. We recommend that governments take steps to ensure that children’s 
interests are adequately protected if a provider gets into financial distress. 

76. Governments, via their appointed oversight bodies, should require the most 
difficult to replace providers to maintain a “contingency plan” setting out how 
they are organising their affairs to mitigate the risk of their provision having to 
close in a sudden and disorderly way in the event that they get into financial 
difficulties or insolvency. One important element will be to ensure that 
appropriate arrangements are in place to ensure that providers have the 
necessary time and financial resources to enable an orderly transition where 
the provision can be operated on a sustainable basis, either by its existing 
owners or any alternative owners. Contingency plans should seek to address 
these risks, for instance through ensuring that: 

• appropriate standstill provisions are in place with lenders; 

• companies are structured appropriately to remove unnecessary barriers 
to selling the provision to another operator as a going concern; and 

• providers maintain sufficient levels of reserves to continue to operate 
for an appropriate length of time in a stressed situation. 

77. These contingency plans should be subjected to stress testing by the 
government’s oversight body, to ensure that they are sufficiently robust to 
reduce the risk of negative impacts on children in potential stress scenarios. 
Where the oversight body considers that plans are not sufficiently robust, it 
should have the power to require providers to amend and improve them. 

78. Taken together, we believe that these measures strike the right balance 
between minimising the risks of negative impacts on children and maintaining 
an environment that supports needed investment in the future, based on the 
current state of the market. As the measures that we are recommending take 
effect and capacity grows in the market, governments will however want to 
reflect on the appropriate balance between public and private provision In 
particular, as well as the resilience risks associated with the high levels of 
debt inherent in the business models of some providers, there is a risk that 
excessive reliance on highly leveraged providers will leave local authorities 
more susceptible to having to pay higher prices for services if the costs of 
financing debt increase. 

79. In addition, as reforms to the care system are made (possibly resulting in 
fewer children being placed in children’s homes) the basis of this calculation 
may shift, meaning that imposing tougher measures, such as a special 

112



 

23 

administration regime or steps to directly limit or reduce the levels of debt held 
by individual operators, may at that point be appropriate.  

Next steps 

80. If implemented, we expect that our recommendations should improve or 
mitigate the poor outcomes that we see in the placement market.  

• Our recommendations in relation to commissioning placements in the 
market will put purchasers in a stronger position to understand their future 
needs, to ensure that provision is available to meet them and to purchase 
that provision in an effective way.  

• Our recommendations to address barriers to creating capacity in the 
market will reduce the time and cost of creating new provision to meet 
identified needs. 

• Our recommendations around resilience will reduce the risk of children 
experiencing negative effects from children’s home providers exiting the 
market in a disorderly way. 

81. Taken together, we expect these measures to lead to a children’s social care 
placements market where: 

• the availability of placements better matches the needs of children and is 
in appropriate locations; 

• the cost to local authorities of these placements is reduced; and 

• the risk of disruption to children from disorderly exit of children’s homes 
provision is reduced. 

82. Major policy processes in relation to children’s social care are currently 
ongoing in England, Scotland and Wales, and we hope that our 
recommendations will be considered as part of each. We will engage with 
policymakers, regulators and others to explain our recommendations, strongly 
encourage them to implement them and, support them in doing so. 

 

113



 

24 

1. Background 

Purpose of the market study 

1.1 In light of concerns around high prices and a lack of appropriate placements 
for looked-after children, on 12 March 2021 we launched a market study into 
the supply of children's social care services in England, Scotland and Wales, 
specifically considering residential services and associated care and 
support, and fostering services. The purpose of the market study was to 
examine how well the current system is working across England, Scotland 
and Wales, and to explore how it could be made to work better, to improve 
outcomes for some of the most vulnerable people in our society.  

Progress of the market study 

1.2 Our invitation to comment set out the scope of the market study and the key 
themes we intended to focus on, namely: the nature of supply, 
commissioning, the regulatory system and pressures on investment. On 20 
May 2021 we published 37 responses to the invitation to comment on our 
case page. 

1.3 On 9 September 2021 we published our decision not to make a market 
investigation reference. 

1.4 We published our interim report on 22 October 2021, setting out our interim 
findings based on our initial analysis. This set out our concerns that the 
children’s social care sector is failing to consistently deliver the right 
outcomes for children and society, in that: 

(a) the placements market overall is not providing sufficient appropriate 
places to ensure that children consistently receive placements that fully 
meet their needs, when and where they require them; 

(b) some prices and profits in the sector are above the levels we would 
expect in a well-functioning market; and 

(c) some of the largest providers have very high levels of debt so that there is 
a potential risk that external events such as a tightening of credit 
conditions, could lead to unforeseen and significant market exit, 
significantly increasing the difficulties local authorities face in finding 
placements for children in their care.  

1.5 On 26 January 2022 we published 32 responses to our interim report on our 
case page, and we have carefully considered the responses we received.   

114

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/604a0f19e90e07153af362c1/ITC_childrenssocialcare_provision.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/cma-cases/childrens-social-care-study
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6138a681d3bf7f05ac396e62/Children_s_Social_Care_No-MIR_decision_notice_9921.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-interim-report


 

25 

Information gathered 

1.6 Over the course of the market study we have gathered information from a 
wide range of sources to develop our understanding of the issues under 
consideration and the children's social care sector more broadly, to assess 
outcomes in the sector in terms of the availability of appropriate places, 
prices paid by local authorities and the resilience of the sector, and to test 
our thinking on what recommendations may be appropriate. In addition to 
analysing the responses to our consultations, our information gathering 
activities included the following: 

• We engaged with, and examined data held by, national governments in 
England, Scotland and Wales and the regulators in those nations.  

• We issued detailed information requests to, and received responses 
from, the 15 largest independent providers of children's homes and 
fostering services and received 27 responses to our questionnaire 
issued to smaller providers.  

• We received responses from 41 local authorities to our initial 
questionnaire. We received responses from a further 4 local authorities 
when we issued additional questionnaires focussed on specific themes, 
and a combined response on behalf of Foster Wales and All-Wales 
Heads of Children’s Services.  

• We met with a range of parties involved in or with an interest in the 
sector, including: children’s commissioners, local authorities and their 
representative bodies; commissioning consortia and commissioning 
bodies; independent providers and their representative bodies; and 
private equity firms. 

• After publishing our interim report, we held four roundtables, focussed 
on commissioning (from a local authority perspective), commissioning 
(from an independent providers’ perspective), barriers to opening new 
provision and resilience of the sector.  

• We analysed a dataset compiled from the financial accounts of 
children’s social care providers filed with Companies House.   

• We visited a number of local authority and independent-owned 
children's homes, speaking with staff and with children in their care. 

• We considered previous reviews and research reports that have 
examined the children’s social care sector.  

115



 

26 

Structure of the final report   

1.7 This final report on the market study sets out our findings and makes 
recommendations to address the issues we have identified during our 
market study.  

1.8 The remainder of the report is structured as follows: 

• Section 2 provides an overview of the children’s social care sector. 

• Section 3 describes the outcomes we have observed in the market, 
focussing on quality, supply of appropriate places, prices and resilience. 

• Section 4 sets out our findings on commissioning and our 
recommendations to improve commissioning.  

• Section 5 sets out our findings on barriers to creating capacity and our 
recommendations on how to reduce them. 

• Section 6 sets out our findings on resilience of the market and our 
recommendations on how to reduce the risk of disorderly provider failure 
having negative effects on children. 

• Section 7 provides a summary of our recommendations, describes how 
they will work together and sets out our approach to supporting their 
implementation.  

1.9 In addition, further detail is provided in two appendices to the report: 

• Appendix A sets out in detail the financial analysis we have undertaken. 

• Appendix B provides detail of aspects of the legal frameworks in England, 
Scotland and Wales which are relevant to the issues we have considered 
in the market study.  

116



 

27 

2. Overview of the sector 

2.1 This section provides an overview of the children's social care sector – which 
is a devolved policy area – in England, Scotland and Wales and highlights 
some of the key differences in the policy, legislative and regulatory 
frameworks in each nation. It also considers how the sector has evolved 
over time.  

Ensuring children live in safe, caring and supportive homes 

2.2 All children need a safe, caring and supportive home and the children’s 
social care system exists to ensure that all children have access to one. For 
many children in the care of a local authority (‘looked-after children’) in 
England, Scotland and Wales, this is provided by foster carers and, for a 
smaller group, by children’s homes. In some circumstances, in England and 
Wales, children may be placed in unregulated accommodation: independent 
or semi-independent living facilities which provide support but not care. 
Children are often looked after for a short period of time or there may be a 
longer-term arrangement, and children may be looked after in different care 
settings at different times in their lives.  

2.3 For these looked-after children – some of the most vulnerable people in our 
society – the state, through local authorities who act as corporate parents, is 
responsible for providing their accommodation, care and support. It does this 
in two main ways: local authorities may use their own in-house foster carers, 
children’s homes and, in some circumstances, unregulated accommodation 
or they procure these services from independent (private and voluntary) 
providers. Local authorities tend to use their own services as their first 
choice where appropriate local authority placements are available.   

2.4 The necessity of ensuring that children receive accommodation and care as 
the need arises creates challenges for local authorities in terms of how they 
purchase placements. Time pressure can be immense as children may 
require placements urgently, often in response to a crisis. The requirements 
can vary considerably from case to case, due to the particular needs and 
circumstances of the child. The local authority must therefore seek the best 
option from among those placements that are available, often during a 
limited time period.   

117



 

28 

Children’s social care sector in England, Scotland and Wales 

 
Notes: In the chart showing the proportion of children in care, the 57% of children in ’other settings’ in Scotland, represents a 
broader definition of care than is applied in England and Wales. In the pie chart showing foster placements in Scotland, the 
independent providers are wholly not-for-profit.   
Sources: as for tables 1, 5 and 6 below. 

118



 

29 

Looked-after children  

2.5 There are currently just over 100,000 looked-after children in England, 
Scotland and Wales. Foster care is the most common form of care setting for 
these children in England and Wales: over two-thirds of looked-after children 
in England and Wales live in foster care; around a third of looked-after 
children in Scotland live in foster care.1 16% percent of looked-after children 
live in residential settings in England, 10% in Scotland and 7% in Wales. 
Such settings include children's homes, secure children’s homes, 
independent or semi-independent living facilities and residential schools. 
The remainder of looked-after children live in a variety of settings, for 
example, living with parents, placed for adoption or in other community 
settings. 

Table 1: Children in care in fostering and residential settings in England (2021), Scotland 
(2020) and Wales (2021) 

 England Scotland Wales 
Nos. looked-after children    
- Foster care 57,330 (71%) 4,744 (33%) 5,075 (70%) 
- Residential settings 12,790 (16%) 1,436 (10%) 535 (7%) 
- Other settings 11,850 (13%) 8,278 (57%) 1,655 (23%) 
- Total 80,850 14,458 7,265 

 
Notes: For England, the relevant file is ‘National - Children looked after at 31 March by characteristics’. Residential settings 
including secure units, children’s homes, semi-independent living accommodation, residential schools and other residential 
settings. Other settings include other placements, other placements in the community, placed for adoption and placed with 
parents or other person with parental responsibility.   
For Wales other settings include placed for adoption, placed with own parents or other person of parental responsibility, living 
independently and absent from placement or other. 
In Scotland, other settings include at home with parents, with kinship carers, with prospective adopters and in other community.  
Sources: England: DfE Children looked after in England including adoptions. Scotland: Scottish Government Children's social 
work statistics Wales: StatsWales Children looked after at 31 March by local authority and placement type. 

 
2.6 Table 2 below shows disproportionately high rates of children being taken 

into care among Black and Mixed ethnicity children and disproportionately 
low rates for Asian and White children in England.  

Table 2: Percentage of looked-after children and percentage of under-18 population in England 
by ethnicity (England) 

 Looked-after children Under-18 population 
Ethnic group   
- Asian 4% 10% 
- Black 7% 5% 
- Mixed ethnicity 10% 5% 
- Other ethnic groups 4% 1% 
- White 74% 79% 

 
Source: DfE, Adopted and looked-after children - GOV.UK Ethnicity facts and figures (ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk) 

 

 
 
1 A further 30% of children are with Kinship Carers: friends/relatives. In England and Wales foster care with a 
friend or relative is counted as part of fostering. 

119

https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoptions/2020
https://www.gov.scot/publications/childrens-social-work-statistics-2019-20/pages/3/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/childrens-social-work-statistics-2019-20/pages/3/
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After/childrenlookedafterat31march-by-localauthority-placementtype
https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/health/social-care/adopted-and-looked-after-children/latest


 

30 

2.7 Table 3 below shows a disproportionately high rate of children being taken 
into care among Mixed ethnicity children and a disproportionately low rate 
for Asian children in Scotland.  

Table 3: Percentage of looked-after children and percentage of all children in Scotland by 
ethnicity (Scotland) 

 Looked-after 
children 

All children in Scotland 

Ethnic group   
- Asian, Asian Scottish or Asian British  1% 3% 
- Black, Black Scottish or Black British 1% 1% 
- Mixed ethnicity 2% 1% 
- Other ethnic background 1% 0% 
- White 84% 95% 

 
Note: For 11% of looked-after children ethnicity is not known. 
Source: Children's social work statistics: 2019 to 2020 - gov.scot (www.gov.scot), Table 1.2 
 

2.8 Table 4 below shows a disproportionately high rate of children being taken 
into care among children from Mixed ethnic groups and a disproportionally 
low rate among Asian children in Wales. 

Table 4: Percentage of looked-after children and percentage of all children in Wales by 
ethnicity (Wales) 

 Looked-after 
children 

All children in Wales 

Ethnic group   
- Asian/Asian British 2% 3% 
- Black/African/Caribbean/Black British 1% 1% 
- Mixed/multiple ethnic group 4% 2% 
- Other ethnic group 1% 1% 
- White 91% 93% 

 
Source: Children looked after at 31 March by local authority and ethnicity (gov.wales) and Data Viewer - Nomis - Official 
Labour Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk) 
 

2.9 Children may become looked after for a number of reasons including as a 
result of abuse or neglect, family dysfunction, parental illness or disability 
and absent parenting, as well as where they arrive in the UK as 
unaccompanied asylum seekers.  

2.10 The number of children entering children’s social care has increased over 
time, and we have been told by a number of parties including local 
authorities and independent providers that the needs of such children have 
grown and become more complex.2 There are also increasing numbers of 
older children being looked after.3  

2.11 The Institute for Government projected in its 2021 Performance Tracker that 
demand for children's social care would grow by around 5% between 2019-

 
 
2 See eg Outcomes First Group response to the ITC, para 1.1.2; ADCS response to the ITC; ICHA response to 
the IR, NAFP response to the IR. 
3 In the Case for Change, the independent review of children’s social care highlights an increase of 25% children 
looked after from 2009/10 to 2019/20 and, over the same period, an increase of 39% of children aged 16+. 

120

https://www.gov.scot/publications/childrens-social-work-statistics-2019-20/documents/
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After/childrenlookedafterat31march-by-localauthority-ethnicity
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2011/LC2109EWLS/view/2092957700?rows=c_age&cols=c_ethpuk11
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2011/LC2109EWLS/view/2092957700?rows=c_age&cols=c_ethpuk11
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/performance-tracker-2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a620d98fa8f520c89469ad/Outcomes_First_Group-response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3c071e90e07357045b180/Association_of_Directors_of_Childrens_Services-response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/61eff376d3bf7f05452ed36c/Independent_Childrens_Homes_Association_IR_response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/61eff376d3bf7f05452ed36c/Independent_Childrens_Homes_Association_IR_response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/61eff3e58fa8f50596013512/Nationwide_Association_of_Fostering_Providers_IR_response.pdf
https://childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/case-for-change.pdf


 

31 

20 and 2024-25, driven by increasing demand for foster and residential 
placements.4 The Social Market Foundation projected that, in England, 
‘based on the growth seen in the last five years, we could expect that close 
to 77,000 children will be in foster care by 2030; an increase of more than 
30% from now.’5 However, we note that while demand for children's social 
care services is widely expected to grow, there are ongoing efforts to reduce 
the number of looked-after children, which makes it difficult to predict the 
level and profile of future demand with a high degree of certainty. For 
example, in September 2021 the Scottish Government announced as part of 
its latest Programme for Government a fund to significantly reduce the 
number of children and young people in care by 2030.6   

Local authorities 

2.12 Local authorities have statutory duties in relation to the children taken into 
their care. Given this is a devolved policy area, these vary across England, 
Scotland and Wales, as set out in Appendix B. 

2.13 Local authorities are obliged to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children in their care, including through the provision of accommodation and 
care. Where it is in the child’s best interests, this should be provided locally 
in order to ensure continuity in their education, social relationships, health 
provision and (where possible and appropriate) contact with their family.  

2.14 A “sufficiency duty” is placed on local authorities in England, whereby local 
authorities are required to take steps to secure, so far as reasonably 
practicable, sufficient accommodation within the local authority’s area which 
meets the needs of the children it looks after. Similar duties apply in Wales. 
In Scotland, local authorities and the relevant health boards are required to 
produce strategic plans (Children's Services Plans) every 3 years.7 

2.15 Each local authority is responsible for providing, either themselves or by 
purchasing from another provider, the placements they require.  

2.16 In terms of how local authorities approach procurement a 2020 Independent 
Children’s Homes Association (ICHA) survey found that a large proportion of 
children’s home placements (51%) are spot-purchased not from a 
framework. In such cases the terms for each placement are determined on 
an individual basis. The survey found that in 47% of cases, local authorities 
purchase placements using framework agreements, which set out the terms 

 
 
4 Performance Tracker 2021 'Assessing the cost of Covid in public services'. 
5 Fostering the future Paper 1, 'Helping local authorities to fulfil their legal duties'. 
6 Keeping families together. 
7 The Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014, section 8. 

121

https://www.smf.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Fostering-the-future-Paper-1-June-21.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/news/keeping-families-together/
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publication/performance-tracker-2019/children-social-care
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publication/performance-tracker-2019/children-social-care
https://www.smf.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Fostering-the-future-Paper-1-June-21.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/news/keeping-families-together/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2014/8/part/8/enacted


 

32 

(such as the service offered and the price) under which the provider will 
supply the relevant service in the specified period. A much smaller number 
of placements (2%) are block contract placements.8 A further ICHA survey in 
November 2020 found a higher level of block arrangements, with such 
arrangements accounting for almost one in five placements.9 The National 
Association of Fostering Providers (NAFP) told us that the majority of foster 
care placements ‘are made with pre-tendered contractually defined 
relationships albeit with no commitment to make any placements with a 
particular provider’.10 

2.17 There are different approaches to commissioning and purchasing in each 
nation: 

• There is no national commissioning body in England. The National 
Contracts Steering Group (NCSG) – comprising the Local Government 
Association (LGA), a group of local authority commissioners, independent 
providers and trade associations – was established over a decade ago, 
supported by the Commissioning Support Programme. It developed three 
national contracts for placements in schools, foster care and children's 
homes. However, the work of the NCSG ended when the Commissioning 
Support Programme came to an end, as discussed further in Section 4. Of 
the 152 relevant local authorities in England, some procure individually, 
while many form regional procurement groups with neighbouring local 
authorities. These groups vary in their design and purpose.   

• Scotland Excel is a public sector organisation operating on behalf of 
Scotland's 32 local authorities. It undertakes strategic commissioning of 
services and provides a wide range of national contracts for local 
authorities in Scotland, including contracts for the provision of fostering 
services and children's residential care. It is up to individual local 
authorities whether they secure placements through Scotland Excel, and 
not all local authorities do so for every placement they require.  

• In Wales, all 22 local authorities are members of the Children's 
Commissioning Consortium Cymru (4Cs). Since 2018 the Framework 
Agreements for both residential and foster care have been reviewed – the 
All Wales Residential Framework was launched in 2019 and the All Wales 
Foster Framework launched in April 2021.11  

 
 
8 Independent Children’s Homes Association (January 2020), State of the Market survey 6, page 15. 
9 ICHA State of the Sector survey (7 November 2020). 
10 NAFP response to the IR. 
11 4Cs response to the ITC.  

122

https://www.revolution-consulting.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/ICHA-Jan-2020-survey-final-12-Feb-2020.pdf
https://www.icha.org.uk/public/Document/Download/3?fileName=e0c7f4b5-4ed8-491c-9273-11cadfb34df3.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/61eff3e58fa8f50596013512/Nationwide_Association_of_Fostering_Providers_IR_response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3c68dd3bf7f288288cd41/Childrens_Commissioning_Consortium_Cymru_-.pdf


 

33 

Role of the market and nature of provision 

2.18 In addition to local authorities making placements through their own in-house 
provision (where that is available), the market plays a significant role in the 
allocation of care placements that can be purchased by local authorities from 
private and voluntary providers.  

2.19 Table 5 below shows that in England and Wales, the largest proportion of 
children's home places are provided by the private sector – around 78% and 
77% respectively. In contrast, in Scotland only around 35% of places are 
provided by the private sector.  

 
Table 5: Number of children's home places by provider type and nation 
 

 England Scotland Wales 
Private provision   7555 362 769 
Voluntary provision 501 130 89 
Local authority provision 1643 556 144 
    

Sources: England: Main findings: children's social care in England 2021. Scotland: Children's social work statistics: 2019 to 
2020. Wales: Invitation to comment response: Care Inspectorate Wales 
 
 

2.20 The majority of fostering placements are provided by local authority foster 
carers – 64% in England, 69% in Scotland and 74% in Wales, as illustrated 
by table 6 below. However, a significant minority are provided by private 
providers (except in Scotland where for-profit provision is not permitted) and 
voluntary providers.  

Table 6: Number of children in foster care by provider type and nation  

 England (2021) Scotland (end 2020) Wales (2021) 
Independent provision   20,065 1,436 1,330 
Local authority provision 35,925 3,151 3,745 
 
 

   

Note: “Independent provision” refers to care which is not provided by local authorities.   
Sources: England: Ofsted: Official Statistics Release, Capacity_and_occupancy_2014-21_ tab. Scotland - Care Inspectorate: 
Fostering and adoption 2020-21 A statistical bulletin, Figure 1.12. Wales - Children looked after in foster placements at 31 
March by local authority and placement type 

Development of the market for care placements 

2.21 While today the majority of children’s homes places in England and Wales 
and a significant minority of fostering placements are provided by the private 
sector, this has not always been the case.  

2.22 Historically, children’s social care was provided by charitable institutions, 
until the state took on responsibility in the twentieth century. As well as 
providing accommodation and care through voluntary providers, local 
authorities established their own in-house provision. However, the private 

123

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/childrens-social-care-data-in-england-2021/main-findings-childrens-social-care-in-england-2021#figure-3
https://www.gov.scot/publications/childrens-social-work-statistics-2019-20/pages/3/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/childrens-social-work-statistics-2019-20/pages/3/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3c34fe90e07357519a231/Care_Inspectorate_Wales.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1031926/Fostering_in_England_2020-21_underlying_data_-_FINAL__ODS_.ods
https://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/6445/Fostering%20and%20adoption%202020-21%20statistical%20bulletin.pdf
https://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/6445/Fostering%20and%20adoption%202020-21%20statistical%20bulletin.pdf
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After/childrens-services-children-looked-after-childrenlookedafterinfosterplacementsat31march-by-localauthority-placementtype
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After/childrens-services-children-looked-after-childrenlookedafterinfosterplacementsat31march-by-localauthority-placementtype


 

34 

sector has become increasingly involved in the provision of care over the 
years.  

2.23 There have been a number of explanations as to why the sector has evolved 
in the way it has. For example: 

• The ICHA told us that, in 1991, when the introduction of the Children’s 
Homes Regulations 1991 was being discussed in Parliament, the 
Secretary of State said ‘It is not part of our policy to see an explosion in 
the number of private children’s homes. We know that the trend is moving 
away from children’s homes of any kind towards fostering and adoption.’ 
The ICHA notes, however, that with the introduction of the 1991 
regulations, local authority homes began to close, ‘as compliance with the 
regulations required significant investment, and private provision began to 
increase.’12  

• Research carried out on behalf of the Local Government Association in 
2021 observes that the current scale of private provision compensates ‘for 
a decline in provision by local authorities and the voluntary sector who 
have both greatly reduced their residential care home provisions over the 
past 30 to 40 years (much of which has been repurposed as short break 
provision).’13  

• Children England highlighted ‘the almost complete withdrawal of charities 
from their formerly dominant role.’14 While it has been suggested that fear 
of reputational damage in light of historical abuse scandals has deterred 
the return of the voluntary sector at scale,15 Children England notes a 
range of reasons for the withdrawal of the voluntary sector from 
residential care.16  

2.24 In more recent times there have been shifts in the nature of provision. 
Looking at these by nation: 

 
 
12 ICHA response to the ITC.  
13 Newgate Research, LGA, Children's Homes Research Final Report, January 2021, page 3.  
14 Children England, Residential Child Care: the 21st Century Challenge – Correcting a history of market failure.  
15 Report of Sir Martin Narey’s independent review of children’s residential care, Residential Care in England, 
2016, page 18. 
16 Children England, Residential Child Care: the 21st Century Challenge – Correcting a history of market failure. 
Some of the factors it notes are: the growing belief that residential care was outmoded and not good for children; 
a steady loss of charitable fundraising throughout the 20th century; the embedding of the state’s responsibility to 
provide care for any child in need of it meant many charities felt it was no longer an appropriate continued 
‘charitable purpose’ to become a contracted supplier to the state for their services; challenges in adapting 
existing premises to more ‘family-like’, smaller homes; and the increasingly strenuous requirements of inspection 
and regulation and a ‘standardising’ effect on what a children’s home should be, do and look like, that were (and 
still can be) inflexible to some of the models and philosophies for care that had been developed within the 
voluntary sector.    

124

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3df98d3bf7f2886e2a05f/The_Independent_Childrens_Home_Association-response.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Childrens%20Homes%20Research%20-%20Newgate.pdf
https://www.childrenengland.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=b3b2c9b6-3cc9-40f6-b65f-1b81f1f57f38
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/534560/Residential-Care-in-England-Sir-Martin-Narey-July-2016.pdf
https://www.childrenengland.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=b3b2c9b6-3cc9-40f6-b65f-1b81f1f57f38


 

35 

• For England, Ofsted figures show that over the last five years, the private 
sector has increased its number of children’s homes by 26%, while the 
number of local authority homes has declined by 5%, and that the 
voluntary sector is very small and in decline.17  

• Care Inspectorate Scotland (CIS) data shows that in Scotland, the private 
sector’s share of children’s homes increased from 33% in 2014/15 to 45% 
in 2021, the voluntary sector’s share decreased marginally from 21% in 
2014/15 to 20% in 2021, and local authorities’ share reduced from 46% in 
2014/15 to 34% in 2021.18    

• The Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) provided data showing that in Wales, 
the private sector’s share of children’s homes increased very slightly from 
78% in 2014 to 81% in 2021, the voluntary sector’s share of homes 
increased from 4% in 2014 to 6% in 2021 and local authorities’ share of 
homes reduced from 18% to 13% over the same period.19  

2.25 The reasons for these trends are not fully clear and are likely to be the result 
of a variety of factors. For example, CIS said that ‘the reasons for changes in 
provision over the last decade are nuanced, with a combination of local and 
national factors, changing needs and interdependencies contributing to a 
landscape that is not homogenous.’20  

2.26 In relation to fostering, The Fostering Network, which operates across the 
UK, told us that it had seen a considerable rise in the number of independent 
foster providers in its membership over the years, reflecting the expansion of 
the independent fostering sector in that time.21  

2.27 Looking at recent trends by nation the picture appears relatively stable: 

• In England, since 2016 the total number of approved foster places has 
increased by 2%. There were 86,195 approved foster places at March 31 
2016 of which 63% were local authority places and 37% IFA places. At 
March 31 2021, there were 88,180 approved places, of which 60% were 
local authority places and 40% IFA places.22  

• In Scotland, where it is illegal for commercial for-profit firms to provide 
foster care, since 2016 the total number of approved foster care 

 
 
17 Ofsted response to the ITC.  
18 Care Inspectorate – A review of care services for children and young people 2014-17 and Care Inspectorate 
Datastore (as at 31 December 2021). 
19 CIW response to the ITC.  
20 CIS response to the ITC. 
21 The Fostering Network response to the ITC.  
22 Fostering in England 2020 to 2021: main findings. 

125

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3dbee8fa8f56a37d59d9a/Ofsted-response.pdf
https://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/4806/A%20review%20of%20care%20services%20for%20children%20and%20young%20people%202014-17.pdf
https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/publications-statistics/93-public/datastore
https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/publications-statistics/93-public/datastore
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3c34fe90e07357519a231/Care_Inspectorate_Wales.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3c3068fa8f56a37d59d86/Care_Inspectorate_Scotland-response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3de998fa8f56a402b7cc4/The_Fostering_Network.pdf


 

36 

households has decreased by 11%. There were 3,970 approved foster 
care households as at 31 December 2016 of which 70% were local 
authority foster care households and 30% were approved by independent 
fostering services. As at 31 December 2020, there were 3,540 approved 
foster care households, of which 69% were local authority foster care 
households and 31% were approved by independent fostering services.23  

• In Wales, since 2016 the total number of children looked after in foster 
placements has increased by 19%. There were 4,250 children looked 
after in foster placements as at 31 March 2016 of which 74% were with a 
relative or friend, or with a foster carer provide by a local authority and 
26% with a foster carer arranged through an agency. As at 31 March 
2020, there were 5,070 children looked after in foster placements with the 
same proportion with a foster carer arranged through an agency as in 
2016.24 

2.28 More broadly, we observe that there has been a move towards the provision 
of more kinship care – where children are cared for by wider family and 
friends - in Scotland and Wales.25 

2.29 It would therefore appear that the placements market as it operates today is 
not the result of deliberate policy choices by national governments on how 
children’s social care should be delivered, but rather a reaction by multiple 
local authorities, voluntary providers and private providers to a range of 
factors – including regulatory developments, financial constraints and 
reputational risk – that have played out over time. Children England noted 
that ‘there was not a decisive point in time, nor any clear policy intervention, 
by which a ‘competitive market’ for procuring childcare was 
introduced…Competitive procurement and contracting has simply evolved 
over time as the predominant mechanism used in meeting children’s care 
needs today.’26  

2.30 In the next section we describe significant policy developments in England, 
Scotland and Wales that have the potential to affect how the placements 
market evolves.    

 
 
23 Fostering and adoption 2019-20: A statistical bulletin. 
24 StatsWales Children looked after in foster placements at 31 March by local authority and placement type. 
25 See CIS response to the ITC and CIW response to the ITC (para 22).  
26 Children England, Residential Child Care: the 21st Century Challenge – Correcting a history of market failure. 

126

https://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/5945/Fostering%20and%20Adoption%202019-20%20Master%20(2).pdf
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After/childrens-services-children-looked-after-childrenlookedafterinfosterplacementsat31march-by-localauthority-placementtype
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3c3068fa8f56a37d59d86/Care_Inspectorate_Scotland-response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3c34fe90e07357519a231/Care_Inspectorate_Wales.pdf
https://www.childrenengland.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=b3b2c9b6-3cc9-40f6-b65f-1b81f1f57f38


 

37 

Policy context 

2.31 Local authority expenditure for looked after children in England in 2020-21 
was £5.7 billion.27 In Scotland, the annual cost in 2019-20 was around £680 
million.28 In Wales, the cost for children looked after services in 2020-21 was 
around £350 million.29  

2.32 All three governments are engaged in significant policy processes to 
consider wider issues relating to children's social care.  

• In England, the Independent review of children's social care published its 
case for change in June 2021. The Review will publish its final 
recommendations later this year.  

• In Scotland, the findings of The Promise – Independent care review are 
being taken forward by The Promise Scotland. In 2021 it published its 
Change Programme ONE and Plan 21-24. In August 2021 The Scottish 
Government launched a consultation on a National Care Service (NCS) in 
Scotland, following on from the Feeley review of adult social care. 
Amongst other questions, the Scottish Government sought views on 
whether the NCS should include both adults and children’s social work 
and care services.  

• In Wales, commitments around protecting, re-building and developing 
services for vulnerable people were made in the Programme for 
government 2021 to 2026. In October 2021, following consultation on its  
White Paper on Rebalancing care and support, the Deputy Minister for 
Social Services said in a Written Statement that she is committed to 
introduce a strategic National Framework for care and support which 
would set standards for commissioning practice, reduce complexity and 
rebalance commissioning to focus on quality and outcomes. A ‘National 
Office’ for social care will be established to oversee implementation.   

2.33 Both the Scottish Government and Welsh Government have expressed an 
intention to remove profit-making from the provision of care to looked-after 
children, as is already the case for fostering agencies in Scotland.  

 
 
27 LA and school expenditure, Financial Year 2020-21 – Explore education statistics. 
28 Net revenue expenditure on a funding basis for children and families 2019-20. Source: Scottish local 
government finance statistics (SLGFS) 2019-20: workbooks, 2019-20 LFR 03 – Social Work - revised 26 July 
2021. 
29 Total children looked after services 2020-21. Social services revenue outturn expenditure by client group 
(£thousand). 

127

https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/independent-review-of-childrens-social-care
https://childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/case-for-change/
https://www.carereview.scot/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/The-Promise.pdf
https://thepromise.scot/resources
https://www.gov.scot/publications/independent-review-adult-social-care-scotland/documents/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/national-care-service-scotland-consultation/documents/
https://gov.wales/programme-for-government-2021-to-2026-html
https://gov.wales/programme-for-government-2021-to-2026-html
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consutation-document.pdf
https://gov.wales/written-statement-rebalancing-care-and-support-white-paper-next-steps
https://thepromise.scot/plan-21-24/
https://gov.wales/programme-for-government-2021-to-2026-html
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/la-and-school-expenditure/2020-21
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-local-government-finance-statistics-slgfs-2019-20-workbooks/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-local-government-finance-statistics-slgfs-2019-20-workbooks/
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Revenue/Social-Services/social-services-socialservicesrevenueexpenditure-by-clientgroup
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Revenue/Social-Services/social-services-socialservicesrevenueexpenditure-by-clientgroup


 

38 

Regulatory environment 

2.34 Children's social care provision is highly regulated and each nation has its 
own statutory framework, regulations and guidance applicable to the sector. 
Where relevant, we draw out key differences in this report.  

2.35 Broadly, as well as statutory duties placed on local authorities with regard to 
children in their care (as discussed above) the regulatory frameworks in 
each nation aim to protect and promote the welfare of children and young 
people. They do this through registration requirements, setting standards 
and inspection regimes which are intended to ensure children are safe and 
receive appropriate levels of care.  

2.36 England, Scotland and Wales have their own regulators – Ofsted,30 CIS31 
and CIW32, respectively. The regulators register and inspect children's social 
care establishments. We discuss the regulatory framework in more detail in 
Section 5 and in Appendix B.   

Unregulated and unregistered accommodation 

2.37 In England, an establishment is a children's home if it provides care and 
accommodation wholly or mainly for children.33 Unregulated accommodation 
is where accommodation is provided, but not care. Independent living (with 
or without support) and semi-independent living, fall into this category of 
accommodation. Unregulated accommodation should not be confused with 
unregistered accommodation which is where care is provided, but the 
provider is not registered - this is illegal. Placing children under the age of 16 
in unregulated accommodation in England became illegal from 9 September 
2021.34 In Wales, some accommodation is not regulated or inspected by the 
CIW.35 Unregulated accommodation for children is not permitted in Scotland. 

 
 
30 Ofsted is responsible, under the Care Standards Act 2000, for regulating establishments and agencies that 
provide children’s social care services.  
31 The Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 created the Social Care and Social Work Improvement 
Scotland (SCSWIS), known as The Care Inspectorate Scotland. 
32 Children’s home services and fostering services are included in the list of regulated services which are 
regulated by CIW under the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016.  
33 Care Standards Act 2000, section 1.  
34 By virtue of The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2021.  
35 The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, section 81(6)(d). Note paragraph 180 of the Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014: Part 6 Code of Practice (Looked After and Accommodated Children). 
which states that “placement in other types of arrangement (provided for in section 81(6)(d) of the Act) will usually 
only be appropriate for looked-after children who are over the age of 16.” 

128

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/14/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2010/8/contents#:%7E:text=Public%20Services%20Reform%20%28Scotland%29%20Act%202010%201%20Transfer,to%20certain%20bodies%20of%20functions%20of%20Waterwatch%20Scotland
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2016/2/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/14/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2021/161/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/part-6-code-of-practice-looked-after-and-accommodated-children.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/part-6-code-of-practice-looked-after-and-accommodated-children.pdf


 

39 

Market oversight 

2.38 Unlike for adult social care, in England there is no statutory market oversight 
scheme for the children's social care sector. In Wales there are statutory 
market oversight provisions which would cover both adult and children’s 
social care,36 but these have not yet been commenced. However, the Welsh 
Government has set out an intention to develop a non-statutory market 
oversight framework. There is no formal market oversight regime in 
Scotland. However, in its consultation on a National Care Service the 
Scottish Government has sought views on the necessity of a market 
oversight function for the regulator (CIS), its scope and the potential form of 
any additional powers the regulator should have to ensure this function is 
effective. Appendix B provides more information on market oversight.  

 
 
36 Under the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016 (sections 59-63). These are a series of 
provisions aimed at identifying those providers of regulated services that provide a service which, if it were to fail, 
would have an impact on the care and support market in Wales and would be the trigger point for the local 
authority duties to be exercised under sections 189 to 191 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 
2014.   

129

https://www.gov.scot/publications/national-care-service-scotland-consultation/documents/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2016/2/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents


 

40 

3. Outcomes from the placements market 

Outcomes we would expect from a well-functioning placements 
market  

3.1 A large number of children depend on getting good outcomes from the 
children’s social care system to ensure that they are safe, well looked-after 
and able to flourish. The placements market cannot deliver these outcomes 
on its own – there are many other important factors, including the 
effectiveness of edge-of-care services and the range of child protection 
issues – but its role within the wider system means it makes a significant 
contribution. Where the market functions poorly, it will undermine the ability 
of the wider system to deliver the outcomes children need.  

3.2 We have identified four key outcomes that a well-functioning market for 
placements would support:  

• first, the supply of placements must be sufficient so that places are 
available for children that need them, as they need them. These 
placements must be appropriate to the needs of the child and in the 
appropriate location;  

• second, placements must be of sufficiently high quality, meeting the 
expectations of regulators;  

• third, placements must be available at a reasonable price, taking into 
account the costs involved, while ensuring the quality of the placements; 
and 

• fourth, the market should have sufficient resilience that it engenders 
confidence that the three outcomes above will continue to be met into the 
future.  

3.3 Taken together, the market is not supporting these desired outcomes as well 
as it should. In this chapter, we set out the evidence underlying this 
conclusion. 

Supply of appropriate places  

3.4 Overall, there are more approved places than children deemed to be in need 
of placements. For example, in England at 31 March 2021 there were 
88,180 approved fostering places and only 63% were filled (excluding those 

130



 

41 

where data was not available).37 Similarly, the 700 children’s homes owned 
by the larger providers from which we collected data had an average 
occupancy rate of 83%. However, the fact that the number of approved 
places is higher than the number of children requiring placements, does not 
mean that there are sufficient appropriate placements for the children who 
need them.  

3.5 First, the overall number of approved places is an overstatement of the 
number of places that are available at any one time. In March 2021 in 
England, 20% of approved fostering places were ‘not available’ (excluding 
those where data was not available).38 Approved foster places may not be 
available for a wide number of reasons including where foster carers are 
taking a break or are not able to take their maximum approved number of 
children, for example where this maximum is dependent on the children 
being siblings. Similarly, approved places in children’s homes are sometimes 
not available, for example, where a current resident’s needs mean it is not 
appropriate to place other children alongside them. The extent to which this 
is the case will fluctuate over time, and there is no consolidated data on the 
aggregate position. 

3.6 Second, when a local authority considers those placements that are actually 
available, they may be unable to find a placement that is appropriate to the 
particular needs of the child they are seeking to place. While comprehensive 
data about the appropriateness of placement matches for particular 
children’s needs is not available, we have seen evidence indicating that a 
significant number of children are not gaining access to appropriate 
placements due to a lack of supply. This may be because of a number of 
factors, including:  

(a) Type of placement: local authorities have consistently told us that they 
may assess that one type of placement would be most appropriate for a 
child, but have to place them in a different type of placement due to lack 
of availability of the preferred option. For instance, this can result in 
children for whom foster care would be most appropriate being placed in a 
children’s home. As well as being a poor outcome for the child, this is 
more expensive for the local authority and reduces available capacity in 
homes.  

(b) Location: as of March 2021, in England 37% of children in residential 
placements39 and 17% of children in fostering placements were over 20 

 
 
37 Fostering in England 2020 to 2021: main findings.  
38 Fostering in England 2020 to 2021: main findings.  
39 Secure units, children’s homes and semi-independent living accommodation. 

131

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021/fostering-in-england-2020-to-2021-main-findings
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021/fostering-in-england-2020-to-2021-main-findings


 

42 

miles away from where the child would call home (excluding those where 
distance is not known).40 As at March 2018, in England more than 2,000 
looked-after children were over a hundred miles from home.41 For Wales, 
as at March 2021, 31% of children looked after were outside the boundary 
of their home local authority.42 While there can be legitimate reasons why 
it would be in a child’s best interests to be placed out of area (eg to 
separate them from negative influences), we have been told that it is often 
a lack of suitable places available within a reasonable distance that is 
driving the out-of-area placement of children. There are currently no 
consolidated figures that would allow us to understand the extent to which 
these are forced choices. Children moved away from their home area may 
suffer loneliness and isolation at being separated from their support 
networks, have their schooling disrupted, and experience difficulty in 
accessing social services. Stakeholders report particular concerns about 
children being placed across national borders, especially placements from 
England into Scotland where children may be very far from home and in a 
different legal and educational system. 

(c) Siblings: local authorities also report difficulties in placing sibling groups 
together, particularly larger groups. Ofsted figures show that for fostering 
in England in 2019-20, 1400 siblings were not placed according to their 
care plan.43 This represented 13% of all siblings in care. In Scotland, at 
31 December 2020, there were 200 sibling groups separated upon 
placement in foster care, just under one in four of all sibling groups in 
foster care (though these figures do not distinguish those cases where 
separating siblings was a deliberate part of their care plans).44  

(d) Type of care needs: we also heard very consistently from local authorities 
in England, Scotland and Wales that it is especially difficult to find 
placements for children with more complex needs and for older children. 
Given the particularity of the needs involved, it is very difficult to quantify 
the extent to which this is happening in aggregate. However, high levels 
of placement breakdown may be due, in part, to difficulties with finding 
placements that are appropriate to the needs of individual children; for 
example, in England, one in eleven children looked after at 31 March 

 
 
40 National – Children looked after at 31 March by placement provider, placement type and locality. 
41 Pass the parcel: Children posted around the care system, Children’s Commissioner report, published 
December 2019. 
42 StatsWales Children looked after at 31 March by local authority and location of placement. 
43 Capacity and occupancy 2014 to 2020 [1430/10975] 
44 Fostering and adoption 2019-20: A statistical bulletin. We note, however, that the Scottish government has 
brought into force legislation to create a new duty on local authorities to keep siblings in care together, where 
appropriate. Part 13 of the Children (Scotland) Act 2020 and the Looked After Children (Scotland) Amendment 
Regulations 2021 mean local authorities have a duty to ensure siblings are supported to stay together, where 
appropriate. See also: Keeping brothers and sisters together. 

132

https://content.explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/api/releases/5238e742-af53-4e49-bde2-2e614bc4f21c/files/096a3667-bd07-4d18-9fc8-08d8985dcad5
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/cco-pass-the-parcel-children-posted-around-the-care-system.pdf%5d
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After/childrenlookedafterat31march-by-localauthority-locationofplacement
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/934694/Capacity_and_Occupancy_2014-20.csv/preview
https://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/5945/Fostering%20and%20Adoption%202019-20%20Master%20(2).pdf
https://www.gov.scot/news/keeping-brothers-and-sisters-together/


 

43 

2021 had had three or more placements in the preceding year.45 In 
Wales, 7% of children looked after at 31 March 2021 had 3 or more 
placements during the preceding year.46 

3.7 One particularly concerning indicator of a lack of supply of appropriate 
placements is the extent to which children in England and Wales appear to 
have been placed in unregulated accommodation, not as a positive choice 
but due to the lack of availability of a suitable regulated placement.47 For 
example, between April 2018 and March 2019 there were 660 looked-after 
children under the age of 16 placed in unregulated accommodation.48 In 
response to these concerns in England, a ban on placing under-16s in 
unregulated accommodation came into force on 9 September 2021. The 
Government will also be introducing mandatory national standards for this 
type of accommodation in England, meaning that it will no longer be 
“unregulated”.49 

3.8 Although this should improve the situation by ensuring that one important 
category of children who were being inappropriately placed in unregulated 
accommodation50 are no longer placed there (under-16s), it will not in itself 
address the supply constraints in the regulated sector that drove local 
authorities to place them there to begin with and may indeed make them 
worse. In England and Wales, we may therefore continue to see children 
over 16 whose needs would be better met in children’s homes or foster care 
being placed in independent or semi-independent living facilities, due to 
more suitable placements being unavailable. 

3.9 Perhaps most concerningly, some children are being placed in unregistered 
provision. This is where children are being placed in accommodation where 
they are receiving care, but that accommodation is not registered as a 
children’s home, nor is it exempt from the requirement to be so registered. 
This is illegal, but according to a report carried out on behalf of the 
Department for Education, “[t]he LAs that reported using unregistered 

 
 
45 Children looked after in England including adoptions, Table: LA - Children looked after at 31 March with three 
or more placements during the year, or aged under 16 at 31 March who had been looked after continuously for at 
least 2.5 years and who were living in the same placement for at least 2 years. 
46 StatsWales Children looked after by local authority and number of placements during year. 
47 Reforms to unregulated provision for children in care and care leavers: Government consultation response 
February 2021. 
48 As these placements are typically for a short period, at any one time the number of under-16s in unregulated 
accommodation will be considerably less, for example there were about 100 at 31 March 2019. Source: Looked 
after children aged under 16 in unregulated placements. 
49 Introducing national standards for independent and semi-independent provision for looked-after children and 
care leavers aged 16 and 17. 
50 See section 2, paragraph 2.37. 

133

https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoptions
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After/children-looked-after-childrenlookedafterat31march-by-localauthority-numberofplacementsduringyear-measure
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/962686/Unregulated_government_response_Final.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960067/Looked_after_children_aged_under_16_in_unregulated_placements.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960067/Looked_after_children_aged_under_16_in_unregulated_placements.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1041166/unregulated_national_standards_consultation_response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1041166/unregulated_national_standards_consultation_response.pdf


 

44 

provision all said that they had done so as a last resort, when no other 
suitable provision can be found".51 

3.10 Taken together, this evidence suggests that the market is providing 
insufficient places to ensure that local authorities can consistently get access 
to placements for children that meet their needs, in the right locations. This 
conclusion is supported by the fact that local authorities, particularly those in 
England, told us that when they are seeking to place children they often 
have little or no choice of placement, for example finding at most one 
available placement that fits their basic criteria, which indicates that more 
finely-grained assessments of quality, fit, cost and location are less likely to 
determine placement decisions.  

3.11 It is important to note that, while this pattern reflects what we are seeing 
overall, there are important variations, both geographically and between 
groups of looked-after children with different characteristics and needs.  

3.12 In England, concerns about lack of appropriate supply are pervasive among 
those with experience of the system. For example, Ofsted told us that it does 
not believe local authorities are able to meet their sufficiency duties as 
indicated by, among other things: the use of unregistered provision, the 
number of children waiting for secure places, and the lack of appropriate 
provision for children with complex needs.  

3.13 Some regions have far more places than others. For example, the North 
West of England has 23% of all places in children’s homes and 17% of 
looked-after children, while London has just 6% of places in children’s 
homes and 11% of looked-after children.52 However, local authorities told us 
that this does not necessarily translate into sufficient availability of 
appropriate places for children in areas of “oversupply”, such as the North 
West, due to children from outside the area being placed there. Also, 
analysis carried out by Ofsted in 2018 found that there was wide regional 
variation in how far children’s homes were located from where children 
originally lived. Children placed from local authorities in the South West and 
London had to travel 54 and 60 miles respectively, compared to an average 
of 36 miles for England as a whole and 21 miles for children from the North 
West.53 

3.14 In Wales, the situation appears to be similar. Stakeholders in Wales report 
sufficiency problems particularly in fostering and to meet more complex 

 
 
51 Research report template (publishing.service.gov.uk). 
52 Main findings: children’s social care in England 2021 and Children looked after in England including adoptions, 
table: CLA on 31 March by characteristics - LA. 
53 Children’s Social Care in England 2019. 

134

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/865184/Use_of_unregulated_and_unregistered_provision_for_children_in_care.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/childrens-social-care-data-in-england-2021/main-findings-childrens-social-care-in-england-2021
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoptions/2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/childrens-social-care-data-in-england-2019/childrens-social-care-in-england-2019


 

45 

needs. CIW told us that “most local authorities are struggling to meet their 
sufficiency duties and find suitable placements to meet the needs of children 
and young people. This adversely affects placement choice, permanency 
and stability and consequently outcomes for children.”54 A lack of available 
fostering places has led local authorities to seek other residential care 
instead, even if this is not as conducive to meeting the child’s needs. For 
residential care, stakeholders told us that although there was not a problem 
with overall capacity, there were problems with the location of the 
placements and insufficient provision to meet the most complex levels of 
need. As at 31 March 2020, Welsh local authorities had over 1400 children 
placed in other local authority areas in Wales and over 200 children outside 
of Wales.55 Unregulated accommodation has also been used when local 
authorities could not find regulated provision with timescales put in place to 
get the service registered.  

3.15 In Scotland, by contrast, stakeholders expressed more limited concerns 
about the supply of placements. As in parts of England and Wales, however, 
we were told that there were difficulties finding appropriate placements for 
some children. We were told there is a general shortage of foster carers and 
particularly so for children with more complex needs, such as complex 
disabilities or older children with risk factors, and for family groups. Fewer 
concerns were raised around the overall capacity of residential care, but 
shortages were reported for residential care for children with disabilities and 
for children with mental health issues. As noted above, concerns were raised 
about children being sent across the border to Scotland because of a lack of 
suitable placements in England. 

3.16 Moving to variations within the cohort of looked-after children, we received 
widespread feedback from local authorities that certain factors made it 
harder for them to find appropriate placements for children from the supply 
available in the placements market. These included:  

(a) Care needs: children with more complex needs are harder to place.  

(b) Age: for a given level of care need, older children are typically harder to 
place. This factor also plays into the difficulty of placing unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking children.  

(c) Siblings: as noted above, local authorities can have difficulties placing 
sibling groups together.  

 
 
54 CIW response to the ITC. 
55 Children looked after in foster care at 31 March by local authority and location of placement. 

135

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3c34fe90e07357519a231/Care_Inspectorate_Wales.pdf
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After/childrenlookedafterinfostercareat31march-by-localauthority-locationofplacement


 

46 

3.17 Capacity is being added to the system. For England, during 2019-21, there 
was a net increase of 501 new children’s homes, representing an increase of 
1,485 places. The vast majority of these were opened by the private sector: 
490 homes and a net gain of 1,537 places.56 The number of homes provided 
by English local authorities collectively increased by only 15, and actually 
resulted in a net reduction of 59 in the number of places they offered.57  

3.18 This additional children’s home capacity has risen more as a proportion over 
this period than the total number of children in care. It is unclear, however, to 
what extent this is well-targeted at the particular needs of the cohort. Data 
on location suggests that capacity is being disproportionately added in areas 
that are already “oversupplied”: 30% of new placements were added in the 
North West but only 4% in London and 4% in the South East.58 

3.19 In fostering, England has seen a slow increase in the number of places, with 
a 9% increase from March 2015 to March 2020; this compares with an 11% 
increase in the number of children in foster care over that period. In the year 
ending 31 March 2021, the number of newly approved households was 
higher than the number of deregistered households (5,355 newly approved 
and 4,870 deregistered). IFAs saw a net increase of 960 carers, compared 
to 45 for local authorities.59  

3.20 Taken together, there is compelling evidence that the placements market is 
failing to provide sufficient supply of the right kind to ensure that local 
authorities can consistently place children in appropriate placements to meet 
their needs, particularly in England and Wales. Within this picture, there are 
particular shortages of supply in relation to particular geographic regions and 
types of need.  

Quality of provision 

3.21 The quality of accommodation and care that children receive is of paramount 
importance to their life experiences. However, as with other social services, 
pressures to reduce costs can adversely affect quality. As a result of this, 
and the serious consequences of poor care provision for children, regulation 
is rightly used to ensure that required standards are being met. This is the 

 
 
56 Between 2019-2021 in England, there were 842 new children’s homes opened with 3,000 places and 341 
homes were closed with 1,515 places. CMA calculations. Source: Leavers and joiners as at 31 March 2019, 
Joiners and leavers in the childcare sector. 
57 Between 2019-2021 in England, local authorities opened 80 new children’s homes with 287 places and closed 
65 homes that had 346 places. CMA calculations. Source: Leavers and joiners as at 31 March 2019, Joiners and 
leavers in the childcare sector. 
58 CMA calculations. Source: Leavers and joiners as at 31 March 2019, Joiners and leavers in the childcare 
sector. 
59 All figures in this paragraph from Fostering in England 2020 to 2021: main findings. 

136

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/919176/Leavers_and_joiners_at_31_March_2019.csv/preview
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joiners-and-leavers-in-the-childcare-sector
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/919176/Leavers_and_joiners_at_31_March_2019.csv/preview
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joiners-and-leavers-in-the-childcare-sector
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joiners-and-leavers-in-the-childcare-sector
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/919176/Leavers_and_joiners_at_31_March_2019.csv/preview
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joiners-and-leavers-in-the-childcare-sector
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joiners-and-leavers-in-the-childcare-sector
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021/fostering-in-england-2020-to-2021-main-findings


 

47 

most important role that regulation plays and we recognise that others 
conducting work on children’s social care, including the Independent Care 
Review in England, The Promise implementation team in Scotland and 
officials serving the Welsh Government, are better placed than us to 
comment in detail on the approaches to considering quality and the 
standards set by regulators and legislation. 

3.22 Assessing the quality of care is difficult for reasons including: the range of 
different needs that placements aim to meet; the large number and small 
scale of residential and foster homes; that children may be vulnerable and 
not able to clearly articulate their views; and the long-term nature of desired 
outcomes. This is part of the challenge for regulators in this sector and we 
have heard concerns about consistency and occasions where stakeholders 
do not consider that ratings accurately reflect quality. 

3.23 Despite these challenges, inspection outcomes are generally seen as an 
important measure of quality and used by local authorities when deciding 
where to place children. Findings by the regulators suggest that the quality 
of care in most cases is high. In England at 31 March 2021, just over 80% of 
children’s homes and 93% of fostering agencies were rated as good or 
outstanding.60 In Scotland, in December 2021 CIS reported that “overall, the 
quality of fostering services was high”61 and it “evaluates most care homes 
for children and young people in Scotland as being good or very good.”62 In 
Wales the CIW, in a 2019 thematic review of care homes for children, found 
“most children were receiving good quality care and support”.63 However, 
this still means that regulators consistently find that some provision does not 
meet the required quality standards and this shortcoming, of course, must be 
addressed. 

3.24 Stakeholders consistently told us that there is a significant impact on 
independent providers of receiving lower ratings. At the extreme, regulators 
will close children’s homes that do not meet the minimum required 
standards. Further, providers explained there were multiple other potential 
impacts on their business of having poor ratings (including “requires 
improvement to be good” ratings in England, which is above the minimum 
standard). One provider told us that “local authorities regularly take the 
position that they will not refer/place young persons into a service rated 
Inadequate or Requires Improvement” and “a number of local authority 

 
 
60 Of those with a full inspection outcome. Source: Main findings: children's social care in England 2021. 
61 At 31 March 2021, 85% of fostering services had evaluations of ‘good’ or better across all quality themes” 
Source: Fostering and Adoption 2020-21: A statistical bulletin. 
62 In 2021, 75.5% of local authority children’s homes, 81.5% of private children’s homes and 88.3% of voluntary 
or not for profit children’s homes were graded good or better. Source: CIS response to the ITC. 
63 Chief Inspector's Annual Report 2019-2020, CIW. 

137

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/childrens-social-care-data-in-england-2021/main-findings-childrens-social-care-in-england-2021
https://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/6445/Fostering%20and%20adoption%202020-21%20statistical%20bulletin.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3c3068fa8f56a37d59d86/Care_Inspectorate_Scotland-response.pdf
https://careinspectorate.wales/sites/default/files/2020-11/201119-chief-inspectors-annual-report-2019-20-en.pdf


 

48 

frameworks will also not allow services to be included” if they have received 
one of these ratings. Another provider highlighted the impact on their ability 
to recruit foster carers, because local authorities would generally use 
agencies rated Good or Outstanding instead, and staff, stating that “some 
social workers did not want to be associated with a [requires improvement] 
rating.” Providers consistently told us that they proactively seek to maintain 
high quality standards and would always work to improve poor ratings. 

3.25 Local authorities placing children rely on a wider range of quality measures 
than inspection ratings, which include: visits to homes by social workers and 
independent visitors, such as the monthly visits by an independent person in 
England64 and by independent advocacy groups; and experience of past 
outcomes for other children. The nature of these measures means that we 
are not able to consider these systematically.  

3.26 The situation is different for unregulated accommodation, which is not 
currently subject to formal inspection by Ofsted. Individual local authorities 
make their own assessments of whether unregulated accommodation is 
appropriate for the young person they are placing there, and we have heard 
concerns around high levels of variability in quality, with some instances of 
very poor quality. Without an external judgement of quality, it will be more 
difficult for local authorities’ activities in the placement market to encourage 
providers to improve quality. The Department for Education has announced 
that it will introduce national minimum standards for unregulated settings in 
England; while the detail on how these will be implemented is yet to be 
confirmed, this could improve the ability of local authorities to drive up quality 
of unregulated placements via the placements market.65 

3.27 Our view is that the inspection regimes in place for children’s homes and 
fostering agencies, along with their own observations, provide local 
authorities with an evidence base on which to make judgements on the 
quality of care provided. These judgements exert a strong influence on their 
placement purchasing decisions, meaning that there are incentives on 
suppliers to rapidly improve provision or exit the market. While we are aware 
of arguments that the standards required by regulators ought to be higher, or 
inspections ought to be more frequent, we consider that these detailed 
questions are best considered by policymakers, regulators and their 
independent advisers.  

 
 
64 The Children's Homes (England) Regulations 2015, Regulation 44. 
65 DfE announced in December 2021 that Ofsted will begin registering providers from April 2023, with the 
national standards becoming mandatory in Autumn 2023. Ofsted will begin inspections from April 2024.  

138

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/541/regulation/44/made


 

49 

3.28 The operation of the placements market must support local authorities in 
assessing the quality of matches between individual placements and the 
particular children they are seeking to place. As set out in the section above, 
this role is seriously undermined by the overall lack of appropriate places, 
which limits the ability of local authorities to take matching factors into 
account. Beyond this, we must ensure that the local authorities are provided 
with sufficient accurate information about the placement, including the 
availability of therapies, facilities etc, as well as providers being provided 
with accurate information about children, which would support matching 
decisions. 

Prices and profits 

3.29 In order to understand pricing and profit levels, we analysed data from the 
15 largest private providers of children’s social care across all three nations 
covering the period since financial year (FY) 2016. These 15 providers are 
collectively responsible for around a fifth of placements in children’s homes 
and slightly over half of fostering placements.  

3.30 Splitting our data by type of placement provided across the 15 providers, we 
found that: 

• For children’s homes, prices increased steadily across the period, from an 
average weekly price of £2,977 in 2016 to £3,830 in 2020, an average 
annual increase of 5.2%, compared to average annual price inflation of 
1.7% over that period. 

• For fostering placements, prices remained broadly the same over the 
same period, at an average of £820 per week, representing a real-terms 
reduction over the period. 

• For unregulated provision the underlying trend is affected by some of the 
large providers in our sample entering this segment around 2018, but 
since that point the average price has also remained broadly unchanged 
at £948 per week. 

3.31 Changes in prices alone, however, do not in themselves provide an 
indication of how well or poorly the market is functioning. Price changes can 
also be due to changes in costs and many providers pointed to cost drivers 
such as rising National Minimum and Living Wage rates, as well as 
increasing average levels of need among children entering care. It is 
therefore important to consider whether cost factors can account for any 
observed increase in prices. 

139



 

50 

3.32 In order to account for cost factors for private providers, we have considered 
the operating profit for our set of the 15 largest providers, over the same 
period. Operating profit indicates a provider’s profitability after deducting its 
operating (day-to-day running) costs. We obtained operating profitability by 
subtracting total operating costs from total revenue.66 From this we have 
calculated the average operating profit per placement and the operating 
profit margin (operating profit as a percentage of revenue). 

3.33 Applying this to the three broad categories of placement (ie children’s 
homes, fostering agencies and unregulated accommodation), we have found 
that, within our dataset of the 15 largest providers: 

• For children’s homes, average operating costs have increased over the 5 
year period from 2016 to 2020 in line with increasing prices, resulting in 
operating profit margins remaining broadly flat, at an average of 22.6%. 
Average operating profit has increased over the period from £702 to £910 
per placement per week. 

• For fostering agencies, operating costs have remained flat over the 5 year 
period, as have prices, resulting in a steady operating profit margin at an 
average of 19.4%. Average operating profits have also remained broadly 
flat over the period at £159 per placement per week. 

• For unregulated accommodation, prices remained broadly flat in the 
period from 2018, but operating costs increased resulting in an operating 
profit margin that decreased from 39.9% to 35.5%. Average operating 
profit per placement per week decreased from £381 in 2018 to £330 in 
2020. 

3.34 In addition to operating costs, however, we must also consider the cost of 
capital for the business. The cost of capital represents the return that equity 
and debt investors require to invest in a business.67 Deducting the cost of 
capital from operating profits provides us with a figure for economic profit. 
Economic profitability indicates a provider’s profitability after meeting its 
operating costs, its capital expenditure and providing a return to its investors. 
Significant and persistent economic profit is often an indication that a market 
may not be working well. 

3.35 Unlike the figures for prices/revenues and operating costs, which can be 
calculated directly from a firm’s accounts, to determine economic profit a 

 
 
66 Operating (day-to-day running) costs such as staff, maintenance of assets, supplies, utilities, and head office 
costs. Operating costs exclude capital expenditure to purchase new assets. 
67 We have included the property related costs within the cost of capital. See Appendix A for the detailed 
explanation. 

140



 

51 

firm’s cost of capital needs to be estimated. The cost of capital will differ 
between and within different sectors depending on factors such as risk and 
rates of return available elsewhere. 

3.36 We have made estimates of the return on capital employed (without 
deducting a cost of capital) for the 13 large providers operating in residential 
accommodation (children’s homes and unregulated accommodation), as an 
indicator of the level of profitability of these providers: 

• 11.1% for children’s homes for the period from 2016 to 2020; and 

• 16.2% for unregulated accommodation for the period from 2018 to 2020. 

3.37 For our analysis to find that economic profits were not being made in this 
sector, we would need to believe that the true weighted average cost of 
capital was at approximately this level. In our view, the appropriate weighted 
average cost of capital for this sector is likely to be in the range of [3-6%], as 
described more fully in Appendix A, based on our assessment of an 
appropriate cost of equity and of debt for the sector. We also compared our 
estimate with previous calculations made by the CMA in similar sectors. 

3.38 Some large providers proposed that we should use a higher rate of return 
(eg that 7-9% would be commensurate with the higher risks in the CSC 
sector). We disagree with these proposals for the reasons set out in 
Appendix A but, in any case, our findings on the level of profitability earned 
in this sector would still hold using this higher rate of return.  

3.39 As operating a fostering agency is an asset-light business, approaches that 
look at return on capital employed in this way can produce more volatile 
results. We have therefore used an equivalent approach by estimating the 
additional economic profit earned by these businesses. Using this approach, 
we analysed economic profitability margins by determining providers’ returns 
after meeting their operating costs, CAPEX and investor returns. On this 
measure, the average economic profit margin in this group was 18.6%.   

3.40 In our interim report, we said that we would seek to understand the financial 
performance of a wider range of the smaller providers. Taking the approach 
that we took to the 15 largest firms – using our formal powers to obtain 
detailed financial breakdowns from them in our specified format – would 
have placed a disproportionate burden on smaller providers. We therefore 
sought to use a dataset from Companies House containing audited financial 
information for 219 large and medium-sized providers and abbreviated data 
for 627 small companies for 5 years. 

141



 

52 

3.41 Unfortunately, the level of insight we were able to gain from this information 
was poor. A major obstacle was a lack of clarity about whether revenue and 
costs were attributable to activities within our scope (ie the provision of 
children’s homes, fostering services and unregulated accommodation) or 
other activities carried out by the companies in question. The proportion of 
providers for which we were able to be confident on this allocation was very 
small, and we cannot assume that this group was representative. We are 
therefore unable to take a view on the profitability of firms below the largest 
15. 

3.42 This limitation does not, however, alter our conclusion that, for the largest 
firms, which represent a substantial proportion of independent provision, 
prices and profits are materially higher than we would expect. Nor does it 
affect our recommendations to address high prices and profits, which we set 
out later in the report. Regardless of whether these elevated profit levels are 
in evidence in the rest of the market, we would still expect the fact that high 
profit levels can be earned by some providers to incentivise those profitable 
providers to expand, and new providers to enter the market, thereby 
increasing supply and driving down prices and profits. The fact that this does 
not appear to be happening to the extent required is a concern that needs to 
be addressed. 

3.43 We considered the profitability of children’s homes and fostering in each of 
England, Scotland and Wales. We found that the profitability of the children’s 
homes in Scotland of the providers in our home level dataset was markedly 
less than the average across all three nations; from FY 2016 to 2020, the 
average operating profit per child was £28,000 in Scotland compared to an 
average of £44,000 across all three nations.68 This is in line with 
stakeholders expressing more limited concerns about the supply of 
placements in Scotland as discussed in paragraph 3.14. We also found that 
for the fostering services in Scotland of the providers in our agency level 
dataset the surplus of revenues over costs was similar to the average across 
all three nations; from FY 2016 to 2020, the average operating surplus per 
child was £9,100 in Scotland, compared to an average of £8,600 across all 
three nations.69 This is despite these services being run on a not-for-profit 
basis.  

 
 
68 From FY 2016 to 2020, the average operating profit per child was £45,000 in England and £59,000 in Wales. 
The figures for Scotland and Wales should be treated with caution given the relatively small non-random sample; 
the sample includes 646 children’s homes in England, 60 in Scotland and 41 in Wales. 
69 From FY 2016 to 2020, the average operating profit per child was £8,100 in England and £8,700 in Wales. The 
figures for Scotland and Wales should be treated with caution given the relatively small non-random sample; the 
sample includes 57 agencies in England, 8 in Scotland and 6 in Wales. 

142



 

53 

3.44 Comparing types of provision, we found that for children’s homes, local 
authorities’ operating costs were in aggregate approximately the same per 
child as the fees paid to large providers. However, the fees local authorities 
pay are higher than the operating costs from the private children’s homes 
providers in our dataset, as they also cover capital costs and profit. Based 
on our sample of 29 local authorities from across England, Scotland and 
Wales, we found local authority operating costs have been approximately 
30% higher, on average between 2016 and 2020, than the equivalent for the 
15 large private providers whose accounts we have examined. It therefore 
appears that the amount paid for a place in the private sector, even allowing 
for profits, is not higher than that paid by a local authority to provide an in-
house place. Our analysis of our dataset indicated that the primary driver of 
these cost differentials was in higher staffing ratios and costs in local 
authority provision.  

3.45 The situation in fostering appears quite different. We found that local 
authorities’ operating costs per child were approximately half the level of 
fees paid to large providers. Local authority operating costs have been 
approximately 26% lower, on average, between 2016 and 2020 than the 
equivalent for the large private providers. Comparing prices from the IFAs in 
our dataset, which include the element of profit, we find a difference of 40% 
between the total cost of an IFA placement compared to an in-house 
placement for a local authority. Therefore, it appears that even disregarding 
the element of profit, the amount paid by local authorities for a fostering 
placement from an independent provider is higher than the cost of providing 
their own in-house placement. Our analysis of the cost data suggests that 
the leading factor is higher allowances paid to foster carers; IFAs also 
reported higher overheads than local authorities. 

3.46 However, as emphasised by both providers and local authorities, there are 
many difficulties in making like-for-like comparisons in the cost of providing 
both children’s homes and foster care, including: 

• The different roles played (which are discussed above) mean one would 
expect private providers to have some higher cost elements than in-house 
provision. Meeting more complex needs is likely to involve higher costs, 
for example in terms of greater or more specialised staffing in children’s 
homes or more expensive support of foster carers. Further, as local 
authorities often prioritise filling their own provision, they are less exposed 
to the risk of under-utilisation of capacity (particularly in relation to 
children’s homes) and so are likely to face lower costs per child. 

• How costs are accounted for differs between in-house and independent 
placements. While the prices charged by independent providers will 

143



 

54 

include a share of all costs, the reported ‘cost’ of internal provision may 
not fully include all overheads. While this may be the right basis for local 
authorities to use to compare costs for the purpose of making an 
individual placement, as these costs are not directly affected by that 
placement, it does not reflect the overall costs of the different types of 
provider. Independent providers also report that they often pay for 
additional services, such as mental health support, rather than relying on 
public provision. 

3.47 Previous comparisons have found different gaps between the cost of care to 
local authorities of in-house and independent provision. The Personal Social 
Services Research Unit (PSSRU) found local authorities spent 
approximately 17% more per child per week on in-house children’s homes 
than on independent sector homes, whereas we found it was roughly the 
same.70 These figures are based on PSSRU’s analysis of total local 
authority expenditure on children’s homes, including some types of care that 
are out of scope of our study, such as secure units and residential schools. 
A 2018 review of foster care in England found in-house fostering cost local 
authorities around 40% less than independent provision, which is in line with 
our findings.71 

3.48 We have also considered whether private equity providers’ price and profit 
levels differ from those of private providers that are not owned by private 
equity firms. We found that, among the large providers in our dataset, in 
children’s homes, average prices were 3.9% higher for providers that were 
PE owned than for non-PE owned providers, whereas in fostering they were 
5.2% lower. These variations are small compared to the overall range in 
prices for individual children’s home and fostering placements and do not 
take account of any differences in the average level of acuity in children 
placed. We therefore do not see these as strong evidence for any systematic 
difference in pricing levels between non-PE and PE-owned private providers.  

Resilience 

3.49 For the children’s social care market to work well, local authorities must have 
confidence that it will offer them good options in the future to meet their 
statutory obligations towards the young people in their care. While it is not 
possible to directly measure the level of resilience in a sector, in the case of 

 
 
70  £4,865 per child per week in-house compared to £4,151 with the independent sector. Both figures include 
capital costs. Source: Personal Social Services Research Unit publication.  
71 It concluded that “the average weekly cost of a local authority placement was £475 compared with £798 for IFA 
placements.” Source: Foster Care in England: A Review for the Department for Education by Sir Martin Narey 
and Mark Owers. 

144

https://www.pssru.ac.uk/pub/uc/uc2021/services.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/679320/Foster_Care_in_England_Review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/679320/Foster_Care_in_England_Review.pdf


 

55 

children’s social care we see very high levels of debt being carried by some 
large providers; all else being equal, we would expect this to have a negative 
effect on the overall resilience of the sector. Given the serious impact that 
placement disruption can have on children, we take risks to resilience in 
children’s social care provision very seriously.  

3.50 The underlying context for resilience risks arises from the fact that local 
authorities have an obligation to provide suitable placements for children, but 
are, to varying extents, reliant on placements from private providers, which 
may choose to exit the market at any time, to fulfil this obligation. This 
creates a potential risk that certain external events may lead to disorderly 
market exit, leading to damaging disruption for children. 

3.51 To some degree, this will be an issue in any market where significant 
provision comes from the private sector. What is different about this sector is 
the potential for serious disruption in the lives of children if the operator 
providing their care were to fail in an unmanaged way. In assessing the 
extent of this risk we need to consider both the likelihood of unforeseen and 
significant market exit, and the impact this would have on the wellbeing of 
children. 

3.52 We do have concerns that an unforeseen disruption in the supply of 
placements could have a particularly negative impact and adverse effects. 

• First, the impact of a local authority being unable to find an appropriate 
placement for a child can be extremely significant in terms of the outcome 
on that child’s life and experiences. While in many markets if there is an 
interruption in supply due to market disruption a buyer can simply delay or 
forego a purchase, in children’s social care this is not an option as there 
are real and urgent needs to be met. 

• Second, given our concerns about the availability of adequate supply of 
appropriate placements, it is not clear that local authorities are in a 
position to deal with a sudden and significant reduction in supply. Any 
sudden and significant reduction in supply would be likely to impact on 
local authorities’ ability to provide appropriate placements for children in 
their care when they need them, as they are not facing a market with 
significant additional supply that is appropriate to absorb such a shock. 
The consequences of such an event occurring could also be severe for 
the children affected - potentially disrupting their education, social 
contacts and therapeutic progress, and seriously damaging their life 
prospects. 

145



 

56 

• Third, the creation of new provision takes a significant length of time, in 
terms of securing property and/or carers, and meeting regulatory 
requirements. This would suggest that even where there are suppliers 
looking to enter or expand to replace lost capacity, this would be unlikely 
to address any shortfall in placements in the extremely short timescale 
that may be required to avoid negative outcomes for children. 

3.53 A range of factors may lead to firms exiting the market, including 
mismanagement, loss of business, negative regulatory inspections and so 
on. However, a key factor driving our concerns about resilience in the sector 
are high debt levels observed among a number of the large providers in our 
dataset. This is a particular concern regarding those firms that are under 
private equity ownership, a model that is characterised by high levels of 
gearing. Among our dataset of the 15 largest providers, we found that: 

• The average level of interest coverage (ie profit divided by interest 
charge) for private equity owned operators of children’s homes over the 
last three years was 1.07 times, compared to 9 times for non-PE owned 
providers.  

• For PE-owned children's homes, cash flow available for debt servicing 
divided by total debt averaged 5.3% (40% for non-PE providers) over the 
last 5 years. Again a small downward shock to earnings would mean 
insufficient cash flows within the business to service the debt; and  

• For PE-owned providers in aggregate, net debt exceeded their fixed 
assets. The opposite is true for non-PE-owned providers.  

3.54 As we have noted above, at the moment the providers considered in our 
analysis are highly profitable, the demand for placements is growing and 
local authorities are compelled to purchase the services in order to meet 
their statutory duty to find placements for the children in their care. There is 
therefore no reason to believe that failure is imminent and we have seen no 
history of failure in this sector.  

3.55 However, some of the largest providers have extremely high leverage levels 
and this has been increasing. This leverage makes them more vulnerable to 
changes in the economic climate than they would otherwise be. The largest 
providers are generally owned by large firms with access to capital, however 
there is no certainty that this would be provided if the providers stopped 
generating the necessary returns (for example because changes to the 
sector meant that the number of children in residential homes reduced). Our 
concern is that one or more of these providers could exit the market in such 

146



 

57 

a way that the care of the children in their homes is disrupted by them 
having to leave their current home and move into a different one.  

3.56 The extent of potential adverse effects on local authorities and children in 
the event of a provider failure will depend on both the scale and nature of the 
provider and what happens to the business. The failure of a larger provider 
would generally be likely to have a more significant impact than that of a 
smaller one, as it would raise the risk of more children needing a new home 
at once; this would be likely to prove challenging in a supply-constrained 
market. Similarly, if one or more local authorities is highly dependent on a 
provider that fails, this could cause particular problems for them. 

3.57 In Section 6 Resilience, we set out more fully our concerns over the potential 
harmful effects of the disorderly exit of a provider for financial or any other 
reason. We also describe our recommendations to address those risks. 

 

147



 

58 

4. Commissioning  

4.1 Across all three nations, local authorities face a wide range of challenges 
when engaging with the placements market. We have found that local 
authorities struggle to effectively forecast their future needs, engage with the 
market in order to ensure sufficient appropriate placements to meet those 
needs and procure placements as efficiently as possible. Increasing the 
scale at which these activities take place above the local authority level, will 
help to address some of the factors that inhibit local authorities from doing 
this themselves. We set out a range of options, with implications beyond the 
scope of our study to make this happen. There would also be a benefit from 
more national support for these activities. 

4.2 In order for the placements market to work well, the repeated interactions of 
local authorities and providers must combine to allow local authorities to 
access consistently good quality and appropriate placements on the best 
possible terms. For this to happen, several important conditions must hold: 

(a) First, commissioners need to be able to operate effectively in the market 
to ensure they are able to purchase the placements they need, at the right 
time, for a reasonable price. To ensure they are able to do this, local 
authorities, directly or indirectly, need to:  

(i) effectively forecast their likely future needs (see paragraph 4.15); 

(ii) shape the market by providing accurate and credible signals of the 
likely future needs of children to existing and potential providers and 
incentivising independent providers to expand capacity to meet these 
needs, particularly where these needs are being insufficiently 
addressed by the current provision (see paragraph 4.33);  

(iii) efficiently procure placements, from among the provision available to 
authorities at any given time, accessing those places that most 
closely match the needs of children at prices that reflect the cost of 
care (see paragraph 4.48). 

(b) Second, existing and potential providers must be able to react effectively 
to the signals from the public sector, allowing them to bring new supply to 
the market that more closely matches the needs of children and local 
authorities. We consider these issues in section 6. 

4.3 In this section we first consider the context in which local authorities operate 
when engaging with the placement market. Then we discuss the importance 
of how the public sector understands the demand for children’s social care 
placements and of incentivising the provision of these placements to meet 

148



 

59 

this demand. We then consider the challenges present in the children’s 
social care market which makes forecasting, market shaping and 
procurement difficult.  

Context for commissioning 

4.4 Local authorities face a wide range of challenges when looking to find a 
place for a child currently in their care. First, getting the right match of a child 
to a place is hugely important but also extremely difficult given the unique 
needs of each child. Secondly, the options available constantly change, as 
places are filled, and it can be difficult for local authorities to understand 
what options are available particularly when looking outside their own area. 
Further, the options available may be very limited in number, particularly for 
children with more complex needs. Finally, local authorities must find a 
placement for each child and often do not have the ability to wait for more 
suitable options to be available or to seek better prices. 

4.5 These factors mean that many placements are made in very difficult 
circumstances with few, if any, good options available to local authorities. 
They are also often competing with other local authorities for the types of 
placement they need. As a result of these factors, amongst others, many 
stakeholders have suggested local authorities lack bargaining power when 
dealing with independent providers, as discussed further in paragraph 4.37 .  

4.6 One key factor that adds to the weakness of each local authority’s position 
when engaging in the market is the fact that they each purchase a relatively 
small number of placements each year. The local authorities in our data set 
each purchased an average of 49 independent children’s homes places per 
year and 126 fostering placements a year. As we have noted above, the 
needs of children can differ widely, so local authorities purchase very small 
numbers of placements within some particular sub-categories of provision, 
such as placements catering to children with physical disabilities, those with 
severe autism or suffering trauma from prior abuse.  

4.7 While to an extent some of these factors are an inherent part of the 
challenge facing local authorities in this sector, local authorities try to lessen 
the resultant pressures and improve their bargaining position through their 
procurement strategies with varying degrees of success, as discussed in 
paragraph 4.49.  

The significance of public sector engagement  

4.8 In the children’s social care market, there is a clear and broad trend of 
increasing demand for children’s social care placements and increasing 

149



 

60 

complexity of needs of looked-after children as discussed in paragraph 
3.6(d). Within this broad long-term trend of increasing numbers of looked-
after children, there is variation in the impact on individual local authorities. 
For example, the number of unaccompanied asylum-seeking children 
needing to be taken into local authority care in England increased by 19.9% 
overall between 2015 and 2020. However, over the same period, in Norfolk, 
the increase was 1014.3% while in Brent the number fell by 7.6%.72, 73  

4.9 An understanding of future demand is very important for providers 
considering investing in new provision because they experience high losses 
if their capacity goes unused. These losses are high because they face high 
fixed costs that are still incurred when places are not filled. This is 
particularly the case for children’s homes where fixed costs include the cost 
of finding and paying for the property and the cost of gaining regulatory 
approval. Staff costs are also largely fixed and other more flexible costs 
make up a small proportion of total costs. For fostering, fixed costs appear 
more limited, but still significant; the main upfront fixed cost is recruiting and 
registering foster carers, which costs around £10,000 per successful 
fostering applicant. 

4.10 For these reasons a lack of certainty of future demand acts as a deterrent to 
the creation of new provision by independent providers. Where demand in a 
particular region is uncertain, this also incentivises providers to create 
provision in lower-cost areas rather than higher-cost ones. Local authorities 
in England have a “sufficiency duty” to take steps to secure, so far as 
reasonably practicable, sufficient accommodation within each local 
authority’s area which meets the needs of the children it looks after. Local 
authorities in Scotland and Wales have similar duties. These duties ought to 
operate over time to ensure that local authorities are generally able to place 
children locally in a setting that is appropriate to their needs. However, the 
concerns we have around under-supply of appropriate places in the market 
suggest that this is not consistently happening. 

4.11 In many well-functioning markets, the ongoing decisions of purchasers 
provide signals to suppliers about the current and future purchasing 
preferences of those buying products and services. This provides the firms 
with both the information and the incentive they need to adjust the amount 
and nature of the supply they bring to the market to better meet those 

 
 
72 Statistics: looked-after children. 
73 The government recently wrote to all local authorities with children’s services across the UK to inform them of 
the government’s intention to temporarily mandate the National Transfer Scheme. This system will disperse 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children across local authorities, however, the effects of this system remain to 
be seen. For further detail see National Transfer Scheme to become mandatory for all local authorities.  

150

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-looked-after-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/national-transfer-scheme-to-become-mandatory-for-all-local-authorities


 

61 

preferences as time goes on. In the case of the placements market, 
however, it is widely recognised that the purchasing decisions made by local 
authorities today will not necessarily provide current and potential 
independent providers with good information about their future needs. 

4.12 Given the under-supply of appropriate places that we have seen, places are 
still filled even if they are not in the best location or do not provide the most 
suitable environment for the children placed in them. As a result, providers 
do not receive strong signals about how they should adjust their provision to 
meet children’s needs. Nor do they face strong incentives to do so, given 
their current provision will generally be used anyway, due to a lack of 
alternatives. Where this “second-best” placement happens, it is not recorded 
as such, so the exact extent and nature of how much this is happening is 
very unclear. 

4.13 Given this context, in order to be successful in encouraging sufficient supply 
to meet their needs, local authorities must be able to do two things: 

(a) First, they must be able to accurately forecast their future needs, 
understanding both the overall number of children they are likely to need 
to place and the mix of different types of provision they are likely to need 
to meet the particular needs of all the individual children within that group. 

(b) Second, they must be able to perform “market shaping” activities, 
whereby they communicate these expected needs to providers and 
incentivise them to create and maintain sufficient appropriate provision to 
meet these needs. 

4.14 As a result of the factors described above, we have concerns that local 
authorities are not in a strong position to effectively predict their future 
needs(as discussed in the Forecasting concerns section), signal these 
needs to independent providers (as discussed in the section on Market 
shaping concerns), nor are they currently efficiently purchasing children’s 
social care placements (as discussed in the Procurement concerns section). 
In the following sections we describe these issues further and the impact 
these have on the children’s social care market. 

Forecasting concerns 

4.15 The majority of local authorities and large providers in England we spoke to 
as part of our investigation highlighted that accurate forecasting of future 
demand is challenging. The most common reasons given were: that demand 
is inherently uncertain (for example, the needs of individual children change 
over time as well as the trends in need of children in care overall) and 

151



 

62 

external pressures (such as local events, budget/service cuts, changes in 
staff, change in practices) which are hard to account for let alone predict. 
Other reasons included: a lack of forecasting tools and resources for local 
authorities to use and the accuracy of data recorded with regards to 
unplanned/emergency placements. 

4.16 A key issue behind these difficulties is the relatively small number of 
placements purchased by local authorities. Where numbers vary over time, 
variations between years are likely to be greater and more uncertain when 
attempting to forecast smaller numbers. These issues are particularly severe 
in relation to placements for children with complex needs because there are 
very small numbers of these cases and they involve very specific needs 
which are difficult to predict. Similarly, due to the specific needs of these 
children, appropriate placements can become very expensive. Therefore, a 
very small number of placements can take up a large proportion of a local 
authorities’ children’s services budget. A lack of scale also limits the capacity 
of local authorities to develop cost-effective in-house forecasting capacity to 
overcome these challenges. 

4.17 Local authorities and large providers in England told us that their forecasts of 
future demand are usually based on previous trends and current care needs 
rather than substantial predictions of likely future needs. Most local 
authorities in England who responded to our request for information also 
explained that they do not attempt to undertake complex forecasting analysis 
beyond that required as part of their sufficiency duties. 

4.18 As a result, many large providers explained that they do not consider local 
authority forecasts of their future needs in England to be accurate and so 
would not use these to inform their capacity expansion decisions. One large 
provider of both children’s homes and fostering told us that the uncertainty of 
local authority future demand is a significant constraint on their ability to 
meet the needs of local authorities. Another large provider told us that where 
they do not have a good understanding or certainty of future demand, the 
main impact is to disincentivise them from investing in new areas and/or 
specialist services. Another provider told us that the local authorities do not 
have a system that allows for the projection of need and that providers must 
base projected recruitment, skill set and training of foster carers on their own 
experience. 

4.19 Large providers also told us that many local authorities in England do not 
currently share their sufficiency statements with providers74 either directly or 

 
 
74 Local authorities are not required as part of their statutory sufficiency duty to publish their statements publicly 
or to share these directly with providers. 

152



 

63 

indirectly (by publicly publishing them) which contributes to independent 
providers’ poor understanding of local authority demand. In a report 
published in March 2022, What Works for Children’s Social Care (WWCSC) 
also found that 44% of local authorities in England do not have a publicly 
available or up-to-date sufficiency strategy. 

4.20 Similarly, large providers explained that local authorities in England 
approach future demand modelling in different ways and there is a lack of 
consistency in how local authorities set out their sufficiency plans and future 
needs in their sufficiency statements. The WWCSC analysis of local 
authority sufficiency strategies in England also found that the content 
(including the level of detail and type of information included) and formatting 
of sufficiency strategies varies widely. 

4.21 One large provider explained that if local authorities had a standardised way 
of providing sufficiency information to independent providers, this would help 
to paint a much clearer picture of the need for provision across local areas 
and regions and give providers confidence to increase investment in areas 
of urgent need. 

4.22 Many local authorities and large providers therefore expressed the need for 
template sufficiency strategies in England with an underlying universal 
approach to identifying sufficiency gaps and predicting future needs. The 
LGA have recognised this need and have commissioned work to develop a 
template sufficiency statement for local authorities to enable the LGA to 
promote consistency. Similar work is being undertaken by 14 local 
authorities in the South West of England with the aim of producing a market 
position statement for the region.75 ICHA told us that they believe sufficiency 
planning could be strengthened by introducing a universal method of 
assessing need and measuring impact. 76   

4.23 Similarly, a large number of local authorities in England explained that 
access to shared forecasting tools would provide them with a foundation to 
build on in terms of modelling their future demand and would improve 
consistency of approach. However, local authorities stressed the importance 
of being able to reflect very localised trends in their forecasts and therefore a 
modelling approach that works in one local authority may not be suitable in 
another. Therefore, local authorities expressed a need for further support 
from central government in helping authorities to establish effective 
forecasting methods adapted to their localised needs.  

 
 
75 South West Sufficiency project BETA - South Gloucestershire Council. 
76 ICHA response to the IR. 

153

https://whatworks-csc.org.uk/research-report/are-local-authorities-achieving-effective-market-stewardship-for-childrens-social-care-services/
https://whatworks-csc.org.uk/research-report/are-local-authorities-achieving-effective-market-stewardship-for-childrens-social-care-services/
https://beta.southglos.gov.uk/south-west-sufficiency-project
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/61eff376d3bf7f05452ed36c/Independent_Childrens_Homes_Association_IR_response.pdf


 

64 

4.24 Some local authorities in England also suggested that there was data held 
centrally that could help them forecast more accurately. However, while we 
have found that data in this sector is relatively limited (see paragraph 4.63), 
DfE and Ofsted do publish some data and where they do not it often reflects 
underlying challenges with the data, such as poorly defined types of care. 
Local authorities and large providers also told us that government could play 
a greater role in supporting forecasting, for example by sharing the best 
practice of local authorities who have done this well.  

4.25 In Scotland, local authorities explained that they rarely forecast future 
demand as a result of the difficulties involved, as explained above, and 
because they did not consider there to be the same under-supply of 
placements in Scotland as seen in England (as explained in paragraph 
3.15). Large providers that operate in Scotland told us that many of the 
same issues with regards to the accuracy of local authority forecasting, the 
inconsistency in approach and the lack of information available to 
independent providers that are common in England also occur in Scotland. 
One large provider explained that these issues make it difficult for 
independent providers in Scotland to consider future service offerings and 
investment in additional capacity for both residential care and fostering.  

4.26 Scotland Excel told us that it uses historic placement patterns and changes 
in policy direction to estimate likely trends for renewal frameworks but does 
not undertake detailed forecasting on behalf of local authorities. One large 
provider told us that Scotland Excel used to host forums where independent 
providers and local authorities could come together to discuss needs but that 
these have become less frequent over time. The provider also explained that 
as Scotland Excel already has relationships with local authorities and private 
providers and holds data on historical trends of usage through quarterly 
monitoring, that it could take on more of an active role in establishing local 
authority demand. Local authorities that responded to our request for 
information also expressed support for further involvement from Scotland 
Excel in terms of forecasting support. 

4.27 CIS told us that it promotes the use of a quality improvement framework for 
self-evaluation which supports local authorities and strategic partnerships to 
consider future planning of services for their local communities. CIS also 
explained that with additional resource, more use could be made of this 
section of the framework as a tool to promote and support forward planning. 

4.28 In Wales, local authorities also expressed concerns about the difficulties 
associated with forecasting their future demand and told us that they mainly 
focus resources on providing a reactive service rather than forward planning. 
Large providers considered that many of the issues associated with having a 

154



 

65 

clear and accurate understanding of local authority future needs that arise in 
England and Scotland also occur in Wales. 

4.29 CIW told us that it does not have a role in supporting local authorities in 
Wales in forecasting their future demand for placements. 

4.30 However, the 4Cs, the national commissioning body in Wales, told us that 
part of its role is to ensure that local authorities are supported to comply with 
their duties of sufficiency, affordability and sustainability by analysing need 
to identify gaps in the markets and lead developments on a national, 
regional and local level to respond to unmet needs. The 4Cs also told us that 
it provides national analysis of trends in data and assists with forecasting 
future demand based on historic data from Wales, comparable nations and 
regions, cross referencing multiple sources that project future demographics, 
current data on emerging trends and where possible factor in anticipated 
future variables such as policy on refugees. The 4Cs also work with Data 
Cymru who manage the Children’s Commissioning Support Resource 
(CCSR) to develop easy to access reports that enable Local Authorities to 
have live data on number of placements, needs of young people and 
number of care settings. 

4.31 The 4Cs have recently launched the Placement Commissioning Strategy 
(PCS) template which helps local authorities to better understand the needs 
of the children in their care, desired outcomes, drivers for change in order for 
the local authority to be able to shape internal services, work in collaboration 
with providers and increase placement choice. The 4Cs told us that it has 
received positive feedback from local authorities in terms of how their PCS 
complements wider corporate strategies and assists as a planning tool 
internally. Local authorities that responded to our request for information 
also told us they have found the PCS template a useful tool.  

4.32 This evidence shows that although accurate long-term forecasting is 
inherently challenging, there is scope to improve it through more national 
support. Improved forecasting would help local authorities to better 
understand their likely future needs and enable authorities to more 
accurately communicate their demand to providers. Ultimately, this would 
increase the ability of both independent and in-house providers to supply 
appropriate placements to meet this demand. Therefore, we consider more 
national leadership and support is required from governments to aid local 
authorities in accurately forecasting their demand for children’s social care 
placements.  

155



 

66 

Market shaping concerns  

4.33 Even where future needs can be anticipated, there are barriers to local 
authorities converting this understanding into signals that providers will act 
on. In England, Scotland and Wales we have heard that most local 
authorities do not attempt to estimate future capacity or actively shape the 
market by encouraging providers to invest in new provision. Local authorities 
highlighted the challenges to them doing so, particularly when acting 
individually. We found that collaboration in all three nations is more focussed 
on procurement than market shaping, although there are some steps 
towards the latter in Scotland and Wales. 

4.34 Most local authorities explained that they generally try to keep track of 
current capacity in the market (usually via their contractual relationships with 
providers) rather than attempt to estimate future capacity. Some other local 
authorities make use of national data (provided by regulators, trade bodies 
etc) to keep abreast of the bigger picture. 

4.35 The majority of local authorities in England, Scotland and Wales who 
responded to our request for information told us that they do not attempt to 
actively encourage capacity expansion externally and instead are 
increasingly focussing on expanding their in-house provision. However, for 
children's homes, local authorities are not opening sufficient new provision to 
replace the homes they are closing and the vast majority of additional 
provision has come from private providers. For example, between 2019 and 
2021, in England, 33 new local authority owned children’s homes were 
opened, however, they closed 65 homes with a net loss of 59 places.77 
Private providers have added a net of 490 children’s homes resulting in 
1,537 additional places in England over the same period. Similarly in 
Scotland, between 31 March 2017 and 31 December 2021 the number of 
local authority homes for children and young people dropped from 119 to 
116, while the number of private homes has risen from 107 to 153.78 

4.36 Sufficiency statements provided by local authorities in England also 
demonstrated that many local authorities focus their future sufficiency plans 
on further developing their in-house offering of children’s homes and foster 
carers, rather than seeking to influence the expansion plans of providers. 
For example, one local authority sufficiency statement that was shared with 
us said “[our] ambition is to place 70% of fostered children with in-house 

 
 
77 CMA calculation based on Ofsted joiners data. The newly opened homes are smaller on average than those 
that were closed. Voluntary providers have added a net of 26 places over the same period. Source: Joiners and 
leavers in the childcare sector.  
78 The number of voluntary homes increased from 57 to 68 over the same period. Source: Quarterly Statistical 
Summary Report - Qtr 3 (2021/22) and Quarterly Statistical Summary Report - Qtr 4 (2016/17).  

156

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joiners-and-leavers-in-the-childcare-sector
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joiners-and-leavers-in-the-childcare-sector
https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/publications-statistics/175-public/statistics/quarterly-statistical-summary-report-qtr-3-2021-22
https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/publications-statistics/175-public/statistics/quarterly-statistical-summary-report-qtr-3-2021-22
https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/publications-statistics/94-public/statistics/quarterly-statistical-summary-report


 

67 

carers” another statement said one of the goals of the local authority was to 
“review in-house residential provision, with a view to reconfiguration, in line 
with local needs”. Nevertheless, opening a new children’s home is a major 
financial commitment and especially so for local authorities with reduced 
budgets and multiple competing demands for resources. Many local 
authorities told us this was one of the major challenges when considering 
whether to open a new children’s home. 

4.37 One of the factors that may inhibit individual local authorities from attempting 
to shape the market is the challenges they face when attempting to do so. In 
particular, there are a number of challenges that may not be present if they 
were purchasing at greater scale: 

(a) As highlighted by local authorities and other stakeholders, the demand of 
an individual local authority for certain types of specialist provision is too 
low to justify contracting a whole service to meet these needs. This limits 
the ability of local authorities to use tools, such as block contracts, that 
give providers sufficient certainty that specialised provision would be 
used. 

(b) Individual local authorities are not sufficiently able to take into account the 
plans of other local authorities when considering their likely future needs. 
Local authorities are able to make placements in children’s homes and 
with IFAs located in other local authority areas. This makes it difficult for 
individual local authorities to understand whether there is sufficient 
provision in a local authority area or region to meet their needs (and those 
of other local authorities that may rely on that provision). This discourages 
local authorities from encouraging the supply of placements from 
providers, because this does not always guarantee the local authority an 
availability of placements.79 

(c) From a provider’s point of view, there are certain benefits to local 
authorities collaborating with other local authorities. Where provision will 
rely on use by multiple local authorities, providers will be able to plan 
better if they understand all those local authorities’ needs rather than just 
one individual local authority’s needs. 

4.38 Therefore, the relatively small scale of activity places inherent limitations on 
the ability of individual local authorities to accurately forecast their future 
demand and to then incentivise providers to supply the placements needed. 

 
 
79 This depends on the commissioning approach utilised by the local authorities, for example if local authorities 
have exclusive contracts with providers then other local authorities would not be able to purchase these 
placements. However, exclusivity can also cause issues, ie inflexibility and financial risk. 

157



 

68 

4.39 Currently, in England, Scotland and Wales, collaboration between local 
authorities and between local authorities and large providers is focused on 
procurement of residential and fostering placements rather than market 
shaping. In other words, current approaches to collaboration help local 
authorities to engage with the market as it is rather than to shape future 
provision of children’s home and fostering placements. 

4.40 Local authorities in England, Scotland and Wales highlighted several further 
challenges to collaboration with regards to market shaping. These included: 
differences in local authority governance limiting their ability to operate jointly 
and the role of geographical boundaries (with local authorities expected to 
keep children within their local area wherever possible and appropriate). 
Local authority funding arrangements also prevent local authorities from 
collaborating with providers in expanding capacity, the short-term nature and 
lack of available funding limiting their ability to commit to long-term 
contracting arrangements (such as block contracts) and make significant 
investments for the future. Local authorities also suggested that 
governments could play more of a role in supporting collaboration between 
local authorities and providing national leadership in terms of encouraging 
collaboration and providing information about models that work particularly 
well.  

4.41 In Scotland and Wales, local authorities can choose to use national 
contracts run by national bodies to purchase placements80 (as described in 
the section on Procurement concerns). These national bodies take 
responsibility for signing independent providers up to the national contracts 
and for contract management. Many local authorities in Scotland and Wales 
that responded to our request for information explained that they do not 
attempt to collaborate to shape the market outside of membership of the 
national bodies as they feel much collaboration already occurs via these 
national bodies. 

4.42 Both the 4Cs and Scotland Excel have taken steps to assist local authorities 
with shaping the market, although these have largely launched in the last 5 
years and are relatively nascent. 

4.43 Scotland Excel explained that, in terms of encouraging providers to supply 
the right type of placements (in terms of needs catered for and geographic 
location), its role has generally been to identify sufficiency gaps in the 
market to inform its framework agreements and to maximise participation on 
frameworks to enable maximum choice. Scotland Excel also told us that it 

 
 
80 Although, as discussed in paragraph 4.54, not all local authorities in Scotland and Wales utilise the national 
contracts for all of their placement purchases.  

158



 

69 

does not currently have any plans to further expand its role in terms of 
market shaping.  

4.44 Many local authorities in Scotland that responded to our request for 
information explained that they would like further involvement from Scotland 
Excel in terms of market shaping support such as identifying gaps in 
sufficiency and working with providers to encourage them to expand to fill 
these gaps. Local authorities described how Scotland Excel are well placed 
to do so as they have a national overview and are able to communicate 
effectively with both local authorities and independent providers to identify 
demand and gaps in sufficiency.  

4.45 The 4Cs81 explained that part of its role includes developing and shaping the 
market to support local authorities’ sufficiency duties and develop a diverse 
range of good quality services for those who require them. In order to do so, 
the 4Cs provides strategic commissioning support to local authorities to 
assist them in the development of local and regional Market Position 
Statements (MPS).82 An MPS is intended to set out a local authority’s 
requirements to providers for the development of services, including what 
they want and what they do not want. 

4.46 The 4Cs told us that it has received positive feedback from local authorities 
and independent providers on the MPS, that it is a practical tool from which 
to have positive, focused commissioning discussions with a sound base of 
needs analysis and demand. The document supports consistent messaging 
and trust which makes commitments to develop services more likely. 4Cs 
also told us that the documents are reported by independent providers as 
being useful to secure investment decisions whether that be boards of 
directors or banks. Local authorities that responded to our request for 
information also described the MPS as a useful tool. 

4.47 This evidence shows that more market shaping at a wider scale would help 
to ensure providers supply the placements local authorities need. However, 
we have also seen evidence that local authorities can struggle to collaborate 
successfully due to risk aversion, budgetary constraints, differences in 
governance, and difficulties aligning priorities and sharing cost. As such, it is 
not clear how local authorities can sufficiently overcome these barriers even 
if given further incentive to do so. Therefore, we consider governments need 
to take action to mandate a more collective approach to market shaping. We 
also consider that given the relatively limited amount of regional 

 
 
81 4Cs response to the ITC. 
82 Market Position Statements are not specifically a legal requirement although they can assist local authorities to 
meet their statutory duties. 

159

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3c68dd3bf7f288288cd41/Childrens_Commissioning_Consortium_Cymru_-.pdf


 

70 

commissioning currently happening, more national leadership and support is 
required from government to support this.  

Procurement concerns 

4.48 Collaborative procurement strategies strengthen local authorities’ bargaining 
position at the point of placement by increasing the visibility of options and 
prices, agreeing terms of purchase in advance and reducing the risk of local 
authorities bidding up prices against one another. Such collaboration allows 
local authorities to take advantage of operating at greater scale. There are 
different approaches to procurement collaboration across England, Scotland 
and Wales. 

4.49 Currently in England, there is a variety of commissioning cultures and 
approaches, with some local authorities procuring individually while many 
form regional procurement groups with neighbouring local authorities. These 
groups vary in their design and purpose. Examples include: joint block 
booking of provision, the operation of framework agreements83 with 
providers and the joint running of placements for very specific or complex 
care needs. The NAFP estimate that for fostering, there are approximately 
30 different primary commissioning arrangements in England. For children’s 
homes, where frameworks are less common (as described in paragraph 
2.16), we have been told there are many more different arrangements. We 
consider that the different approaches to commissioning by local authorities 
in England exacerbates the varying levels of sufficiency and pricing across 
the nation (see the sections on Supply of appropriate places and Prices and 
profits for further detail). 

4.50 All local authorities that responded to our request for information in England 
explained that regional procurement groups are beneficial as they allow for 
sharing of information and best practice between local authorities, the 
pooling of demand, and for local authorities to negotiate better terms with 
providers. Many local authorities in England also provided us with the details 
of the procurement groups they are part of and with evidence of how 
collaboration with other local authorities has enabled them to establish better 
working relationships with independent providers as providers are able to 
manage their business based on regional need and so can commit to prices 
for a set period. Local authorities told us this collaboration often enables 
them to better meet the needs of the children in their care. 

 
 
83 A framework is an agreement with suppliers to establish terms governing contracts that may be awarded 
during the life of the agreement. 

160



 

71 

4.51 However, many local authorities also highlighted that the design of 
procurement groups is important. For example, local authorities explained 
that the size of the collaborative group should reflect the type of care the 
group is intended to procure. Local authorities told us that for placements 
catering to complex care needs, collaborating with a large number of local 
authorities can be very effective due to the smaller number of cases 
requiring these kinds of placements. In contrast, for less specialised 
placements it is often not necessary to collaborate on a wide scale as the 
number of cases from a few local authorities is sufficient to provide a good 
bargaining position with independent providers. Similarly, local authorities 
highlighted that collaboration with local authorities further away from their 
local area can inadvertently lead to some children unnecessarily being 
placed further away from home. Local authorities also explained that open 
communication and trust is important between local authorities that are 
collaborating, thus smaller scale efforts can often be more effective.  

4.52 As we discuss in the section on Market shaping concerns, many local 
authorities in England that responded to our request for information 
highlighted that there are barriers to effective regional collaboration and 
further collaboration occurring on a wider scale. These included concerns 
that often the contractual terms set out as part of collaborative relationships 
result in complex care placements falling out of scope of these 
arrangements, meaning local authorities in England still face the challenge 
of finding placements for each child with complex needs.84 Local authorities 
also told us that differing individual governance procedures and 
organisational structures can sometimes prevent alignment between local 
authorities in collaboration. Relatedly, local authorities explained that there is 
a political element to collaboration which can act as a barrier, for example 
elected members may not see the advantages of collaborative working 
where this might involve relinquishing local authority control or have impacts 
on budgets. 

4.53 Similarly, local authorities told us that they thought procurement rules can 
limit their ability to collaborate effectively. Large providers told us that local 
authorities perceived the procurement rules85 to be more inflexible than is in 
fact the case and that this limits local authority willingness to engage with 
independent providers. The LGA has published a resource designed to 

 
 
84 While the national frameworks set up in Scotland and Wales allow flexibility to meet varying needs with a large 
variety of providers available to meet a range of care needs. 
85 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

161

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/contents/made


 

72 

promote a better understanding of the powers and restrictions of 
procurement.86  

4.54 In contrast, both Scotland and Wales have national approaches available for 
procurement,87 with Scotland Excel and the 4Cs helping collaboration 
between those local authorities and providers that choose to use these 
national approaches. The role of these national bodies includes managing 
frameworks between local authorities and providers (together with 
negotiating prices on behalf of local authorities) and providing resources and 
other support to help local authorities find appropriate care settings for 
children. In Wales, all 22 local authorities use the 4C’s framework contracts 
and there are 18 providers on the latest fostering framework and 33 
providers on the latest residential framework. In Scotland, as of August 
2021, 68% of providers were signed up to Scotland Excel’s residential care 
contract and 74% to the fostering contract. All local authorities in Scotland 
have purchased placements via the Excel residential care contract since its 
formation and 30 of 32 local authorities have purchased placements via the 
Excel fostering contract.  

4.55 In Scotland and Wales, some local authorities explained that Scotland Excel 
and the 4Cs benefit the procurement process by: allowing local authorities to 
easily compare prices of different providers; negotiating prices on behalf of 
local authorities (allowing local authorities to save time and providing 
reassurance that prices are likely to be more reflective of cost of provision); 
providing information to local authorities on placement availability; and 
holding details on non-framework providers, enabling local authorities to 
extend their placement search if an appropriate framework match is not 
available. 

4.56 Large providers that responded to our request for information told us that the 
benefits of utilising the 4Cs and Scotland Excel national contracts include: 
standard terms and conditions which govern placements, set pricing and 
reduced administrative burdens of tendering and negotiation on multiple 
frameworks. 

4.57 However, some stakeholders have also recognised some limitations in the 
national approaches to procurement in Scotland and Wales. The 4Cs and 
Scotland Excel explained that not all providers have welcomed intervention 
from a national body and some have not joined the frameworks. 4Cs said 
this was for reasons such as struggling with the price transparency or quality 

 
 
86 Myths in Procurement. 
87 These are available to be used or joined by all local authorities and providers but not all take part in these 
frameworks. 

162

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/myths-about-procurement-8f9.pdf


 

73 

requirements set out, and Scotland Excel similarly said this was for reasons 
such as difficulties meeting the criteria for participation, concerns about price 
variation processes and requirements around financial transparency. The 
NAFP88 also told us that not all local authorities in Wales and Scotland utilise 
the national contracts set up by the procurement bodies, resulting in 
fragmentation.  

4.58 CIS explained that Scotland Excel contracts focussed on price when first 
introduced which they believed may have placed a financial strain on 
independent providers and impacted on quality and innovation. CIW told us 
that it does not think the availability of placements on 4Cs frameworks have 
developed to meet the needs of children with more acute or complex needs 
and that there still remain a lot of spot price placements in Wales. 

4.59 England in the past has had national contracts in place for both residential 
and foster care run by the NCSG. The NCSG told us that their work stopped 
because of a lack of resource backing, with no administration or financial 
support, or any direction from central government or at the ADCS level. The 
NCSG also told us that it faced challenges in setting up national contracts in 
England, including: obtaining sources of funding, getting national 
representatives on board from care-experienced people and getting backing 
from directors of children’s services. The NCSG are proposing to re-
establish these national contracts currently and are in discussion with local 
authorities and providers.  

4.60 The majority of local authorities in England that responded to our request for 
information considered that the establishment of national contracts in 
England would be beneficial. These local authorities told us that the 
advantages of national contracts in England would include: clear and 
consistent terms and conditions, improved understanding of placement 
availability and reduced search costs for local authorities in finding 
placements due to having a variety of independent provider options set out 
in one place. However, these local authorities were also clear that a ‘one 
size fits all’ approach would not be successful and that a variety of contracts 
catering to different care needs would be needed. Local authorities also told 
us that it is important that any national contracts be kept up to date to reflect 
changes in need and costs of provision.  

4.61 Many large providers told us that national contracts in England would 
support improved efficiency in the market by removing duplication of costs 
providers currently face when dealing with multiple contracts. Large 

 
 
88 NAFP response to the ITC. 

163

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3db82d3bf7f2883267c8d/National_Association_of_Foster_Providers-response.pdf


 

74 

providers also stressed the importance of any national contracts being co-
produced by both local authorities and independent providers to ensure 
alignment of objectives. 

4.62 While we have seen evidence of a wide range of approaches to procurement 
– with national approaches in Scotland and Wales, and a patchwork of 
regional and sub-regional approaches in England – these have not gone far 
enough or fast enough. Although it is widely recognised that procuring at a 
wider-than-local scale is beneficial, local authorities can struggle to 
collaborate successfully. Therefore, we consider that local authorities are 
unlikely to be able to overcome these barriers even if given further incentive 
to do so. As such, we consider governments need to take action to mandate 
a more collective approach to procurement. We also consider that national 
contracts would help to support local authorities in finding the most 
appropriate placements for the children in their care.  

Data concerns 

4.63 A further issue adding to the challenge faced by local authorities when 
forecasting and market shaping is the data limitations in this sector, 
particularly on children's needs. We consider that the sector, and ultimately 
looked-after children, would benefit from better data collection and use.  

4.64 We have heard that the way in which local authorities assess children's 
needs and then communicate them to potential care settings is inconsistent, 
unreliable and prone to change (see the section on Forecasting concerns for 
further detail). An underlying challenge is that each child and their needs are 
unique, and this has to be reflected in the way needs are assessed. 
However, there will still be commonalities between different children. Further, 
there will be lessons that can be learnt from what works well for one child 
that could be applied to other children in the future.  

4.65 At the moment, children's needs are set out in referral forms that follow a 
range of different approaches and can change depending on the 
preferences of senior local authority officials. Relatively few local authorities 
use clinical evaluation tools that systematically assess needs against 
consistent criteria and then assess and demonstrate the outcomes from 
care. While these tools cannot replace the judgment of social workers in 
deciding what care is suitable for a child, they have been used by local 
authorities to inform decisions over whether a child's progress means they 
would now be suited to a different care setting. For example, one clinical 

164



 

75 

evaluation tool, Berri,89 has been used to review local authorities' most 
complex children and identify changes that improved the outcomes for 
children and save money that could be used meet children's needs more 
effectively.  

4.66 More systematic assessment of needs would in turn support a more granular 
understanding of what care needs are being met by different care settings. 
At the moment there is limited consistent data on the types of needs that 
children's homes can meet. Children’s homes' registrations tend to refer to 
care for broad categories of children's needs. For example, Ofsted has just 
seven fairly broad categories and homes can have more than one category 
of registration.90 Compounding this is a lack of consistency in how local 
authorities record children's needs. This makes it harder for local authorities 
and regional consortia to understand what types of care are provided in the 
local area. 

4.67 Better data on children’s needs and the current provision of children’s social 
care would help local authorities forecast more effectively.  

4.68 A further, albeit secondary, benefit of better data would be to help national 
policy makers better understand what is happening in the sector. Better data 
would allow policy makers to better understand problems in the system and 
how best to address them. We have found that the data available is 
generally not at a level of detail sufficient to be able to clearly answer some 
specific questions, such as whether there is sufficient supply of more 
specialised provision to meet a particular type of need in a particular 
location. One particular shortcoming is the lack of consistent data on 
whether the right type of placement in the right location was available or 
whether a placement was a second-best option. We understand this 
information is collected within local authorities’ procurement tools but often 
not in a structured way that would allow analysis. This information would be 
vital for understanding how well local authorities are meeting their sufficiency 
duties.  

Recommendations 

4.69 In light of the issues described above, we believe a new approach is needed 
in England, Scotland and Wales to improve the way in which forecasting, 
market shaping, and procurement takes place in children’s social care. 
Without these proposed changes, we expect the market outcomes described 
in the section on Outcomes from the placements market will continue and 

 
 
89 Berri Improving Outcomes for Children. 
90 Guidance Introduction to children's homes. 

165

https://berri.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/how-to-open-a-childrens-home/introduction-to-childrens-homes


 

76 

worsen, particularly the lack of appropriate children’s social care placements 
in the right places and the high prices of some placements. 

4.70 In this section we describe how this new forecasting, market shaping and 
procurement approach would apply across all three nations as well as how 
the new approach would need to be adapted to each individual nation, taking 
into account varying national circumstances. 

Forecasting 

4.71 As we have also set out in the section on Forecasting concerns, evidence 
we have seen over the course of this study indicates that increasing the 
scale at which forecasting activities are carried out would address the 
challenges which currently inhibit more accurate and comprehensive 
forecasting. The benefits of doing so would particularly arise for those 
placements that are more challenging for local authorities to forecast and 
provide, such as placements for children with the most complex needs. 

4.72 We are therefore recommending that the UK, Scottish and Welsh 
governments should establish functions at a national level supporting the 
forecasting of demand for and supply of children’s social care placements. 
These functions should include:   

(a) ensuring access to sufficient data on placement demand and sufficiency 
(including collecting existing data held by local authorities); 

(b) carrying out and publishing regional and national analysis, including 
feeding into a ‘State of the Sector’ report (see paragraph 60 for further 
information), regional and national trend analysis and horizon scanning, 
such as on the potential future impacts of policy developments; and 

(c) providing local authorities (and other public bodies) with guidance and 
support in local forecasting and identifying local gaps in provision – 
including: 

(i) sharing forecasting methodologies, expertise and providing training, 

(ii) creating template sufficiency reports for consistent use by all local 
authorities. 

4.73 To support the effectiveness of these functions, we are also recommending 
that local authority statutory duties be expanded to include a requirement to 
provide specified data to and cooperate with the body carrying out the 
forecasting function. Similarly, further duties should be placed on local 

166



 

77 

authorities to produce and publish sufficiency reports using templates 
created by and in line with guidance developed by the forecasting body. 

4.74 In England we consider that the Department for Education could take 
responsibility for holding this national forecasting function set out above. 
This would build on their sector-specific knowledge and experience, as well 
as their existing data collection requirements.  

4.75 In Scotland, we consider that the Scottish Government could take 
responsibility for holding the forecasting function set out above. However, we 
also recognise that Scotland Excel may be well placed to do this on the 
Scottish Government’s behalf due to their experience and existing 
relationships with local authorities and independent providers (as set out in 
the section on Procurement concerns).  

4.76 In Wales, as set out in the section on Forecasting concerns , the 4Cs 
already provides some forecasting support to local authorities, and have 
recently begun to perform national trend analysis on behalf of local 
authorities and to provide forecasting support to local authorities via 
Placement Commissioning Strategies. We consider that the 4Cs could 
continue to perform these roles and with support from Welsh Government, 
could expand their approach to ensure that they are taking on all aspects of 
the forecasting function described above.  

Market shaping and procurement 

4.77 We also set out in the section on Market shaping concerns our concerns that 
local authorities are not currently collaborating to shape future provision of 
children’s homes and fostering placements. Similarly, we have set out in the 
section on Procurement concerns our concerns that while we have seen 
varying degrees of collaborative procurement activity between different 
groups of local authorities across the three nations, this has not gone far 
enough or fast enough.  

4.78 Despite collaboration in terms of market shaping and procurement being 
widely seen as beneficial, local authorities can struggle to collaborate 
successfully due to risk aversion, budgetary constraints, differences in 
governance, and difficulties in aligning priorities and sharing costs. It is not 
clear how local authorities can sufficiently overcome these barriers even if 
given further incentives to do so.  

167



 

78 

4.79 Relatedly, the recommendations of the 2016 Narey review of residential 
care91 included that “The Department for Education must require local 
authorities to come together into large consortia for the purpose of obtaining 
significant discounts from private and voluntary sector providers”.92 While 
the Department for Education agreed with this recommendation, it adopted a 
non-mandatory approach which has not delivered the extent and pace of 
change we think necessary. 

4.80 As such, without action by national governments to mandate the appropriate 
level of collaboration in terms of market shaping and procurement, we have 
concerns that local authorities are unlikely to collaborate sufficiently to 
deliver the outcomes that are needed. 

4.81 We therefore recommend that governments in England, Scotland and Wales 
require a more collective approach to market shaping and procurement. This 
should include:  

(a) setting out what minimum level of activity must be carried out collectively. 
This should include an appropriate degree of activity in each of the key 
areas of forecasting, market shaping and procurement;  

(b) ensuring there is a set of bodies to carry out these collective market 
shaping and procurement activities, with each local authority required to 
participate in one of them. These bodies should cover the entirety of each 
nation. While in Scotland and Wales it is plausible that this may be at a 
national level (building on the work of Scotland Excel and the 4Cs), we 
expect sub-national bodies to be appropriate for England; and 

(c) providing an oversight structure to ensure that each body is effectively 
carrying out its functions to ensure collective market shaping and 
procurement are occurring to the extent required for local authorities to 
gain from the benefits of collaboration at a wider scale. This should 
involve an assessment of the extent to which sufficiency of placements is 
being achieved within each area. 

4.82 Each government should determine how best to implement this 
recommendation, taking into account key issues that lie beyond the scope of 
our study, such as concerns around child protection, how this would interact 
with other health and social care services and other such issues. In 

 
 
91 Report of Sir Martin Narey’s independent review of children’s residential care, Residential Care in England.  
92 The Social Market Foundation 2021 report on fostering similarly recommended “Adopting regional 
commissioning – regional bodies that plan and commission strategically could shape and manage the market, 
with scope to lower prices through collective bargaining power, block contracting (buying a set number of places 
rather than just agreeing prices) and realising economies of scale”. 

168

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/534560/Residential-Care-in-England-Sir-Martin-Narey-July-2016.pdf
https://www.smf.co.uk/publications/fostering-the-future-1/


 

79 

examining the relative advantages and disadvantages of different options, 
national governments should consider: 

(a) the number of bodies: for any body or set of bodies created there will be a 
trade-off between gaining market power and efficiencies through larger 
size, versus difficulties of coordination and management that come with 
that (for example, the variation of needs increasing within a larger body). 
Governments should consider these factors in determining the 
appropriate approach, and the precise geographical area each should 
cover; 

(b) what precise collective market shaping and procurement activities are 
assigned to the bodies: there are a range of options, from mandating only 
a small amount of activity to be carried out collectively eg market shaping 
and procurement only for children with particular types of complex needs, 
through to mandating all market shaping and procurement activity be 
carried out by the collective bodies;   

(c) the relationship between the new bodies and local authorities: it is 
important to be clear in each region how the mandated level of collective 
market shaping and procurement activity is carried out, but it could vary 
from region to region depending on the level of engagement of 
participating local authorities. This could be with local authorities 
collectively reaching agreement or the regional bodies could be given the 
power to decide. If regional bodies are given the power to decide, they 
should also have responsibility for ensuring sufficient provision;  

(d) the governance of the new bodies: on the presumption that corporate 
parenting responsibilities (and therefore the ultimate decision of whether 
to place a particular child in a particular placement) will remain with local 
authorities, there may be a tension between the roles of the local 
authorities and the collective bodies that will need to be resolved via the 
governance structure and by setting out clearly defined responsibilities 
and procedures so that both the local authorities and the collective bodies 
can be held to account for their decisions and how they exercise their 
functions; and  

(e) how to best take advantage of what is already in place: there are benefits 
of building on existing initiatives in terms of avoiding transition costs and 
benefiting from organic learning about what works well in different 
contexts. For example, consideration should be given to using existing 
agreements, organisations and staff as the basis for future mandated 
collective market shaping and procurement action. 

169



 

80 

4.83 In order to support increased collective market shaping and procurement 
activity, each national government should also provide further leadership 
and support. This should include (but not be limited to): 

(a) improving understanding of what collective market shaping and 
procurement models work well. This would include carrying out and 
sharing regular 'diagnostics' of the various models being used within the 
market shaping and procurement bodies in order to better understand 
what is working well, what is not working well and why. This should be 
published annually as part of a ‘State of the Sector’ report that national 
governments should be responsible for publishing; 

(b) utilising this understanding to make recommendations to market shaping 
and procurement bodies about where change is needed in terms of 
approaches to market shaping and procurement; and  

(c) funding market shaping and procurement bodies to trial different ways of 
commissioning, such as: 

(i) holding spare capacity for placements suitable for children with 
complex needs to address the particular lack of appropriate 
placements of this type as discussed in paragraph 3.6(d);and  

(ii) offering targeted funding support for further innovative projects by 
individual local authorities or wider commissioning groups, targeted at 
recruiting and retaining more foster carers to reduce their reliance on 
IFAs. This would build on the evidence that local authorities may be 
able to save money (compared to IFA fees paid per child) by having 
more foster placements provided in-house), as discussed in 
paragraph 3.45. Any such projects should be evaluated carefully to 
provide an evidence base to help shape future policy.  

4.84 Wherever responsibility for ensuring there is sufficient provision for looked-
after children sits, it is essential that these bodies are appropriately held to 
account. As such, we are also recommending that local authority duties 
should be enhanced to allow more transparent understanding of the extent 
to which sufficiency of placements is being achieved within each area. In 
order to do this, better, publicly available information is required to 
understand how often children are being placed in placements that do not fit 
their needs, due to a lack of available placements.  

4.85 National governments must also actively ensure that both local authorities 
and the bodies responsible for collective market shaping and procurement 
activities are carrying out their functions effectively. They must oversee their 
activities, support them and ultimately hold them to account.  

170



 

81 

4.86 In England, we consider the UK government should take responsibility for 
requiring a more collective approach to market shaping and procurement, 
taking into account the considerations set out in paragraph 4.82 when doing 
so. The UK Government should also provide the national leadership and 
support roles set out in paragraph 4.83.  

4.87 In Scotland and Wales, while we consider that the Scottish Government and 
Welsh Government respectively should take ultimate responsibility for 
implementing the recommendations set out in paragraphs 4.77 to 4.85, 
these governments should consider utilising Scotland Excel and the 4Cs to 
deliver these recommendations given the established roles and experience 
these bodies have in each nation respectively. 

4.88 The Scottish Government has been consulting on a National Care Service 
for Scotland which could potentially include children’s social care services. In 
the consultation the Scottish Government has proposed that the National 
Care Service will develop and manage a National Commissioning and 
Procurement Structure of Standards and Processes for ethical 
commissioning and procuring of social care services and supports. Amongst 
other objectives, it is proposed that this will: define the approach to national 
and local level ethical commissioning and procurement; provide templates to 
support decision-making and procurement processes; embed standard 
terms and conditions and identify best practice. It is also proposed that the 
National Care Service will be responsible for the commissioning, 
procurement and running (including contract management) of national 
contracts and framework agreements for complex and specialist services 
including: care for people whose care needs are particularly complex and 
specialist and residential care homes. The consultation notes that the 
National Care Service will establish a national commissioning and 
procurement team to deliver this role.93  

4.89 While a decision is yet to be announced on the proposals, including on 
whether children’s services are to be included, the Scottish Government 
should ensure that, if the proposals are taken forward and children’s 
services are in scope, that these reforms ensure that a minimum level of 
market shaping and procurement collaboration occurs nationally.  

4.90 We also recognise that the Welsh Government White Paper on ‘Rebalancing 
care and support’94 sets out a proposal for a new National Framework for 
commissioning care and support for children and adults, and that the Deputy 
Minister for Social Services has stated that she is committed to introducing 

 
 
93 Scottish Government consultation – A national care service for Scotland, August 2021.   
94 Welsh Government White Paper - Rebalancing care and support, January 2021. 

171

https://www.gov.scot/publications/national-care-service-scotland-consultation/documents/
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consutation-document.pdf


 

82 

this, noting that it will set standards for commissioning practice, reduce 
complexity and rebalance commissioning to focus on quality and 
outcomes.95 Amongst areas identified for improvement in the White Paper 
are ‘reorientation of commissioning practices – towards managing the 
market and focussing on outcomes.’ Therefore, the Welsh Government 
should ensure that when the National Framework is established, it ensures a 
minimum level of market shaping and procurement collaboration occurs 
nationally.  

• National contracts in England 

4.91 As well as requiring a more collective approach to market shaping and 
procurement, we also consider that national contracts in England would help 
to support local authorities in finding the most appropriate placements for the 
children in their care. There are a number of important elements that would 
need to be in place in order to make national contracts work well, including: 

(a) Standard and consistent Terms and Conditions, as far as possible 
recognising that some elements, including prices, will have to vary 
according to local conditions. 

(b) A range of contracts catering to different care types and needs. 

(c) Co-production of contracts by providers and local authorities with 
extensive consultation. 

(d) Having someone with clear responsibility for maintaining the contracts, 
and setting out a clear process for keeping them up to date as needs 
change, eg due to regulatory change, and reflecting feedback from 
commissioners and providers. 

4.92 Once these national contracts are in place, we consider these could 
potentially be further developed to include central portals detailing providers 
and placements available, ratings, prices, accompanying services. 

4.93 We consider that the Department for Education should take responsibility for 
reinvigorating national contracts in England with the characteristics set out 
above. However, the Department should consider using the NCSG to 
engage with the sector on this issue given their prior experience in relation to 
this (as set out in the section on Procurement concerns). 

 
 
95 Written Statement: Rebalancing Care and Support White Paper- next steps (29 October 2021). 

172

https://gov.wales/written-statement-rebalancing-care-and-support-white-paper-next-steps


 

83 

Recommendations we do not intend to take forward 

4.94 We also considered a number of other remedies that would involve 
intervening to shape outcomes, rather than trying to improve the way the 
market itself operates. While some stakeholders see these measures as a 
direct way of addressing concerns about the operation of the market, we are 
not recommending them for the reasons set out below.  

Limiting for-profit provision 

4.95 One possible solution in a market where there is public and voluntary 
provision alongside apparently high profits from for-profit providers is to 
remove for-profit provision and the distortions it implies from the market, 
necessarily eliminating the issue of high profits being earned. 

4.96 This view has gained significant support from some important policy-makers 
and stakeholders. In Scotland, profit-making is not permitted in the fostering 
segment and the Scottish Government has plans to eliminate profit-making 
from the wider children’s social care sector by 2030. The Welsh Government 
has also committed to moving in this direction in the course of this Senedd 
term. Within England, stakeholders such as the North East Region of the 
Association of Directors of Children’s Services have suggested eliminating 
profit-making from the system as one possible approach.96 

4.97 Our view of the role of private and local authority provision in the market is 
based on an assessment of what is needed to deliver the best outcomes in 
the market as it currently stands, not on any in principle view as to whether it 
is appropriate to have services operated by the private sector.  

4.98 On this basis, we have not found evidence that limiting for-profit provision 
would result in better outcomes for children and local authorities in the long 
term.  

4.99 First, it is not clear that more local authority provision of children’s homes 
would necessarily result in significant cost savings for them, because, as set 
out in the section on Outcomes from the placements market, we have seen 
that on average the amount paid for a place in the private sector, even 
allowing for profits, is not obviously higher than that paid by a local authority 
to provide an in-house place. In the case of fostering, we found local 
authorities’ operating costs to be approximately half the level of fees paid to 
large providers. However, as set out in the section on Outcomes from the 

 
 
96 North East Submission to the Independent Review of Children's Social Care 2021. 

173

https://adcs.org.uk/assets/documentation/NorthEastSubmissiontotheIndependentReviewofChildrensSocialCare2.pdf


 

84 

placements market, for both children’s homes and fostering there are many 
difficulties in making like-for-like comparisons.  

4.100 Second, eliminating for-profit provision would risk reducing supply as local 
authorities and voluntary providers, who may not have access to capital to 
create new provision, may not be able to fill the gap left by reducing reliance 
on for-profit provision within an acceptable timetable. 

4.101 We note, however, that the level of these risks will be different depending on 
the situation facing policymakers within their different jurisdictions. Where 
local authorities are less reliant on for-profit provision, or where they expect 
to be so in the future, there will be correspondingly less risk in restricting the 
role of for-profit provision. Conversely, where there is currently a high-level 
of reliance on for-profit provision, and this would be expected to continue 
into the future, this creates a higher level of risk that sufficient appropriate 
placements will not be available.  

4.102 Ultimately, we recognise that decisions around the appropriateness or 
otherwise of having services operated by the private sector are rightly for 
elected representatives across the UK to decide. 

Direct intervention to limit prices or profits 

4.103 A related view that we have heard put forward by some stakeholders is that 
if prices and profits are higher than they should be, we should therefore 
intervene directly to limit prices or profits in the sector. Again, however, 
although this would directly address potential concerns around high prices 
and profits, we consider it would likely exacerbate some of the problems we 
see in this sector.  

4.104 First, this approach would potentially drive supply from the sector. Our 
conclusions about outcomes in this market suggest that despite apparently 
high profits being earned, there is under-supply of appropriate placements in 
the market. Therefore, without first addressing the drivers of this under-
supply, price and profit caps risk reducing incentives to bring new capacity to 
an already underserved market. This would be a poor outcome for children. 

4.105 Second, price caps in particular would be very difficult to design and 
administer effectively. The level of needs, and the type and cost of supply 
that is required to meet those needs, varies widely between children. Even 
for specific children, their true level of needs may not be apparent when they 
are first placed or may change over time. A price or profit cap that is not well-
targeted could, therefore, produce inappropriate incentives for providers to 
pick and choose the placements that they were willing to provide. For 

174



 

85 

example, it could result in “cherry-picking” whereby providers avoid offering 
placements to children with higher needs, because they get the same level 
of income or profit by caring for children with needs levels that involve less 
cost and risk.  

Funding 

4.106 We have also heard concerns from stakeholders that local authority funding 
in England is under increasing pressure as central government grants have 
fallen and demand for services has increased, and that such financial 
challenges have led to the reduced ability of local authorities to invest in new 
provision.97  

4.107 It has also been suggested that a lack of spending on early intervention and 
edge of care services leads to more looked-after children, and therefore 
higher costs for local authorities. While these non-statutory services are 
outside the scope of our market study, it seems clear that their effectiveness 
will have an impact on the functioning of the children’s social care 
placements market.  

4.108 Some local authorities suggested the nature of local authority funding 
arrangements causes issues. For example, one local authority told us that 
“funding is short-term and therefore it is difficult for authorities to plan longer-
term”. However, we also heard from many local authorities that have 
successfully invested in opening new homes within the current financing 
arrangements.  

4.109 These concerns may have led some stakeholders to conclude that greater 
funding, particularly long-term funding, for local authorities as they access 
the placements market would help them achieve better outcomes for 
children. 

4.110 It seems clear that providing targeted funding to local authorities to create 
new provision could ease particular constraints caused by under-supply in 
the market. In some cases, initial investment may allow local authorities to 
deliver services on an ongoing basis at a lower cost than they can purchase 
them from independent providers. While precise like-for-like comparisons are 
difficult to make, our analysis suggests that there are likely to be some cases 
where local authorities could provide foster placements more cost-effectively 
in-house rather than via IFAs, if they are able to recruit and retain the 
necessary carers. We have heard from local authorities who have 

 
 
97 LGA response to the ITC.  

175

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3ca958fa8f56a3c162ab9/Local_Government_Association-response.pdf


 

86 

successfully expanded their in-house foster care offering and have seen 
positive results. 

4.111 However, funding cannot be considered in isolation and putting more funding 
into the system without wider reforms – of the type we have been discussing 
– may only result in prices and profits being bid up without delivering new 
supply. It is therefore important that funding pressures are considered in the 
context of wider issues affecting the market.  

 
 

 
 

176



 

87 

5. Barriers to creating capacity 

5.1 Where local authorities effectively signal to providers their likely future care 
needs, providers then need to act on these signals and develop their service 
capacity to meet local authority needs. However, there are currently barriers 
which prevent providers from developing their service capacity. This 
contributes to the insufficient supply of appropriate children’s social care 
placements in the right places, as discussed in section 3. 

5.2 These barriers will be easier for providers to address the more the 
challenges considered in the previous section are reduced, ie the more 
certainty providers have over future needs and the stronger the incentives 
that are provided. For example, providers stated that they would not open 
homes in high-cost areas unless there was sufficient support from local 
authorities or commitment to use the homes, for example through block 
contracts.    

5.3 In this section we consider barriers in the following areas:  

(a) Regulation: while effective regulation is essential and in general is not 
considered overly burdensome, we found that certain aspects of the way 
regulation is implemented are seen as unduly restrictive. In particular, the 
ability of providers to open new children’s homes is restricted by the 
registration process and the regulatory system (particularly the inspection 
process) can reduce providers’ incentives to provide complex care.  

(b) Property and planning: difficulties finding suitable properties and getting 
the necessary planning permission are seen by providers as a major 
challenge to opening new children’s homes.  

(c) Recruiting and retaining staff: difficulties staffing children’s homes can 
negatively impact on providers’ ability to operate existing homes and open 
new children’s homes.  

(d) Recruiting and retaining foster carers: this is the main barrier to being able 
to expand the provision of foster care.  

Regulation  

5.4 In the children’s social care sector, it is vital that quality is regulated and that 
all providers are vetted and inspected to safeguard the interests of children. 
We are not in a position to judge or make any assessment of what 
constitutes suitable quality in this respect, but we have considered how 
regulation affects the supply of appropriate places to meet children’s needs. 

177



 

88 

5.5 Both local authorities and providers agreed that regulatory standards must 
be kept high and that the current overall level of regulation is not excessive. 
However, they also told us that aspects of the current regulatory framework 
and inspection processes adversely affect the ability of providers to expand 
their services and their incentives to supply placements for children with 
complex needs, without necessarily helping to drive better outcomes. These 
issues were raised consistently with regards to children’s homes and to a far 
lesser degree in relation to foster care. 

5.6 In particular, two significant issues were raised by stakeholders: 

• That the registration process can make opening new regulated provision 
slow and costly. 

• That the regulatory system, particularly the inspection process, can 
discourage the independent provision of complex care. 

5.7 In the context of these issues, stakeholders also expressed concerns that 
the current regulatory framework in England has not kept pace with the 
developments in the children’s social care market. We have considered 
these concerns alongside the two issues set out in paragraph 5.6 above. 

The registration process and capacity expansion  

5.8 Local authorities and large providers in England told us that registering a 
new children’s home can take up to a year as delays to the process are 
common. Further, stakeholders told us that the requirement to have the 
home acquired and a registered manager in place prior to starting the 
process for registering the children’s home with Ofsted results in high costs 
before being able to take on children.98 Local authorities told us that this 
affects their ability to expand their in-house capacity. Large providers also 
told us that on some occasions this deters capacity expansion. Further, local 
authorities explained that the cost of the registration process, including those 
resulting from any delays, are passed onto them once the independent 
providers’ homes are registered as part of the weekly cost of children’s care. 

5.9 While stakeholders in England consistently raised concerns about the impact 
of the registration process as regards children’s homes, this was not 
generally considered to be an issue in relation to foster care as IFAs register 

 
 
98 We note that in England, the Ofsted registration requirements set out the following conditions be met before 
the registration process can begin: appointment of a registered manager, a statement of purpose that sets out the 
overall aims and objectives for the children’s home; and, if it is a company, the appointment of a ‘responsible 
individual’ who represents the organisation to Ofsted. Register a children’s social care service (SC1).   

178

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/register-a-childrens-social-care-service-sc1


 

89 

once with Ofsted and can then expand their capacity and recruit more carers 
without facing the same registration requirements as in children’s homes.  

5.10 Ofsted emphasised that as the regulator, it must use its powers to maintain 
standards for children living in children’s homes. Further, they told us that 
where there is a pressing need, new children’s homes can be registered in 
as little as 10 working days, so long as the providers are ready for 
registration and have everything in place. Ofsted also told us that the 
average time taken to register a children’s home in England is 17 weeks. 
They explained that this is not unreasonable given that Ofsted must ensure 
all proper safeguards are in place and due to the importance of making sure 
a children’s home is suitable and safe.  

5.11 Ofsted explained that delays in the registration process often occur because 
of delays in obtaining Disclosure and Barring Service checks and references 
(which form part of their legal requirements) and checking if those 
responsible for running the homes are known to local authorities (for 
safeguarding reasons). Ofsted also told us that one of the most common 
delays is finding a suitable manager. This is a legal requirement.99 Ofsted 
also told us that sometimes applications are incomplete or poor quality and 
that the required criteria, which are set out in legislation and are on Ofsted’s 
website, are not always followed, resulting in delays to the registration 
process.  

5.12 Ofsted also told us that it has taken steps to ease some of the issues around 
the registration process. For example, it has recently produced guidance 
which sets out how providers can register a children’s home where the care 
and accommodation is provided in more than one building via one single 
registration.100 Ofsted has also recently published a blog with further 
guidance and top tips on how to successfully register a children’s home.101  

5.13 As well as concerns about delays in and costs of the registration process, 
local authorities, independent providers and trade bodies in England also 
said that the regulatory framework regarding registration has not kept pace 
with developments in the market. For example, the current framework 
requires that each children’s home must generally have its own dedicated 
registered manager (regardless of the capacity of the home) although in 
some cases Ofsted may consider registering a manager to manage two 

 
 
99 Ofsted sets out that where a service has no registered manager “[providers] should take all reasonable steps 
to appoint a new manager as soon as possible. If there is any delay, you must tell us immediately, setting out the 
reasons why.” For further information, see Changes to children's social care: guidance for registered providers. 
100 Registering a multi-building children's home. 
101 Applying to register a children’s home: top tips - Ofsted: social care and early years regulation. 

179

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changes-to-childrens-social-care-services-that-are-registered-andor-inspected-by-ofsted/changes-to-childrens-social-care-registered-providers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/registering-a-multi-building-childrens-home/registering-a-multi-building-childrens-home
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/09/15/applying-to-register-a-childrens-home-top-tips/


 

90 

homes.102,103 Similarly, local authorities and large providers in England 
explained that the lack of portability of registered manager registrations 
creates unnecessary time and cost pressures.104 

5.14 This particularly impacts upon the opening of children’s homes for complex 
needs placements which often, by necessity, are smaller and take on fewer 
children at any one time. This means that for a given number of placements 
catering to children with complex needs, a larger number of registered 
managers may be required than would be needed for the same number of 
placements for children with less complex needs. This impacts upon the 
ability of providers to quickly respond to the demand for placements catering 
to complex needs. 

5.15 As such, there have been calls for a comprehensive review of the current 
regulatory framework in England. For example, ADCS said that it would 
“suggest a comprehensive review of the regulatory system, with a view to 
achieving a more fluid system which aims to better meet the needs of 
children and young people”.105 Similarly, ICHA106 also saw the need for a 
review and told us that “any review should look at the portability of 
manager’s registrations”. 

5.16 Ofsted told us that it was aware of local authorities and providers’ views with 
regards to these issues but stressed the importance of registered managers 
in setting policies, procedures etc which means that managers need to be 
involved before the opening of a home. They also highlighted that they are 
looking at what is possible within the current regulations but are bound by 
the legislation. 

5.17 CIS told us that it does not believe the registration process in Scotland is 
similarly problematic to that in England and it does not receive a significant 
number of complaints about registration. CIS explained that registering a 
children’s home in Scotland takes, on average, 6 months. Although this is 
longer than the average time taken to register a children’s home in England, 

 
 
102 Ofsted has guidance for children’s homes on when they will consider registering a manager for more than one 
home. Ofsted may also register a manager to manage more than one other type of establishment or agency. 
When Ofsted receives an application to do so, the manager must demonstrate that they have the appropriate 
experience, qualifications and skills to meet the requirements of each establishment or agency. Introduction to 
children’s homes.  
103 A provider can register a children’s home where the care and accommodation is provided in more than one 
building via one single registration, therefore only one registered manager is required despite multiple building 
providing care and accommodation. See Registering a multi-building children's home. 
104 Currently in England, a “manager’s registration is personal to them. It is not transferable to another registered 
provider. New managers must apply for registration and pay a fee for each application. The manager must 
demonstrate that they have the skills, knowledge and experience to meet the requirements of the relevant 
establishment or agency.” See Changes to children's social care: guidance for registered providers.  
105 ADCS response to the ITC. 
106 ICHA response to the IR. 

180

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/how-to-open-a-childrens-home/introduction-to-childrens-homes#managing-two-homes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/how-to-open-a-childrens-home/introduction-to-childrens-homes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/how-to-open-a-childrens-home/introduction-to-childrens-homes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/registering-a-multi-building-childrens-home/registering-a-multi-building-childrens-home
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3c071e90e07357045b180/Association_of_Directors_of_Childrens_Services-response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/61eff376d3bf7f05452ed36c/Independent_Childrens_Homes_Association_IR_response.pdf


 

91 

the registration process in Scotland allows providers to begin the registration 
process without first having all of the registration requirements in place. For 
example, CIS told us that in Scotland a provider can begin the registration 
process without having first appointed a registered manager (although the 
registered manager will need to be specified later in the process).107 CIS 
also told us it published guidance which highlights the flexibility available in 
appointing registered managers for children’s care services, for example the 
option to employ peripatetic managers who can be registered as the 
manager of more than one registered care service and can move easily 
between these services.108 

5.18 Those local authorities and large providers in Scotland that responded to our 
request for information also did not consider the registration process for 
either children’s homes or foster care to be problematic. Many stakeholders 
in Scotland told us that they believed there to be flexibility in the registration 
process and that they receive help and support from CIS where any issues 
do arise.  

5.19 In Wales, CIW told us that the framework for registration of children’s homes 
and fostering services changed when the Regulation and Inspection of 
Social Care (Wales) Act 2016 (the 2016 Act) came into force in 2018. Due to 
this, registered managers are now registered with Social Care Wales. CIW 
highlighted that on average the registration process in Wales for both 
children’s homes and IFAs takes 14 weeks and that the 2016 Act has helped 
to create flexibility and streamlined the registration process. This means that 
the time and monetary costs faced by providers are reduced. For example, 
an application for registration can be received by CIW prior to a registered 
manager being in place (but will not be determined until a registered 
manager is in place), meaning that the application can be progressed 
quickly. Similarly, once a provider is registered in relation to one service in 
Wales, it can apply to vary the conditions of registration and add another 
service to that registration without having to go through the full registration 
process again, as would be required in England.  

5.20 Those local authorities and large providers in Wales that responded to our 
request for information also did not raise any problems with regards to the 
registration process for either children’s homes or foster care.  

 
 
107 Guidance for applicants on applying to register a care service. 
108 Guidance on Peripatetic Management Arrangements. 

181

https://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/6197/Applying_registration_applicantguidance_july21-web.pdf
https://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/4757/Guidance%20on%20Peripatetic%20Management%20Arrangements.pdf


 

92 

The regulatory system and the provision of complex care 

5.21 Both large providers and local authorities in England told us that the fear of 
receiving negative regulatory ratings disincentivises providers from taking on 
the most complex cases or incentivises them to end placements early even 
when a child’s needs are being met. Local authorities ‘…have reported that 
registered children’s homes are increasingly reluctant to accept children with 
highly complex needs, particularly at short notice or in a crisis situation, for 
fear of jeopardising their Ofsted rating’.109 Local authorities and large 
providers also told us that they have experienced cases where inspectors 
explicitly highlight risks to a provider’s ratings of continuing to provide care 
for children with complex needs and encourage providers to end these 
placements. This contributes to the lack of supply of placements for children 
with complex needs. 

5.22 Large providers in England explained that, in some cases, the complexity of 
the needs of children requiring placements is beyond that which the 
providers can effectively meet, for example, because of lack of staff trained 
to look after children with these complex needs. In these cases, they said 
that it is right that providers do not offer placements for children for whom 
they are not able to meet their needs. However, several large providers also 
highlighted that on many occasions in the last few years, the risk to their 
regulatory ratings were felt to be so significant that they have not offered 
placements to children with complex needs even where they had the 
resources and ability to meet the needs of these children. For example, one 
large provider told us that between November 2020 and October 2021, 29% 
of children that left its children’s homes were children that the provider could 
not maintain because it considered that if it did so it would face increased 
risks and potential negative impacts on inspection outcomes.  

5.23 Stakeholders in England, both local authorities and providers, suggested 
ratings often do not fully take into account the degree of challenge some 
children present. Sometimes due to the complexity of a child’s needs, bad 
outcomes, at least in the short term, may be unavoidable. For example, a 
child with a propensity to run away or to not attend school is, unfortunately, 
unlikely to immediately stop doing so even with excellent care. Therefore, 
stakeholders expressed a desire for Ofsted to be more flexible with regards 
to the application of the quality standards110 whilst recognising the 
complexity of some children and their needs.  

 
 
109 ADCS response to the IR. 
110 The Children’s Homes (England) Regulations 2015 contain quality standards as prescribed for the purposes 
of section 22(1A) of the Care Standards Act. 

182

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/61eff490e90e07037ff2768e/The_Association_of_Directors_of_Childrens_Services_IR_response.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/541/contents/made


 

93 

5.24 Where stakeholders in England raised these issues, they were largely with 
regard to children’s homes and stakeholders told us this risk was lower in 
foster care as foster care is not inspected on a setting-by-setting basis. 

5.25 Ofsted told us that it is aware of concerns about children’s homes not taking 
on children with more complex needs due to the potentially negative impact 
on their Ofsted ratings. However, it also told us that it has not seen much 
evidence of these concerns in practice as it is usually raised as a general 
issue without concrete examples. Despite this, Ofsted have adapted their 
approach in light of these concerns, focusing on progress made and 
experience indicators in relation to the child in care, rather than outcomes. 
Ofsted also pointed out that their role is to establish whether a children’s 
home is catering for the needs of the children in that home, in line with the 
statement of purpose, and that it is not the inspectors’ role to comment on an 
individual child’s placement.  

5.26 Although the legislation and guidance in England sets out minimum 
standards for placements,111 we have also heard from local authorities and 
large providers that the current framework is too rigid in terms of what does 
and does not constitute appropriate care and does not reflect the current 
demand for children’s social care placements. For example, stakeholders 
told us that legislation sets out what types of residence children may be 
placed in and rules out others, even though these may be reasonable given 
the care needs of the child. This hinders local authorities and providers from 
flexibly offering bespoke placements specifically tailored for complex needs, 
contributing to the lack of appropriate placements in children’s social care.  

5.27 Ofsted told us that the current definition of a children’s home112 is not fit for 
purpose. For example, Ofsted highlighted that “there is no legal window for 
flexible or emergency provision, with potential workarounds being fraught 
with complexity for registration and enforcement processes”. Ofsted also 
consider reform is required to better reflect the different types of more 
‘blended’ children’s social care services that are now required (for example, 

 
 
111 In England, a local authority can place a looked after child in the following ways: with a local authority foster 
parent (Children Act 1989, Section 22C(6) (a) and (b)); in a children’s home (Children Act 1989, Section 22C 
6(c)); or in a placement in accordance with other arrangements which comply with any relevant regulations 
(made for the purposes of section 22C Children Act 1989. Subject to Section 22D of the Children Act 1989). In 
Wales, a local authority can place a looked after child in the following ways (Social Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014, Section 81): with a local authority foster parent; or in a children’s home. In Scotland, when a 
local authority provides accommodation for a child, whether on a voluntary or compulsory basis, the local 
authority may place the child in a foster family, or in a residential establishment (Children (Scotland) Act 1995, 
Section 26(1). 
112 Care Standards Act 2000, section 1 states ‘an establishment is a children’s home… if it provides care and 
accommodation wholly or mainly for children’. 

183

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/36/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/14/contents


 

94 

the close relationship between social care and health services), particularly 
for children with complex needs.  

5.28 CIS told us they did not consider that issues similar to those described 
above in England were of concern in Scotland regarding the risk of 
inspection ratings deterring providers from taking on children with more 
complex needs.  

5.29 The majority of local authorities and large providers in Scotland that 
responded to our request for information also told us that they did not 
consider the regulatory system in Scotland to negatively impact on the 
provision of complex care placements. Local authorities and large providers 
in Scotland also explained that flexibility towards bespoke placements is 
encouraged by CIS.  

5.30 CIW told us that they have not received feedback that indicates that the 
regulatory system in Wales impacts upon the supply of complex care 
placements. CIW explained it does not currently use a ratings system and so 
there are not rating related disincentives in Wales. Also, CIW consider that 
the regulatory regime has enough flexibility to allow local authorities and 
independent providers to put together bespoke packages for children with 
complex needs.  

5.31 Those local authorities and large providers in Wales that responded to our 
request for information also did not believe that the regulatory system in 
Wales has negative impacts on the supply of complex care placements. 
Local authorities and large providers in Wales also believe the regulatory 
regime provides enough flexibility to enable them to create bespoke 
placements for children with complex needs and that CIW is helpful in 
providing guidance to support providers in doing so.  

Recommendations 

England 

5.32 As described above, we have heard from local authorities, large providers 
and other stakeholders in the children’s social care market that the current 
regulatory system in England is having adverse effects on the supply of 
placements, particularly for children with complex care needs. Similarly, as 
discussed in paragraph 5.15, there have already been calls for a 
comprehensive review of the regulatory system in England.113 

 
 
113 See for example ADCS response to the ITC. 

184

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3c071e90e07357045b180/Association_of_Directors_of_Childrens_Services-response.pdf


 

95 

5.33 England could also benefit from considering adopting some of the 
approaches to regulation adopted in Scotland and Wales. For example, as 
set out in paragraphs 5.28 to 5.30, we have seen evidence that the 
regulatory systems in Scotland and Wales allow providers more flexibility to 
build bespoke care to meet complex care needs. We also understand that 
the process for registering a new children’s social care service is more 
flexible and streamlined in these nations as set out in paragraphs 5.17 to 
5.19. In particular there appear to be real benefits in allowing the registration 
process to commence before a manager is in place. 

5.34 Therefore, we consider that a review of the regulatory system in England is 
required to address the issues we have seen evidence of. We expect this 
review will help to ease some of the issues around the lack of supply of 
appropriate children’s social care placements in England.  

5.35 Given the essential role of regulation in the sector, it should be first and 
foremost centred on quality and safeguarding of children’s interests - we do 
not consider any review should compromise the overall level of regulatory 
protection for children.  

5.36 As discussed in paragraphs  5.9 and 5.24 , the issues relating to the 
regulatory system in England are more of a concern in relation to children’s 
homes than in relation to foster care. Therefore, we consider that the 
regulatory review should focus on children’s homes, but consideration 
should also be given to whether any learnings from the review could read 
across to improve the regulatory system for foster care.   

5.37 This review should seek to assess and remedy (but not necessarily be 
limited to) the following identified issues, while ensuring sufficient safeguards 
remain in place: 

(a) The length of and inefficiencies within the registration process (including: 
the common occurrence of registration delays and the requirement to 
have a registered manager in place before registration can begin); 

(b) Regulation not keeping pace with market developments (such as the lack 
of portability of registered manager registrations);  

(c) The impact of caring for children with more complex needs on regulatory 
ratings, whether perceived or real, and the resulting effect on the 
availability of children’s social care placements for these children, and; 

(d) The need for legislation that permits flexibility, where appropriate, the lack 
of which currently hinders the ability of providers to build bespoke 
placements to meet the needs of children with complex needs. 

185



 

96 

Scotland 

5.38 As described above, we have not found evidence of significant issues 
resulting from the regulatory system in Scotland. As such, we do not 
consider a review of regulation in Scotland is necessary to address these 
issues.  

5.39 The wider landscape in Scotland is experiencing significant changes, 
particularly as a result of the implementation of the Promise, the potential for 
the sector’s inclusion in the National Care Service which is under 
consideration by Scottish Government and the intention to remove profit-
making from the provision of children’s social care. We consider that as 
these changes are made, and as any changes are made to the legislative 
and regulatory framework, the Scottish Government should consider the 
potential for unintended consequences, and for these landscape changes to 
impact on the ability and incentive of providers (of any type) to create and 
maintain provision to meet the care needs of children.  

Wales 

5.40 As described above, we have not found evidence of significant issues 
resulting from the regulatory system in Wales. Therefore, we do not consider 
a review of regulation in Wales is necessary to address these issues. 

5.41 In Wales, the wider children’s social care system is likely to experience 
transformation in the coming years including in light of the White Paper on 
rebalancing care and support, where the Welsh Government has consulted 
on improving social care arrangements and strengthening partnership 
working to better support people’s well-being,114 and the Welsh 
Government’s commitment to remove profit-making from the sector. We 
consider that as these changes are made, and as any changes are made to 
the legislative and regulatory framework, the Welsh Government should 
consider the potential for any changes to the children’s social care 
landscape to unintentionally affect the ability and incentives of providers (of 
any type) to create and maintain provision to meet the care needs of 
children.  

Property and planning 

5.42 Finding a suitable property, either to purchase or lease, is a challenging and 
essential part of being able to open a new children's home. In this section we 

 
 
114 Welsh Government White Paper Rebalancing care and support, published 6 April 2021.  

186

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consutation-document.pdf


 

97 

first consider the challenges in finding suitable property and then consider 
issues related to the planning process. We set out the impact of the planning 
process on opening children’s homes, the problems we have identified in the 
planning process and then our recommendations to remedy the problems. 

Finding suitable property 

5.43 To operate as a children’s home, a property needs to fit certain criteria 
depending on the type of care being provided. Providers pointed to some of 
the characteristics properties need to meet, such as being the right size, 
preferably with en-suite bathrooms, office space, outdoor space and 
communal space. It must also be in the right area, with security and privacy, 
near schools and other children's services and away from crime, gangs and 
the risk of exploitation.   

5.44 Providers and local authorities told us that a lack of suitable property and the 
high price of property can be a barrier to being able to provide children's 
homes. Although finding suitable property is not always considered a major 
challenge, large providers generally considered it to be a problem where 
residential housing is in high demand, particularly London and the South 
East of England. While some local authorities outside these areas still 
considered finding properties to be an issue, others did not, particularly 
where they have access to council housing stock which can be used instead 
of purchasing or leasing new properties. 

The impact of the planning process on children’s homes 

5.45 In England and Wales, providers and local authorities told us that the 
planning process was a more significant constraint than finding a suitable 
property. Changing a property from conventional domestic use to a 
children’s home may require planning permission where there is a material 
change of use.115  

5.46 Obtaining planning permission increases costs and uncertainty for providers 
and can take a long time. Some providers reported having to offer higher 

 
 
115 In England and Wales, depending on the circumstances of each case, a children’s home will fall into either a 
C2 (residential institutions) or C3 (dwelling houses) use classification (as set out in The Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987). Planning permission may be required for a ‘material change’ between these 
use classifications. In Scotland, houses (which include occupation by a single person, a family or not more than 5 
residents living together including a household where care is provided for residents) are a Class 9 establishment. 
Residential institutions (for the provision of residential accommodation and care to people in need of care other 
than a use within class 9 (houses); or as a hospital or nursing home; or as a residential school, college or training 
centre) are a class 8 establishment. Planning permission is likely required for change of use between Class 8 and 
9 (Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 and The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) 
(Scotland) Order 1997/3061. 

187

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1987/764/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1987/764/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1997/8/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1997/3061/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1997/3061/made


 

98 

prices or a non-refundable deposit to secure a home and one provider 
reported that it adds an additional cost of £20,000 - £30,000 per application. 
Another provider told us that end-to-end, the time taken to obtain planning 
permission means the process from starting to look for a suitable site (which 
typically takes three months) to placing the first child can take over two years 
to complete. Issues with planning permission typically delay the opening of 
homes and in some cases providers and local authorities have abandoned 
plans to open a children’s home due to issues with planning permission or 
apprehension about permission being refused.  

5.47 Planning issues can also lead to children’s homes being opened in less 
suitable places. We were told that local and political opposition to children’s 
homes is more likely in areas which are safer and where there are more 
properties with multiple bedrooms. However, these are often the areas that 
are most suitable for children’s homes. For example, one local authority 
highlighted that the larger houses needed for children’s homes are 
predominantly in affluent or semi affluent areas where neighbours and the 
local community can be resistant, and this causes disputes and complaints. 
As a result, providers told us that for some of their residential services the 
remoteness of a property is a factor to consider to avoid “neighbour issues” 
or they avoid opening homes in areas where they expect planning 
permission to be rejected.  

Problems in the planning process 

5.48 Providers and local authorities in England and Wales consistently told us 
that local opposition is the most common cause of difficulty when seeking 
planning permission. They gave many examples of planning permission 
being rejected due to local people opposing the home. One provider 
considered that the planning process isn’t a barrier to entry itself but 
“prejudiced or political views held by residents” is such a barrier.  

5.49 The planning process itself can also trigger opposition. One provider told us 
that the process can help “attract publicity, resulting in comments and 
language used by the community and media which, in our view, can be very 
harmful to the children involved”.  

5.50 A common theme we heard was that opposition is often based on 
misunderstandings about what a children’s home is and about looked-after 
children. Opposition can arise because of fears that the children living in the 
home will be disruptive.116 One provider received objections because of 

 
 
116 Children in care homes 'seen as criminals not victims' - BBC News. 

188

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-59563872


 

99 

concerns that “some of the more elderly will become apprehensive about 
going about their normal activities” and “property valuations would dip”. 
Opposition is also expressed by local politicians and MPs for reasons 
including concerns about the increased likelihood of crime and anti-social 
behaviour.117  

5.51 Some local authorities and providers managed to overcome local opposition 
by engaging with the local community early in the planning process and 
working with the community to dispel mistaken objections and fears about 
children’s homes. Examples of this include a local authority setting up a 
working group with those living near the home to find a way forward and 
hosting open days for local residents. One provider told us a case where 
despite significant unrest and involvement from the media and parish 
council, planning was passed after the provider worked to reassure the 
community. 

5.52 However, many providers told us about the difficulties they experienced in 
having to go through a lengthy and detailed planning permission process 
even for smaller homes. For example, one provider reported that despite 
most of their homes catering for only two or three children, they still had to 
engage with the planning regime and obtain a “Certificate of lawful 
development118 enabling the change of a property from C2 to C3”. One local 
authority reported that they had to obtain full planning permission for a solo 
placement as the care of the child was on a shift basis.  

5.53 We recognise that local communities want to be involved in decisions 
affecting them. However, where a small children’s home is comparable in 
size and number of residents to a standard domestic dwelling house, it is 
less clear to us that local communities should be able to prevent its 
establishment through the planning regime.   

5.54 A further problem we have identified with the planning regime is a lack of 
clarity about the rules and a resulting lack of consistency in their application. 
As noted above, changing a property from conventional domestic use to a 
children's home may require planning permission where there is a ‘material 
change of use’. However, we repeatedly heard that what constitutes a 
‘material change of use’ in this context is not clear.  

5.55 We were also told that there is considerable disparity between local authority 
interpretations of what constitutes a Class 2 residential institution as 

 
 
117 MP backs protesters over children's home plan' - Lancashire Telegraph. 
118 A lawful development certificate (sometimes referred to as a certificate of lawfulness) is a mechanism to find 
out if planning permission is required. A local planning authority will grant a lawful development certificate if it is 
satisfied that a proposed use or development is lawful because it does not require planning permission. 

189

https://www.lancashiretelegraph.co.uk/news/5806018.mp-backs-protesters-childrens-home-plan/


 

100 

opposed to a Class 3 dwelling house. In particular, interpretations about 
whether staff are sleeping in the home on shift or on a permanent basis can 
determine whether planning permission is required.119  

5.56 Providers expressed frustration that the process and decision making differs 
from area to area with one provider saying that the requirements “can 
appear almost random at times”. These inconsistencies affect where homes 
are opened. For example, one provider reported that a local planning 
authority’s decision to decline an application for certificate of lawful 
development and instead refer to full planning application with public 
consultation, can impact the decision to open a home in that area. 

5.57 We have also heard that there is sometimes a disconnect between parts of 
the local authority considering planning proposals and those responsible for 
children’s social care. Sometimes the children’s services department within a 
local authority identifies a need for a home but does not communicate this to 
the planning department. This can be even more of a challenge where these 
responsibilities are split between different tiers of local government.120 
Further, providers told us of frustrations when planning permission was 
rejected, despite an identified need for more children’s homes in the area. 
Providers also told us that “some [planning] officers work closely with their 
children’s services colleagues, whilst others operate independently”. The 
latter creates “a challenge for the provider that is asked during the planning 
process to prove the need for capacity”.  

Recommendations 

5.58 In light of this evidence, we recommend that national governments in 
England and Wales: 

(a) Consider removing any distinction, for the purposes of the planning 
regime, between small children’s homes and domestic dwelling houses. 
This could include, for example, steps to make it clear that children’s 
homes which can accommodate less than a specified number of residents 
at any one time are removed from the requirement to go through the 
planning system notwithstanding that the carers there work on a shift 
pattern.    

 
 
119 North Devon District Council v First Secretary of State [2003] EWHC 157 (Admin). The judge looked at the 
shift patterns of the carers in deciding whether the proposed use of the property was within class C2 or C3. 
120 Many parts of England have two tiers of local government with county councils responsible for children’s 
social care and district, borough and city councils responsible for planning applications (Understand how your 
council works). In Scotland (Local government) and Wales (Law Wales), local authorities are single tiered. 

190

https://www.gov.uk/understand-how-your-council-works
https://www.gov.uk/understand-how-your-council-works
https://www.gov.scot/policies/local-government/
https://law.gov.wales/principal-councils


 

101 

(b) Introduce national guidance clarifying when planning permission may be 
required for larger children’s homes and the circumstances in which it is 
likely to be granted or refused. 

5.59 From the perspective of how the market functions to provide appropriate 
places for looked after children, limitations on properties being used for 
children’s homes have a negative impact by limiting the availability of 
otherwise suitable properties. It is also not clear to us why from a wider 
policy perspective if a normal size dwelling house can be used by a family 
without planning permission, the planning regime should be able to block it 
from use as a children’s home.  

5.60 Ofsted already requires location assessments to be submitted by managers 
of potential new homes in consultation with relevant services in the area 
where the home is, or will be, located.121 The additional requirement for 
approval from a local planning authority appears disproportionate in the case 
of a small children’s home. 

5.61 We note that according to figures from Ofsted new children’s homes have an 
average of three places compared with an average of six for recently closed 
homes.122 Moreover, some foster carers are registered to look after three, 
four or even more children but do not need any planning permission to do so 
in their own home. It is not clear to us why the planning regime should be 
engaged simply because a building is intended to be used as a children’s 
home, but the total number of residents is the same or less than in a 
domestic dwelling house (including one where fostering takes place).   

5.62 Therefore, we recommend that national governments in England and Wales 
consider removing any distinction, for the purposes of the planning regime, 
between small children’s homes and domestic dwelling houses.123 Doing this 
will increase the prospect of enough children’s homes being opened and 
operated in locations where they are needed to provide the level of care that 
children need there. 

5.63 Where children’s homes remain in the planning system (for example 
because they are larger), we consider that it is important national guidance 
is introduced for local planning authorities and providers. The guidance 

 
 
121 Children’s homes regulations amendments 2014 - Advice for children’s homes providers on new duties under 
amendments to regulations that came into effect in January and April 2021. 
122 The Annual Report of Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Education, Children’s Services and Skills 2020/21, 
page 58.  
123 Possible ways of doing this include amending The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 
which distinguishes a range of uses of buildings into different classes. All children’s homes could, in future, be 
moved to the C3 classification and be regarded as a ‘dwelling house’ if the total number of people sleeping at the 
property at any time does not exceed a specified threshold. 

191

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/339545/Children_s_homes_regulations_amendments_2014.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/339545/Children_s_homes_regulations_amendments_2014.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1038508/Ofsted_Annual_Report_2020_to_2021.pdf


 

102 

should clarify the circumstances in which it is likely to be granted or refused.  
It should also clarify when the proposed changes to a property constitute a 
‘material change of use’ and therefore require planning permission.  

5.64 Such guidance would increase consistency in the way in which planning 
applications for new children’s homes are treated by different local planning 
authorities. In turn, this will also reduce the uncertainty which deters and 
delays planning applications for new children’s homes. 

5.65 We also encourage greater collaboration between local authorities’ 
children’s services departments and those dealing with planning 
applications; and that providers engage early on with local communities to 
build trust and support for their proposals. This will, in turn, help looked-after 
children have a positive and welcome experience in the neighbourhood 
surrounding their home. 

Recruiting and retaining staff 

5.66 High quality staff are crucial for continuing provision and for expanding 
supply. We have heard that the requirement for staff both in terms of 
numbers and of suitable quality has increased as a result of higher 
regulatory standards.124 Whilst some local authorities and providers reported 
no issues in recruiting staff, many providers and local authorities told us that 
finding sufficiently skilled staff with appropriate experience is the most 
significant challenge to expanding provision in children’s homes.  

5.67 This was highlighted as a difficulty by providers and local authorities across 
all three nations. Data from Scotland for 2019 showed that 47% of children’s 
homes had vacancies and 70% said recruiting appropriately qualified 
candidates was an issue.125 It is particularly significant in some areas. Some 
providers reported that it is more challenging to recruit staff in the South-
East and London, where the average wage is higher and there are more 
employment opportunities in other fields. Others told us that it is more 
difficult to recruit in very rural areas where there is a smaller supply pool of 
labour, for example in the South and North-East of Scotland and 
Herefordshire. Very local factors can also impact the ability to recruit staff, 
for example, when a home is close to a supermarket or warehouse, which 
may be perceived as offering more attractive employment opportunities and 
rewards. 

 
 
124 ICHA response to the ITC. 
125 CIS response to the ITC. 

192

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3df98d3bf7f2886e2a05f/The_Independent_Childrens_Home_Association-response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3c3068fa8f56a37d59d86/Care_Inspectorate_Scotland-response.pdf


 

103 

5.68 This section sets out the barriers to recruiting and retaining staff we have 
identified, the initiatives being taken address this challenge and our 
recommendations for further remedies.  

Barriers to recruitment and retention of staff 

5.69 Both local authorities and providers told us that recruiting staff is particularly 
difficult because there is a shortage of suitable applicants. Providers and 
local authorities report that they are competing with other similarly paid 
employment opportunities such as those at Amazon and supermarkets.126 
Brexit has reduced the potential pool of recruits and we have repeatedly 
heard that the COVID-19 pandemic is significantly impacting providers. It is 
reported that providers and local authorities are struggling to recruit and 
retain staff more since the pandemic started.  

5.70 The recruitment challenge is particularly acute around registered managers. 
Registered managers are vital for children’s homes. They have an important 
and challenging role managing the home and having responsibility for the 
children that live there. Registered managers are required to have a certain 
level of experience as well as specific qualifications for running a children’s 
home. For example, in England a registered manager must have a minimum 
of two years’ experience and a Level 5 Diploma in Leadership and 
Management for Residential Childcare.127 As a result, the pool of potential 
managers is smaller than for other staff. One provider reported that the 
challenge to recruit a registered manager is “huge” and another reported that 
“there was a dearth of applicants which was a concern”. One local authority 
told us “the most significant challenge is recruiting to the registered 
managers' post, often only receiving 2 applicants when we advertise”. 

5.71 Retaining staff is also a challenge that both local authorities and providers 
have consistently emphasised. Despite thinking they have found suitable 
applicants, local authorities and providers report that a high proportion of 
staff leave soon after joining. Over 40% of staff leave their job within two 
years128 and one provider told us that “70-80% of staff leave within the first 6 
months” One provider told us that when opening a new home, they aim to 
recruit 20% more staff than they require because of the expected turnover. 
We have been told that “many do not have the resilience to cope while 
others use it as a stepping stone to other roles within Social Care”.  

 
 
126 Plymouth City Council response to the IR. 
127 Children’s homes workforce literature review. 
128 Children’s homes workforce literature review. 

193

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/61eff4228fa8f5058667844f/Plymouth_City_Council_IR_response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/999484/Children_s_homes_workforce_-_Literature_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/999484/Children_s_homes_workforce_-_Literature_review.pdf


 

104 

5.72 Retaining staff is difficult because working with children in care requires 
specialist skills, which not everyone is able to develop, and the willingness to 
work in the evenings, which is not possible for everyone. Not only does this 
make it challenging to recruit staff, but these challenges impact turnover and 
retention rates. We have been told that “the sector is very challenging and 
intense which can make the sector unattractive to many”.129 

5.73 We have been told by ICHA that the sector does not attract highly qualified 
staff to its carer roles.130 We also understand that a registered manager 
must meet the training requirements within three years of starting 
employment and other staff in a care role must meet the relevant training 
requirements within two years of starting work.131 ICHA said that providers 
aim to retain staff to recoup training costs, so wages may not rise 
significantly because of the qualification. The ICHA has highlighted that 
carers’ roles are not professionalised, and notes that other comparable 
sectors such as teaching, nursing and social work have their own career 
pathway.132 

5.74 Low pay for staff impacts recruitment and retainment in the sector. It is 
reported that 1% of staff are paid below National Minimum Wage and 11% 
are paid less than the Living Wage Rate.133 We have been told that "staff 
deserve good pay for the jobs they do, however constant increase to 
national minimum / living wage which will be 6.6% on the next increase, puts 
added pressure onto providers". Providers reported some success in 
retaining staff when they “reviewed pay structures” along with other 
initiatives. While, as the preceding paragraphs demonstrate, pay is not the 
only issue that impacts recruitment and retention, higher pay would likely 
help with recruitment.  

Initiatives to improve recruitment and retention of staff 

5.75 There are a range of strategies that individual local authorities and providers 
have successfully used to improve recruitment and retention. Most of these 
involve increasing the support for their staff’s wellbeing as well as improving 
training. One provider reported that they reviewed holidays and sickness 

 
 
129 Barnardo’s response to the IR.  
130 ICHA response to the ITC. 
131 Regulation 28 of the Children’s Homes (England) Regulations 2015 requires a registered manager to obtain 
the Level 5 Diploma in Leadership and Management for Residential Care or an equivalent qualification. A 
manager without this qualification must gain the qualification within 3 years of starting to manage the home. 
Regulation 32 of the Children’s Homes (England) Regulations 2015 requires children’s home staff to have the 
appropriate experience, qualifications and skills for the work they will perform. For staff in a care role, the 
regulation requires them to obtain the Level 3 Diploma for Residential Childcare or an equivalent qualification. 
Any staff member starting to work in a care role has 2 years to gain the qualification. 
132 ICHA response to the ITC. 
133 Children’s homes workforce literature review. 

194

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/61f02a5cd3bf7f054798bd72/Barnardos_IR_response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3df98d3bf7f2886e2a05f/The_Independent_Childrens_Home_Association-response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60a3df98d3bf7f2886e2a05f/The_Independent_Childrens_Home_Association-response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/999484/Children_s_homes_workforce_-_Literature_review.pdf


 

105 

payment as a retention strategy. Another reported that they “operate a 
sector-leading annual awards programme - the ‘Care Awards’- that engages 
our workforce and through peer nomination allows national recognition of 
staff” as a way to retain staff.  

5.76 There have been some successes in recruiting registered managers when 
developing and promoting staff internally. One provider reported that they 
were able to recruit registered managers where they “have succession 
planning for our Deputies to move up to Home Managers”. Similarly, others 
spoke about “organic growth” and promoting “from within the organisation”. 
Whilst these providers have had success, the shortage of registered 
managers in general means that initiatives by individual providers can only 
go so far. 

5.77 Alongside the initiatives being taken by individual local authorities and 
providers, we have been consistently told that what is needed is more 
national leadership and promotion of the sector.134 Stakeholders have called 
for two main actions from national governments. First, national campaigns to 
recruit staff and generally raise awareness of the sector as an important and 
attractive employment option; providers and local authorities point to 
examples of campaigns run for other sectors, such as for health, education 
and the police.135 Second, more money for the sector to help providers and 
local authorities pay more to their staff. We note that where providers make 
high profits, as we have found larger providers do, they could potentially 
afford to pay higher salaries. 

5.78 Other less frequently raised suggestions include adding the sector to the 
immigration ‘shortage occupation list’ to help potential staff qualify for visas; 
and recognition of a wider range of qualifications and prior experience so 
that a wider pool of applicants can “enter, succeed and progress in children’s 
residential care”. 

5.79 The recruitment of registered managers in England could also benefit from 
considering adopting different approaches to regulation, for example 
allowing greater portability of managers’ registration.  

Recommendations 

5.80 We strongly agree that further measures to address and improve staff 
recruitment and retention should be taken in all three nations. However, 
recruitment and retention of staff is a fundamental problem across all care 

 
 
134 ADCS response to the IR. 
135 ICHA response to the IR. 

195

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/61eff490e90e07037ff2768e/The_Association_of_Directors_of_Childrens_Services_IR_response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/61eff376d3bf7f05452ed36c/Independent_Childrens_Homes_Association_IR_response.pdf


 

106 

sectors. Those with experience in the sector are best placed to assess the 
costs and potential long-term impacts of any measures. This should be an 
ongoing process building on existing work, including for example on 
England’s independent review of children’s social care.  

5.81 To ensure this happens, we recommend that national governments conduct 
an annual assessment of the state of the workforce, with a forward look at 
potential issues that may impact on the workforce in the next 5 to 10 years. 
This should be part of a wider ‘State of the Sector’ review and similar to the 
CQC’s annual State of Care review in England. The assessment should 
provide a clear overview of staffing pressures and concerns, and 
recommend measures to address bottlenecks, for example considering 
whether national measures, such as recruitment campaigns, measures to 
support professionalisation (such as investment in training and 
qualifications) and clearer career pathways are required. By recognising 
these potential problems in advance, it should help to prepare and plan how 
to recruit and retain more staff to reduce shortages. 

Recruiting and retaining foster carers 

5.82 Difficulties in recruiting foster carers will limit the number of foster 
placements and can prevent providers from expanding into new areas. Local 
authorities and IFAs market the opportunity to become a foster carer online, 
on social media and through local events, for example with current foster 
carers. This can be expensive, with providers reporting large and growing 
recruitment and marketing costs. This section looks at the scale of the 
current and future challenge with regard to recruitment of foster carers; the 
barriers to increasing recruitment and retention; the initiatives being tried to 
address the problem; and finally our recommendations.  

The current and future challenge 

5.83 Recruitment of new foster carers is a challenge in England, Scotland and 
Wales. Over recent years, the number of approved foster carers has slightly 
declined in England and Scotland and risen slightly in Wales.136 Most new 
recruitment replaces foster carers that have deregistered. For example, in 
England in the year ending 31 March 2021 there were 5,355 newly approved 
households and 4,870 households that deregistered.  

5.84 The difficulty in recruiting foster carers is greatest for carers needed to look 
after children with more challenging needs. We have been told that it is hard 

 
 
136 Sources: Ofsted Official Statistics Release; Care Inspectorate, Fostering and Adoption 2019-20 A statistical 
bulletin; Foster Parents Approved by local authority and measure, Stats Wales. 

196

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/967452/Fostering_in_England_2019-20_dataset.xlsx
https://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/5945/Fostering%20and%20Adoption%202019-20%20Master%20(2).pdf
https://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/5945/Fostering%20and%20Adoption%202019-20%20Master%20(2).pdf
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Fostering-Services/fosterparentsapproved-by-localauthority-measure


 

107 

to find families “who are open to looking after a child/children who have 
experienced trauma and whose behaviour will have been affected by this” 
and that have the right skill levels to care for these children. Finding suitable 
carers for sibling groups is also a particular challenge. For example, CIS 
report that 60% of fostering agencies in Scotland found recruiting 
households that will take sibling groups a challenge with the main reason 
being accommodation constraints.137 Other placements for which there is a 
particular challenge to find foster carers include teenagers, children with 
disabilities and parent and child placements.138  

5.85 The degree of challenge also varies geographically. The challenge is greater 
in areas such as London and the South East of England, where there is 
greater competition with other jobs and housing is more expensive and so 
there are limited numbers of applicants with spare bedrooms. Rural areas 
can also present a particular challenge. For example, one provider reported 
that in rural areas “population spread impacts the success of recruiting – to 
spread the message across fewer people over a larger area also costs 
more”.  

5.86 There is uncertainty around how demand for foster carers will develop in the 
future and so how many foster carers will need to be recruited. If in the 
future demand for foster carers continues to grow the challenge will become 
greater. There are widespread concerns that growing demand will mean that 
there will not be enough foster carers in the future. A report published in 
2021 by the Social Market Foundation projects that based on current trends 
there will be a deficit in recruitment of around 25,000 foster care families in 
England over the next five years.139 However, it is not clear that the current 
trend of increasing use of fostering will continue (although it has since at 
least 1994).  

5.87 In all three nations there are efforts to reduce the number of children taken 
into care, including fostering. The terms of reference for the independent 
review of children’s social care in England sets out the requirement to 
“support and strengthen families in order to prevent children being taken into 
care unnecessarily.”140 The Promise in Scotland aims for a “fundamental 
shift of thinking about when a child should be removed from their family with 
more support for families to stay together.”141 In Wales, the Welsh 
Government’s White Paper ‘Rebalancing care and support’ reiterates the 

 
 
137 CIS, Fostering and Adoption 2020-21 A statistical bulletin. 
138 State of the Nation Report 2021, The Fostering Network. 
139 Fostering the future, Paper 2, - recruiting and retaining more foster carers. 
140 Terms of reference for the independent review of children's social care.  
141 Independent Care Review, the promise, page15. 

197

https://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/5945/Fostering%20and%20Adoption%25https:/www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/6445/Fostering%20and%20adoption%202020-21%20statistical%20bulletin.pdf-20%20Master%20(2).pdf
https://thefosteringnetwork.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-12/State%20of%20the%20Nation%20Report%202021_DIGITAL_FINAL_0.pdf
https://www.smf.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/Fostering-the-future-Paper-2.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/952624/terms_of_reference_independent_childrens_social_care_review.pdf
https://www.carereview.scot/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/The-Promise.pdf


 

108 

Welsh Government’s vision for social care, which for children and families 
means being supported to stay together, where this is in the best interests of 
the child.142  

5.88 In the shorter term, some stakeholders expect demand for foster carers to 
increase due to the Covid-19 pandemic and are concerned that the supply of 
carers will not be able to match it. The Scottish Government has been 
collecting data to understand the impact of the pandemic and has found 
there are fewer children in care and on the child protection register than two 
years ago, but notes this could be because schools have been closed for 
some of that time meaning that fewer children in need of care have been 
identified and children are less visible across the system.  

Barriers to recruitment of foster carers 

5.89 There are a range of reasons why recruiting foster carers is challenging. The 
main barrier identified by providers to recruiting more foster carers is 
identifying and encouraging the limited pool of people who are willing and 
able to be a foster carer. We also considered the impact of the recruitment 
process and the ability to transfer between agencies but found that they are 
not undue barriers to recruitment.  

5.90 Fostering is a major choice that cannot be taken lightly. We have been told 
that it is life-changing and incredibly rewarding, but also very challenging. As 
such, local authorities and providers are trying to engage and attract carers 
from the same limited pool. Despite increasing budgets for marketing and 
recruitment, we have been told that the quality of applications does not 
always increase and budgets are not limitless.  

5.91 Furthermore, not everyone who wants to be a foster carer has the resources, 
including a spare room, financial stability and time, or the personal skills to 
be eligible. Foster carers may have to give up working or rely on one salary 
and must “consider the risk of losing income if they do not have children 
placed in their care”. As set out in the next paragraph, foster carers go 
through a detailed assessment process and it is reported that the skills and 
attributes required to be a foster carer have increased over the past decade. 

5.92 While those interested in becoming foster carers go through a detailed 
recruitment process, this is not generally considered an undue barrier to 
recruitment. The process includes a detailed application form, multiple visits 
from a social worker, background checks, references and a three-day 

 
 
142 Welsh Government White Paper 'Rebalancing care and support'. 

198

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consutation-document.pdf


 

109 

introductory course before a panel made up of childcare professionals 
makes a recommendation to the agency decision maker. Very few initial 
enquiries lead to people becoming approved foster carers.143 Overall, the 
process can take over six months and involve around £10,000 of expense, 
including the cost of marketing and assessment, per carer. Despite this, local 
authorities and IFAs generally did not raise this process as a major barrier. 
The process was seen by them as necessary to ensure that only the right 
applicants became foster carers.  

5.93 We have heard concerns from some IFAs that the ability of foster carers to 
transfer between agencies was detrimental as it could reduce the incentive 
to recruit new carers. However, this does not seem to have led to a 
significant impact on recruitment. We have been told that it is relatively easy 
to transfer from one agency to another and the main cost which this involves 
relates to the requirement for the foster carer to go through the assessment 
process again at their new agency. Nevertheless, foster carers appear to 
move between agencies relatively rarely144 and difficulties in transferring are 
likely to impact negatively on overall carer retention where carers may wish 
to leave a particular agency but remain working in the sector. 

Barriers to retention of foster carers 

5.94 The number of foster carers that leave the role directly impacts the number 
of foster carers that need to be recruited. Foster carers chose to deregister 
for a range of reasons. Local authorities report an aging population of foster 
carers (for example, more than 50% of one local authority's foster carers are 
over 55 years old)145 and a falling average length of service. Polling of 
former foster carers from the Social Market Foundation found age to be the 
most common reason for foster carers aged over 55 to deregister, with 61% 
of this group feeling that they were now too old to foster.146 One provider 
reported that “the most recent resignations in the agency have been carers 
over the age of 50 wishing to slow down”. 

 
 
143 Ofsted estimates that there were 160,635 enquiries from new, prospective fostering households in 2020/21 
compared to only 10,145 foster carer applications received and 8,880 households approved for fostering in the 
year. In Scotland, CIS report that in the first half of 2020 fostering agencies received around 6,300 enquires with 
6% leading to applications of which 38% were approved. Overall, the process of recruiting a foster carer typically 
takes between 6 and 9 months and costs around £10,000 to £20,000 per carer, including the cost of marketing 
and assessment. Sources: Ofsted, Fostering in England 2020 to 2021: main findings and Care Inspectorate: 
Fostering and adoption 2020-21 A statistical bulletin.  
144 Most agencies told us they had only a small number of carers who transferred each year, eg less than 5%. 
Ofsted statistics also suggest it is relatively rare: 705 out of 5,080 carers with information on their fostering 
experience were “transferring from another fostering agency” and 585 out of 9,045 deregistrations were to 
facilitate a transfer. Source: Fostering in England 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021.  
145 In England, 46% of approved foster carers are over 55 years old. Source: Fostering in England 1 April 2020 to 
31 March 2021. 
146 Fostering the future, Paper 2, - recruiting and retaining more foster carers. 

199

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021/fostering-in-england-2020-to-2021-main-findings
https://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/6445/Fostering%20and%20adoption%202020-21%20statistical%20bulletin.pdf
https://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/6445/Fostering%20and%20adoption%202020-21%20statistical%20bulletin.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021
https://www.smf.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/Fostering-the-future-Paper-2.pdf


 

110 

5.95 Overall, the factors found by the Social Market Foundation to be contributing 
to giving up fostering were varied with the most common factor, receiving too 
little training and/or support, being cited by just 21% of all respondents and 
one in three of those aged between 18 and 54. Other key reasons 
mentioned were: not receiving enough respite; not being able to afford it; not 
receiving enough placements; and being unable to meet children’s needs. 

Initiatives to improve recruitment and retention of foster carers 

5.96 Local authorities and IFAs report various ways in which they have overcome 
these barriers to recruitment and retention. These include improving their 
marketing of the role, improving support for foster carers and some 
examples of local authorities collaborating to improve recruitment.  

5.97 In terms of marketing the role, IFAs and local authorities try a range of 
initiatives. Local authorities and IFAs market the opportunity to become a 
foster carer online, on social media and through local events, for example 
with current foster carers. This can be expensive, with providers reporting 
large and growing recruitment and marketing costs. Local authorities and 
IFAs also try other more innovative strategies. For example, one IFA 
reported that using a “celebrity voice-over” on their adverts increased leads 
significantly. Similarly, some local authorities told us of the success they 
have had working with recruitment consultancies to trial behavioural 
approaches to recruiting foster carers.  

5.98 Other successes have come from improving respite, support and training for 
foster carers. One example is the Mockingbird programme, which aims to 
replicate the support available through an extended family network. Among 
other benefits, foster carers participating in this programme have been found 
to be less likely to de-register than those who were not participating.147 Other 
examples of providing additional support include one local authority which 
introduced an out of hours telephone support service, a new induction 
programme and membership of the Fostering Network. Another local 
authority reported success after introducing a “comprehensive training offer” 
for all foster carers. Others have pointed to providing leisure centre passes, 
free days out and social events as examples of things they have done to try 
to retain foster carers.   

5.99 There are examples of local authorities working together to recruit and retain 
foster carers. The clearest example of local authorities working together 
comes from Wales where Foster Wales combines 22 local authorities to 

 
 
147 Mockingbird Fostering Network Evaluation. 

200

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/933119/Fostering_Network_Mockingbird.pdf


 

111 

collectively coordinate marketing initiatives, improve retention initiatives and 
promote best practice standards and is partially funded by the Welsh 
Government. There are more limited examples elsewhere, for example, in 
England, Foster4 is a collaborative approach to recruiting foster carers in 
Cheshire West and Chester, Halton and Warrington.148 

Recommendations 

5.100 There are a range of proposals for national action to improve recruitment 
and retention of foster carers. However, there are mixed views on the 
impacts of these potential initiatives, for example: 

(a) Providing greater recognition for foster carers: foster carers can feel 
“devalued and not regarded as a profession” and some report feeling 
excluded from children’s care plans and not as valued as other members 
of children’s care team. Providing professional status, for example 
through a qualification, is seen as a way of enhancing the status of foster 
carers and therefore making it more attractive. However, some 
stakeholders report that professionalisation could put potential foster 
carers off by moving away from a perceived public service ethos. 

(b) Increasing allowances: the financial pressures of being a foster carer are 
evident and increasing allowances would ease some of these pressures. 
Paying foster carers retainer payments when they do not have a child in 
their care could also help in particular by reducing the variability in foster 
carers income; at the moment only 15% of foster carers report receiving 
such payments.149 However, foster carers and providers have repeatedly 
told us that the challenge of recruiting foster carers goes beyond money.  

(c) Changing employment status: foster carers are currently self-employed 
and some foster carers and trade unions are calling for foster carers to 
become employees and benefit from more employment rights. Others 
argue that foster carers would be worse off in this situation as they will 
lose current tax benefits. 

(d) Creating a National register of foster carers: a national register could 
inform providers and ensure that matching is “informed by up to date 
information about carer’s experience, skills and availability”.150 Further, 
the Foster Care Workers Union (a branch of IGWB) argue that the 
creation of a national central regulatory body would make foster carer 

 
 
148 Foster4 – Foster carer recruitment service. 
149 A further 15% did not know whether they got paid retainer payments. Source: State of the Nation Report 2021, 
The Fostering Network.  
150 Foster Care in England: Review. 

201

https://www.foster4.co.uk/
https://thefosteringnetwork.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-12/State%20of%20the%20Nation%20Report%202021_DIGITAL_FINAL_0.pdf
https://thefosteringnetwork.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-12/State%20of%20the%20Nation%20Report%202021_DIGITAL_FINAL_0.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/679320/Foster_Care_in_England_Review.pdf


 

112 

registrations portable and would mean you would only have to go through 
the assessment process once but could work for any nearby LA or move 
to a different part of the country and continue fostering without having to 
be reassessed.151 However, other stakeholders have suggested that as 
fostering placements are sought locally, a national register would not be 
beneficial.  

(e) Running a national awareness campaign: some providers suggest that a 
national campaign to “raise the awareness of fostering and attract more 
people into the field would be advantageous”. Whilst this has many 
potential benefits and the ability to reach a wide pool of people, other 
providers report that recruitment is most successful at local level via word 
of mouth. It is not clear whether a national campaign would be the best 
way to use resources. 

5.101 The potential proposals above are illustrative of the range of options and 
there is a lack of consensus amongst stakeholders on the best approach. In 
our study, we have not seen evidence which makes clear to us which 
approach would be most successful at solving problems with recruitment and 
retention or whether a combination of these options would be the most 
effective way forward. However, it is clear that there are problems with 
recruitment and retention of foster carers, which cannot be solved at local 
authority or IFA level, if governments intend to continue to rely on foster care 
to provide for looked after children. We note that previous reviews, such as 
the Narey Review,152 have recommended solutions which have not been 
implemented. In Wales, the national government has supported clear 
national action to address the problem by introducing Foster Wales. What 
appears to be lacking in England and Scotland is a common understanding 
of the problem and national leadership to take forward appropriate solutions. 

5.102 We recommend that national governments, working with the new national 
forecasting bodies (see Forecasting recommendations), conduct an annual 
assessment of the likely future need for foster carers and publish this as part 
of the wider ‘State of the Sector’ review. Then, national governments should 
take the lead in implementing an effective strategy to improve recruitment 
and retention of foster carers where there is a need for more foster carers.  

 
 
151 Making Change - Foster Care Workers Union (fosteriwgb.co.uk). 
152 Foster Care in England: A Review for the Department for Education by Sir Martin Narey and Mark Owers. 

202

https://fosteriwgb.co.uk/change/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/679320/Foster_Care_in_England_Review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/679320/Foster_Care_in_England_Review.pdf


 

113 

6. Resilience 

6.1 In section 3 we described the high levels of debt held by the largest 
providers and our concerns that an unforeseen disruption in the supply of 
placements could have a particularly negative impact and adverse effects on 
children. In the scenario where placements close in a sudden and unplanned 
manner, local authorities may be faced with having to find placements for a 
significant number of young people at very short notice. Given the ongoing 
lack of appropriate supply in the sector, and the time and expense involved 
in creating new provision, this would carry a real risk of children having to 
move to placements that were a poor fit for their needs, on top of the 
inevitable disruption caused by the placement move itself.  

6.2 The impact of any firm failure on the children in care will depend on what 
happens to the placements that firm had been providing. If provision was 
able to continue smoothly without disruption to the lives of children, this 
would be much less concerning than if the provision were to cease 
operation, creating upheaval for children, for instance if the business is able 
to: 

• maintain its operational viability by the provider’s owners or lenders 
putting more funding into the business; or 

• be bought as a going concern by another operator, with provision for 
children continuing with minimal disruption. 

6.3 Where the underlying business is profitable, existing or new owners and 
their lenders will have incentives to do each of these things. Nonetheless, 
the business may not be profitable in the short term, or these actors may be 
unable to act swiftly in accordance with these incentives. We must therefore 
take seriously the risk of company failure with negative effects on children.  

6.4 These risks are less likely to be realised in the case of a fostering agency 
provider, as the foster carers themselves would not necessarily cease to 
provide foster care simply because their agency withdrew from the market. 
The main issue would be transferring the foster carers to another agency; if 
carried out smoothly, this should not directly affect the experience of 
children.  

6.5 We examined this issue in a workshop we held with a range of stakeholders, 
including representatives from local authorities and private providers. The 
consensus view of attendees was that it would be relatively straightforward 
to transfer foster carers en masse, if necessary, in the case of an IFA leaving 
the market, without disruption to children. One industry association noted 

203



 

114 

that we had seen some small IFAs become insolvent and leave the market, 
with transitions for foster carers and children being managed smoothly.   

6.6 Firm failure is potentially more concerning, however, in the case of 
residential children’s homes. In theory, where these properties, staff and 
other company assets are generating profits, they could be sold to another 
owner who wishes to use them in this way (either en masse as a trade sale 
or to multiple buyers); theoretically, this could result in a relatively seamless 
transition for local authorities and children through the change of ownership. 

6.7 However, this may not play out smoothly. Given the nature of the children’s 
social care market, there may be a small pool of potential buyers in this 
sector, especially if external events are putting pressure on multiple 
providers at the same time. Changes in rental values and costs may make it 
less attractive for a new purchaser to continue to operate children’s homes, 
as opposed to finding other potential uses of the properties. Additionally, the 
process of restructuring could be protracted and disruptive, reducing focus 
on outcomes for children.  

6.8 As is usual in the case of markets with private providers, any provider can 
potentially leave the market voluntarily (subject to their current contractual 
commitments). We are not recommending measures to force providers to 
maintain provision in the market if it is not profitable for them to do so. In that 
situation, the underlying problem would be the local authorities’ willingness 
or ability to pay the rate required to secure needed provision, and if this was 
leading to needed capacity leaving the system then the cause of this would 
need to be tackled directly, for instance by financial support for the local 
authority function. 

6.9 This type of scenario may arise if we see declining demand for placements 
and so providers choose to leave the market because they no longer see 
sufficient occupancy in their homes to make them profitable. Reduced 
demand for placements may be due to temporary factors, in which case 
provision may be lost in the short term, only to be needed again shortly after. 
Alternatively, reduced demand may be due to a structural decline in the 
number of children being placed in children’s homes, as appears to have 
been the case in Scotland (and may, in the future, occur in England and 
Wales). In these scenarios, while closure of children’s homes may be the 
best outcome, if these closures are unplanned and sudden they may lead to 
short term difficulties for local authorities in placing children in particular 
areas or types of care. It is important that local authorities work together, 
including through collective bodies and fora, to mitigate the risk of these 
scenarios.   

204



 

115 

6.10 A particular case of this risk arises in the context of proposed policy changes 
in Scotland and Wales to move away from for-profit provision in children’s 
social care. Implementing such a policy will take time and it is inevitable that 
there will be continued reliance on private provision to provide needed 
capacity for an extended period. During this period, a sudden loss of private 
capacity from the market could place local authorities in a difficult position, 
with negative impacts on children This risk is more significant in regard to 
Wales where, in contrast to Scotland, (a) overall demand for children’s home 
places has been rising and (b) private provision currently makes up a large 
majority of total children’s homes placements. 

6.11 Beyond this however, there is a further category of situations where: 

(a) there is sufficient demand for the capacity held by the provider (and so the 
homes are profitable as a going concern) and there are buyers available 
for the homes; but, 

(b) due to financial distress, firms get into difficulties very suddenly and the 
homes or groups of homes cannot be rescued or sold as a going concern, 
thereby disrupting the care of the children in them.   

6.12 At the moment, any provider is able to leave the market voluntarily (subject 
to their current contractual commitments). In this situation, the underlying 
problem is the local authorities’ willingness/ability to pay the rate required to 
secure needed provision, and this cannot be addressed by the options under 
consideration. 

6.13 We were also not concerned with scenarios in which there is reduced 
demand for placements and so providers choose to leave the market 
because the homes are no longer needed and there is no willing buyer. 
Reduced demand from placements can arise in different scenarios, including 
demographic changes or the relative success of earlier interventions to 
prevent situations where a child needs to be in care. In this situation, which 
we are now seeing in Scotland, it is important that local authorities engage 
with providers to ensure sufficient supply.  

6.14 In our workshop with stakeholders, while noting that we had not seen a large 
children’s homes provider go under in recent years, some participants 
argued that the impact of this happening on children could be substantial. 
This stems from the difficulties local authorities could face in finding suitable 
alternative accommodation for young people in the event that a large 
provider became insolvent and a significant number of placements exited the 
market, as well as the impact and disruption the children would face from 
moving and building new relationships.  

205



 

116 

6.15 Taking all of these considerations together, we conclude that high debt 
levels among providers pose risks to the resilience of the sector, which in 
turn create risks of negative outcomes for children, particularly in the case of 
children’s homes provision. 

Recommendations 

6.16 In order to address the concerns set out above, we consider that measures 
need to be taken both to provide local authorities with an early warning of 
potential provider failure and to reduce the risk of negative impacts on 
children if failure should occur. We are therefore making recommendations 
to each government to create an appropriate regime for market oversight 
and transition planning. For both of these recommendations, we are 
proposing that they are applied to providers of children’s homes, as this is 
where we see a significant risk of negative impacts on children arising from 
sudden and disorderly failure of providers. We note, however, that a number 
of large children’s homes providers also operate IFAs, unregulated provision 
and/or care facilities outside the scope of this study, such as residential 
schools. Governments should consider whether and how to account for 
these types of provision within the implementation of these 
recommendations.    

Market oversight 

6.17 We recommend that an oversight regime is created in each nation for 
children’s social care based on the CQC model which currently operates in 
adult social care, in which an independent body would: 

(a) carry out market and financial oversight of large/difficult to replace 
children’s home providers; and 

(b) ensure the LAs are aware of the potential cessation of services at an 
appropriate time.153 

6.18 The regulator would periodically gather information from all difficult-to-
replace providers, hold discussions with stakeholders and assess the 
likelihood of provider failure and cessation of trading. 

 
 
153 Section 56(1) and (2) of the Care Act 2014 require that where the CQC is satisfied that a registered provider 
that is subject to the Market Oversight Scheme is likely to become unable to carry on a regulated activity because 
of likely business failure, it must notify the relevant local authority. CQC will need to be satisfied that both 
conditions are ‘likely’, ie there is a real possibility of business failure and a real possibility that the provider will 
become unable to carry on the regulated activity as a result. 

206



 

117 

6.19 The regulator would need the powers to gather information from providers 
on a periodic and ad-hoc basis in a similar way to the CQC's information 
gathering powers.154 We understand that the CQC is currently able to 
effectively gather and assess information to form a view on the financial 
position of providers on the basis of the information it receives and its 
general understanding of the financial position of the firms in the market.  

6.20 The benefits of giving the regulator these powers and duties are that it: 

(a) gives local authorities advance notice of potential failure to enable them to 
take action to avoid disruption to care;  

(b) may encourage businesses to take action to address issues as they arise 
or even to take a more conservative approach. 

(c) allows for a flexible model which is not a ‘one size fits all’ approach and is 
able to respond quickly. Each provider may have particular risks and the 
length and detail of the discussions with each provider in the CQC model 
will reflect the risk of each provider.155 

6.21 The costs of this function to the firms would be low - providers prepare much 
of the same (quarterly and annual) information for their internal accounting, 
board and external lenders.  

6.22 The cost to the regulator would also be relatively low for a regulator that 
already conducts financial and market oversight. The CQC currently 
oversees 63 adult social care providers including two companies who are 
also children’s social care providers and has the necessary processes and 
expertise to implement this function effectively.  

6.23 The risks to the continuity of care of children apply to private providers 
equally in all nations of the UK and the principles behind our 
recommendations also apply equally. However, we recognise each nation is 
currently in a different position both in terms of the nature of their market and 
their proposed policy direction in terms of the role of private provision. In 

 
 
154 CQC has far reaching information gathering powers. For example, it can obtain information from other legal 
entities that have common ownership with the registered provider and are relevant to assessing the financial 
sustainability of a registered provider. 
155 CQC may use powers under s.55 Care Act 2014 to assess the risk to sustainability and any potential impact 
on the carrying on of the regulated activity. This may include requesting a Risk Mitigation Plan from the provider 
or appointing persons with appropriate professional expertise to carry out an independent review of the business. 

207



 

118 

both Scotland and Wales, we note that a market oversight regime is already 
under consideration.156  

6.24 Putting this regime on a statutory basis would provide formal information-
gathering powers and may allow for a clearer delineation of roles and 
responsibilities. We are therefore recommending that in England the regime 
is placed on a statutory basis. In Scotland and Wales, however, while we 
recommend that governments also create an effective market oversight 
regime, they should consider whether this will be best created on a statutory 
or non-statutory footing, having regard to their wider policy direction. 

6.25 In Scotland and Wales, the Care Inspectorates would appear the most 
obvious bodies to carry out these functions. In England, the Government 
should give consideration for which body would be best placed to do this; 
while giving these responsibilities to Ofsted would maintain the link with the 
wider regulation of children’s social care, there may also be merit in building 
on the experience of the CQC in performing this function in relation to adult 
social care. 

6.26 In any event it will be essential for the different nations to be able to share 
information, particularly where, for example a provider operates in more than 
one nation. The efficacy of the market oversight function will also depend on 
this sharing of information to enable all nations to benefit from risks identified 
by one.  

Contingency planning 

6.27 We also recommend that each of the three governments put in place a 
requirement for the most significant providers to prepare contingency plans 
to reduce the disruption to children in the event of their failure. This 
responsibility for identifying which firms should be required to created 
contingency plans, and to assess those plans, could be combined with the 
market oversight function.  

6.28 The oversight body should require the provider to have plans to avoid a 
sudden and disorderly withdrawal from the market, in the event that it faced 
financial stress. These plans would set out the risks that would increase the 
possibility of disorderly exit, and the mitigations that the provider is taking to 

 
 
156 As discussed in Section 2 and Appendix B the Welsh Government intends to develop a non-statutory market 
oversight framework. In relation to Scotland, in its consultation on a National Care Service the Scottish 
Government has sought views on the necessity of a market oversight function for the regulator (CIS), its scope 
and the potential form of any additional powers the regulator should have to ensure this function is effective. It is 
not clear, at this stage, whether children’s services will be in scope of any National Care Service, although the 
Scottish Government has sought views on this as part of the consultation.  

208

https://www.gov.scot/publications/national-care-service-scotland-consultation/documents/


 

119 

reduce these. The regulator would scrutinise these plans, identify good 
practice or potential risks and ensure these are reflected in the plans of all 
providers.  

6.29 While we do not wish to be prescriptive, we would expect that these plans 
may include: 

(a) standstill provisions with lenders to avoid firms being wound up at very 
short notice; 

(b) providing that firms will maintain a sufficient level of reserves to allow 
them to continue operating for an appropriate period in the event of 
financial distress caused by, for example, temporary reductions in 
demand; 

(c) ensuring the minimisation of factors that would prevent homes being sold 
as going concerns in the event of failure, eg by holding homes in separate 
legal entities capable of sale free of restrictions that might prevent sale, or 
by separating the homes from the debt held by other parts of the group; 
and 

(d) ensuring that there are no barriers to transition of children or staff, eg for 
regulatory or contractual reasons, in the event of failure. 

6.30 As part of this work, the regulator could also require that providers carry out 
stress tests and scenario analyses that test their business plans to failure 
(such as the Financial Conduct Authority’s “reverse stress-testing”) and the 
steps that they have taken to minimise those risks.    

6.31 We recognise that it is impossible to envisage all the situations we might 
want to protect against, and for this reason we consider it is important that 
the regulator is able to flex the requirements on providers.  

6.32 An additional measure that the regulator may wish to include in the regime is 
to require that providers include a “standstill” provision in their lending 
contracts. The purpose of these would be that in the event of an 
administration or insolvency, the provider and administrator are given a short 
period of time to find a purchaser of the children’s homes as going concerns.  

6.33 The benefit of this remedy would be to increase the likelihood of an orderly 
transition in the event of failure and reduce the disruption for vulnerable 
children. It will not prevent or even reduce the likelihood of the providers 
failing in the first place, ie it will only address the potential harmful effects of 
failure. 

209



 

120 

Resilience recommendations we do not propose to take forward   

6.34 We have also considered recommendations that would go further than this, 
giving the public sector more direct influence over the factors that could 
contribute to children suffering harm as a result of disorderly firm failure. 
Considering the greater impact that these would be likely to have on 
incentives for private providers to invest, at a time when private providers are 
the primary source of investment in necessary new provision, we are not 
recommending that governments take these options forward at this time.  

6.35 Looking to the future, however, one key aim of our wider recommendations 
is to reduce the persistent undersupply of appropriate placements in this 
sector. At the same time, governments may take measures that lead to 
fewer children needing to be placed in children’s homes. In such a situation, 
the cost-benefit ratio may tip in favour of these measures. They should 
therefore remain on the table as a potential tool for governments to consider 
in the future. 

Special administration regime 

6.36 A further addition to the CQC regime would be to create a special 
administration regime (SAR) for children’s social care. Such a regime could 
give an administrator a duty to protect the interests of children in care 
placements operated by the company, to be balanced against their duty 
towards creditors. It could also give powers to the government to prevent the 
enforcement of certain rights by creditors and to provide funding to maintain 
the operation of the provider. 

6.37 SAR regimes exist in other sectors such as further education and social 
housing (but not adult social care) and these regimes range in depth from 
adding an additional element for the administrator to consider in the event of 
an insolvency to more wide-ranging powers such as in social housing where 
the Secretary of State has powers to prevent housing being sold out of the 
social sector, and can lend public money to the administrator to keep the 
company going while a rescue is sought.  

6.38 While a SAR regime would give governments a high level of control over 
placements in the event a provider got into financial difficulties, it would also 
place significant restrictions on the ability of lenders to enforce their rights, 
for an indefinite period. This in turn would be likely to reduce their willingness 
to lend into this sector. We have therefore concluded that our aims can be 
achieved more effectively and proportionately currently by the two measures 
we are recommending. 

210



 

121 

Debt moderation 

6.39 A further option that we have considered would be to give a regulator direct 
powers to control the level of debt that a provider is permitted to carry within 
a company operation children’s homes provision. This would allow a 
regulator to directly reduce the indebtedness of firms, with the aim of making 
their failure less likely. 

6.40 While this approach would have the benefit of tackling the root cause of 
concerns around over-indebtedness, we consider that it would be extremely 
hard to implement effectively. The application of simple rules on levels of 
indebtedness would be insufficient to capture the true risks being taken by 
individual firms. To do this, would require a well-staffed, experienced and 
intrusive regulator, with deep skills and knowledge in this area. There are 
large risks of getting the assessment wrong, and thereby negatively 
impacting on incentives to invest in this sector; this is a particular concern 
given that one of the key problems we have identified in the market is 
insufficient investment in creating appropriate capacity. We have therefore 
concluded that our aims can currently be achieved more effectively and 
proportionately by adopting the recommendations we set out above. 

 

211



 

122 

7.  Recommendations 

7.1 We have concluded that there are significant problems in how the 
placements market is functioning, particularly in England and Wales. We 
have found that:  

• a lack of placements of the right kind, in the right places, mean that 
children are not consistently getting access to care and accommodation 
that meets their needs; 

• the largest private providers of placements are making materially higher 
profits, and charging materially higher prices, than we would expect if this 
market were functioning effectively; and 

• some of the largest providers are carrying very high levels of debt, 
creating a risk that disorderly failure of highly-leveraged firms could 
disrupt the placements of children in care. 

7.2 We are therefore making recommendations to all three national 
governments to address these problems. Our recommendations set out the 
broad types of reform that are necessary to make the market work 
effectively. The detail of how to implement these will be for individual 
governments to determine, taking into account their broader aspirations for 
the care system and building on positive approaches that are already in 
evidence. These recommendations fall into three categories: 

• recommendations to improve commissioning, by having some functions 
performed via collaborative bodies, providing additional national support 
and supporting local authority initiatives to provide more in-house foster 
care; 

• recommendations to reduce barriers to providers creating and maintaining 
provision, by reviewing regulatory and planning requirements, and 
supporting the recruitment and retention of care staff and foster carers; 
and 

• recommendations to reduce the risk of children experiencing negative 
effects from children’s home providers exiting the market in a disorderly 
way, by creating an effective regime of market oversight and contingency 
planning. 

7.3 We consider that this package of measures will effectively and 
proportionately address the concerns we have identified. Without these 
measures, we expect the poor market outcomes we have found will continue 
and worsen.  

212



 

123 

Summary of recommendations 

7.4 In this section we summarise our recommendations as they relate to each 
nation. Full details of the recommendations are set out in Section 4 
(recommendations to improve commissioning), Section 5 (recommendations 
to reduce barriers to providers creating and maintaining provision) and 
Section 6 (recommendations to reduce the risk of a lack of financial 
resilience in the sector having negative effects on children).  

 

Summary of recommendations - England 

Commissioning    

Recommendation 1.1: Larger scale market engagement 
 
We recommend that the UK Government requires a more collective approach to 
engagement with the placements market. This should include:  

• Setting out what minimum level of activity must be carried out 
collectively. This should include an appropriate degree of activity in each 
of the key areas of forecasting, market shaping and procurement.  

• Ensuring that there is set of bodies to carry out these collective market 
shaping and procurement activities, with each local authority required to 
participate in one of them. We expect sub-national bodies to be 
appropriate for England.  

• Providing an oversight structure to ensure that each body is carrying out 
its functions to the appropriate level. This should involve an assessment 
of the extent to which sufficiency of placements is being achieved within 
each area. 

The UK Government should determine how best to implement this 
recommendation taking into account key issues that lie beyond the scope of our 
study. In examining the relative advantages and disadvantages of different options, 
the UK Government should consider the factors set out in paragraph 4.82.   

In addition: 

• Sufficiency duties should be enhanced to allow more transparent 
understanding of the extent to which sufficiency of placements is being 
achieved in each area. In order to do this, better information is required 

213



 

124 

to understand how often children are being placed in placements that do 
not fit their needs, due to a lack of appropriate placements.  

Recommendation 1.2: National support for purchaser engagement with the 
market 
 
We recommend that the UK Government provides additional support to local 
authorities and collective bodies for forecasting, market shaping and procurement.  

Forecasting 

The UK Government should establish functions at a national level supporting the 
forecasting of demand for and supply of children’s social care placements. These 
functions should include carrying out and publishing regional and national analysis 
and providing local authorities and collective bodies with guidance and support for 
more local forecasting, including the creation of template sufficiency reports. 

To support the effectiveness of this function: 

• Local authorities’ statutory duties should be expanded to include a 
requirement to provide specified data to and to co-operate with the body 
carrying out the forecasting function.   

• Duties should be placed on local authorities to produce and publish 
sufficiency reports using templates created by the national function, in 
line with guidance issued by it.  

Market shaping and procurement 

The UK Government should support the increase in wider-than-local activity by 
funding collective bodies to trial different market shaping and procurement 
techniques and improving understanding of what market shaping and procurement 
models work well. 

National contracts 

The Department for Education should support the reintroduction of national 
procurement contracts covering terms and conditions that do not need to reflect 
local conditions. 

Recommendation 1.3: Support for increasing local authority foster care 
    
We recommend that the UK Government offers targeted funding support for 
innovative projects by individual local authorities, or groups of local authorities, 
targeted at recruiting and retaining more foster carers to reduce their reliance on 
IFAs. Any such projects should be evaluated carefully to provide an evidence base 
to help shape future policy. 

Creating capacity in the market  

214



 

125 

Recommendation 2.1: Review of regulation 
 
We recommend that the UK Government should carry out, or commission, a 
thorough review of regulation relating to the provision of placements, during which 
protecting the safety and wellbeing of children must be the overriding aim, but also 
considering whether specific regulations are unnecessarily restricting the effective 
provision of placements.  

Recommendation 2.2: Review planning requirements 
 
We recommend that the UK Government considers removing any distinction, for 
the purposes of the planning regime, between small children’s homes and 
domestic dwelling houses. This could include, for example, steps to make it clear 
that children’s homes which can accommodate less than a specified number of 
residents at any one time are removed from the requirement to go through the 
planning system notwithstanding that the carers there work on a shift pattern.  
 
We recommend that where children’s homes remain in the planning system (for 
example because they are larger) the UK Government introduces national 
guidance clarifying when planning permission may be required and the 
circumstances in which it is likely to be granted or refused.  
 
Recommendation 2.3: Regular state of the sector review 
 
We recommend to the UK Government that there should be an annual assessment 
of the state of the workforce to provide a clear overview of staffing pressures and 
concerns, and to recommend measures to address bottlenecks. This would be 
similar in scope to the CQC’s annual State of Care review in England.  

The UK Government should also give attention to whether national measures, 
such as recruitment campaigns, measures to support professionalisation and 
career pathways are required.  

We recommend to the UK Government that there should be an assessment of the 
likely future need for foster carers and that the UK Government should take the 
lead in implementing an effective strategy to improve recruitment and retention of 
foster carers.  

Resilience of the market  

Recommendation 3.1: Monitor and warn of risks of provider failure 
 
We recommend that the UK Government creates an appropriate statutory 
oversight regime that is capable of assessing the financial health of the most 
difficult to replace providers of children’s homes and warning placing authorities if a 
failure is likely.  

Recommendation 3.2: Contingency planning 
 
We recommend that the UK Government via its appointed oversight body should 
require the most difficult to replace children’s home providers to maintain a 

215



 

126 

“contingency plan” setting out how they are organising their affairs to mitigate the 
risk of provision having to close in a sudden and disorderly way in the event that 
they get into financial difficulties or insolvency.  

One important element will be to ensure that appropriate arrangements are in 
place to ensure that providers have the necessary time and financial resources to 
enable an orderly transition where the provision can be operated on a sustainable 
basis, either by its existing owner or any alternative owners. Contingency plans 
should seek to address these risks, for instance through ensuring that: appropriate 
standstill provisions are in place with lenders; companies are structured 
appropriately to remove unnecessary barriers to selling the provision to another 
operator as a going concern; and, providers maintain sufficient levels of reserves 
to continue to operate for an appropriate length of time in a stressed situation.  

 

216



 

127 

 Summary of recommendations - Scotland 

Commissioning    

Recommendation 1.1: Larger scale market engagement 
 
We recommend that the Scottish Government takes action to require a more 
collective approach to engagement with the placements market. This should 
include:  

• Setting out what minimum level of activity must be carried out collectively. 
This should include an appropriate degree of activity in each of the key 
areas of forecasting, market shaping and procurement.  

• Ensuring that there is a set of bodies to carry out these collective market 
shaping and procurement activities, with each local authority required to 
participate in one of them. It is plausible, in Scotland, that this may be at a 
national level, building on the work of Scotland Excel.   

• Providing an oversight structure to ensure that each body is carrying out 
its functions to the appropriate level. This should involve an assessment 
of the extent to which sufficiency of placements is being achieved within 
each area. 

The Scottish Government should determine how best to implement this 
recommendation taking into account key issues that lie beyond the scope of our 
study. In examining the relative advantages and disadvantages of different options, 
the Scottish Government should consider the factors set out in paragraph 4.82.    

In addition: 

• Existing duties should be enhanced to allow more transparent 
understanding of the extent to which sufficiency of placements is being 
achieved in each area. In order to do this, better information is required to 
understand how often children are being placed in placements that do not 
fit their needs, due to a lack of appropriate placements.  

Recommendation 1.2: National support for purchaser engagement with the 
market 
 
The Scottish Government should provide additional support to local authorities and 
collective bodies for forecasting, market shaping and procurement.  

Forecasting 

217



 

128 

The Scottish Government should establish functions at a national level supporting 
the forecasting of demand for and supply of children’s social care placements. We 
recognise that Scotland Excel may be well placed to do this on the Scottish 
Government’s behalf.  

These functions should include carrying out and publishing national and regional 
analysis and providing local authorities and collective bodies with guidance and 
support for more local forecasting, including the creation of template sufficiency 
reports. 

To support the effectiveness of this function: 

• Local authorities’ statutory duties should be expanded to include a 
requirement to provide specified data to and to co-operate with the body 
carrying out the forecasting function.   

• Duties should be placed on local authorities to produce and publish 
sufficiency reports using templates created by the national function, in line 
with guidance issued by it.  

Market shaping and procurement 

The Scottish Government should increase its support for wider-than-local activity by 
funding collective bodies to trial different market shaping and procurement 
techniques, potentially building on the work of Scotland Excel, and improving 
understanding of what market shaping and procurement models work well. 

While the Scottish Government should take ultimate responsibility for implementing 
the above recommendations, it should consider where it would be appropriate to 
use Scotland Excel to deliver any of them, given its established role and experience.  

Recommendation 1.3: Support for increasing local authority foster care 
    
We recommend that the Scottish government offers targeted funding support for 
innovative projects by individual local authorities, or groups of local authorities, 
targeted at recruiting and retaining more foster carers to reduce their reliance on 
IFAs. Any such projects should be evaluated carefully to provide an evidence base 
to help shape future policy. 

Creating capacity in the market  

Recommendation 2.1: Regulatory considerations for wider policy reforms  
 
The Scottish Government is implementing wide policy reforms in the sector. As 
these changes are made, and as any changes are made to the legislative and 
regulatory framework, the Scottish Government should consider the potential for 
unintended consequences, and for these changes to impact on the ability and 
incentive of providers (of any type) to create and maintain provision to meet the care 
needs of children.   

218



 

129 

Recommendation 2.2: Review planning requirements  
 
Not applicable to Scotland.  

Recommendation 2.3: Regular state of the sector review 
 
We recommend to the Scottish Government that there should be an annual 
assessment of the state of the workforce to provide a clear overview of staffing 
pressures and concerns, and to recommend measures to address bottlenecks. This 
would be similar in scope to the CQC’s annual State of Care review in England.  

The Scottish Government should also give attention to whether national measures, 
such as recruitment campaigns, measures to support professionalisation and career 
pathways are required.  

We recommend to the Scottish Government that there should be an assessment of 
the likely future need for foster carers and that the Scottish Government should take 
the lead in implementing an effective strategy to improve recruitment and retention 
of foster carers.  

 
Resilience of the market  

Recommendation 3.1: Monitor and warn of risks of provider failure 
 
We recommend that the Scottish Government creates an appropriate oversight 
regime that is capable of assessing the financial health of the most difficult to 
replace providers of children’s homes and warning placing authorities if a failure is 
likely.  

Due consideration should be given to placing this regime on a statutory footing.  

 
Recommendation 3.2: Contingency planning 
 
We recommend that the Scottish Government via its appointed oversight body 
requires the most difficult to replace children’s home providers to maintain a 
“contingency plan” setting out how they are organising their affairs to mitigate the 
risk of provision having to close in a sudden and disorderly way in the event that 
they get into financial difficulties or insolvency.  

One important element will be to ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place 
to ensure that providers have the necessary time and financial resources to enable 
an orderly transition where the provision can be operated on a sustainable basis, 
either by its existing owner or any alternative owners. Contingency plans should 
seek to address these risks, for instance through ensuring that: appropriate 
standstill provisions are in place with lenders; companies are structured 
appropriately to remove unnecessary barriers to selling the provision to another 
operator as a going concern; and, providers maintain sufficient levels of reserves to 
continue to operate for an appropriate length of time in a stressed situation. 

219



 

130 

 

 

Summary of recommendations - Wales 

Commissioning    

Recommendation 1.1: Larger scale market engagement 
 
We recommend that the Welsh Government takes action to require a more 
collective approach to engagement with the placements market. This should 
include:  

• Setting out what minimum level of activity must be carried out collectively. 
This should include an appropriate degree of activity in each of the key 
areas of forecasting, market shaping and procurement.  

• Ensuring that there is a set of bodies to carry out these collective market 
shaping and procurement activities, with each local authority required to 
participate in one of them. It is plausible in Wales that this may be at a 
national level, building on the work of the 4Cs.  

• Providing an oversight structure to ensure that each body is carrying out 
its functions to the appropriate level. This should involve an assessment 
of the extent to which sufficiency of placements is being achieved within 
each area. 

The Welsh Government should determine how best to implement this 
recommendation taking into account key issues that lie beyond the scope of our 
study. In examining the relative advantages and disadvantages of different options, 
the Welsh Government should consider the factors set out in paragraph 4.82.    

In addition: 

• Sufficiency duties should be enhanced to allow more transparent 
understanding of the extent to which sufficiency of placements is being 
achieved in each area. In order to do this, better information is required to 
understand how often children are being placed in placements that do not 
fit their needs, due to a lack of appropriate placements.  

Recommendation 1.2: National support for purchaser engagement with the 
market 
 

220



 

131 

The Welsh Government should provide additional support to local authorities and 
collective bodies for forecasting, market shaping and procurement.  

Forecasting 

The Welsh Government should establish functions at a national level supporting the 
forecasting of demand for and supply of children’s social care placements. 

In Wales the 4Cs already provides some forecasting support to local authorities, 
having recently begun to perform national and regional trend analysis on behalf of 
local authorities and to provide forecasting support to local authorities via Placement 
Commissioning Strategies. 4Cs could continue to perform these roles and with 
support from Welsh Government, could expand its approach to ensure that is are 
taking on all aspects of the forecasting function as described in paragraph 4.72.  

These functions should include carrying out (potentially via the 4Cs) and publishing 
national and regional analysis and provide local authorities with guidance and 
support for more local forecasting, including the creation of template sufficiency 
reports. 

To support the effectiveness of this function: 

• Local authorities’ statutory duties should be expanded to include a 
requirement to provide specified data to and to co-operate with the body 
carrying out the forecasting function.   

• Duties should be placed on local authorities to produce and publish 
sufficiency reports using templates created by the national function, in line 
with guidance issued by it.  

Market shaping and procurement 

The Welsh Government should increase its support for wider-than-local activity by 
funding collective bodies to trial different market shaping and procurement 
techniques, potentially building on the work of 4Cs, and improving understanding of 
what market shaping and procurement models work well. 

Recommendation 1.3: Support for increasing local authority foster care    
 
We recommend that the Welsh Government offers targeted funding support for 
further innovative projects by individual local authorities, or Foster Wales, targeted 
at recruiting and retaining more foster carers to reduce their reliance on IFAs. Any 
such projects should be evaluated carefully to provide an evidence base to help 
shape future policy. 

Creating capacity in the market  

Recommendation 2.1: Regulatory considerations for wider policy reforms  
 
The Welsh Government is implementing wide policy reforms in the sector. As these 
changes are made, and as any changes are made to the legislative and regulatory 

221



 

132 

framework, the Welsh Government should consider the potential for unintended 
consequences, and for these changes to impact on the ability and incentive of 
providers (of any type) to create and maintain provision to meet the care needs of 
children.   

Recommendation 2.2: Review planning requirements 
 
We recommend that the Welsh Government considers removing any distinction, for 
the purposes of the planning regime, between small children’s homes and domestic 
dwelling houses. This could include, for example, steps to make it clear that 
children’s homes which can accommodate less than a specified number of residents 
at any one time are removed from the requirement to go through the planning 
system notwithstanding that the carers there work on a shift pattern.  
 
We recommend that where children’s homes remain in the planning system (for 
example because they are larger) the UK and Welsh governments introduce 
national guidance clarifying when planning permission may be required and the 
circumstances in which it is likely to be granted or refused.  
 
Recommendation 2.3: Regular state of the sector review 
 
We recommend to the Welsh Government that there should be an annual 
assessment of the state of the workforce to provide a clear overview of staffing 
pressures and concerns, and to recommend measures to address bottlenecks. This 
would be similar in scope to the CQC’s annual State of Care review in England.  

The Welsh Government should also give attention to whether national measures, 
such as recruitment campaigns, measures to support professionalisation and career 
pathways are required.  

We recommend to the Welsh Government that there should be an assessment of 
the likely future need for foster carers and that the Welsh Government takes the 
lead in implementing an effective strategy, building on the introduction of Foster 
Wales, to improve recruitment and retention of foster carers.  

Resilience of the market  

Recommendation 3.1: Monitor and warn of risks of provider failure 
 
We recommend that the Welsh Government creates an appropriate oversight 
regime that is capable of assessing the financial health of the most difficult to 
replace providers of children’s homes and warning placing authorities if a failure is 
likely.  

Due consideration should be given to placing this regime on a statutory footing.  

 
Recommendation 3.2: Contingency planning 
 
We recommend that the Welsh Government via its appointed oversight body 
requires the most difficult to replace providers to maintain a “contingency plan” 

222



 

133 

setting out how they are organising their affairs to mitigate the risk of provision 
having to close in a sudden and disorderly way in the event that they get into 
financial difficulties or insolvency.  

One important element will be to ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place 
to ensure that providers have the necessary time and financial resources to enable 
an orderly transition where the provision can be operated on a sustainable basis, 
either by its existing owner or any alternative owners. Contingency plans should 
seek to address these risks, for instance through ensuring that: appropriate 
standstill provisions are in place with lenders; companies are structured 
appropriately to remove unnecessary barriers to selling the provision to another 
operator as a going concern; and, providers maintain sufficient levels of reserves to 
continue to operate for an appropriate length of time in a stressed situation.   

 

 

How our recommendations work together  

7.5 If implemented, we expect that our recommendations should improve or 
mitigate the poor outcomes that we see in the placement market.  

• Our recommendations in relation to commissioning placements in the 
market will put purchasers in a stronger position to understand their future 
needs, to ensure that provision is available to meet them and purchase 
that provision in an effective way.  

• Our recommendations to address barriers to creating capacity in the 
market will reduce the time and cost of creating new provision to meet 
identified needs. 

• Our recommendations around resilience will reduce the risk of children 
experiencing negative effects from children’s home providers exiting the 
market in a disorderly way. 

7.6 Taken together, we expect these measures to lead to a children’s social care 
placements market where: 

• the availability of placements better matches the needs of children and is 
in appropriate locations; 

• the cost to local authorities of these placements is reduced; and 

• the risk of disruption to children from disorderly exit of children’s homes 
provision is reduced. 

223



 

134 

Implementation of our recommendations 

7.7 Major policy processes in relation to children’s social care are currently 
ongoing in England, Scotland and Wales, and we hope that our 
recommendations will be considered as part of each. 

7.8 We will engage with policymakers, regulators and others to explain our 
recommendations, strongly encourage them to implement them and, support 
them in doing so. 

 

224



Applications for Special Guardianship Order 

RELATED CHAPTER  

This chapter should be read in conjunction with Permanence Planning Guidance. 

RELEVANT NATIONAL GUIDANCE 

DfE, Special Guardianship Guidance (January 2017) 

Adoption Support Fund 

The Designated Teacher for Looked After and Previously Looked After Children: 
Statutory Guidance on their Roles and Responsibilities (Feb 2017) 

Firm Foundations: Complaints about Council Support and Advice for Special 
Guardians (Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman) (May 2018) 

AMENDMENT 

This chapter was updated in May 2022 in reference and to reflect the 
recommendations to achieve best practice in child protection and family justice 
systems: special guardianship orders (June 2020) and Family Court Justice Interim 
Guidance on Special Guardianship, Courts and Tribunals Judiciary (see new 
Section 6.2, Special Guardianship Applications in Care Proceedings).  

Contents  

1. Introduction 

2. Who may Apply? 

3. Parental Responsibility 

4. The Circumstances in which a Special Guardianship Order may be Made 

5. Planning Meeting 

6. Approval of Special Guardianship for Looked After Children 

7. Report to the Court 

8. Variation and Discharge of Special Guardianshio Order 

9. Special Guardianship Support Services 

10. Entitlement to Assessment for Special Guardianship Support 

11. Assessment for Support 

12. The Special Guardianship Support Plan 

225

https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/g_perm_plan.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/special-guardianship-guidance
http://www.adoptionsupportfund.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/designated-teacher-for-looked-after-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/designated-teacher-for-looked-after-children
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/focus-reports
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/focus-reports
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#applications
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#introduction
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#who_apply
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#paren_resp
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#circumstances
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#planning_meet
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#approval_spec
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#report_court
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#discharge_spec
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#spec_guard_support
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#entitle_assessment
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#assesment_support
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#spec_guard_plan


13. Review of Special Guardianship Support Plan 

14. Financial Support 

15. Urgent Cases 

16. Special Guardian Duty on the Death of the Child 

17. Appendix 1: Good Practice - Getting it Right First Time 

1. Introduction  

Special Guardianship offers an option for children needing permanent care 
outside their birth family. It can offer greater security without absolute severance 
from the birth family as in adoption. 

It can meet the needs of a significant group of children, mainly older, who need a 
sense of stability and security but who do not wish to make the absolute legal 
break with their birth family that is associated with adoption.  

It also provides an alternative for achieving permanence in families where 
adoption, for cultural or religious reasons, is not an option.  

A Special Guardianship Order offers greater stability and legal security to a 
placement than a Child Arrangements Order. 

Children subject to a Special Guardianship Order are eligible as previously Looked 
After Children for additional support with their education (Sections 20(4) and 
20A(4) of the Children and Young Persons Act 2008). For further information 
please go to Education of Looked After and Previously Looked After Children 
Procedure. 

Special Guardians have Parental Responsibility for the child and, whilst this is 
shared with the child's parents, the Special Guardian has the ability to exercise 
this responsibility without seeking permission from the parents.  

A Special Guardianship Order made with respect to a child who is the subject of a 
Care Order or for an order for contact to a child in care discharges those orders. 

A Care Order, however, does not automatically revoke a Special Guardianship 
Order although the Special Guardian's exercise of Parental Responsibility 
is restricted as the local authority has primary responsibility for decision-making 
under the Care Order. 

For further details about Special Guardianship as a permanence option for Looked 
After Children, see Permanence Planning Guidance.  

226

https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#rev_spec_guard
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#financial_support
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#urgent_cases
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#special_guard
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#app1
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_educ_lac.html
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_educ_lac.html
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/g_perm_plan.html


People thinking about becoming special guardians will be provided with clear, 
user-friendly information to help them make informed choices. This should 
include information on support available and how this is reviewed. 

2. Who may Apply?  

Applications for Special Guardianship may be individual or joint. Joint applicants 
do not need to be married. Special Guardians must be 18 or over and must not be 
a parent of the child in question.  

Subject to giving notice to the relevant local authority, the following people are 
entitled to apply for a Special Guardianship Order without needing to first seek 
the leave of the court:  

• Any guardian of the child; 

• Any person who is named in a child arrangements order as a person with 
whom the child is to live;  

• Any person who has the consent of each person named in a child 
arrangements order as a person with whom the child is to live;  

• Anyone with whom the child has lived for a period of at least 3 years 
(which need not be continuous, but must not have begun more than 5 
years before, or ended more than 3 months before, the making of the 
application);  

• A relative with whom the child has lived for a period of at least 1 year 
immediately preceding the application;  

• Where the child is in the care of a local authority, any person who has the 
consent of the local authority;  

• Any person who has the consent of all those with parental responsibility for 
the child;  

• Any other person, aged 18 or over (other than a parent) may apply for a 
Special Guardianship Order if he or she has the leave of the court to make 
the application.  

3. Parental Responsibility  

The Special Guardian will have Parental Responsibility for the child and, subject to 
any other order in force, will have clear responsibility for the day-to-day decisions 
about caring for the child to the exclusion of anyone else who might have 
Parental Responsibility (apart from another Special Guardian). 

227



The child's parents will continue to hold Parental Responsibility but their exercise 
of it will be limited. The parents will, however, retain the right to consent or not 
to the child's adoption or placement for adoption. The Special Guardian must also 
take reasonable steps to inform the parents if the child dies (see Section 16, 
Special Guardian Duty on the Death of the Child). 

In addition there are certain steps in a child's life which require the consent of 
everyone with Parental Responsibility or the leave of the court, for example:  

• Causing the child to be known by a different surname; or  

• Removing the child from the United Kingdom for 3 months or longer. 

The court may, at the time of making the Special Guardianship Order, give leave 
for the child to be known by a new surname and/or to be removed from the 
United Kingdom for longer than 3 months, either generally or for specified 
purposes. 

For the avoidance of doubt, a child is any child or young person under the age of 
18 years.  

4. The Circumstances in which a Special Guardianship Order 
may be Made  

The Court may make a Special Guardianship Order in any family proceedings 
concerning the welfare of the child. This applies even where no application has 
been made and includes adoption proceedings. 

Any person making an application for a Special Guardianship Order must give 3 
months' written notice to their local authority of their intention to apply. In 
relation to a Looked After Child, the notice will go to the local authority looking 
after the child. In all other cases, the notice will be sent to the local authority for 
the area where the applicant resides. The local authority receiving the notice will 
then have a duty to provide a report to the Court. 

The only exception to the requirement for 3 months' notice is where the Court 
has granted leave to make an application and waived the notice period. 

Where the local authority has received notice from an applicant or a request for a 
report from the Court, it should send written information about the steps it 
proposes to take in preparing the report to the prospective Special Guardian and 
the parents of the child in question. This should include information about Special 
Guardianship support services and how to request an assessment of needs for 
support.  

5. Planning Meeting  

228

https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#special_guard
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#special_guard


Once notice has been received that an application for Special Guardianship is to 
be made, the notice should be passed to the allocated social worker or, if the 
child is not previously known, arrangements must be made for the case to be 
allocated to a social worker in the Carer Assessment Team.  

If the child is already known and permanency planning is framed within Court 
proceedings, it is expected that a social worker is already allocated having 
completed a Viability Assessment of the prospective applicant(s). In most cases 
the same assessing social worker in the Carer Assessment Team will remain 
allocated to the applicant.  

 The child’s allocated social worker should arrange a planning meeting as soon as 
practicable after the notice is received. The planning meeting should clarify the 
steps to be taken, who will carry out the necessary assessments and who will 
contribute to the report for the Court. Court timescales will need to be clarified. 

The social worker or social workers preparing the Court report should be suitably 
qualified and experienced. There are no specific requirements as to the level of 
qualification or experience required and it will be for the manager of the Carer 
Assessment Team to ensure that the allocated worker is competent to write the 
report. 

In all cases there will need to be: 

• An assessment of the current and likely future needs of the child (including 
any harm the child has suffered and any risk of future harm posed by the 
child's parents, relatives or any other person the local authority considers 
relevant). This will usually be completed by the child’s allocated social 
worker; 

• An assessment of the prospective Special Guardian's parenting capacity 
including:  

i. Their understanding of, and ability to meet, the child's current and 
likely future needs, particularly any needs the child may have 
arising from harm that the child has suffered; 

ii. Their understanding of, and ability to protect the child from any 
current or future risk of harm posed by the child's parents, relatives 
or any other person the local authority consider relevant, 
particularly in relation to contact between any such person and the 
child; 

iii. Their ability and suitability to bring up the child until the child 
reaches the age of eighteen. 

229



• An assessment of the proposed contact arrangements and the support 
needs (See Section 11, Assessment for Support) of the child, parents and 
the prospective special guardian. 

The assessment of the applicants should include their medical history, the 
references received and the Disclosure and Barring Service and other statutory 
checks undertaken for the assessment. 

6. Approval of Special Guardianship for Looked After Children  
 
6.1 General 

If the child is Looked After and the application has been agreed as part of the 
child's Permanence Plan, the assessments will usually have been undertaken and 
the outcomes agreed as part of the permanence planning for the child, in which 
case there will be no need to hold a planning meeting. 

Special Guardianship as the care plan for a Looked After child must be approved 
by the Designated Manager (Special Guardianship),  Head of Service for 
Corporate Parenting  

6.2 Special Guardianship Applications in Care Proceedings 

PLWG Good Practice Guidance on SGO's (2020) has confirmed that alternative 
potential carers should be identified at an early stage – including through pre-
proceedings where possible and by convening a Family Group Conference. 
Nevertheless, identification of carers should not be as a result of parent’s 
approval/disapproval but should focus on the child’s interests. 

However, there is recognition that some applicants may be identified, or come 
forward, late in proceedings and the court will need to give careful consideration 
with regard to a possible extension of the 26-week timescale. (See Care and 
Supervision Proceedings and the Public Law Outline Procedure). 

Where a full assessment is undertaken, it is to be expected that this will usually 
require a 3-month time scale.  

Assessments should be evidence-based and child-focussed. Before the 
assessment, the prospective carers should be provided with full information 
about: 

i. What the assessment will involve; 

ii.  The time and commitment needed from them;  

iii. A letter should be sent explaining the expectations of the carers and what 
they should think about during the process. 

230

https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#assesment_support
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/pr_desg_man.html#spec_guard
https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/PLWG-SGO-Final-Report-1.pdf
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_care_supervis_plo.html
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_care_supervis_plo.html


iv. The limits on the confidentiality of the report as these are court directed 
reports and will be shared with all parties 

The assessment must be robust and comprehensive and should carefully balance 
the strengths families may have; of significance must be any existing relationship 
they have with the child and the importance for the child of remaining within 
their family and wider known network, against the carers’ capacity to meet the 
assessed needs and the challenges that a particular child may bring on a long-
term basis and until their 18th birthday. Consideration must also be given as to 
whether the child has or can live with the proposed special guardian prior to the 
making of a Special Guardianship Order as approved connected carers. 

As part of this assessment, applicants are expected to attend mandatory Special 
Guardianship preparation training, facilitated by the Carer Assessment and Carer 
Support Teams. The applicants’ assessing social worker will liaise with them about 
this training and facilitate the booking. Observations will be made of the 
applicants, which will be fed back to their assessor to be incorporated into the 
Special Guardianship assessment.  

See Court Reports in Placement Order Applications and Adoption/ Special 
Guardianship Guidance, Special Guardianship - Matters to be Dealt with in 
Report for the Court. 

The child’s All About Me document regularly reviewed during their Looked After 
Review should make a recommendation regarding the outcome of the care 
proceedings for the child’s Care Plan and this should be approved by the 
Designated Manager (Special Guardianship) Head of Service of the service area. 

Final recommendations should not be made until the essential tasks and activities 
for a full connected carer assessment are completed and a comprehensive 
support plan has been drafted and shared with the prospective special guardians 

The prospective carers should have time to read the assessment report and 
accompanying support plan before it is filed and to comment on the report and 
plan. 

Following the filing of the report, the prospective carers should be given the 
opportunity to seek independent advice and legal advice to understand fully the 
implications of any Orders made and if need be, make applications of their own. 

A Special Guardianship Support Plan will need to be provided at the same time of 
filing the Special Guardianship assessment and its recommendation. The Support 
Plan should detail the support services to be provided to the carers, and the child 
and must include contact for the child with their birth parents and any other 
family members of significant importance, such as siblings. This plan must also 

231

https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/g_court_rept.html#special_guard
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/g_court_rept.html#special_guard
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/g_court_rept.html#special_guard
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/pr_desg_man.html#spec_guard


include details of any financial support the carers may be entitled to. The 
potential applicants should be able to seek legal advice about the Support Plan.  

7. Report for the Court  

The social worker or social workers preparing the Court report should be suitably 
qualified and experienced.  

Once completed, the Court Report should be submitted by the author(s) to their 
line manager(s) for approval.  

See Court Reports in Placement Order Applications and Adoption/ Special 
Guardianship Guidance for what is required to be included in the report. 

The court is unable to make a Special Guardianship Order unless and until it has 
received a Special Guardianship Report and support plan; however, where the 
bulk of the information required is already before the court in another format, 
the local authority is not required to start from scratch. Instead, the local 
authority should be directed to file a report, which will fulfil the requirements by 
providing any missing information and by setting out the remaining information in 
the form of cross-references to the information already before the court in other 
reports. 

8. Variation and Discharge of Special Guardian Order  

A Special Guardianship Order can be varied or discharged on the application of: 

• The Special Guardian (or any of them, if there are more than one); 

• The local authority in whose name a Care Order was in force before the 
Special Guardianship Order was made; 

• Any person who is named in a Child Arrangements Order as a person with 
whom the child is to live; 

• With the leave of the court:  

o Any parent or guardian of the child; 

o Any step-parent who has Parental Responsibility; 

o Anyone who had (but no longer has) Parental Responsibility 
immediately before the Special Guardianship Order was made; 

o The child (if the court is satisfied that the child has sufficient 
understanding to make the proposed application). 

232

https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/g_court_rept.html
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/g_court_rept.html


Where the applicant is not the child and the leave of the court is required, the 
court may only grant leave if there has been a significant change in circumstances 
since the Special Guardianship Order was made. 

The court may during any family proceedings in which a question arises about the 
welfare of a child who is subject to a Special Guardianship Order, vary or 
discharge the Order in the absence of an application.  

9.  Special Guardianship Support Services 

The local authority must make arrangements for the provision of a range 
of support services in their area to meet the needs of people subject to Special 
Guardianship. 

Special Guardianship support services are defined as: 

• Financial support (see Section 14, Financial Support); 

• Barnet Family Services will conduct three social work visits in the first 12 
months of the making of the Special Guardianship Order. This is not a 
statutory requirement but will be included as a Barnet practice standard. 

• Services to enable groups of children for whom a Special Guardianship 
Order is in force (or in respect of whom such an Order is being formally 
considered), special guardians, prospective special guardians, and parents 
of the child to discuss matters relating to special guardianship;  

• Assistance in relation to contact between the child and their parents or 
relatives or any other person with whom the child has a relationship that 
the local authority considers to be beneficial to the welfare of the child;  

• Therapeutic services for the child;  

• Training for the purpose of ensuring the continuance of the relationship 
between the child and his/her special guardian or prospective special 
guardian and signposting in relation to matters relating to Special 
Guardianship Orders including access to support groups with other special 
guardians;  

• Counselling, advice, and information for the Special Guardian, children and 
their parents; 

• Annual Special Guardianship reviews which in Barnet Family Service will 
include a social work visit.  

Where the support provided includes respite care requiring the provision of 
accommodation, the child must be Looked After for the duration of the period of 
respite care to ensure that appropriate safeguards are in place. 

233

https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#financial_support


Special Guardianship Support will be subject to the approval of the Designated 
Manager in the Carer Support Team. 

The provision of any services (other than counselling, advice and information) 
may include financial assistance (for example cash to pay a babysitter to facilitate 
a break etc). When financial assistance is provided in this way it should not be 
means tested as it is being given as part of a service rather than as an ongoing 
financial support package. 

Support services should not be seen in isolation from mainstream services and it 
is important to ensure that families are assisted in accessing mainstream services 
and are aware of their entitlements to the necessary government benefits. 

Where the child was previously Looked After, responsibility for the assessment 
and provision of services for the child, the Special Guardian and any children of 
the Special Guardian all remain the responsibility of the local authority where the 
child was last looked for a period of three years from the time the Special 
Guardianship Order is granted. Thereafter the local authority where the Special 
Guardian lives will be responsible for assessing and providing support services. 

If a child is not Looked After, the local authority where the Special Guardian lives 
has the responsibility for assessing and providing support services. This includes 
the assessment and any support that is needed by the child's relatives who may 
live elsewhere. If the Special Guardianship guardian and his/her family move, 
then the responsibility passes to the new local authority. The local authority 
where the special guardian previously lived should cooperate as needed to ensure 
a smooth transition for the child. 

Ongoing financial support (i.e., that are paid on a regular basis), that is agreed 
when the Special Guardianship Order is granted, and that is stipulated in finance 
section of the court endorsed Support Plan remains the responsibility of the local 
authority that agreed it so long as the family qualify for payments. 

Local authorities may also provide services to people outside their area in other 
circumstances where the authority considers it appropriate. For example, 
transitional arrangements by the originating authority where a family move to 
allow time for the new authority to review the family's existing plan without a 
break in service provision. 

In addition to the support provided by local authorities, the Adoption Support 
Fund in England also covers therapeutic support for children, living in England, 
who were previously in care immediately before the making of a Special 
Guardianship Order.  

Based on the assessment of needs, local authorities can apply for funding from 
the Adoption Support Fund. 

234

http://www.adoptionsupportfund.co.uk/


10. Entitlement to Assessment for Special Guardianship 
Support  

Where the child is Looked After or was Looked After immediately prior to the 
making of the Special Guardianship Order, the following people MUST receive an 
assessment at their request:  

• The child; 

• The Special Guardian or prospective Special Guardian; 

• A parent. 

Where the child is not Looked After or was not Looked After immediately prior to 
the making of the Special Guardianship Order, the following people MAY be 
offered an assessment of their need for Special Guardianship support services: 

• The child; 

• The Special Guardian or prospective Special Guardian; 

• A parent. 

In all cases, whether the Special Guardianship child is looked after or not, the 
following people also MAY be offered an assessment of their need for Special 
Guardianship support services: 

• A child of the Special Guardian; 

• Any person with a significant ongoing relationship with the child. 

If a local authority decides not to assess in cases where they have discretion as 
above, they must notify the decision in writing, including reasons for the decision, 
to the person making the request. The person who requested the assessment 
must be allowed at least 28 days to make representations in relation to the 
decision. 

It will not always be necessary to undertake an assessment before providing 
information, advice or counselling services. However, if the local authority is 
considering providing any of the support services (see listing above) then a full 
assessment should be carried out. However, where a request relates to a 
particular service or where it is clear that a particular service is what is required, 
then the assessment process can be limited to looking at the need for that 
service.  
 

235



All Special Guardians are entitled to a review of their support plan at their 
request. The support plan is reviewed annually or at the request of the Special 
Guardian.  
 

11. Assessment for Support  

The assessment should be based on the Assessment Framework and include the 
following: 

• The developmental needs of the child; 

• The child's educational needs; 

• The parenting capacity of the Special Guardian or prospective Special 
Guardian; 

• Family and environmental factors that have shaped the life of the child; 

• What the life of the child might be like with the proposed Special Guardian; 

• Any previous assessments undertaken in respect of the child, the Special 
Guardian or the prospective Special Guardian; 

• The needs of the Special Guardian or prospective Special Guardian and 
their family; 

• The likely impact of the Special Guardianship Order on any pre-existing 
relationship between the child, parent and Special Guardian. 

Assessments for special guardianship support services should follow the guidance 
set out in, and use the domains of, the Assessment Framework, recognising that 
the context is different from that for birth families. This takes into account the 
child's developmental needs, the parenting capacity of the special guardian and 
consideration of the family and environmental factors that together help to 
explain the child's life so far and what life might be like with the new family 

Consultation with the relevant Clinical Commissioning Group and Local Education 
Authority should form part of the assessment process, and the person whose 
needs are being assessed should be interviewed unless the assessment relates 
only to information and advice or unless it is not appropriate to interview a child. 
In this case the child's actual or prospective special guardian may be interviewed. 

The assessment process should be flexible and should not delay provision of 
appropriate services. This assessment should take no longer than 12 weeks.  

After the assessment has been undertaken the local authority is required to 
prepare a written report of the assessment.  

236



Special Guardianship Support will be subject to the approval of the Designated 
Manager (Special Guardianship Support) in the Carer Support Team. 

At the end of the assessment and once the necessary approval has been obtained, 
the social worker must inform the person requesting provision of its outcome, 
including: 

• Information about the outcome of the assessment and the reasons for it; 

• Where it relates to financial support, the basis on which this is determined; 

• The services (if any) that the local authority proposes to provide to help 
meet the child's needs; 

• If financial support is to be paid, the amount and conditions attached. 

12. The Special Guardianship Support Plan  

All Special Guardianship assessments must include a comprehensive support plan.  

Where an assessment identifies the need for ongoing support services, a Special 
Guardianship Support Plan must be completed. 

Other agencies, such as education and health, may need to be consulted about 
the contents of the Plan. 

As a previously looked after child, the child subject to a Special Guardianship 
Order will be entitled to additional education support. This will be accessed 
through the designated teacher in the child’s school. For further information 
please go to Education of Looked After and Previously Looked After Children 
Procedure. 

The Plan should be written in such a way that everyone affected can understand 
and set out: 

1. The services to be provided; 

2. The objectives and criteria for success; 

3. Timescales for provision; 

4. Procedures for review; 

5. A named person to monitor the provision of services in accordance with 
the Plan. 

Special Guardianship Support will be subject to the approval of the Designated 
Manager (Carer Support Team) and Head of Service for Corporate Parenting. 

Once the necessary approval has been obtained, the social worker must send the 
proposed plan to the person requesting support and allow 28 days for that person 

237

https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_educ_lac.html
https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_educ_lac.html


to make representations about the proposed plan. The social worker should also 
give information to the person concerned about who to contact to obtain 
independent advice and advocacy. 

Where representations are received, they should be referred to the Designated 
Manager  (Carer Support Team) to decide whether to amend or confirm the Plan. 
The allocated social worker must then write to the person concerned setting out 
the final Plan. A final notice of the authority's decision must then be given to 
include the following: 

1. Details of the plan and the name of the person nominated to monitor the 
provision of services; 

2. Where financial support is to be provided:  

a. The method of determination of the amount of financial support; 

b. The amount, frequency, start date and period of any payment in 
instalments; 

c. When any single payment is to be made; 

d. Details of any conditions and the date by which those conditions 
are to be met; 

e. The arrangements and procedure for review, variation and 
termination of financial support; 

f. The responsibility of the authority in relation to reviews  and of the 
Special Guardian in respect of any conditions.  

13. Review of Special Guardianship Support Plans  

Special Guardianship Support Services, including the financial support must be 
reviewed: 

• If there is any change of circumstances affecting the support or needs of 
the child; 

• At such stage of the implementation of the plan as is considered most 
appropriate; 

• In any event at least annually, for all cases that remain the responsibility of 
London Borough of Barnet post the 3 years of the granting of the Order.  

Where services are being reviewed the same procedure for assessment must be 
followed as in a first assessment. 

238



If a local authority proposes to vary or terminate the provision of special 
guardianship support services to any person, before making any decision as a 
result of the review, it must give the person an opportunity to make 
representations and for that purpose it must give written notice of the proposed 
decision and the time of 28 days allowed for making representations. This notice 
must contain the same information as the notification of the outcome of a first 
assessment (see Section 12, The Special Guardianship Support Plan) including a 
draft of the revised plan.  

Any change to the Special Guardianship Support Plan will be subject to the 
approval of the Designated Manager (Carer Support Team). Local arrangements 
will determine whether any additional approval is required for changes to 
financial support.  

The format and content of the review will vary depending on the circumstances of 
the child and the special guardians family arrangements. Notification of changes 
of circumstances and any review of the provision of support services need not 
always necessitate direct contact between the local authority and the special 
guardian. Where the change of circumstances is relatively minor the review might 
be limited to an exchange of correspondence. In particular, the annual review of 
financial support might be achieved by exchange of correspondence between the 
local authority and the special guardian. Where the change of circumstances is 
relevant only to one service the review may be carried out with reference only to 
that service. However, where the change of circumstances is substantial, for 
example, a serious change in the behaviour of the child or circumstances of the 
special guardian, it will normally be appropriate to conduct a new assessment of 
needs. 

14. Financial Support  

Government guidance says that special guardianship arrangements should not fail 
just because of financial problems. Financial support should be paid to help 
secure a suitable arrangement where this is not possible because of a financial 
obstacle. 

Each special guardianship arrangement must be assessed on its own facts. It 
would not be lawful, for example, to pay a flat rate to all Special Guardians, or a 
fixed percentage of fostering allowance.  

The local authority must take account of any other grant, benefit, allowance or 
resource available to the person in respect of the carers needs as a result of 
becoming a Special Guardian of a child. Financial support cannot duplicate any 
other payment available to the Special Guardian. 

239

https://www.proceduresonline.com/barnet/fs/p_app_spec_guard.html?zoom_highlight=Special+Guardianship+Orders#spec_guard_plan


Special Guardians must be helped to access any benefits to which they are 
entitled; this will usually include child benefit and tax credits. 

The first financial assessment will take place within the Special Guardianship 
assessment process. The Carer Assessment Team is responsible for providing the 
Finance Team with the necessary information for the financial assessment to be 
undertaken. The Special Guardian's means will normally be considered when 
ongoing financial support is being considered. They will therefore be asked to 
complete a Financial Assessment Form, which, when completed, should be 
passed to the Finance Officer responsible for carrying out means assessments. 

Once the means assessment has been carried out, the Finance Officer should 
send written notification of the outcome to the relevant social worker, who must 
present this to the Designated Manager (Head of Service for Corporate Parenting) 
for approval. 

The social worker should then write to the Special Guardian setting out the 
amount of financial support agreed by the Designated Manager (Head of Service 
for Corporate Parenting) and information in relation to the following: 

• Whether financial support is be paid in regular instalments and if so, the 
frequency of payment; 

• The amount of financial support; 

• The period for which the financial support is to be paid; 

• When payment will commence; 

• Conditions for continuing payment and date by which conditions are to be 
met, i.e. returning Review Forms; 

• Arrangements and procedure for review and termination. 

A copy of this letter should be sent to the Finance Officer. 

Means may be disregarded in relation to: 

• The initial costs of accommodating a child who has been Looked After; 

• Recurring travel costs in contact arrangements; 

• Any special care requiring greater expenditure due to illness, disability, 
emotional or behavioural difficulties or the consequences of the past 
abuse or neglect of a child previously looked after; 

• Where considering an element of remuneration in financial support 
payments to ex-foster carers. 

240



Where the Special Guardians were previously the child's foster carers, the local 
authority can maintain the fostering allowance for a transitional period of 2 years 
but with discretion to extend if necessary. 

The only circumstance when the local authority MUST disregard means is when 
providing financial support in respect of legal costs, including fees payable to a 
court in respect of a child who is Looked After where the local authority support 
the making of the Special Guardianship Order or an application is made to vary or 
discharge a Special Guardianship Order in respect of that child. 

Local authorities are not expected to meet the legal costs of a Special 
Guardianship Order where they oppose an application in respect of a child they 
previously looked after or in a non-looked after case. Local authorities may wish 
to advise prospective special guardians in these circumstances that they may be 
able to obtain help with legal costs from the Legal Aid Agency.  

Review of Financial Support Paid Periodically 

Where financial support is paid periodically the local authority must review this: 

• On receipt of the annual statement received from the special guardian;  

• If there is any relevant change of circumstances that the special guardian 
agreed to notify, or any breach of a condition comes to the local 
authority's notice; 

• At any (other) stage in the implementation of the plan that the local 
authority considers appropriate. 

The procedure for assessment set out for first assessment for financial support 
(see above) applies equally to a review of financial support.  

The Carer Support Team will endeavor to contact the Special Guardians in the 
month before the financial review is due to take place. A social work review will 
be undertaken physically or via telephone to assess support needs and alert the 
Special Guardian to the upcoming finance review.  

The finance Officer will write to the Special Guardian stipulating the documents 
required for the review to be undertaken, the timescales for submission of these 
documents and a form for the Special Guardian to complete, detailing their 
financial information and any change in circumstances for the Special Guardian or 
the child. Special Guardians will be given 3 weeks to return the information, or to 
make contact with the finance, or carer support team if they have any difficulties 
with this.  

If information is not received within 3 weeks, and the Special Guardian has not 
made contact with the Local Authority, then a reminder will be sent with a further 

241



2-week timeframe, with notice that their payments will be suspended in 28 days’ 
time, if the information is not returned.  

Once the information and documents are received by the Local Authority, a 
financial assessment will be undertaken within 3 weeks. If there is a 
recommended increase in allowance then Special Guardians will be written to, to 
inform them of this, and the increase will be added and backdated to the date the 
Local Authority received the information.  

The Local Authority must give the person notice of their decision including the 
reasons for it and, if applicable, the revised plan. If any change in financial support 
is considered appropriate, the recommended change should be forwarded to the 
Designated Manager (Carer Support) for a decision. 
 

If the local authority proposes, as a result of the review, to reduce or terminate 
financial support or revise the plan, before making that decision the Local Authority 
must give the person an opportunity to make representations. For that purpose, it 
must give the person notice of the proposed decision and the time allowed for 
making representations (28 days’), but the local authority may suspend financial 
support pending that decision if they think it appropriate.  

Any representations will be considered by the Carer Support Team Manager or 
Head of Service, and a decision will be made and communicated in writing to the 
Special Guardian within 28 days.  

15. Urgent Cases  

Where a person has an urgent need of a service, the assessment process should 
not delay provision and arrangements can be made for support to be provided as 
a matter of urgency in appropriate cases. The approval of the Designated 
Manager (Carer Support) will still be required. The local authority will need to 
review the provision as soon as possible after the support has been provided in 
accordance with the procedures set out above. 

16. Special Guardian Duty on the Death of the Child  

If the child with respect to whom a Special Guardianship Order is in force dies, the 
Special Guardian must take reasonable steps to give notice of that fact to: 

• Each parent of the child with Parental Responsibility; and 

• Each guardian of the child.  

Appendix 1: Good Practice: Getting it Right First Time 

242



The following suggested good practice is taken from the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman report Firm Foundations: Complaints about Council 
Support and Advice for Special Guardians (May 2018). 

The following is not an exhaustive list but sets out some of the positive steps 
councils can take: 

• Give early, clear and unambiguous advice to people who are considering 
becoming special guardians. Consider how this can:  

o Explain what is special guardianship and what this means for 
parental responsibility, legal security and stability;  

o Explain the council’s role and that of the court;  

o Set out who can apply to be a special guardian and what alternatives 
could be more suitable;  

o Make the process of applying to be a special guardian clear, 
including the role of the council in writing a report to court;  

o Explain the assessment process before becoming a special guardian. 
Explain that applicants may need to complete some training.  

• Be as clear as possible about the support that might be available and how 
the council will assess the applicant’s support needs;  

• Be as unambiguous as possible about the fixed term duration of support 
and what it is likely to be used for; 

• Back up verbal advice and guidance in writing wherever possible, 
particularly where this may have long term consequences;  

• Manage expectations early on, for example where special guardians expect 
ongoing support or help with major personal expenditure;  

• Be as clear as possible with applicants that any support may be time 
limited;  

• Develop advice for social workers involved in supporting potential and 
actual special guardians. This could include:  

o A flow chart showing responsibilities at key stages such as suitability 
assessment, financial assessment, permanence panel and court;  

o A checklist of things to cover at first assessment visit (for example 
explaining the process and financial situation);  

o A summary of the SGO assessment process including child 
information (for example attachment issues and any early neglect 

243

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/focus-reports
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/focus-reports


or trauma), carers information (for example current relationship 
and stability).  

• Keep clear and transparent records of contact with special guardians. This 
is always important, particularly where guardians will probably be 
supported by several different social workers and other officers over 
several years;  

• Write support plans that are clear, in plain English and set actions that are 
as specific, measurable and achievable as possible so the council and 
guardian can review progress;  

• Make sure support plans:  

o Are shared, discussed and agreed with special guardians, and this is 
well documented;  

o Are written so that they are easy to evaluate and keep under review. 
It should be easy for the council and guardian to decide whether all 
the support has been provided;  

o Are regularly reviewed and kept up to date. Make sure plans 
continue to meet the child’s needs as they change;  

o Set out the approach to calculating special guardianship allowance. 
Explain this at the earliest stage as possible, making clear this will 
be reviewed and depend on evidence of continuing needs;  

o Keep the best interests of the child at the forefront of decision 
making. 

 

 

Document control 

Report Author Kate Jeffrey 

Reporting to Brigitte Jordaan 

Version 2 

Date created 16.05.2022 

Status Updated Policy  

 

244



Updated 24/05/2022 BJ 

Connected Carer Policy 

RELATED GUIDANCE 

Children Act 1989: Family and Friends Care: Statutory guidance for local 
authorities about family and friends providing care for children who cannot live 
with their parents.  

Family Rights Group, Initial Family and Friends Care Assessment: A good practice 
guide outlines what a viability assessment for family and friend carers should look 
like, what social workers should consider and how to undertake international 
assessments. 

 

Contents  
1. Introduction 
2. Values, Principles and Objectives 
3. Management Accountability 
4. Legal framework for children living away from their parents 
5. Permanence Options 
6. Financial Support 
7. Accommodation 
8. Supporting Contact with Parents 
9. Family Group Conferences  
10. Information on Services and Support 
11. Complaints Procedure 

1. Introduction 

Children who are unable to live with their parents may be living with extended 
family members, friends or other people who are connected with them for a 
variety of reasons and in a variety of different arrangements. Some of these 
children may be looked after children under care orders (Section 31 of the 
Children Act 1989). 

Connected Care is aimed at grandparents, aunts, uncles, cousins, close family 
friends or even neighbours. Anyone who has a positive and pre-existing 
relationship with the child or young person can become a Connected Carer. 

This policy sets out how Barnet Council will support connected carers and the 
children they are caring for, provides information on the assessment process and 
details of the support that connected carers can access. 

This policy is updated regularly and is accessible on the Council’s website.  

245

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-family-and-friends-care
https://www.frg.org.uk/involving-families/family-and-friends-carers/assessment-tool


Updated 24/05/2022 BJ 

2. Values, Principles and Objectives 

This policy is underpinned by the principles of the Children Act 1989; the key 
principle being that a child should be enabled to live within their families unless 
this is not consistent with their welfare.  

Barnet Council is committed to ensuring that all children in the borough grow up 
as part of a loving family that can meet their developmental needs. Where 
possible, this should be with birth parents, or if this is not possible, with a relative 
or a member of the child’s social network. Barnet Council will only place children 
in care if it is believed to be necessary and only for as long as they need to be in 
care. 

Consideration of children's welfare and best interests will always be at the centre 
of the work we do, and children are at the centre of any decisions we make about 
them. Barnet Council will ensure that children are active participants, and their 
wishes and feelings will be considered in all relevant processes when adults are 
trying to solve problems and make decisions about them. 

All connected care arrangements will be assessed to make sure that they are able 
to meet the child’s specific needs and keep them safe. The assessment will take 
into account the particular situation of the child, carers and the relationships 
within the family. We will provide support for any such arrangements based on 
the assessed needs of the child and will seek to ensure that connected carers are 
provided with the support they need so they can provide care to the child.  

In confirming the connected care arrangements for a child, Barnet Council will 
strive to fulfil our promise to all children in our care that states we, as Corporate 
Parents, will:  

• Support children and young people to fulfil their dreams 

• Be there for them, when they need us 

• Support their mental and physical health  

• Listen, communicate and make decisions together with them 

• Support them to become independent and prepare for adulthood 

• Celebrate their achievements, identity and culture. 

You can find further information on our promise to all children in our care in our 
corporate parenting strategy: 
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/corporate_parenting_strategy_202
1-23.pdf 

 

246

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/corporate_parenting_strategy_2021-23.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/corporate_parenting_strategy_2021-23.pdf


Updated 24/05/2022 BJ 

3. Management Accountability 

Management responsibility for the Connected Carer Policy rests with the Head of 
Corporate Parenting, whose service is responsible for commissioning all children’s 
placements. 

 

4. Legal Framework for children living away from their 
parents 

4.1 The following statutory powers and duties provide the legal basis for 
departmental involvement in private/ informal family and friend care 
arrangements:  

• The Children Act 1989 

• The Children and Young Person Act 2008 

• The Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations Volume 2: Care Planning, 
Placement and Case Review 

• Family and Friends Care; Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities 

• The children (Private Arrangements for Fostering) Regulations 2005 

4.2 Children who are in need living with family  

The local authority has a general duty to safeguard and promote the welfare 
of children living within its area and to promote the upbringing of such 
children by their families.  

When a family is referred, Barnet Family Services is obligated to carry out an 
assessment of the child to see if any services or support are needed to meet 
the child’s needs or support the carer or family under section 17 of the 
Children Act 1989.  

Where concerns arise in relation to the welfare of a child living with family, 
normal processes for referral and assessment under section 17 or section 47 
of the Children Act 1989 will apply. 

4.3 Private Fostering  

A privately fostered child is a child under 16 years (or 18 if disabled) who is 
cared for by an adult who is not a parent or close relative and where the child 
is likely to be cared for in that home for 28 days or more. In a private fostering 
arrangement, the parent still holds parental responsibility and agrees the 
arrangement with the private foster carer.  

A close relative is defined as: 

• Parent or step-parent (or someone who holds parental responsibility)  

247



Updated 24/05/2022 BJ 

• Grandparent  

• Aunt or uncle (whether related to the child by blood or through marriage 
or civil partnership)  

• Sibling (including half-siblings and step-siblings)  

• Anyone who holds a court order granting parental responsibility for the 
child (for example, a Special Guardianships Order) 

Barnet Council has a legal duty to ensure that children and young people in 
this situation are safe and properly cared for. Under the Children Act, parents 
and carers must tell the Council if they are entering into a private fostering 
arrangement six weeks prior to the arrangement commencing. The Multi-
Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) Team can be contacted on 020 8359 4066 
for advice on the process 

Please note: it is an offence not to notify the Council of such an arrangement.   

In Barnet the assessment, review and monitoring arrangements for private 
fostering are the responsibility of the Head of Corporate Parenting, in 
conjunction with the Head of Duty & Assessment, Intervention & Planning, 
Domestic Abuse and VAWG.   

For further information please refer to Barnet’s Private Fostering Statement 
of Purpose is available on the Council’s website. 

Further guidance on private fostering is also available:  

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/children-and-families/fostering-and-
adopting/fostering-barnet/private-fostering/am-i-privately 

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/children-and-families/support-parents-and-
carers/looking-after-someone-elses-child/private  

4.4 Looked after children in family and friends’ care  

If, following an assessment, the recommendation is for a child to become 
looked after, we will first try to identify a relative or family friend who is able 
to care for them.  The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) 
Regulations 2010 state that any placement must always be formally assessed 
prior to placement of a child. (Reg 17). There are exceptions to this under 
Regulation 24 that allows for temporary approval of carers pending 
completion of the full assessment. However, this temporary approval expires 
after 16 weeks (extended to 24 weeks in some instances) hence the need for 
assessment and formal approval to be completed within that period. 

Support services will be put in place by Barnet Fostering Support Teams, and 
this will include training for connected carers in accordance with Fostering 
Services Regulations, National Minimum Standards (NMS) and Training, 

248



Updated 24/05/2022 BJ 

Support and Development (TSD) standards. Support will also be provided to 
the child to meet their needs, including a health plan and personal education 
plan. They may also be entitled to leaving care support services.  

Looked after children living with connected carers will be supported by the 
case holding social work team within Barnet Family Services. 

5. Permanence Options 

For most children living with connected carers, whether in private 
arrangements or looked after by Barnet, the plan for their long-term care will 
be to return to their parents. If this is not possible, and they need to remain 
living with their connected carer, there are various legal options for carers to 
put the arrangements on a more permanent footing.  

The legal orders will help carers share parental responsibility for the child with 
the birth parents; this means that they will have shared rights and 
responsibilities regarding the child, and this will allow them to make decisions 
on the child’s day to day care and make plans for their future.  

The legal orders set out below may be made either as an outcome of care 
proceedings initiated by the local authority or of applications made to the 
court by the carer.  

5.1 Child Arrangements Order  

A Child Arrangements Order (CAO) can be applied for by relatives who have 
been looking after the child, with the leave of the court.  

Where carers have a CAO for a child, the child will be able to live with them 
and they will be responsible for their day-to-day care, sharing parental 
responsibility with parents. The order lasts until the child is 18 years.  

Local authorities may pay a CAO allowance to support connected carers who 
choose to take out a CAO. This allowance is at the local authority’s discretion 
and is means tested.  

5.2 Special Guardianship Orders  

Special Guardianship Orders (SGO) can be applied for by a child’s carers who 
have been looking after a child for more than one year. When a connected 
carer is granted an SGO and becomes the child’s Special Guardian, they will 
share parental responsibility for the child with parents but will have exclusive 
rights to exercise parental responsibility for the child in terms of their day-to-
day care.  

Special Guardianship provides carers with wider powers regarding the child’s 
care but does not require a complete break with the birth family as in 

249



Updated 24/05/2022 BJ 

adoption. For this reason, the order is suitable for children who are being 
cared for by family members or friends but who still have links with their birth 
parents.  

5.3 Adoption Orders  

A connected carer may apply for an Adoption Order for a child for whom they 
have looked after continuously for at least one year. An Adoption Order 
transfers all legal rights and responsibilities for a child from their birth parents 
to the adoptive parents and the child legally becomes part of the adoptive 
parent’s family. 

  

6. Financial Support 

6.1 Financial support for looked after children placed with connected carers  

When a child is looked after by Barnet, the Council is responsible for 
providing support.  

Connected carers who are assessed by Barnet will be assessed as foster 
carers and receive the same fostering allowances as other Barnet foster 
carers. This is also applicable where temporary approval is granted whilst 
being assessed.  

6.2 Child Arrangements Order  

Entitlement to a CAO allowance remains at the discretion of the local 
authority where payment is intended to help meet the welfare needs of a 
child residing with a carer. Any financial support is not designed to replace 
benefits such as Child Benefits and Child Tax Credit and will not affect 
benefits entitlement. CAO allowances are means tested and are capped at 
the basic foster carer’s rate minus child benefits.  

6.3 Special Guardianship Order  

Where the child was previously looked after immediately prior to the 
granting of the court order, the Special Guardianship Order (SGO) 
allowance will be paid, means tested and capped at the basic fostering 
rate minus child benefit.  

Foster carers who are granted a SGO on a child in their care, will receive 
two years continued remuneration in line with the fostering allowance 
minus Child Benefit plus the reward element. After two years the reward 
element will cease and then be means tested capped at the fostering rate 
minus child benefit. 

250



Updated 24/05/2022 BJ 

Any financial support is not designed to replace benefits such as Child 
Benefit and Child Tax Credit and will not affect benefit entitlement. 

Please refer to our SGO Policy for further information. 

6.4 Adoption  
All adoption allowances are based on an assessment of need to ensure 
the child’s care needs are met.  
 
Please refer to government legalisation on financial support for adoption 
for further information. 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/691/part/3/made 
 
 

7. Accommodation  

The authority works with landlords to ensure that, whenever possible, 
connected carers living in social housing are given appropriate priority to 
move to more suitable accommodation if this will prevent the need for a child 
to become looked after.  

 

8. Supporting Contact with Parents  

All children who are living away from their parents should have an 
opportunity to keep in touch with family members where this is in their best 
interests. Where a child is living in an informal family and friends care 
arrangement, the carers should agree with the family on contact 
arrangements, 'where it is necessary to do so in order to safeguard and 
promote his or her welfare'.  

As part of the support arrangements, it may be identified that specific 
assistance is required to ensure that any such contact can be managed safely. 
If necessary, information will be made available to connected carers about 
local contact centres and family mediation services, and how to make use of 
their services.  

Where a child is Looked After by connected carers, Barnet together with the 
carers are required to endeavour to promote contact between the child and 
his or her family 'unless it is not practicable or consistent with the child's 
welfare'. The overall objective of the contact arrangements will be included in 
the child's Care Plan and the specific arrangements will be set out in the 
child's Placement Plan  

 

251

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/691/part/3/made


Updated 24/05/2022 BJ 

9. Family Group Conferences  

Family Group Conferences are meetings held between professionals and 
family members where they are helped to think through issues surrounding 
the care of a child who Barnet is concerned about, and to come up with their 
own solutions to achieve the best outcomes for the child.  

The meetings are organised and facilitated by trained staff who are not part of 
the service working with the family (although they may still be employed by 
the local authority). The family group conference coordinator is independent 
from the caseworker, which means that they have not and will not be 
involved in making any decisions about the child. 

Where Barnet is so concerned about the welfare of a child that it is 
considering legal proceedings, a Family Group Conference will be convened to 
help the family explore alternative care arrangements. Although there is no 
guarantee that Barnet will feel that any plan put forward by family members 
following a family group conference is suitable, experience suggests that in 
many cases families will be able to come up with plans which would perhaps 
not otherwise have been suggested. This meeting can assist the family to 
identify connected carers for the children if they cannot reside with their 
parents 

 

10. Information on Services and Support 

There are a number of services both locally and nationally that are able to 
offer advice and support to connected carers and to children and young 
people. The Fostering Support Team and the child’s social work team will also 
assist in finding suitable support groups.  

Further information about services and support can be found on the following 
websites:  

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/fosteringinbarnet 

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/children-and-families/fostering-and-
adopting/connected-carers 

https://www.thefosteringnetwork.org.uk/advice-information 

http://www.fosteringnorthlondon.co.uk/ 

 

11. Complaints Procedure  

252

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/fosteringinbarnet
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/children-and-families/fostering-and-adopting/connected-carers
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/children-and-families/fostering-and-adopting/connected-carers
https://www.thefosteringnetwork.org.uk/advice-information
http://www.fosteringnorthlondon.co.uk/


Updated 24/05/2022 BJ 

Barnet Family Services aims to always provide the best possible service.  
Where a connected carer is unhappy with any aspect of our service or the 
decisions we make, they can make a complaint.  

Barnet Council has a complaints procedure which sets out the process in 
relation to the three stages of our complaint’s investigation process. Our aim 
would be to resolve any such dissatisfaction without the need for a formal 
investigation but where an informal resolution is not possible, then a formal 
investigation will be arranged. 

Records of investigations and the outcome of complaints are held by the 
Family Services Complaints Team and the information is used for quality 
assurance monitoring and service improvement.  
 
Information on how to make a complaint can be obtained from:  
Family Services Complaints Team 
London Borough of Barnet 
2 Bristol Avenue  
Colindale 
London  
NW9 4EW 
Tel: 0208 359 7008 
Email: FSComplaints@barnet.gov.uk 
 
Information is also available to view at:  
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/your-council/contact-council/complaints/barnet-
childrens-social-care-complaints-process 
 

253

mailto:FSComplaints@barnet.gov.uk
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/your-council/contact-council/complaints/barnet-childrens-social-care-complaints-process
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/your-council/contact-council/complaints/barnet-childrens-social-care-complaints-process


This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                      

1 

 

 

Family Services 
Document control  

Document title National Referral Mechanisms - Barnet   

Document description Summary Report on Referrals to the National Referral 

Mechanism  

Document author Christopher Kelly – Strategic Lead for Violence, Vulnerability 

and Exploitation     

 

Version control 

Document production date  May 2022  

Document currency V1 

 

Clearance process 

Quality approver Date 

Christopher Kelly  May 2022   

Release approver  Date 

Tina McElligott, Director Early Help & Childrens Social Care Services May 2022   

 

 

 

 

                   
 
 

 

 

255



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                      

2 

 

 

Contents 

      

1. Background of the National Referral Mechanism and Victim Scope. 3 

2. Decision making, outcomes and challenges 3 

3. National Picture (2021) 4 

4. NRM Referrals Barnet. 5 

5. Demographics of NRM Cohort 5 

6. NRM Outcomes in Barnet 7 

7. Next steps 8 

 

256



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                      

3 

 

1. Background of the National Referral Mechanism and 
Victim Scope.   

1.1 Arising from the Council of Europe Convention on Action Against Human Trafficking, the 

National Referral Mechanism (NRM) is a process launched by the government in 2008 

designed to identify victims of human trafficking and ensure they receive appropriate 

protection and support. The NRM further assists the Home Office to build a clearer 

picture about the scope and types of human trafficking in the UK. 

 

1.2 In 2015 the NRM was extended to include all victims of modern slavery in England and 

Wales following implementation of the Modern Slavery Act 2015. The extension of scope 

includes within the NRM scheme any child, irrespective of immigration status, thought to 

be a victim of trafficking and any person who is considered a victim of slavery, servitude 

and forced or compulsory labour. The extension of this criteria ensures that crimes a 

person may have committed as victim of modern -day slavery can be considered and 

mitigated against in the context of coercion and control. 

 

1.3 Only agencies identified as ‘first responders’ can refer potential victims to the scheme i.e. 

Local Authorities, the National Crime Agency, Police, NSPCC and Barnardo’s.  

 

1.4 Children who are victims of Modern Slavery are victims of child abuse, as such first 

responder agencies and other professionals who come into contact with a child who may 

have been exploited or trafficked must refer to the local authority Multi Agency 

Safeguarding Hub (MASH); referrals to the NRM do not supersede statutory safeguarding 

duties.  

 

1.5 This summary report sets out Barnet Family Services engagement with the NRM, it does 

not include referral data from other first responder agencies; although children referred to 

NRM by other agencies will have been referred to MASH.   

 

2. Decision making, outcomes and challenges  
 

2.1 The Single Competent Authority (SCA) in the Home Office makes a reasonable grounds 

decision in 7 days after which the SCA has 45 days to conduct further enquiries to 

determine if there is conclusive grounds that the subject is a victim of modern slavery. 

During this time the victim cannot be removed from the UK or convicted of crimes that 

257



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                      

4 

 

may have occurred as a victim of modern slavery. If “conclusive grounds” are found the 

victim is entitled to receive advocacy support from an Independent Child Trafficking 

Guardian (ICTG), where this support is being piloted.  

 

2.2 There have been significant increases in referrals since the scope of NRM was widened 

which has created some delay in timeliness of SCA decisions. Leading to increased 

delays with decisions regarding immigration statuses and potential criminal prosecutions.  

 

3. National Picture (2021) 
3.1 Across the UK in 2021:   

- 12,727 potential victims of modern slavery were referred to the home office,  

- 77% (9,790) were male and 23% (2,923) were female 

- 58% (7,434) were referred for exploitation that occurred in the UK  

- 31% (3,883) claimed exploitation overseas.  

- 43% (5,468) claimed exploitation as children 

- 33% of adult victims were due to reported labour exploitation (n=2,141),  

- 49% of child victims were due to reported criminal exploitation (n=2,689) 

- 12,665 reasonable grounds and 2,866 conclusive grounds decisions were made in 

2021/22.  

- Of these, 90% of reasonable grounds and 91% of conclusive grounds decisions were 

positive 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 Modern Slavery: National Referral Mechanism and Duty to Notify statistics UK, end of year summary, 2021 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 

National 

NRM 

Referrals 

2014-2021 

258



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                      

5 

 

4. NRM Referrals Barnet.  
                                     

 

 

4.1 Barnet figures have remained consistent over 2020/21, with 15 young people being 

referred in each year. Overall, 45 young people having been referred to the NRM since 

2018. Barnet’s significant increase in referrals from 2020 was due an increasing 

awareness of modern-day slavery that recognizes young people involved in ‘county 

lines’ drug dealing as victims of exploitation. The launch of the Vulnerable Adolescents 

Strategy in 2020 -22 and development of risk assessment tools and complex case 

panels has also supported the identification of young people at risk 

 

5. Demographics of NRM Cohort  
 

5.1 80% of referrals made by Barnet to the NRM are due to concerns of criminal exploitation; 

unaccompanied asylum-seeking children account for the remaining 20%.  All but one of 

the young people referred are male.   

 

   Barnet        

 

 

Barnet NRM  

Referrals  

2018 - 2022 

259



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                      

6 

 

National NRM 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Since the beginning of 2022, Barnet 

has referred 5 young people to the 

NRM; it is expected the volume will 

increase in 2022. Our local strategy 

for young people at risk of 

exploitation is being revised and this 

will support multi-agency approaches 

in reducing this trend.  

 

Young people aged 17 years have 

the highest volume of referrals to 

NRM, which is also the age that 

young people are most commonly 

reported missing from home and 

care  

260



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                      

7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6. NRM Outcomes in Barnet  
6.1  Barnet faces the same challenges as other local authorities in achieving timely 

decisions from the SCA due to the significantly higher volumes of referrals being made. 

 

6.2 Locally for all young people who are referred to the National Referral Mechanism, and 

have, or are awaiting conclusive ground decisions are assessed and supported through 

our multi agency contextual assessment (Child Exploitation and Missing, CEAM). This 

assessment supports the understanding of young people’s lived experiences, 

relationships, and support networks. Individual child-led care plans are implemented to 

support their needs, manage and mitigate further risk of exploitation and to respond to 

experience of trauma. The Police are automatically informed that the  young person are 

a victim of exploitation which alerts officers to young people’s vulnerability if they come 

into contact with them.  

 

6.3 Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children represent a particularly vulnerable group of 

young people who through their lived experiences, may present with significant trauma. 

The journey of asylum-seeking children is often unknown, and reports highlighting the 

conditions of travel can be harrowing, particularly for young people who have been 

trafficked. These young people are received into care but lack familial support networks, 

have language barriers and can be subject to a ‘debt bondage’ to their traffickers. These 

risks are considered in assessments and at the point of accommodation, a referral to 

the National Referral Mechanism is always considered. Safety plans are co-produced 

with young people and implemented in partnership with the placement/carer, education 

local police and children social care can be implemented.   

 

Young people from Black and 

Other racially minoritized 

backgrounds account for 67% of 

young people referred to the 

NRM. 

261



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                      

8 

 

6.4 The Violence, Vulnerability and Exploitation Team maintains an overview of young 

people at risk of criminal and sexual exploitation and/or modern-day slavery which 

supports identification of themes, organised exploitation and human trafficking. Family 

Services work closely with Police, National Crime Agency, Community Safety, and key 

stakeholders to support strategic planning and police-led operations to identify and 

disrupt trafficking and exploitation.  

 

6.5 If conclusive grounds are yet to be reached for a young person who has been charged 

for an offence, their circumstances are presented to court as potential victim to 

exploitation or modern slavery. The Youth Justice Service in partnership with Children’s 

Social Care Services and the Court will support the need for further enquiries to be 

made for a ‘conclusive ground’ decision ahead of sentencing decision.  

 

 

7. Developments in practice  
7.1 The NRM was established by the Home Office to develop a national picture of the type 

and level of modern-day slavery in the UK. The scheme supports young people and 

adults to plea mitigating circumstances against deportation and criminal prosecutions, 

whilst the responsibility for safeguarding victims remains with the local authority.  

 

7.2 The missing coordinator will take on the role of SPOC to align missing and NRM activity 

for children. This will support the provision of data to the Home Office who are running a 

pilot with 10 authorities to assess the effectiveness of devolved decision making in 

assessing young people against conclusive grounds criteria. Barnet will be providing 

local data as a comparator site to the pilot authorities.  

 

7.3 The Vulnerable Adolescents Strategy 2022 – 25 will build on the previous two-year 

strategy and set out the multi-agency response to tackling the increasing numbers of 

children and young people who are victims of modern-day slavery, county lines and 

criminal exploitation. The Strategy will be subject to a consultation exercise over the 

summer period.   

262



 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact: Pakeezah Rahman 020 8359 6452 pakeezah.rahman@barnet.gov.uk  
 
 
 

  

Children, Education & Safeguarding 
Committee  

Work Programme 
2022 - 2023 

 

 

263

A
G

E
N

D
A

 IT
E

M
 11

mailto:pakeezah.rahman@barnet.gov.uk


 
Title of Report  

 
Overview of decision 

 
Chief/Lead Officer(s) 

Tuesday 07 June 2022 [deadline for cleared reports Wednesday 25 May] 

Home Office & Clearsprings Vist and Update on 
Barnet’s Asylum Seeker Contingency Hotels 

Committee to note the report and take the 
opportunity to question guest representatives 
from the Home Office and Clearsprings 
Ready Homes. 

William Cooper, Deputy Head of Strategy 
and Engagement 

CES Priorities of the New Administration That Committee agrees for the Executive 
Director, Children and Families to develop a 
programme of work which embeds the 
aspirations of the new Administration and 
brings back to the next CES committee for 
agreement. 

Chris Munday, Executive Director 
Children’s Services 

SEND Local Area Inspection – Inspection findings 
and action plan 
 

Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Neil Marlow, Director of Education and 
Learning  

DfE SEND Review (Green Paper) Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Neil Marlow, Director of Education and 
Learning 
 

Schools White Paper Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 
 

Neil Marlow, Director of Education and 
Learning 

264



 
Title of Report  

 
Overview of decision 

 
Chief/Lead Officer(s) 

Family Services Quarterly Update Committee to note the report. 
 
Each meeting will also have an update on 
data and performance. 

Chris Munday, Executive Director 
Children’s Services 
 

Connected (Friend and family) Care Policy Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 
 

Brigitte Jordaan, Director of Children 
Social Care  

Special Guardianship Support policy Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 
 

Brigitte Jordaan, Director of Children 
Social Care 

National Referral Mechanism (NRM) report 
 

Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Tina McElligott, Director of Children Social 
Care 
 

Children's Social Care placements including 
Residential homes, Independent Fostering Agency, 
16+ accommodation and accommodation with 
support, Semi Independent and Supported Lodging 
      

Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Grace Walker, Head of Commissioning, 
Performance & Improvement          

Monday 12 September 2022 [deadline for cleared reports Thursday 01 September] 

Family Services Quarterly Update Committee to note the report.  
 
Each meeting will also have an update on 
data and performance. 

Chris Munday, Executive Director for 
Children’s Services 
 

Youth Perception Survey results and Family 
Friendly update 

Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 
 

Ben Thomas, Assistant Director, 
Education, Strategy & Partnership 

265



 
Title of Report  

 
Overview of decision 

 
Chief/Lead Officer(s) 

Annual Report Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 
 

Brigitte Jordaan, Director of Children 
Social Care 

Care Leaver Strategy Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Brigitte Jordaan, Director of Children 
Social Care 
 

Adopt London North Annual Report Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Brigitte Jordaan, Director of Children 
Social Care  
 

MOU/SLA with Adults – new structure 
 

Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Brigitte Jordaan, Director of Children 
Social Care  
 

Voice of the Child – Introduce the newly elected 
Youth Parliament and Youth Ambassadors 

Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Tina McElligott, Director of Children Social 
Care 
 

Voice of the Child – Annual Report Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Tina McElligott, Director of Children Social 
Care 
 

Post-16 Education and Skills Strategy update 
 

Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Neil Marlow, Director of Education and 
Learning 
 

Planning for new school places – update and 
School Places Plan 2023-2027 
 

Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Neil Marlow, Director of Education and 
Learning 

Local Authority School Governor nominations – 
update 
 

Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Neil Marlow, Director of Education and 
Learning 

266



 
Title of Report  

 
Overview of decision 

 
Chief/Lead Officer(s) 

Children's Integrated Therapy Services Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Grace Walker, Head of Commissioning, 
Performance & Improvement        
   

Complaints Annual Report Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Collette McCarthy, Assistant Director, 
Commissioning   
 

Specialist Mentoring Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Grace Walker, Head of Commissioning, 
Performance & Improvement    
       

Thursday 17 November 2022 [deadline for cleared reports Tuesday 08 November] 

Family Services Quarterly Update The Committee to note the report. 
 
Each meeting will also have an update on 
data and performance. 

Chris Munday, Executive Director for 
Children’s Services 
 

Business Planning To agree the committee’s business planning 
proposals for the medium term financial 
strategy period of 2021-25 and recommend 
the proposals to Policy and Resources 
Committee.  

Ben Thomas, Assistant Director, 
Education, Strategy & Partnership 

Staying put policy Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 
 

Brigitte Jordaan, Director of Children 
Social Care 

Placement Sufficiency strategy Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 
 

Brigitte Jordaan, Director of Children 
Social Care 

Child Care Sufficiency – Annual Report 
 

Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Tina McElligott, Director of Children Social 
Care 
 

267



 
Title of Report  

 
Overview of decision 

 
Chief/Lead Officer(s) 

Education Strategies update (including updates on 
School and Settings Improvement Strategy 2021-
24, SEND and Inclusion Strategy 2021-24) 
 

Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Neil Marlow, Director of Education and 
Learning 

Special Educational Places Plan Consultation 
 

Committee to note the final plan and 
proposals. 

Neil Marlow, Director of Education and 
Learning 
 

20 March 2023 [deadline for cleared reports 09 March] 

Family Services Quarterly Update Committee to note the report. 
 
Each meeting will also have an update on 
data and performance. 
 

Chris Munday, Executive Director for 
Children’s Services  
 

Barnet Safeguarding Children’s Partnership report, 
including Independent Scrutiny report 
 

Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Ben Thomas, Assistant Director, 
Education, Strategy & Partnership 

Maintained Nursery Schools funding Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 
 

Neil Marlow, Director of Education and 
Learning 

Educational Standards in Barnet 2021-22 Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 
 

Neil Marlow, Director of Education and 
Learning  

Annual Report on School Funding Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 
 

Neil Marlow, Director of Education and 
Learning 

Independent and specialist social workers and 
specialist assessments 

Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Grace Walker, Head of Commissioning, 
Performance & Improvement          
 

268



 
Title of Report  

 
Overview of decision 

 
Chief/Lead Officer(s) 

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
(CAMHS) contracts - including Parenting 
Programmes 

Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Grace Walker, Head of Commissioning, 
Performance & Improvement          

Emergency Duty Team (EDT) Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Grace Walker, Head of Commissioning, 
Performance & Improvement          
 

Independent Living Housing Management Committee to determine as per 
recommendations set out in the report. 

Grace Walker, Head of Commissioning, 
Performance & Improvement       
    

269



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the last Meeting
	7 Update on Barnet's Asylum Seeker Contingency Hotels
	8 CES Priorities of the New Administration
	9 SEND Inspection, Schools White Paper and SEND Green Paper
	 Appendix A - Post SEND Inspection Action Plan
	 Appendix B -  Barnet post inspection congratulatory Letter
	10 Family Services Quarterly Update
	Appendix 1 - ChAT
	Appendix 2 - CMA Report
	Summary
	Background: the placements market
	Problems in the placements market
	Commissioning
	Creating capacity in the market
	Resilience of the market
	Next steps

	1. Background
	Purpose of the market study
	Progress of the market study
	Information gathered
	Structure of the final report

	2. Overview of the sector
	Ensuring children live in safe, caring and supportive homes
	Looked-after children
	Local authorities
	Role of the market and nature of provision
	Development of the market for care placements

	Policy context
	Regulatory environment
	Unregulated and unregistered accommodation
	Market oversight


	3. Outcomes from the placements market
	Outcomes we would expect from a well-functioning placements market
	Supply of appropriate places
	Quality of provision
	Prices and profits
	Resilience

	4. Commissioning
	Context for commissioning
	The significance of public sector engagement
	Forecasting concerns
	Market shaping concerns
	Procurement concerns
	Data concerns
	Recommendations
	Forecasting
	Market shaping and procurement
	 National contracts in England


	Recommendations we do not intend to take forward
	Limiting for-profit provision
	Direct intervention to limit prices or profits
	Funding


	5. Barriers to creating capacity
	Regulation
	The registration process and capacity expansion
	The regulatory system and the provision of complex care
	Recommendations
	England
	Scotland
	Wales


	Property and planning
	Finding suitable property
	The impact of the planning process on children’s homes
	Problems in the planning process
	Recommendations

	Recruiting and retaining staff
	Barriers to recruitment and retention of staff
	Initiatives to improve recruitment and retention of staff
	Recommendations

	Recruiting and retaining foster carers
	Barriers to recruitment of foster carers
	Barriers to retention of foster carers
	Initiatives to improve recruitment and retention of foster carers
	Recommendations


	6. Resilience
	Recommendations
	Market oversight
	Contingency planning

	Resilience recommendations we do not propose to take forward
	Special administration regime
	Debt moderation


	7.  Recommendations
	Summary of recommendations
	How our recommendations work together
	Implementation of our recommendations

	Summary of recommendations - England
	 Summary of recommendations - Scotland
	Summary of recommendations - Wales

	Appendix 3 - SGO policy
	Appendix 4 - Connected Carer Policy
	Appendix 5 - NRM Report

	11 Committee Work Programme



